
Pension Fund Committee
Date: Thursday, 26 November 2020
Time: 10.00 am
Venue: https://youtu.be/huNFWMO_6hU

Membership: (Quorum 3) 
Andy Canning (Chairman), Peter Wharf (Vice-Chairman), Ray Bryan, Howard Legg,  
Mark Roberts and Adrian Felgate
*Note BCP membership to be confirmed at BCP Full Council on 24 November 2020, 2 
Conservative nominees and 1 Liberal Democrat nominee

Chief Executive: Matt Prosser, South Walks House, South Walks Road, 
Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1UZ (Sat Nav DT1 1EE)

For more information about this agenda please email:  
susan.dallison@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

For easy access to the Council agendas and minutes download the free 
public app Mod.gov for use on your iPad, Android and Windows tablet. Once 
downloaded select Dorset Council.

 Public Participation

To receive questions or statements on the business of the committee from town and parish 
councils and members of the public.

Public speaking has been suspended for virtual committee meetings during the Covid-19 crisis 
and public participation will be dealt with through written submissions only.  

Members of the public who live, work or represent an organisation within the Dorset Council area, 
may submit up to two questions or a statement of up to a maximum of 450 words.  All submissions 
must be sent electronically to susan.dallison@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk by the deadline set out below.  
When submitting a question please indicate who the question is for and include your name, 
address and contact details.  Questions and statements received in line with the council’s rules for 
public participation will be published as a supplement to the agenda. 

Questions will be read out by an officer of the council and a response given by the appropriate 
Portfolio Holder or officer at the meeting.  All questions, statements and responses will be 
published in full within the minutes of the meeting.  The deadline for submission of the full text 
of a question or statement is 8.30am on Monday 23 November 2020.

Public Document Pack

https://youtu.be/huNFWMO_6hU
mailto:susan.dallison@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


Recording, photographing and using social media at meetings

Dorset Council is committed to being open and transparent in the way it carries out its 
business whenever possible.  Anyone can film, audio-record, take photographs, and use 
social media such as tweeting and blogging to report the meeting when it is open to the 
public, so long as they conform to the Protocol for filming and audio recording of public 
council meetings.



A G E N D A

Page No.

1  APOLOGIES

To receive any apologies for absence.

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest. 

3  MINUTES 5 - 22

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 10 September 2020.

4  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

To receive questions or statements on the business of the committee 
from town and parish councils and members of the public. 

The deadline for submission of the full text of a question or 
statement is 8.30 am on Monday, 23 November 2020.

Details of he Council’s procedure rules can be found at: Public 
Participation at Committees.

5  URGENT ITEMS

To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior 
notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4) b) 
of the Local Government Act 1972. The reason for the urgency shall 
be recorded in the minutes.

6  PENSIONS ADMINISTRATION 23 - 36

To consider the quarterly report of the Fund Administrator on pension 
fund administration. 

7  INDEPENDENT ADVISER'S REPORT 37 - 42

To consider the quarterly report of the independent Adviser on the 
outlook for the pension fund’s investments.

http://do-modgov.wdwp.local/documents/s15503/Public%20Participation%20at%20Committees.pdf
http://do-modgov.wdwp.local/documents/s15503/Public%20Participation%20at%20Committees.pdf


8  PENSION FUND ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT 43 - 148

To consider the quarterly report of the Fund Administrator.  This 
includes an update on the funding position, the value and performance 
of investments and other topical issues.

9  PENSION FUND ANNUAL REPORT 2019-20 149 - 338

To approve for publication the Pension Fund Annual Report for 2019-
20 (including annual accounts).

10  DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS

To confirm the dates for the meetings of the committee in 2021:
Thursday 11 March 2021 – Microsoft Teams 

11  EXEMPT BUSINESS

To move the exclusion of the press and the public for the following 
item in view of the likely disclosure of exempt information within the 
meaning of paragraph x of schedule 12 A to the Local Government Act 
1972 (as amended). 

The public and the press will be asked to leave the meeting whilst the 
item of business is considered.



DORSET COUNCIL - PENSION FUND COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON THURSDAY 10 SEPTEMBER 2020

Present: Cllrs Andy Canning, Peter Wharf, John Beesley, David Brown, 
Ray Bryan, Howard Legg, Felicity Rice, Mark Roberts and Adrian Felgate

Also present:, Alan Saunders, Independent Adviser, and Laura Chappell and 
James Russell-Stracey, Brunel Pension Partnership.

Officers present (for all or part of the meeting):

Aidan Dunn (Executive Director - Corporate Development S151), Karen Gibson 
(Service Manager for Pensions), Jim McManus (Corporate Director - Finance and 
Commercial) and David Wilkes (Service Manager for Treasury and Investments)

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vM1O8HKYbXs&feature=youtu.be

56.  Apologies

No apologies for absence were received at the meeting.

57.  Declarations of Interest

No declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests were made at the meeting.

58.  Terms of Reference

The Committee’s Terms of Reference was received, noted and understood.

59.  Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on 12 March 2020 were confirmed by the 
Chairman.

60.  Questions from Members

Cllr Jon Orrell submitted two questions to the Committee and the following 
responses were given: 

Question 1: Is the council exposed to losses from investments in the 
commercial property sector that is predicted to experience turbulence, as 
loans face default in the hostile environment of lockdowns, and the shift to 
online sales? 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vM1O8HKYbXs&feature=youtu.be


2

Response: In order to diversify sources of investment return and risk, the 
pension fund has investments across a variety of different asset classes 
including commercial property which in turn has a wide diversification both 
geographically and across sectors.  This strategy of diversification means that 
exposures to losses in any one asset class or sector are reduced but not 
eliminated.  The shift towards online sales was already in progress before the 
pandemic and consequently the pension fund has less exposure to property in 
the retail sector than in the benchmark or industry average.

Question 2: Is the council putting future pension provision at risk by continuing 
fossil fuel investments given that if the country adheres to mandatory carbon 
reduction targets, thus leaving oil in the ground, these will become stranded 
assets? 

Response: The pension fund’s Investment Strategy Statement requires its 
investment managers to consider and manage financially material risks 
arising from environmental, social, and corporate governance issues such as 
those risks you identify.  In addition, a review of the investment strategy will 
be considered later on the agenda of this meeting including how the pension 
fund can help the transition towards a low carbon future.

61.  Public Participation

The public questions together with the responses from the Chairman of the 
Pension Fund Committee are set out in the Appendix to the minutes.

The following statement was read by officers on behalf of the Chairman: 

“We have received a number of questions from members of the public relating 
to the pension fund’s investments in fossil fuels.  The review of the investment 
strategy to be considered later on the agenda of this meeting will address 
these matters and therefore we do not intend to respond to each question in 
turn now.  However, a full record of all questions and responses will be 
published as part of the minutes of this meeting.”

62.  Urgent items

There were no urgent items to consider at the meeting. 

63.  Review of Investment Strategy

The Committee considered a report from officers that reviewed and proposed 
changes to the pension fund’s investment strategy.

The LGPS is a ‘defined benefit’ scheme so benefits are calculated based on 
age, length of membership and salary, not investment performance.  Benefits 
are funded from contributions from scheme members and their employers, 
and from the returns from investing these contributions before they are 
needed to pay pensions.  Contribution levels are set nationally for scheme 

Page 6



3

members and locally for scheme employers, so effectively the risk of 
investment underperformance is borne by scheme employers.

Every three years the actuary sets contribution rates for employers based on 
assumptions about the pension fund’s assets and liabilities and expected 
investment returns.  Following the results of the latest triennial actuarial 
valuation, investment consultants, Mercer, were engaged to review the 
current investment strategy and strategic asset allocation 

Mercer’s concluded that the discount rate of 5.0% used would be challenging 
to achieve with the current target allocation.  Some changes to the strategic 
allocation were therefore recommended in order to improve the chances of 
achieving this target rate of return without unduly increasing risk.  Members of 
the committee had attended a training session where Mercer explained the 
reasons for these proposed changes.

The main recommended changes were to increase overall equity exposure 
from 45% to 50% of total assets, reduce the proportion of UK specific equity 
holdings, increase the proportion of actively managed equity holdings and 
reduce the allocation to corporate bonds.

Mercer also considered two potential approaches to enable the pension fund 
to move towards a low carbon future - divestment, which meant completely 
divesting from companies involved in the sourcing and refining of fossil fuels, 
and decarbonisation, which meant a reduction in allocations to companies 
which are high carbon emitters and looked to influence the demand for fossil 
fuels and their financing, not just their supply.

Mercer’s favoured approach was decarbonisation as opposed to divestment 
from all fossil fuel companies.  Decarbonisation could deliver significantly 
greater reductions in the ‘carbon footprint’ of investments, it allowed for 
continued influence with companies, and would be more straightforward to 
implement.

The Chairman highlighted that the proposed investment in the Brunel 
sustainable equities portfolio would substantially reduce the carbon footprint 
of the pension fund, as would the reduction in UK and passive allocations.  
This was the start of a process which was likely to see over time further 
reductions in UK and passive allocations and further increases to sustainable 
equities as confidence in this product grew.

The Independent Adviser explained that the proposed changes were the 
result of a number of iterations between him, officers, the Chairman and 
Mercer.  The result of this process was a good balanced strategy.

There was a fairly even split of actuary firms used by the ten Brunel Pension 
Partnership clients and discount rates ranged between 4% and 5%.  If the 
actuary had set a lower discount rate at the last triennial review, this would 
have resulted in increased contribution rates for scheme employers.

Page 7



4

A member agreed with the proposed increase in allocation to equities and the 
transfer of emphasis away from the UK but felt the case for more active 
management required more evidence and proposed that this decision be 
deferred until the next meeting of the Committee in November 2020.

If the proposals were agreed 30% of equity exposure would still be through 
passive investments.  The changes would target areas where active 
managers were more likely to add value, such as emerging markets and 
smaller companies as opposed to core strategies.  The Brunel active 
portfolios either don’t yet have a track record or they have a very short track 
record.  The pension fund’s legacy active managers, Schroders and 
Wellington, had outperformed the market as had Brunel’s global high alpha 
portfolio, albeit over a relatively short period of time.  An active approach was 
also better able to meet the low carbon desire.

The Vice-Chairman said that the Committee’s primary responsibility was to 
ensure investment returns are sufficient to fund pensions and, whilst not 
mutually exclusive, there was some tension between this and the desire to 
help tackle climate change.  A higher allocation to active management was 
the only way that progress could be made to reduce the pension fund’s 
carbon footprint and still generate the required investment returns.

A proposal to defer the decision to increase active equities and reduce 
passive equities until the next meeting of the Committee in November 2020 
was not agreed.

A member spoke in favour of keeping investment not only in the UK but in 
Dorset specifically.  The Independent Adviser replied that it was very hard to 
get the scale required by investing locally and it also raised potential conflicts 
of interest.  However, local investment could be appropriate if the right 
opportunity came up.

A member highlighted that the importance of fossil fuels for investment returns 
had fallen from 29% of the main US equity index in 1980 to approximately 5% 
in 2019.  It would therefore now be a much smaller task to implement a 
divestment approach that it would have been in the past, and it was proposed 
that an independent assessment of a potential fossil free portfolio be 
commissioned.

The Independent Adviser said that Mercer had been engaged to provide an 
independent opinion and they proposed a decarbonisation approach not 
blanket divestment.  The proposed move to global and sustainable equities 
will help decarbonise the pension fund, and its investment managers would 
also reduce exposure to fossil fuels if they think it is a bad investment, as had 
always been the case.  Decarbonisation is the approach followed by Brunel, 
one of the leaders in this area, and the Church of England Pensions Board, 
one of the co-founders of the Transition Pathway Initiative (TPI).

A proposal to request an independent assessment of a fossil free portfolio 
was not agreed.

Page 8



5

It was proposed that the Brunel Pension Partnership be asked for a schedule 
of the pension fund’s investments in organisations on the Global Coal Exit 
List, and that the pension fund divests from those companies within eighteen 
months.

The Chairman was hugely sympathetic for the desire to divest from fossil fuel 
companies.  The Committee had to take action to reduce the pension fund’s 
carbon footprint but divestment was not the right approach.  A combination of 
investing in sustainable equites, with a two thirds reduction in carbon footprint, 
and the other Brunel active funds, all committed to a 7% year on year 
reduction, would have a more positive impact than the proposal to divest from 
all fossil fuel companies.  The sustainability credentials of Brunel were 
described by one member as second to none amongst the LGPS investment 
pools.

A member thought that whilst the case for decarbonisation in the report was 
compelling it was not an ‘either or’ choice between divestment and 
decarbonisation.  The decarbonisation approach should be taken but the 
Committee should also look to see if the pension fund can be made fossil fuel 
free.

Concerns were raised that divestment was a blunt instrument that did not 
distinguish between companies that were making changes, such as Shell, and 
those that were not, such as Exxon.  Divesting from companies investing 
billions of pounds in new technology and fuels could have a detrimental effect 
on the shared desired outcomes of the Committee.  Divestment should be 
part of a gradual process rather than a sharp knife.

The loss of influence over companies following divestment was also raised as 
a concern.  It could lead to the sale of assets to other investors, companies or 
countries less concerned about the environmental impact of their investments.

It was agreed to remove the timescale for divestment from the proposal, and 
the revised proposal to ask Brunel for a schedule of the pension fund’s 
investments in the Global Coal Exit List was agreed.

Resolved
i) That the proposed changes to the investment strategy and strategic 

asset allocation are agreed.
ii) That officers implement the changes to the investment strategy and 

strategic asset allocation.
iii) That officers to update the Investment Strategy Statement (ISS) as 

necessary.
iv) That the Brunel Pension Partnership are asked for a schedule of 

the pension fund’s investments, through its holdings in Brunel 
managed portfolios, in organisations listed on the Global Coal Exit 
List.

64.  Investment Pooling Update

Page 9



6

The Committee received a presentation from Laura Chappell, Chief Executive 
Officer, and James Russell-Stracey, Chief Stakeholder Officer, of Brunel 
Pension Partnership, the pension fund’s investment pooling manager.  The 
presentation summarised the key current activities of the investment pooling 
partnership.

The process to replace Mark Mansley, Brunel’s former Chief Investment 
Officer, had concluded and there would be announcement to confirm the 
successful candidate’s appointment shortly.  The appointment would be within 
the agreed remuneration cap.

It was not uncommon for a high turnover of staff in ‘start-ups’ like Brunel 
where those responsible for setting up an organisation move on when the 
company is established.  Staff turnover in many of the other LGPS investment 
pools had been higher than in Brunel.

The final transitions of assets to Brunel’s management were expected to 
conclude in 2021.  Brunel were delivering savings for their clients and 
providing services within budget.

Brunel’s overriding objective was to generate investment performance for its 
clients to fund pensions but investments could be made which had positive 
non-financial impacts.  

Brunel’s approach to responsible investment was not to divest from whole 
sectors but instead engagement with companies was favoured with the option 
of targeted divestment from individual companies.  There will be a ‘stocktake’ 
of this approach in 2022.

Brunel would be reviewing its products to see if they could be better aligned 
with the objectives of the Paris Agreement on climate change.  In particular, 
they would be looking at whether alternative indices could be established for 
passive investments to track.

Brunel would be holding a series of investment workshops in the autumn for 
the investment officers at client funds.

The Independent Adviser asked for more visibility of the performance of 
underlying managers in Brunel’s quarterly reporting.  Members of the 
committee also felt that the reports could be more concise and ‘client friendly’ 
with less reliance on acronyms and jargon.

The Vice-Chairman thanked Brunel’s officers for their presentation and 
proposed that they be invited to at least one meeting of the Committee every 
year.

Resolved
i. That officers provide feedback from the Brunel investment workshops 

at the next meeting of the Committee
ii. That the format and content of the performance monitoring reporting 

from Brunel Pension Partnership be reviewed.

Page 10



7

iii. That the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Stakeholder Officer from 
Brunel Pension Partnership be invited to at least one meeting of the 
Pension Fund Committee every year.

65.  Independent Adviser's Report

The Committee considered a report from Alan Saunders, the pension fund’s 
Independent Adviser, that gave his views on the economic background to the 
pension fund’s investments, the outlook for different asset classes and the key 
risks for markets.

Markets had recovered a lot of ground since the steep falls in response to the 
coronavirus pandemic.  The recovery in markets had been extraordinary but 
was now consolidating and high levels of volatility were expected in the 
coming months.

In the US, equity markets were back to December 2019 levels largely driven 
by the technology sector, although there had been some sell offs in recent 
weeks.  In the UK, equity markets had lagged the US, as it had for the last to 
two to three years, which supported the Committee’s decision to reduce 
exposure to UK markets.

Risks were highlighted from the imminent withdrawal of the UK furlough 
scheme and concerns about the agreement of a trade deal between the UK 
and the EU.  A second spike in COVID 19 could encourage the UK 
government to maintain support for the economy but this could be damaging 
for market sentiment.

Noted

66.  Pension Fund Administrator's Report

The Committee considered a report from officers on the pension fund’s 
funding position, valuation, performance and asset allocation as at 30 June 
2020.

The value of the fund’s investments at 30 June 2020 was just under £3.0 
billion, compared to £2.7m at the start of the financial year.  This improvement 
was driven by rises across all listed markets after the falls in March and April 
2020 in reaction to the impact of COVID 19.

Barnett Waddingham, the pension fund’s actuary, estimated assets to be 85% 
of the value needed to pay expected benefits accrued to 30 June 2020.  This 
compares to the funding level of 92% calculated by the actuary following their 
full assessment as at 31 March 2019.

As at 30 June 2020 approximately 40% of assets had transferred to Brunel’s 
management.  Implementation of the changes to the investment strategy 
agreed by the Committee were expected to increase this proportion 
significantly before the end of the year.

Page 11



8

In recent years the pension fund had underperformed its combined 
benchmark in part because of the challenging market conditions for those 
investment managers with ‘cash plus’ benchmarks.  There would be a review 
of the suitability of all benchmarks used.

Resolved
That officers and the Independent Adviser review the benchmarks for all 
investments.

67.  Pensions Administration

The Committee considered a report from officers on operational and 
administration matters relating to the pension fund.

End of year processes had completed and Annual Benefit Illustrations (ABIs) 
were issued ahead of the statutory deadline.  Paper statements are still 
issued to the vast majority of scheme members, and they are used as an 
opportunity to communicate important messages about the scheme.

Data quality was generally very good, with scores slightly up from last year.  
The aim is to maintain these levels but there could be some challenges this 
year.  There are good relationships with employers and good data which gave 
confidence that benefits had been paid correctly.

Hymans Robertson had concluded their review of the in-house Additional 
Voluntary Contribution (AVC) arrangements for scheme members.  Hymans 
Robertson recommended that the current service provider, Prudential, be 
retained but kept under review, and that the default standard investment, 
currently a ‘with profits’ product, be reviewed.  Officers would appreciate any 
input from Committee members into the review of the default option.

A further consultation was issued by government on 7 September 2020 
covering the exit cap and other proposed reforms, which the government was 
keen to implement very quickly.  The proposed reforms would now cover all 
scheme members over 55 years old made redundant where there is a strain 
cost even if below the cap.  The reforms would be very complex to administer 
as scheme members could potentially have four different options to choose 
from.

Officers would be responding to the consultation on behalf of the pension fund 
but scheme employers would be encouraged to respond too.

Discussions regarding potential remedies for the McCloud judgement 
continued.  The estimated impact on funding level was likely to be relatively 
small, but remedies were likely to create a very large administrative burden 
which could result in thousands of benefit calculations being revisited.

The Local Government Association (LGA) Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) 
were also very concerned about these matters and would be engaging directly 
with the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG).

Page 12



9

Amendments to LGPS regulations come in to force on 23 September 2020.  
The amendments will allow administering authorities to review scheme 
employer contributions between triennial valuations and provide greater 
flexibility for the repayment of deficits by exiting employers.

The Local Pension Board has reviewed the risk register specifically in relation 
to the impact of COVID 19.  To date there had been no serious impact on 
scheme employers and contributions.  Home working arrangements were not 
ideal for the service and presented additional data protection risks to manage.

Homeworking had had a negative impact on performance as measured by the 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) but not as great as feared.  The main 
priority was to avoid falling behind in the payment of benefits.  Transfers into 
the pension fund were a challenge as they involved a lot of paperwork being 
sent to the office.

Concerns were raised about how to improve performance as it was confirmed 
that the administration team would continue to work from home until the end 
of March 2021.  The administration team were still performing to a high 
standard in challenging circumstances and officers hoped to report an 
improvement at the next meeting.  It was agreed that information relating to 
KPIs would be included at the front of future reports.

The Chairman summarised that this meeting had rightly focussed on 
investment matters but the priority at the next meeting should be on 
administration.

Resolved
i. That the pension fund administration report is considered before 

pension fund investments at the next meeting of the Committee in 
November 2020.

ii. That performance against the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) is 
summarised at the front of future administration reports.

iii. That the Committee are consulted on the proposed response to the 
government’s consultation on the exit cap and other matters.

68.  Date of Future Meeting

Resolved
That meetings be held on the following dates:

26 November 2020
11 March 2021

69.  Appendix: Questions submitted for Public Participation Period and 
answered by Chairman of Pension Fund Committee

Questions from Caz Dennett, South West Action on Pensions (SWAP)

Page 13



10

Dorset Council’s C&EE Strategy outlines how the Council will deliver a 
realistic and achievable approach to ensuring a carbon-neutral Dorset by 
2040, with the aim to reduce the bulk of its carbon emissions before this date. 
It states to achieve this there will be a need for “imaginative and innovative 
solutions”.  The draft strategy makes no mention of accounting for the carbon 
emissions produced by Dorset Pension Fund’s fossil fuel investments 
(currently 7.3% of the pension pot). 

Question 1: When will Dorset Council include the carbon emissions from 
fossil fuel investments made by Dorset Pension Fund in its calculated carbon 
footprint, to ensure an accurate and truthful measure? 

Response: Responsibility for all matters relating to the administration of the 
Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) in Dorset is delegated to the 
Pension Fund Committee which comprises five Dorset Council councillors, 
three BCP Council councillors and one scheme member representative 
nominated by the trades unions.  We believe that it is more informative to 
consider the carbon emissions consequences of the pension fund’s 
investments separately from those of the Council. 

Question 2: Can Dorset Council imagine divesting the Pension Fund from 
fossil fuels and adopt this as a solution that helps achieve a net zero-carbon 
Dorset? 

Response: A review of the pension fund’s investment strategy has just 
concluded and will be considered later on the agenda of this meeting.  This 
review has considered how the pension fund’s investment strategy can help 
the transition towards a low carbon future whilst still ensuring there are 
sufficient assets to pay pensions as they fall due.

Questions from Len Herbert on behalf of Extinction Rebellion

Extinction Rebellion has three asks. The first of these is to ‘Tell the Truth’ 
about the climate and ecological emergency by communicating the urgency 
for change. This includes that policies and actions are communicated widely 
and openly to allow for stakeholder and public engagement.

When South West Action on Pensions (SWAP) formed to cover the Brunel 
Pension Partnership area, attempts were made to compare divestment 
progress between the partners. It is striking that Dorset is the partner with the 
least, easily available, information. Many of the others allow an understanding 
of the overarching policy, the relative amounts invested in high and low 
carbon funds, the target carbon intensity decrease and the monitoring 
process.

The Annual Report 2018-19 contains only brief references (in the Appendix 
p.153 ) to engagement with companies on climate risks.  The Investment 
Strategy Statement (March 2018) makes no reference to climate.  The section 
on ‘Responsible Investment’ on the Pension Fund website dates back to 

Page 14



11

2015.

Some information can be gleaned from the minutes of Sep 2019 and March 
2020 in the responses to public participation questions and the reported 
presentations and discussions. It is clear that the committee is indeed 
beginning to engage with the climate emergency issues but that the 
communication has some way to catch up.

One piece of information that has proved particularly elusive is the amount 
invested in the fossil fuel industry through the Dorset County Pension Fund. In 
September 2019 Medact suggested that that the figure was £141 Million. The 
Vice-Chair asked officers to check this figure ‘as it was necessary to have an 
agreed baseline to inform future discussions’. A resolution was made to this 
effect. In March, in response to Extinction Rebellion questions, the figure ‘was 
not recognised’ but a renewed resolution was made ‘to confirm the current 
value of investments in the fossil fuel industry by the next meeting at the 
latest’. Further conversations have failed to elicit this figure.

Question 1:  Can we expect the communication shortcomings highlighted 
above to be rectified in the November Annual Report (2019-20) and the 
Investment Strategy Statement and to see the website updated?

Response:  There is a review of the investment strategy on the agenda for 
today’s meeting.  Following this review the Investment Strategy Statement will 
then be amended accordingly and the updated version published on the 
pension fund’s website.  We will also review the content of the Pension Fund 
Annual Report 2019-20 prior to publication, and all other documents on the 
website to ensure they reflect the most up-to-date information.

Question 2:  Can we finally see the baseline figure for the Pension Fund’s 
exposure to fossil fuel investments?

Response:  As at 31 March 2020, the pension fund had direct ownership of 
assets valued at £6.6m in companies in the oil and gas sector.  In addition, 
the pension fund owns units in a number of pooled funds which have 
underlying holdings in companies in the oil and gas sector, with Dorset’s 
‘share’ of this indirect exposure estimated to be a further £53m.  In total, 
therefore, £60m of the pension fund’s assets are invested in the oil and gas 
sector, 2.2% of total assets.

As at 31 March 2020, the pension fund had direct ownership of assets valued 
at £7.3m in companies in the ‘mining’ or ‘basic materials’ sector but this 
covers mining for all materials such as precious metals and minerals as well 
as coal.  In addition the pension fund owns units in a number of pooled funds 
which have underlying holdings in companies in the mining sector, with 
Dorset’s ‘share’ of this exposure estimated to be a further £60m.  In total, 
therefore, £67m of the pension fund’s assets are invested in the mining 
sector, of which we estimate approximately one third relates to fossil fuels, c. 
£25m or 0.9% of total assets.

Page 15



12

Questions from Val Potter, Dorchester Churches Together Ecology 
Group

We understand from the minutes of the Pension Committee meeting on March 
12th that discussion is at present mainly around the pursuit of a policy of 
engagement with fossil fuel companies rather than a clear divestment policy. 
A distinction is made between ‘good’ and ‘bad’ companies and the phrase 
‘engagement with teeth’ is used.

We would like to be clear where the committee draw the line.  For instance: a 
fortnight ago Storebrand, a Nordic fund worth £70 billion, dumped its stocks in 
a string of the world’s biggest extraction companies. Storebrand decided that 
the fact that these companies were using their lobbying power to block climate 
policies had crossed their line. They decided that spending large sums 
undermining action related to ‘the greatest threat facing humanity’ is ‘simply 
unacceptable’.

Question: Given your argument that you are using “engagement with teeth” 
when dealing with fossil fuel companies, have you, at any point, divested from 
a fossil fuel company or made a decision to divest? What actions would it take 
on the part of a fossil fuel company to prompt a decision to divest and how 
quickly would it happen?  

Response:  The minutes quoted refer to a presentation given by Brunel 
Pension Partnership, the pension fund’s investment pooling manager, on their 
climate change policy.  Brunel believe that some fossil fuel companies will be 
part of the transition to a low carbon economy and that it was important to 
distinguish between companies, such as Repsol and Shell who were looking 
to engage and change, and companies, such as Chevron and Exxon who, to 
date, were not

Brunel have provided the following summary of their approach together with 
some examples of engagement that directly and indirectly relate to investment 
in fossil fuels:

“We are glad that you share our concern for Responsible Investing and 
welcome engagement on the issue.

Following extensive engagement with partner funds and many of their 
stakeholders we, the Brunel Pension Partnership, launched our Climate 
Change Policy in January 2020.

Our Policy is clear that the financial system is not fit for purpose to deliver a 
world that limits global warming to well below 2°C, ideally not higher than 
1.5°C.  Our policy clearly states our commitment to support achieving Net-
Zero well before the 2050 deadline.

The policy sets out a five-point plan to build a financial system which is fit for a 
low carbon future.  This is essential as Brunel and all the Partnership funds 
operate within a regulatory framework – a framework very different to that in 
which charities, endowments or, indeed, asset owners and managers in other 

Page 16

https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/climate-change/
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/climate-change/


13

countries operate. It is essential we change the system, not just our 
portfolios.

To support making fundamental changes in our financial system, our strategy 
includes policy advocacy. We advocate mandatory climate disclosures, 
challenging fossil fuel subsides and asking for positive policy to encourage 
actions that assist with decarbonising our economy, including via a price on 
carbon and incentivising green investment.

However, we are not waiting on incentives. We already invest extensively in 
renewable energy as well energy efficiency, public transport, smart grid and 
other technologies that support transition.

It is critical that we do not just focus on the supply side – the fossil fuel 
companies – but also on the demand side, looking at fossil fuel consumption, 
and at the wider financing of projects. When it comes to climate risk, we 
assess the whole value chain and engage with companies to take 
responsibility for their product throughout its usage, not just in its 
manufacture. (The examples below demonstrate the breadth of our 
engagement.) This issue is wider than climate change, hence our 
Responsible Investment Policy includes Supply Chain issues as one of its 
core themes.

We have also been very active in seeking mandatory climate disclosure. For 
example, Faith Ward, Chief Responsible Investment Officer, sits on the 
Pensions Climate Risk Industry Group, which was established by various 
government departments, including the DWP and Pensions Regulator. This 
year, the Group launched a consultation on a new guide to climate-related 
financial risks for pension schemes.

Our policy also identified the need to develop and decarbonise the products 
we offer. It is important to note that Brunel does not select companies to 
invest in itself. Instead, stock-specific decisions are made by the asset 
managers we employ. Our Partnership does, however, set the investment 
guidelines under which they operate.  These guidelines are co-developed with 
all ten Brunel clients, which means we can create products that meet the 
requirements of pooling, most specifically on cost savings.

As background, our active portfolios have a very low exposure to fossil fuel 
companies, as evidenced in our Carbon Metrics Report. Standard practice is 
to use mainstream indices to gauge many aspects of our performance – the 
trajectory of these indices is well over 3°C. This is an industry-wide issue that 
arises from carbon not being consistently priced into assets – we know we 
need better solutions to make meaningful measurements. The Partnership is 
now working on a project to identify solutions that meet all client investment 
objectives, specifically long-term investment returns, in a cost-effective 
manner.

On the issue of divestment, Brunel supports divestment from specific fossil 
fuel and other carbon-intense companies if they present a material investment 
risk – such as due to ‘stranded assets’ – but this is based on analysis by our 

Page 17

https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/2020/05/06/leveraging-the-pool-to-build-infrastructure-solutions/
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Brunel-RI-Policy-2020.pdf
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/2020/03/17/working-with-national-government-to-align-uk-pensions-on-climate-risk/
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/2020/03/17/working-with-national-government-to-align-uk-pensions-on-climate-risk/
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Brunel-Carbon-Metrics-Report-.pdf


14

asset managers. Brunel expects managers to take these decisions 
independently.

In addition, we have committed to review this approach and, indeed, the 
holdings themselves, and to evaluate whether companies are taking steps to 
manage climate risks and to enable our overall alignment with the Paris 
Agreement. Brunel set out clear expectations for its asset managers and a 
deadline of 2022 for reviewing companies – our climate stock take is due in 
2022.  The criteria to evaluate companies and managers is being developed 
with clients. It will take into account different investment mandates and 
starting points, but always with reference to Paris alignment.

We chose not to use exclusion lists with our active managers.  Instead, we 
have challenged them to think carefully and critically about the companies and 
other entities they invest in, and to justify their investments in those 
companies with higher greenhouse gas emissions. We will not issue exclusion 
lists because what is needed is change in the way investment managers 
work. Simply stating exclusions or requiring divestment from specific stocks or 
sectors will not compel investment managers to develop their capacity on 
climate change or to drive change in the companies in which they are 
invested. Climate then becomes a technical operational matter, not an 
investment priority. 

However, while we will not instruct managers to exclude certain stocks, we do 
expect their portfolios to have materially reduced climate exposures. We also 
expect them to justify any climate-controversial holding. If investment 
managers are not able to explain their investment strategies robustly and 
credibly, and to lay out how they have managed climate risk, we will look to 
replace them.

If we find that our investment managers’ engagement with companies is 
ineffective – and that the companies’ trajectory is therefore not Paris-aligned – 
we will consider whether to remove those managers or introduce specific 
exclusion criteria to the companies concerned.

As we take steps to address climate change – in all its facets – we are 
transparent about our holdings, the climate intensity and fossil fuel exposure 
of our portfolios, and the outcomes of engagement.  These are consistent with 
the expectations of the Financial Reporting Council’s 2020 Stewardship Code 
and Taskforce for Climate Related Financial Disclosure – indeed, in many 
places, we exceed them.

 Our Carbon Metrics Report gives greater detail on how we assess 
the carbon footprint of our portfolios

 Our Responsible Investment & Stewardship Outcomes Report 
analysed our performance on a range of RI issues, from climate 
change to tax transparency. It showed that all active portfolios had 
achieved more than 7% carbon intensity improvements against their 
benchmarks and provide case studies of our engagement outcomes

Page 18

https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Brunel-Carbon-Metrics-Report-.pdf
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Brunel-2020-Responsible-Investment-and-Stewardship-Outcomes-Report.pdf


15

More recently, we helped to develop and launch the IIGCC Net Zero 
framework, the first practical framework to guide asset owners and managers 
seeking to become Net Zero investors. While we are pleased with this 
progress, we also acknowledge that both climate change policies and findings 
from investment data continue to evolve and, in line with this, we continue to 
review our own policies.

We recognise that the arguments for immediate divestment from fossil fuel 
companies can appear compelling. But we believe that engagement, with the 
threat of divestment, can be more effective at putting pressure on both 
companies and investment managers to bring about change. We have 
provided some examples of engagement that directly and indirectly relate to 
investment in fossil fuels.

It is important to note that the commitments made by BP, Shell and Glencore 
include scope 3 emissions, to one extent or another. This means that 
commitments we are seeing coming through are getting closer to meeting our 
need to cover the complete supply chain of the product e.g. the consuming, 
purchasing and then burning of fuel. 

BP
 In February 2020, BP announced new ambitions to be a ‘net zero 

company by 2050 or sooner’
 Targets include:

o Net zero across BP’s operations on an absolute basis by 2050 
or sooner

o net zero on carbon in BP’s oil and gas production on an 
absolute basis by 2050 or sooner

o 50% cut in the carbon intensity of products BP sells by 2050 or 
sooner

o Installation of methane measurement at all BP’s major oil and 
gas processing sites by 2023

o Reduction in methane intensity of operations by 50%
o Increase in the proportion of investment into non-oil and gas 

businesses
 This builds on extensive positive engagement through our 

engagement partner, Federated Hermes and Climate Action 100+ (the 
largest global investor coalition on climate change)  

 More information on commitments made by BP can be found here 
and here

Glencore 
 In 2019, we co-signed a letter to Glencore calling for support of the 

statement to ensure investors can legally hold Glencore to the 
commitments it made as part of its recent announcement

 Extensive engagement through Climate Action 100+ and our 
engagement provider, Federated Hermes – Glencore has agreed to 
review its links with trade associations to identify lobbying activities that 
could undermine its support for the Paris Agreement

Page 19

https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/2020/08/11/brunel-pilots-net-zero-investment-framework-ahead-of-consultation/
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/2020/08/11/brunel-pilots-net-zero-investment-framework-ahead-of-consultation/
https://www.bp.com/en/global/corporate/who-we-are/reimagining-energy.html
https://www.bp.com/en/global/corporate/news-and-insights/press-releases/bernard-looney-announces-new-ambition-for-bp.html


16

 For the first time, this year, the company has agreed to start 
reporting on scope 3 emissions and will do so on an annual basis.

 It has committed to report annually on the extent to which the 
company’s capital expenditure and investments were in line with the 
goals of the Paris Agreement.

 It has also committed to publishing new, longer-term targets, based 
on policy and technical developments, which will be made public in the 
company’s 2020 Annual Report

Shell 
 Shell has committed to achieving net zero emissions by 2050 or 

sooner. It also has the ambition to bring its net carbon footprint in line 
with the goals of the Paris Agreement

 Extensive engagement through our engagement provider, 
Federated Hermes and Climate Action 100+, enables investors to hold 
Shell accountable to its targets

 More detail about Shell’s commitments can be found here

Barclays 
 Brunel, on behalf of our Clients, co-filed a shareholder resolution 

formally requesting that Barclays phases out the financing of fossil fuel 
companies. This was the first climate change resolution to be filed at a 
European bank

 It asks Barclays to publicly disclose how it plans to stop the 
provision of financial services to energy sector companies that are not 
aligned with the goals of the Paris climate agreement; it also asks how 
Barclays aims to understand whether a borrower is meeting Paris 
Agreement targets

 The resolution passed in May 2020, exceeding the 20% threshold 
required (23.95%). This requires Barclays to consult with shareholders 
and publish the views received and actions taken within six months

 Barclays has committed to being a net-zero bank by 2050. It has 
started to set transparent targets and will be reporting progress against 
them from 2021. We continue to engage with Barclays and look 
forward to receiving more detail on its strategy and targets, as 
committed, later this year

 More information on the commitments made by Barclays can be 
found here

Engagements with asset managers on climate change

Blackrock 
 Our extensive engagement with Blackrock, including a one-to-one 

meeting with Larry Fink, CEO, led to the company agreeing to prioritise 
sustainability through their investment and stewardship approach

 Blackrock agreed to join Climate Action 100+ and take the lead on 
engaging with China Steel

 Blackrock recently took a public stance against companies who are 
not taking appropriate action on climate risk by voting against 53 
companies and putting another 191 on ‘watch’. See FT article

Page 20

https://www.shell.co.uk/a-cleaner-energy-future/our-response-to-climate-change.html
https://home.barclays/society/our-position-on-climate-change/?cid=mm04soc_sc17ca02cr13cote01ts17&gclsrc=aw.ds&&gclid=EAIaIQobChMI54Hmj5jX6wIV6YBQBh3WugqlEAAYASAAEgIqAPD_BwE
https://www.ft.com/content/8809032d-47a1-47c3-ae88-ef3c182134c0


17

 Of the 53 companies it voted against, 37 were in the energy sector. 
Blackrock will vote against management again in 2021, should these 
companies not make significant progress

 More detail of Blackrock’s commitments can be found here

To read more about our position, including our view on carbon pricing and 
detail on why we co-filed the Barclays resolution, please see the FAQs 
section of the Climate Change section of our website. 

We continue to develop our thinking and practices on this issue, and to 
engage with a wide range of Partners and stakeholders. For a few of our most 
recent activity on RI and ESG, please see a recent article.

Many thanks for making contact and expressing your concern in this area. We 
will continue to learn from our peers and Partners as we develop our thinking 
and practices.”

Duration of meeting: 10.00 am - 1.00 pm

Chairman

Page 21

https://www.blackrock.com/corporate/literature/publication/our-commitment-to-sustainability-full-report.pdf
file:///C:/Users/alex.monro/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/Z1M1N8R9/Barclays%E2%80%99%20Climate%20Resolution%20Outcome
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/climate-change-faqs/
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/climate-change-faqs/


This page is intentionally left blank



Pension Fund Committee
26 November 2020 
Pensions Administration

For Decision
Portfolio Holder: Cllr G Suttle Choose an item.

Local Councillor(s):  All Councillors  

Executive Director: Aidan Dunn, Executive Director, Corporate Development
 

Report Author: Karen Gibson
Title: Service Manager for Pensions
Tel: 01305 228524
Email: karen.gibson@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Report Status:  Public

Recommendation: 

It is recommended that the Committee note and comment on the contents of the report 
and approve the content of the draft letter set out in Appendix 3 as interim advice to 
scheme employers.  The letter will also need approval of the Pension Board.

Reason for Recommendation:     
To update the Committee on aspects of Pensions Administration
1. Executive Summary 
This report is the quarterly update for the Pension Fund Committee on all operational 
and administration matters relating to the Fund.  It contains updates on the following:

 Key Performance Indicators 

 Systems Procurement

 Exit Cap Update

   MHCLG consultation on reforming local government exit pay

 Public Service pension GMP indexation consultation

 September 2020 rate of CPI

2. Financial Implications
N/A 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



3. Well-being and Health Implications
None
4. Climate implications
None
5. Other Implications
N/A
6. Risk Assessment
Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has been 
identified as:
Current Risk: N/A
Residual Risk: N/A
7. Equalities Impact Assessment
N/A
8. Appendices
 Appendix 1 – KPIs (August 2020 - October 2020)

 Appendix 2 - Letter from Luke Hall MP

 Appendix 3 - DCPF Interim Policy Statement

9. Background Papers
 LGPS Regulations 2013

 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/893/introduction/made

 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/1122/introduction/made

 https://www.lgpsboard.org/index.php/structure-reform/public-sector-exit-
payments

 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/att
achment_data/file/927505/Local_Government_Pension_Scheme__Restriction_
of_Exit_Payments__-_draft_regulations.pdf

 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-service-pensions-
guaranteed-minimum-pension-indexation-consultation

10. Background
10.1. This report is the quarterly update for the Pension Fund Committee on all 

operational and administration matters relating to the Fund.
11. Key Performance Indicators and Homeworking

Page 24

http://www.lgpsregs.org/schemeregs/lgpsregs2013/timeline.php
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/893/introduction/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/1122/introduction/made
https://www.lgpsboard.org/index.php/structure-reform/public-sector-exit-payments
https://www.lgpsboard.org/index.php/structure-reform/public-sector-exit-payments
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/927505/Local_Government_Pension_Scheme__Restriction_of_Exit_Payments__-_draft_regulations.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/927505/Local_Government_Pension_Scheme__Restriction_of_Exit_Payments__-_draft_regulations.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/927505/Local_Government_Pension_Scheme__Restriction_of_Exit_Payments__-_draft_regulations.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-service-pensions-guaranteed-minimum-pension-indexation-consultation
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-service-pensions-guaranteed-minimum-pension-indexation-consultation


11.1 The key performance indicators for the period 1 August to 31 October are 
attached at Appendix 1.  

11.2 The team continues to work from home in the main, and this is causing a 
slowdown in certain processes. This is due to post coming into the office, and 
for certain areas of work we need to post out letters to members. For bulk 
letters that are not personalised, we use an external posting company. Some 
staff members are struggling at home due to the high technical nature of the 
work, as they are used to having support around them. Confidence levels are 
low, and managers are spending considerable amounts of time supporting staff. 
Training is also impacted, and this is an essential part of our everyday work. 

11.3 Despite these difficulties, the team continue to do an excellent job, and this is 
reflected in the KPIs attached. However, homeworking to the extent currently 
required, is proving to be a continued situation that is not ideal for the service. 

12. Systems Procurement
12.1. I am pleased to report that the procurement for the Pensions Administration 

Software System is now complete, and successful provider is Civica. This 
means we will be leaving Aquilla Heywood after many years with this provider. 

12.2. The new system will incorporate additional features, some of which will replace 
the add-on facilities we have been purchasing from the London Pensions 
Partnership (LPP) for the last six years, but which are shortly to be 
decommissioned. A summary of the system and what it will provide is detailed 
below.    

12.3. Core System – known as UPM, this will replace the Altair system we currently 
use and is a fully integrated system reducing the need for multiple logins for 
additional software.      

12.4. Employer Access Service - will replace our current employer portal, Your 
Fund, provided by LPP. There are some useful additional features, for example; 
the ability to customise our own forms.                     

12.5. Customer Member Service – will replace our current on-line portal, My 
Pension. Initially this will mean contacting all scheme members to register with 
the new portal.

12.6. Workflow - this will replace our current Case Management System provided by 
LPP (CMS), it will have similar functionality, plus some new functionality lending 
itself for the Pension Administration team to more easily adapt to the change.

12.7. Integrated scanning system - this will be new to the section providing us with 
the ability to scan documents in-house and attach to each member record. This 
new facility will enable better home working as documents will be scanned on 

Page 25



arrival to the department and will be attached to a workflow item triggering 
progression through each step in the process required. We will largely stop 
using our external scanning company; however, the database will remain for 
historical documents at no charge to the fund.  This is a new and significant 
change to some of our processes and will be integrated over a period of time.

12.8. Integrated Payroll System - currently we do not have an integrated payroll 
system, instead the Dorset County Pension Fund pay Dorset Council to provide 
our pension payroll. However, this has caused numerous audit and data issues 
over many years. It creates an opportunity to address the issues caused by this, 
and to streamline processes and reduce risks in relation to manual input and 
separate systems. This change will not be happening initially but is planned for 
2022/23.

12.9. A project manager has been appointed to oversee the entire project, together 
with project user groups to take responsibility for each main area, for example; 
Core System Configuration, Employer Portal, Member Portal, Calculations, 
Processes, and standard fund letters. 

12.10. Despite the enormity of these changes, I feel confident that the system will be a 
positive change for the department, with newer and more efficient technologies, 
one integrated system, the ceasing of daily data extracts to an external 
provider, and the ceasing of external scanning for the bulk of our requirements. 
We also have the clear benefit of a superb team of capable and experienced 
managers to implement these changes.

13. Exit Cap Update

13.1. Following the Government's consultation in April 2019, the Restriction of Public 
Exit Payments Regulations 2020 came into force on 4 November 2020. This 
limits the value of exit payments, resulting from redundancy or efficiency of the 
service retirements for members over the age of 55, made from the public 
sector to £95,000. 

13.2. This new legislation is now in conflict with the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) regulations which currently require the immediate payment of 
an unreduced pension for any member leaving their employment on the 
grounds of redundancy or efficiency of the service and who is aged 55 or over. 
This conflict only occurs where the £95k cap is breached. The largest, and most 
common payments to be included in the cap are the redundancy/severance 
payment.

13.3. These render a difficult position for administering authorities and employers who 
are undergoing consultation exercises for restructuring and/or who have staff 

Page 26

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/1122/introduction/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/1122/introduction/made


facing redundancy in the period between 4 November 2020 and the date upon 
which the LGPS regulations are amended, which is currently unknown.

13.4. This interim period will only present a difficulty for exits in breach of the cap, i.e. 
those in excess of £95k, and to employers in scope of the cap which are listed 
in the Schedule to the Restriction of Public Sector Exit Payment regulations 
2020. For the DCPF, this includes councils, the Police Authority, and 
academies.

13.5. The Government Actuary's Department has produced new draft guidance for 
the calculation of the strain cost due following the cessation of an employment 
on the grounds of redundancy for members over age 55. Currently funds use 
factors agreed with their fund actuary, the new guidance will ensure that all 
administering authorities use the same factors to calculate these costs. These 
new factors will not be used until the new LGPS Compensation Regulations 
come into force. Please note that these are likely to result in higher costs to 
employers than the current methodology used.

13.6. The proposals in the MHCLG consultation to limit discretionary compensation 
payments and reduce strain cost by the value of statutory redundancy pay are 
not yet in force.

13.7. The DCPF and its employers affected by the interim conflict in legislation, now 
find themselves in a difficult position, and guidance has been required. Luke 
Hall MP wrote to Chief Executives of Councils and LGPS administering 
authorities concerning the implementation of the cap ahead of the regulatory 
amendments to the LGPS. This letter is attached at Appendix 2. The Minister's 
recommended course of action in cases where exit costs exceed the cap is;

"LGPS members in that position should be able to elect to receive an immediate 
but fully reduced pension or, if they do not so elect, a deferred pension plus a 
lump sum equal to the capped strain cost"

13.8. The Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) has obtained legal advice on the conflict 
between the LGPS and the exit cap regulations. A commentary on that advice 
was published on 30 October on the Public Sector Exit Payments page of the 
http://www.lgpsboard.org/. It suggested that Administering Authorities and 
LGPS employers should take their own view and may wish to seek their own 
legal advice.

The commentary sets out the SAB's opinion on the course of action that 
presents the lowest risk when the cap is breached, which are;

 the LGPS administering authority offers the member a choice between 
deferred benefits or a fully reduced pension

Page 27

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/1122/schedule/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/1122/schedule/made
http://www.lgpsboard.org/index.php/structure-reform/public-sector-exit-payments
http://www.lgpsboard.org/


 the LGPS employer delays payment of a cash alternative under regulation 
8 of The Restriction of Public Sector Exit Payments Regulations 2020

This approach would allow the maximum flexibility for the administering 
authority and employer to minimise the financial risks associated with a legal 
challenge from the scheme member.

13.9. The LGPS have published an information note for employers and administering 
authorities on the exit  payment cap. These helpful documents set out 
suggested processes to follow and policy considerations for administering 
authorities in respect of redundancy and efficiency exits for members aged 55 
or over that occur from 4 November 2020.

13.10. In consideration of this, the DCPF has set out its policy decision for paying 
pensions during this interim period where there is a regulatory impact, for 
members leaving their employment who are in breach of the cap. This is in line 
with the recommended actions set out in the information from the LGPS and the 
advice provided by the SAB. This is attached at Appendix 3.

14. MHCLG consultation on reforming local government exit pay

14.1. On 14 October 2020, MHCLG have published draft regulations; The Local 
Government Pension Scheme (Restriction of Exit Payments) (Early Termination 
of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation and Exit Payments) (England and 
Wales) Regulations 2020, 

The purpose of these new regulations is to amend the LGPS regulations and 
compensation regulations to accommodate the exit payment cap and to 
introduce wider exit payment reforms.

Comments are invited on these draft regulations, which must be submitted by 
18 December 2020. The DCPF will be responding and this response will be 
shared at the next meeting.

15. Public Service pension GMP indexation consultation

15.1 On 7 October 2020, HM Treasury published Public Service Pensions: 
Guaranteed Minimum Pension Indexation consultation. 

15.2 Prior to 6 April 2016, the payment of public service pensions and the earnings-
related State Additional Pension (AP) worked together to provide a mechanism 
that fully indexed most public service pensions. 
The introduction of the new State Pension on 6 April 2016 removed the 
payment of AP. This meant that members who reached State Pension age 
(SPA) on and after that date would not have their pension payments fully 
indexed. To compensate for the removal of AP, the Government introduced an 
interim solution on 1 March 2016, which ends on 5 April 2021. This ensured that 

Page 28

http://lgpslibrary.org/assets/gas/ew/ExitCap_Erv1.0.pdf
http://lgpslibrary.org/assets/gas/ew/Exit%20Cap%20AA%20v1.0.pdf
http://lgpslibrary.org/assets/gas/ew/Exit%20Cap%20AA%20v1.0.pdf
http://lgpslibrary.org/assets/cons/lgpsew/20200907_DR.pdf
http://lgpslibrary.org/assets/cons/lgpsew/20200907_DR.pdf
http://lgpslibrary.org/assets/cons/lgpsew/20200907_DR.pdf
http://lgpslibrary.org/assets/cons/lgpsew/20200907_DR.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-service-pensions-guaranteed-minimum-pension-indexation-consultation
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-service-pensions-guaranteed-minimum-pension-indexation-consultation


public service pensioners who reach SPA after 5 April 2016 continued to 
receive a fully indexed pension from their public service pension scheme. 
The consultation sets out how the Government proposes to ensure it continues 
to meet its commitments to the full indexation of public service pensions, 
including any Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) element. 
The 12-week consultation will close on 30 December 2020. The DCPF will be 
responding and this response will be shared at the next meeting.

16. September 2020 rate of CPI

16.1 The Office for National Statistics announced the Consumer Prices Index (CPI) 
rate of inflation for September 2020 as 0.50%.

It is therefore likely, but government confirmation will be required, that this will 
be the rate that will apply to the increase of active member pension accounts, 
deferred pensions and pensions in payment in the LGPS in April 2021.

Footnote:
Issues relating to financial, legal, environmental, economic and equalities implications 
have been considered and any information relevant to the decision is included within the 
report.

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Dear Chief Executive, 
 

The Restriction of Public Sector Exit Payments Regulations 2020 make it clear that public sector 

bodies must not make payments in relation to individual exits in excess of £95k. That includes 

local government employers and Local Government Pension Scheme administering authorities. 

Previously, the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 and to a lesser extent the 

Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England 

and Wales) Regulations 2006 allowed for some individuals to receive benefits which would be in 

excess of the cap now set in the 2020 Regulations. 

In considering the 2020 Regulations with existing provisions of the LGPS or Early Termination 

Regulations, public sector bodies should be mindful that the 2020 Regulations reflect Parliament’s 

intention in section 153A of the Small Business, Enterprise and Employment Act 2015. Parliament 

was clear that it wished to limit total public sector exit payments to no more than £95,000, and the 

legislation provides a power to cap exit payments at that level. 

This Department has published a policy consultation and issued draft regulations that will remove 

any remaining ambiguity in the legal position once they come into effect. Subject to consideration 

of views received through consultation, effect will be given to those proposals as soon as 

parliamentary time allows. 

In the meantime, the recommended course of action for an administering authority to act 

consistently with its legal duties is that the provisions of Regulation 30(7) are subject to the cap 

and so the provisions of Regulation 8 of the 2020 Regulations and Regulation 30(5) of the LGPS 

2013 Regulations should be engaged. The Government’s view is that LGPS members in that 

position should be able to elect to receive an immediate but fully reduced pension or, if they do not 

so elect, a deferred pension plus a lump sum equal to the capped strain cost. 

The 2020 Regulations also identify circumstances where the application of the cap may be 

waived. I will issue more detailed guidance on this, but this also provides a route by which these 

transitional issues may be mitigated. 

 
 
 
 
 

LUKE HALL MP   

 
 

Chief Executives 
Councils and LGPS Administering Authorities 

Luke Hall MP 
Minister for Regional Growth and Local Government    
  
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government 
Fry Building  
2 Marsham Street  
London  
SW1P 4DF 
   
Tel: 0303 444 3440 
Email: Luke.Hall@communities.gov.uk 
 
 
www.gov.uk/mhclg 

 
28 October 2020  

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 
 
Dorset County Pension Fund Employer 

Dorset County Pension Fund 
Colliton Park 
Dorchester 
Dorset DT1 1XJ 

 
Telephone: 01305 224845 
We welcome calls via text Relay 
 
Email: pensionshelpline@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
Website: www.dorsetpensionfund.org 
 

Date: 11 November 2020 
 

Dear Dorset County Pension Fund Employer, 

 

DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND (DCPF) INTERIM POLICY FOR EXIT PAYMENT CAP 

 
This policy is for redundancy and business efficiency exits that occur from 4 November 2020 until 
revised LGPS regulations are in place. It applies to exits of LGPS members who are aged 55 or 
over and who are in breach of the Restriction of Public Exit Payments Regulations 2020, 
commonly known as the Exit Cap. 
 
There is currently a conflict between the exit cap and LGPS regulations where the cap is 
breached. The LGPS regulations require the member to take payment of an unreduced pension, 
but the exit cap regulations prevent the employer from paying the full strain cost. 
 
The DCPF have carefully considered the legal advice provided and have prepared the following 
policy decision in line with advice from the Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) and the letter from 
Luke Hall of MHCLG on 28 October 2020. 
 
The DCPF will provide the option of either a deferred pension under regulation 6(1) or an 
immediate reduced pension under regulation 30(5), in line with the Government’s 
recommendations during this interim period until the LGPS scheme regulations have been 
amended. 
 
Employers should be aware that offering a deferred or reduced pension will inevitably lead to 
challenge by the member, who would seek to enforce their rights under regulation 30(7). There 
does not however appear to be any course of action that might avoid a legal challenge or leave 
the employer with additional costs. Clarity for both administering authorities and employers is 
likely only to come once a challenge has been resolved through the courts.  
 
Any financial redress due to the member would have to follow the outcome of any court ruling.  
 
If employers have members who will be affected by the exit cap, it is essential that DCPF are 
informed, however it is each employer’s decision regarding the breaching of the cap as those 
regulations apply to the employer alone and any sanctions for a breach will be on the 
employer alone. 
 

Yours faithfully, 

 

 

 

 

Mrs Karen Gibson 

Service Manager for Pensions 

Dorset County Pension Fund 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



 

REPORT PREPARED FOR 

Dorset County Pension Fund - Pension Fund Committee 

 November 2020

 

Alan Saunders, MJ Hudson Allenbridge 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



2 
 

alan.saunders@mjhudson.com 
www.mjhudson.com 

 
 
 

THIS DOCUMENT IS DIRECTED ONLY AT THE PERSON(S) IDENTIFIED ABOV
ON THE BASIS THAT THEY ARE A PROFESSIONAL INVESTOR OR 
PROFESSIONAL CUSTOMER. IT IS ISSUED BY ALLENBRIDGE. ALLENBRIDGE IS 
A TRADING NAME OF ALLENBRIDGEEPIC INVESTMENT ADVISERS LIMITED 
AND ALLENBRIDGE LIMITED WHICH ARE ALL APPOINTED REPRESENTATIVE OF ALLENBRIDGE 
CAPITAL LIMITED WHICH IS AUTHORISED AND REGULATED BY THE FINANCIAL CONDUCT 
AUTHORITY (FCA). 

  

INVESTMENT OUTLOOK 

Since our last report, markets have experienced a second wave of Covid infections, the 
announcement of another UK lockdown accompanied by a resurrection of the furlough scheme, a 
downgrade of economic forecasts, a contentious US presidential election and the risk of a no deal 
Brexit. Yet equities have lost only a little ground. True, UK equities shed some 3% in Q3 and so far 
1% in Q4 but US equities have held up better and are still close to year end levels.

We pointed out this seeming disconnect between equities and the economy last time and suggested 
markets were not prepared for a downswing in the economy which now seems underway. At least in 
the UK, we are back in the W shaped economic cycle with expectations for UK GNP in Q4  of a fall 
of 3% instead of a further rise. The explanation for this disconnect yet again is the proactive stance 
of fiscal and monetary policy with extraordinary measures being taken to protect the economy and 
stop unemployment rising. This contrasts with the 2008-10 policy response, when QE was 
introduced but fiscal policy moved towards so- called austerity. We are still awaiting the US fiscal 
package but the FED has said it will do whatever it takes.

It might seem difficult for markets to make further gains in the near term, given the deterioration in 
the economic outlook. There has been a near term bounce with the election of President Biden while 
certainly the arrival of a successful vaccination programme will boost sentiment strongly. 
Yesterday’s announcement from Pfizer has done that and could boost consumer confidence too. 
That said, a period of consolidation would be welcome though volatility is not going to go away.

Page 38



3 
 

              ECONOMY 

The Bank of England announced a further £150bn of QE making a total of £450bn this year, doubling the 
stock of QE. This is to avoid credit becoming too restrictive but also to absorb the extra gilts being issued to 
fund the resumption of the furlough scheme. The resulting budget deficit could be closer to 20% GNP than the 
15% we expected previously but because interest rates are so low, debt service costs are falling. The BoE now 
forecasts a fall in GNP of 11% for the year, down from 9% previously. This is even worse than the outcome in 
1921 and a revised forecast of 7% recovery in 2021 means output will not recover 2019 levels until well into 
2022. Unemployment at least is not seen as worsening with a forecast of 7.5% still. Brexit has not been 
resolved at the time of writing and adds further to the uncertainty of the economic outlook. A successful 
vaccination launch by year end could however raise confidence and boost recovery prospects. 

In the US, we must assume Mr Biden’s election survives legal challenge. While a bipartisan approach to the  
postponed fiscal package would seem sensible, there are doubts about its likelihood. The lack of a Democrat 
majority in the Senate has been taken positively by markets as likely to preclude less market friendly 
elements of the party platform such as corporation tax hikes. On monetary policy, the Fed made a significant 
shift in inflation targeting by indicating that the 2% policy objective could be disregarded for some years 
until any shortfall is made up. That combination of ultra- loose monetary policy and fiscal stimulus will 
support markets. Forecasts for GNP still indicate a much happier outturn than in the UK with a fall of 5-6% 
and certainly the Q3 recovery at 7% was above expectations.

In Europe, the pandemic course is following that of the UK and in consequence the major countries are 
following us into lockdowns of various descriptions. ECB president Lagarde has encouraged countries to 
increase fiscal support and is expected to increase QE while continuing with negative interest rates.  Q3 GNP 
data was encouraging but expectations remain for falls of 8% for the year in economic activity, perhaps 6% 
only in Germany. Elsewhere, China , perversely perhaps, is showing definite signs of recovery and a return 
to normality as are other East Asian economies. 

Ultra low interest rates and the absence of inflation  have enabled fiscal policy to provide invaluable 
economic support this time round unlike during the financial crisis. QE has of course made it possible to 
finance levels of government debt that would have been inconceivable in past recessions. The hope is that it 
provides life support while infection rates drop to enable mass testing to gain traction until vaccinations can 
take over. That said, it is hard to see budget deficits being reined in for some time through a mix of tax rises 
and spending cuts that would be politically toxic. When will the bond markets rebel?

 

Page 39



4 
 

MARKETS

In the reporting period, Q3, UK equities were the only major market to weaken with a fall of 4% while global 
equities rose 3% , led by the US. Year to date, the UK was down 20% while global equities rose 4% with the 
US up 10%, Europe down 6% and emerging markets broadly flat . While sterling has been flat against the 
dollar this year, at around 1.30, it has weakened some 6% against the euro so in local currency terms 
European markets have fallen some 12%. As we have said before, sectoral composition plays a role here. US 
IT stocks were up an astonishing 33% while the UK was dragged down by a 24% fall in resource stocks 
which feature heavily in the index unlike IT. To date in Q4, the UK market has weakened again on the bad 
news on infections and is still some 10% below the level reached in the earlier market rally whereas the US 
is holding onto gains mostly. As we go to press, though, markets are rising on the latest positive vaccination 
news.

The speed of the rally in US equities in particular has been astonishing. As we said last time, it has been the 
fastest since the 1929 crash. Historically, markets take time to grow out of recessions which normally arise 
from corrective monetary tightening. This time governments have responded immediately and decisively, 
with even Germany relaxing the purse strings so market recovery in the teeth of such bad news is not so 
irrational. The debate of course is how far it should go and with a second wave in the pandemic and with the 
business cycle, at least in the UK, morphing from a V to a W shape, the answer is probably it has gone far 
enough. 

The US of course has not moved into lockdown though it carries much higher levels of unemployment 
without furlough so the economic recovery could continue, supporting market levels. Certainly, corporate 
earnings are coming in better than expected with a forecast of a year on year decline of 13%, far better than 
expected earlier. IT stocks like Apple and Amazon have reported good figures though these were expected 
and the sector is off its recent highs, Tesla in particular. European profits figures are more mixed but 
companies are reluctant to provide much guidance on 2021 prospects. At least in the UK, some companies 
are beginning to reinstate dividends though on a reduced basis and the banks are lobbying hard to be able to 
join in, given their capital ratios are so strong.

What of bond markets?  Gilts have produced a positive return of 8% to end September across all maturities 
with long dated better still while index linked have returned 10%. Interestingly, the price of inflation has 
barely moved during the year with 20 year inflation priced at 3.2%. The reduction in index linked yields 
reflects the fall in nominal yields, eg 0.8% for 20 year gilts.  Corporate bonds have returned 5% and spreads 
have narrowed in further in Q4 so they now stand at 145bp against 125 bp at the start of the year. As the 
economy progresses, we must expect more corporate failures though that is usually more of a threat in the 
high yield market which prices in a certain expectation. 

There is somewhat more visibility in commercial property pricing now. Capital values have dropped some 5-
10% with industrials holding up well along with retail warehouses and high street retail at the opposite end of 
the spectrum.  All this in contrast with residential where prices appear to have risen some 7%. There is 
something of a revival in transactions and property funds have reopened for dealing.

Page 40



5 
 

    

        INVESTMENT STRATEGY

The Committee endorsed the recommended investment strategy changes at its last meeting which focussed 
on the equity allocation with a pronounced shift further into global equities including greater allocations to 
small cap and emerging markets together with a renewed commitment to active management.

Long term capital market assumptions continue to expect equities to offer the highest returns though illiquid 
assets like private equity, infrastructure and private debt offer the so- called illiquidity premium to boost 
returns as compensation for being locked in. Fixed income returns trail other asset classes so unless they are 
being used for liability matching purposes, government bonds are unlikely to feature in pension funds.  The 
fall in inflation in recent years has dampened the gains from our inflation hedging programme Though it has 
benefitted from the fall in nominal gilt yields, the inflation hedge itself is now producing negative return. The 
portfolio remains at risk from the RPI-CPI wedge if the government fails to compensate bond holders. 
Longer term , inflation may become a problem again. 

Focus in the near term will be on transitioning the equity portfolios which is a complex operation with many 
moving parts involving the appointment of a transition adviser. The recommendation to break it into two 
parts, selling down the UK portfolio first will help simplify matters.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION 

For further information, please contact Alan Saunders on 020 7079 1000 or at 
alan.saunders@mjhudson.com. 

 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Pension Fund Committee
Thursday, 26 November 2020
Pension Fund Administrator’s Report

For Decision
Local Councillor(s): All

Executive Director: A Dunn, Executive Director, Corporate Development

Report Author: David Wilkes
Title: Service Manager (Treasury and Investments)
Tel: 01305 224119
Email: david.wilkes@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Report Status:  Public

Recommendation:

That the Committee review and comment upon the activity and overall 
performance of the pension fund.

Reason for Recommendation:

To ensure that the pension fund has the appropriate management arrangements 
in place and are being monitored, and to keep the asset allocation in line with the 
strategic target.

1. Executive Summary 

The purpose of this report is to update the Committee on the pension fund’s 
funding position, and the valuation and overall performance of the pension fund’s 
investments as at 30 September 2020.  The report provides a summary of the 
performance of all external investment managers and addresses other topical 
issues for the pension fund that do not require a separate report.

The estimated value of the pension fund’s assets at 30 September 2020 was 
£3,045M compared to £2,696M at the start of the financial year.  This has been 
driven by rises across all listed markets after the falls in March 2020 in reaction 
to the impact of COVID 19.

Page 43

Agenda Item 8



This estimated funding position at 30 September 2020 is 83% i.e. assets were 
estimated to be 83% of the value needed pay for the expected benefits accrued 
to that date.  This compares to 92% calculated by the pension fund’s actuary 
following their full assessment as at 31 March 2019 for the most recent triennial 
valuation.

The total return from the pension fund’s investments over the financial year to 30 
September 2020 was 12.9%, compared to the combined benchmark return of 
10.8%.  Over the last 12 months the pension fund’s investments have returned    
-3.1%, below the Fund’s combined benchmark return of -2.7% and the actuarial 
discount rate of 5.0%.

As at 30 September 2020, approximately 32% of the pension fund’s liabilities 
were hedged against inflation sensitivity through the Liability Driven Investment 
(LDI) mandate with Insight Investment.

As at 30 September 2020, approximately 46% of the pension fund’s assets were 
under the management of Brunel Pension Partnership.

David Vickers has been appointed by Brunel as Chief Investment Officer, 
replacing Mark Mansley who left in May 2020.

2. Financial Implications

The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is a national pension scheme 
administered locally.  Dorset Council is the administering authority for the LGPS 
in Dorset which provides pensions and other benefits for employees of the 
Council, other councils and a range of other organisations within the county.

The LGPS is a ‘defined benefit’ scheme which means that benefits for scheme 
members are calculated based on factors such as age, length of membership 
and salary.  Member benefits are not calculated on the basis of investment 
performance as they would be in a ‘defined contribution’ scheme.

Administering authorities are required to maintain a pension fund for the payment 
of benefits to scheme members funded by contributions from scheme members 
and their employers, and from returns on contributions invested prior to benefits 
becoming payable.

Contribution levels for scheme members are set nationally, and contribution 
levels for scheme employers are set locally by actuaries engaged by 
administering authorities.  

Page 44



As scheme member rates cannot be changed locally and benefits are defined, 
the risk of investment underperformance is effectively borne by scheme 
employers.

3. Wellbeing and Health Implications

No wellbeing and health implications arising from this report have been identified.

4. Climate implications

The pension fund’s Investment Strategy Statement requires all external 
investment managers to consider and manage all financially material risks arising 
from environmental issues, including those associated with climate change.

5. Other Implications

No other implications arising from this report have been identified.

6. Risk Assessment

The risks associated with the pension fund’s investments are assessed in detail 
and considered as part of the strategic allocation

7. Equalities Impact Assessment

There are no equalities implications arising from this report.

8. Appendices
Appendix 1: Brunel Performance Report Q3 2020
Appendix 2: Corporate Bonds (RLAM) Q3 2020
Appendix 3: Multi Asset Credit (CQS) Q3 2020
Appendix 4: Property (CBRE) Q3 2020
Appendix 5: Liability Driven Investment (Insight) Q2 2020

9. Background Papers
Investment Strategy Statement (March 2018)
Funding Strategy Statement (March 2020)

10. Asset Valuation Summary

10.1 The table below shows the pension fund’s asset valuation by asset class 
at the beginning of the financial year and as at 30 September 2020, 
together with the target allocation as agreed at the meeting of the 
Committee on 10 September 2020.

Page 45



Asset Class £M % £M % £M %
UK Equities 491.0 18.2% 466.1 15.3% 304.5 10.0%
Overseas Equities 682.8 25.3% 918.9 30.2% 1,065.6 35.0%
Emerging Markets Equities 83.8 3.1% 105.3 3.5% 152.2 5.0%
Total Listed Equities 1,257.6 46.6% 1,490.3 49.0% 1,522.3 50.0%
Corporate Bonds 220.6 8.2% 241.7 7.9% 121.8 4.0%
Multi Asset Credit 120.4 4.5% 139.9 4.6% 152.2 5.0%
Diversified Returns 152.8 5.7% 167.8 5.5% 182.7 6.0%
Infrastructure 195.3 7.2% 215.8 7.1% 243.6 8.0%
Private Equity 98.1 3.6% 98.5 3.2% 152.2 5.0%
Property 301.0 11.2% 296.2 9.7% 304.5 10.0%
Cash 53.4 2.0% 33.0 1.1% - 0.0%
F/X Hedging -9.7 -0.4% 2.1 0.1% - 0.0%
Total Return Seeking Assets 2,389.5 88.6% 2,685.3 88.2% 2,679.2 88.0%
Liability Matching Assets 306.8 11.4% 359.2 11.8% 365.3 12.0%
Total Asset Valuation 2,696.3 100.0% 3,044.5 100.0% 3,044.5 100.0%

31-Mar-20 30-Sep-20 Target Allocation

11. Funding Update 

11.1 The pension fund’s actuary, Barnett Waddingham, undertakes a full 
assessment of the funding position every three years.  This was last 
completed as at 31 March 2019 when the pension fund had a funding level 
of 92% i.e. assets were estimated to be 92% of the value that they would 
have needed to be to pay for the expected benefits accrued to that date, 
based on the assumptions used.

11.2 Barnett Waddingham also carry out an indicative update on the funding 
position at the end of each quarter.  Whilst this is not a full review it is 
intended to give an understanding of movements in the pension fund’s 
overall funding position between triennial valuations.  As at 30 September 
2020 the estimated funding position was approximately 83%.

12. Investment Performance Summary

12.1 The overall performance of the pension fund’s investments to 30 
September 2020 is summarised below (returns for three and five years are 
annualised figures).

Page 46



1.6%

12.9%

-3.0%

3.0%

7.5%

0.2%

10.8%

-2.7%

3.4%

7.7%

-4.0%

-2.0%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

Quarter FYTD 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

Fund Return  Benchmark Return

12.2 The Brunel Pension Partnership’s performance report for the quarter 
ending 30 September 2020 is attached as Appendix 1.  This report 
includes market summaries from Brunel’s investment officers and an 
overall performance summary for the pension fund, together with more 
detailed information in relation to Dorset’s assets under Brunel’s 
management.

13. Performance by Asset Class and Investment Manager

UK Equities

13.1 The performance of the pension fund’s external mangers is summarised in 
the tables below.

Brunel/LGIM Passive - £256.3m assets under management (AUM)

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter -2.8% -2.9% 0.1%
Financial Year to Date 7.1% 7.0% 0.1%
12 months -16.5% -16.6% 0.1%
Since inception p.a. -7.3% -7.3% 0.0%

Page 47



Brunel UK Active - £143.4m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter -1.7% -2.9% 1.2%
Financial Year to Date 9.8% 7.0% 2.8%
12 months -15.1% -16.6% 1.5%
Since inception p.a. -4.1% -4.5% 0.4%

Schroders - £53.9m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 6.3% -1.7% 8.0%
Financial Year to Date 28.7% 13.7% 15.0%
12 months -0.3% -13.8% 13.5%
3 years p.a. 0.2% -7.2% 7.4%
5 years p.a. 7.5% 0.8% 6.7%
Since inception p.a. 9.1% 4.5% 4.6%

Global Developed Markets Equities

13.2 The performance of the pension fund’s external global equities managers 
is summarised in the tables below.

Wellington - £217.9m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 3.8% 3.2% 0.6%
Financial Year to Date 25.7% 23.6% 2.1%
12 months 8.4% 5.2% 3.2%
3 years p.a. 11.1% 9.1% 2.0%
Since inception p.a. 14.3% 12.7% 1.6%

Brunel/LGIM Smart Beta - £142.4m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 1.6% 1.6% 0.0%
Financial Year to Date 17.2% 17.3% -0.1%
12 months -5.5% -5.3% -0.2%
Since inception p.a. 3.9% 4.1% -0.2%

Page 48



Brunel/LGIM Smart Beta (Hedged) - £143.6m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 4.7% 4.7% 0.0%
Financial Year to Date 19.5% 19.4% 0.1%
12 months -3.7% -3.5% -0.2%
Since inception p.a. 1.6% 2.1% -0.5%

Brunel/LGIM Passive Developed - £93.4m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 3.3% 3.3% 0.0%
Financial Year to Date 23.8% 23.8% 0.0%
12 months 5.8% 5.8% 0.0%
Since inception p.a. 8.2% 8.3% -0.1%

Brunel/LGIM Passive Developed (Hedged) - £116.7m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 6.3% 6.4% -0.1%
Financial Year to Date 25.8% 26.0% -0.2%
12 months 7.4% 7.6% -0.2%
Since inception p.a. 5.2% 5.3% -0.1%

Brunel Emerging Markets Equities - £105.3m AUM

13.3 The performance of the Brunel Emerging Markets Equity Fund is 
summarised below.

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 5.7% 4.8% 0.9%
Financial Year to Date 25.6% 24.3% 1.3%
Since inception 1.1% 2.4% -1.3%

Corporate Bonds - £241.7m AUM 

13.4 The performance of the pension fund’s external Corporate Bonds 
manager, RLAM, is detailed in Appendix 2, and summarised below.

Page 49



Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 1.6% 1.3% 0.3%
Financial Year to Date 9.5% 10.5% -1.0%
12 months 4.9% 4.8% 0.1%
3 years p.a. 6.5% 6.0% 0.5%
5 years p.a. 7.4% 6.9% 0.5%
Since inception p.a. 8.6% 8.5% 0.1%

Multi Asset Credit (MAC) - £139.9m AUM

13.5 The performance of the Fund’s external MAC manager, CQS, is detailed 
in Appendix 3 and summarised below.

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 3.3% 1.0% 2.3%
Financial Year to Date 16.2% 2.1% 14.1%
12 months -2.0% 4.5% -6.5%
Since inception p.a. 1.3% 4.7% -3.4%

13.6 The target for the CQS fund is cash (1 month LIBOR) plus 4% over the 
longer term, and this is used as the benchmark for the investment. 

Property (CBRE) - £293.1m AUM 

13.7 The performance of the Fund’s external property manager, CBRE, is 
detailed in Appendix 4, and summarised below.

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 0.7% 0.1% 0.6%
Financial Year to Date 0.4% -3.1% 3.5%
12 months -1.7% -2.9% 1.2%
3 years p.a. 3.1% 2.4% 0.7%
5 years p.a. 5.0% 4.2% 0.8%
Since inception p.a. 7.2% 7.1% 0.1%

13.8 In addition to assets under the management of CBRE, the pension fund 
also has some holdings in secured long income property funds under the 
management of Brunel.

Private Equity

13.9 Private Equity is an asset class that takes several years for commitments 
to be fully invested.  The table below summarises the commitment the 
pension fund has made in total to each manager, the drawdowns that 
have taken place to date and the percentage of the total drawdown 

Page 50



against commitments.  It also shows the distributions that have been 
returned to the pension fund, the valuation as at 30 September 2020 and 
the total gains or losses on investments.
Private Equity Commitments, Drawdowns and Valuations

Manager Commitment Distribution Valuation Gain
£m £m % £m £m £m

HarbourVest 113.2 85.5 76% 83.2 56.1 53.8
Aberdeen Standard 80.8 75.4 93% 71.5 30.2 26.3
Brunel 60.0 9.3 16% 0.0 12.1 2.8
Total 254.0 170.3 67% 154.8 98.4 82.9

Drawndown  

13.10 In order to meet the target allocation, there is a requirement to keep 
committing to Private Equity funds.  Officers are in regular discussions 
with HarbourVest, Aberdeen Standard and the Brunel private markets 
team to identify further opportunities for investment.

13.11 The tables below summarise performance to date for the pension fund’s 
two legacy managers, HarbourVest and Aberdeen Standard.

HarbourVest - £56.1m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 7.4% -2.9% 10.3%
Financial Year to Date 0.4% 7.0% -6.6%
12 months 5.7% -16.6% 22.3%
3 years p.a. 16.9% -3.2% 20.1%
5 years p.a. 16.9% 3.5% 13.4%
Since inception p.a. 11.6% 4.1% 7.5%

Aberdeen Standard - £30.2m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter 5.7% -2.9% 8.6%
Financial Year to Date -8.8% 7.0% -15.8%
12 months -2.5% -16.6% 14.1%
3 years p.a. 11.0% -3.2% 14.2%
5 years p.a. 10.9% 3.5% 7.4%
Since inception p.a. 3.4% 4.5% -1.1%

13.12 The benchmark used for these investments is the FTSE All Share index 
and the investments are held in US dollars and Euros, currency 
movements can contribute to volatility in relative performance.
Infrastructure

Page 51



13.13 As with Private Equity, Infrastructure is a long-term investment that takes 
several years for commitments to be fully invested.  The pension fund has 
two external infrastructure managers, Hermes and IFM.  The target for 
each manager is a 10% absolute annual return and this is used at the 
benchmark for these investments.  Performance is summarised in the 
tables below:

Hermes - £94.1m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter -6.3% 2.5% -8.8%
Financial Year to Date -4.9% 4.9% -9.8%
12 months -0.2% 10.1% -10.3%
3 years p.a. 5.0% 10.0% -5.0%
Since inception p.a. 7.0% 10.0% -3.0%

IFM - £105.7m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter -0.9% 2.5% -3.4%
Financial Year to Date 1.2% 4.9% -3.7%
12 months -1.1% 10.1% -11.2%
3 years p.a. 11.8% 10.0% 1.8%
Since inception p.a. 13.0% 10.0% 3.0%

13.14 The investments with IFM are denominated in US dollars but performance 
is measured in sterling, therefore currency movements can contribute to 
volatility in performance.

Liability Driven Investment (LDI) - £360.7m AUM 

13.15 A proportion of the pension fund’s assets are held in an inflation hedging 
strategy, managed by Insight Investments.  These assets are not held to 
add growth, but to match the movements in the pension fund’s liabilities.

13.16 LDI strategies allow pension schemes to continue investing in return-
seeking assets while hedging out their liability risks through the use of 
leverage.  As at 30 September 2020, 11.8% of the pension fund’s assets 
were invested in the mandate but 32% of the pension fund’s liabilities 
were hedged against inflation sensitivity i.e. if liabilities increased by 
£100M as a result of changes to inflation expectations, the value of the 

Page 52



assets under management would be expected to increase by 
approximately £32M.

13.17 The liability matching strategy is intended to hedge against the impact of 
increasing pensions liabilities which are linked to the Consumer Prices 
Index (CPI).  CPI cannot currently be hedged as there is not a sufficiently 
developed futures market, so the Fund’s strategy targets the Retail Prices 
Index (RPI) swaps market to act as a proxy for CPI which tends to be 
lower than RPI. 

13.18 The performance of the manager is detailed in Appendix 5 and 
summarised below.

Performance Benchmark Relative
Quarter -0.7% -0.7% 0.0%
12 months -12.0% -12.4% 0.4%
3 years p.a. -0.2% -0.9% 0.7%
5 years p.a. 6.4% 4.6% 1.7%
Since inception p.a. 8.5% 7.4% 1.0%

14. Brunel Pension Partnership Update

14.1 As at 30 September 2020, approximately 46% of the pension fund’s 
assets were under the management of Brunel Pension Partnership.

14.2 Following the resignation and departure of Mark Mansley, Brunel’s Chief 
Investment Officer, in May 2020 David Vickers has been appointed to the 
vacant position.  David will take up post in January 2021 and will be invited 
to a future meeting of the Committee.

14.3 James Russell-Stracey, Brunel’s Chief Stakeholder Officer, continues to 
lead a review of the partnership governance arrangements expected to 
conclude shortly.

Footnote:
Issues relating to financial, legal, environmental, economic and equalities 
implications have been considered and any information relevant to the decision is 
included within the report.

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Information Classification: Public

P
age 55



Contents

Page 3     -    Brunel News

Page 4     -    Executive Summary

Page 5     -    Market Summary - Listed Markets Equities

Page 7     -    Market Summary - Head of Private Markets

Page 9     -    Responsible Investment & Stewardship Review

Page 12     -    Summary of Pension Fund Performance

Page 13     -    Asset Allocation of Pension Fund

Page 15     -    Legacy Manager Performance

Page 17     -    Brunel Portfolios Overview

Page 47     -    Glossary of Terms

Page 53     -    Brunel Committees and Groups

Forging better futures
Information Classification: Public

Dorset County Pension Fund

Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Page 2 of 56

P
age 56



Brunel News

The political, economic and social ramifications of COVID-19 are clearly still with us, but the third quarter saw a very significant uptick in investment activity
across Brunel, following a tactical delay in transitions agreed across client funds. As markets have stabilised, we have been able to put allocation plans into
practice, with close to £2.7bn of client funds invested in new fund launches over recent months. The £1.2 billion Diversifying Returns Fund was a complex
product to design and implement but its provision of downside protection at times of market stress is timely, and yet it still targets the returns required by
clients, investing across a range of asset classes.

The Global Small Cap Fund has also been developed to match investor needs. We wanted to target the small cap returns premium but without the weaker
ESG characteristics often associated with the asset class. The £300 million portfolio draws on a range of investment approaches, with low correlation
between our chosen managers. Over thirty strategies were reviewed and three managers were chosen with ESG integration and engagement prioritised
throughout.

We also launched the Sustainable Equities Fund, which represents a major step forward in Responsible Investment. With a launch value of £1.2billion, the
fund mandates managers to positively pursue companies that will provide a benefit to society.
Laura Chappell, CEO, says: “These transactions are important on many levels for Brunel. The partnership has been able to deliver these complex portfolios at
a time of significant economic and social stress because of the commitment by all parties to deliver financial outcomes that meet the expectations of
shareholders, members and clients. This has been achieved through a period of almost exclusively remote working and is a testament to the strength of
collaboration and the positive impact of shared values.”

Over the same period, the manager selection progress has begun for the Multi-Asset Credit Fund and the Sterling Corporate Bond Fund. On the Private
Markets side, the partnership is pleased to have passed a major landmark, as property transitions reached £1 billion . We are proud of the partnership’s
success in ensuring members have access to this less-accessible asset class, with all the diversification that provides, and the ESG innovation that the fund
enables.

All of this has been achieved despite the logistical and operating constraints imposed on all businesses through the pandemic and in line with government
guidelines and our own ‘level of care’ standards for employee health, safety and mental well-being. As of recently, all staff are now able to work in the
office as required or for co-working – and to do so safely under new procedures, which we continue to review. Looking further ahead, we have taken
significant steps across the partnership to put the principles of Paris Alignment into practice . The partnership supported the launch of the IIGCC Net Zero
Investment Framework, the first practical framework to guide asset owners and managers seeking to become Net Zero investors, across a range of
investment themes and asset classes.

To keep clients fully informed, we published the first issue of our Responsible Investment newsletter. Our clients and their pension committees have also been
provided with guidance about Brunel’s approach to the increasing level of public engagement on environmental and social issues. This is a complex area
and requires informed and evidence-based responses by asset managers which also meet the risk-and-return-based requirements of clients. The coming
months will continue to be challenging but transition plans are on schedule for completion in the New Year. By working in collaboration with clients and
remaining adaptable, we believe this important execution phase will only benefit the partnership’s development.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 3 of 56

P
age 57

https://www.iigcc.org/news/16-trillion-investors-develop-first-ever-framework-for-net-zero-investing/
https://www.iigcc.org/news/16-trillion-investors-develop-first-ever-framework-for-net-zero-investing/


Executive Summary

Performance of Pension Fund

The fund delivered absolute performance of 1.6% over the quarter in GBP terms. This was ahead of the
benchmark return of 0.2%. Total fund return for the 1 year to September was -3.1%, which was behind
benchmark return of -2.7%.

Key points from last quarter:
• 1.6% Absolute Net Performance Q3
• 1.4% Relative Net Performance vs Benchmark Q3
• -3.1% Absolute Net Performance 1Y
• -0.4% Relative Net Performance vs Benchmark 1Y

Fund Specific Events
• Additional £70m investment in Global High Alpha funded by reducing allocation to Passive UK Equities
• £163m was transitioned into the Diversifying Returns Fund portfolio

The Global High Alpha Equity Sub-Fund continued to perform strongly over the quarter, providing a
relative outperformance of +4% above the benchmark, thereby improving its outperformance since
inception to +13.2%.

The Active UK Sub-Fund’s benchmark was changed from the FTSE All Share Index to the FTSE All Share ex
Investment Trust Index. The Fund provided an absolute return of -1.7% over the three months.

The Diversifying Returns Sub-Fund was launched on 27th July 2020, after which there was a phased
transition to sell down the seed assets. The performance period began on 13th August 2020, when the
target portfolio was reached. Within that time frame, performance varied across the four strategies, with
currency moves weighing heavily on one of the strategies.

MSCI Emerging Markets – a proxy for broad emerging market equities – returned +1.5% year to date,
despite falling by more than 18% in Q1 2020. The Emerging Market Sub-Fund enjoyed positive returns.
Absolute performance over the last 3 months was +5.7% vs benchmark return, proxied by MSCI Emerging
Markets, and +4.8% in GBP terms.

Total
(GBPm)

30 Jun 2020 2,997

30 Sep 2020 3,045

Net cash inflow (outflow) -1

Total Fund Valuation

Jun Sep
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Assets Transitioned to Brunel

GBP 1,227m GBP 1,413m

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 4 of 56

P
age 58



Market Summary – Listed Markets

This quarter equity markets consolidated the strong rebounds seen in Q2 with more muted single- digit
gains in US, Japan, and Emerging Markets, whilst Europe remained flat and Asia ex Japan experienced a
negative return.
In the light of a continued divergence between equity market valuations and economic performance,
market participants were left to assess the potential impact of unprecedented fiscal and monetary
stimulus packages across the globe. This impact had to be balanced with the ongoing shock to
economic activity presented by the COVID-19 pandemic, and the risk of a second wave and
associated lockdowns.
Amongst this, the US Fed announced a change of regime by adopting an average inflation target to
allow for temporary overshoots in inflation, and the Bank of England debated the use of negative
interest rates as a potential future policy tool.

Disparity between sectors, regions, and rising concentration within equity markets
Despite a brief hiatus in the performance of the FAANG+ cohort of stocks towards the end of the
quarter, the ongoing rally in these names and increasing concentration within equity markets in general,
continues to generate concerns.
Apple achieved a higher market value than either the FTSE 100 index and the Russell 2000 small cap
index (Chart 1) . Such concentration in individual names is not limited to the US: Alibaba comprised over
43% of the MSCI Emerging Markets Consumer Discretionary Index at the end of September 2020. On a
sector basis, Chart 2 shows the disparity this year between sector returns within North American equities
and the reliance on a small number of sectors in driving the positive returns for the region.
Furthermore, the rally in large-cap, tech-related growth companies explains regional differences in
equity market performance. At a 28% weighting, the IT sector within the MSCI North American index is
considerably larger than for equivalent UK and European indices (Chart 3). Moreover, when you include
FAANG+ stocks categorised in other sectors, the US weighting rises to near 40%. Meanwhile, the more
traditional and currently challenged sectors of Financials and Energy make up a materially larger
proportion of European (particularly UK) and Emerging Market equity indices.
With stretched valuations in some sectors and high levels of concentration in individual names, the
economic outlook is highly uncertain. The consensus is for more volatility in equity markets over the
coming quarter. And that is before even considering the potential impacts of the upcoming US election
in early November, and the conclusion of any post-Brexit trade deal.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 5 of 56

P
age 59



Market Summary – Listed Markets

Global Developed Equities
• Global developed equities, proxied by the MSCI World Index, increased by 3.3% in GBP terms over the
quarter.
• The US was the largest driver of performance, returning 4.8% over the period. The UK was the largest
country detractor within developed equities.
• On a sector basis, Consumer Discretionary and IT were the largest contributors to returns. Within
Consumer Discretionary, Tesla was the largest contributor, despite a relatively small position within the
index, delivering a notable 90% return. IT names that contributed most were Apple (21.6%) and NVIDIA
(36.2%), with the latter announcing the acquisition of ARM during the quarter.
• In contrast, Energy fell by 19.4% in GBP terms with 5 of the 7 largest names in the sector all falling by
more than 20%. Despite oil prices holding relatively stable since last quarter’s oil price shock, producers
have struggled to break even. Negative investor confidence has weighed heavily due to concerns over
the impact of a potential Biden presidency, and the trend away from traditional energy producers to
their renewable energy counterparts.
UK Equities
• UK Equities (as represented by the FTSE All Share ex Investment Trusts Index) followed their best quarterly
return in seven years in Q2, with a fall of 3.5% over the quarter, continuing the trend of lagging their
global peers.
• The sectors to suffer major losses over the quarter were Oil and Gas (-24%) and Telecommunications (-
17.8%), as large benchmark names suffered in both sectors.
• A positive performance in Technology (+8.8%), driven by service and software companies, was not
enough to offset losses in other sectors. Technology only has a 1.3% weight within the index.
Emerging Markets
• Emerging markets enjoyed a solid quarter, the MSCI Emerging Markets Index rose by almost 5% in GBP
terms, outperforming its developed markets counterpart.
• On a country basis, China was by far the largest contributor to returns, rising 7.6% over the quarter in
GBP terms, thereby contributing over 3% to the total benchmark performance of 4.9%.
• Performance dispersion between countries continued, this quarter ranging from Turkey at -19.4%
(giving up all of the previous quarter’s gains), to Taiwan at +11.9%, where the index had already risen
22% during the previous quarter. It was notable that Argentina, which last quarter achieved 44.2% was
relatively flat in Q3, achieving a 2% return.
• Consumer Discretionary and IT were the 2 highest-performing sectors (+21.2%, and +15.4%
respectively), reflecting a similar sector experience to developed markets . Financials continued to
struggle, underperforming all other sectors, and only marginally behind Energy.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 6 of 56

P
age 60



Market Summary – Head of Private Markets

Photo by Matt Seymour on Unsplash

Overview

The global economy picked up rapidly from its partial paralysis in early Q2, when lockdowns meant that
activity in certain sectors dropped to almost zero. The extreme pessimism felt in H1 has abated, and
expectations for earnings have begun to improve, albeit from depressed levels.

While some restrictions remain in place in most countries, particularly in Europe in recent weeks, these are
far removed from the strict “stay-at-home” orders issued earlier in the year.

Essential to the recovery in activity has been the vast amount of policy support – both monetary and
fiscal.

Infrastructure

In many economic crises, infrastructure businesses are impacted by the tail end of the recession, as
demand for essential services flags. From the very beginning of the COVID-19 crisis, however, it was clear
that infrastructure would be impacted first. The state of emergency announced during the initial phase
brought nationwide lockdowns globally, and most transport links were shut down. The economic
implications of these radical measures are only really showing now, months after the initial shock.

Merchant companies are the most exposed to market risk and were hit the hardest both by lower
expected cash flows and profits drops. Across all sectors, transport was also heavily impacted, given
that, since March, major airports, ports, and roads have seen traffic plummet, and only start to recover in
early Q3. Conversely, contracted business models , especially those with low risk profiles – such as
onshore wind farms and solar PV – were much less impacted over the reporting period.

The Brunel Infrastructure portfolio remained resilient through the period; most of the renewable energy
portfolio was secured by 90% contracted revenues. The Vauban Core Infrastructure fund, despite its
exposure to transport , has managed to close three transactions since March 2020, achieving full
deployment of the fund while continuing to actively manage the assets in the portfolio to preserve and
generate additional value. The Brunel Private Markets team has successfully set up two new
infrastructure vehicles for Cycle 2, a £470m vehicle dedicated to renewable energy, and a £370m
vehicle dedicated to general infrastructure – the last of these focuses on telecoms, energy, social
infrastructure, and transport.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 7 of 56

P
age 61



Market Summary – Head of Private Markets

Photo by CHUTTERSNAP on Unsplash

Private Equity

Deal activity in Q3 2020 started to pick up as sentiment improved, following the quick recovery of public
markets. Since COVID-19 broke out worldwide, GPs had been focusing on portfolio management, which
led to a quiet quarter in Q2 2020. With the portfolio under control, improved sentiment and ample dry
powder from strong fundraising years, the GPs have resumed making investments. The investments were
mainly focused on resilient sectors such as technology and healthcare. On the other hand, the
managers that owned mature assets in these sectors benefited from strong buying interest and high
valuation. They were able to exit and generate distributions for their investors.

Fundraising activity during H1 2020 slowed down. Compared to H1 2019, H1 2020 fundraising declined
25% in terms of capital raised. In addition, the fundraising was concentrated among fewer funds.
Managers with strong platforms and track records are expected to continue to meet or exceed their
fundraising target. Overall, the fundraising market for 2020 is expected to be lower, especially compared
to the records achieved in 2019.

Property

Transactional activity in UK property picked up over the summer in most market sectors, allowing valuers
to remove most Material Uncertainty Clause s from property funds in September. Nevertheless, pricing
levels for large retail sites will probably only be tested this quarter. Sector preferences continue to
polarise; logistics benefited from UK retail spending moving to online for 33% of retail spend and further
pandemic-driven lockdowns are likely to consolidate or increase demand for e-commerce distribution
centres ahead of Christmas. Retail warehouses remain the most resilient assets in a sector that has seen
some asset values fall by up to 50% over the last year. 65% of office workers are expected to return to
their offices by Q1 2021, though this is likely to be undermined by further travel restrictions through the
winter. In the Alternatives sector, student housing has high numbers of UK students this term, but
uncertainty remains for occupancy in 2021. Internationally, similar themes are developing, with investors
focusing on increased demand for assets relating to ecommerce, onshoring and demographics-driven
residential demand.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 8 of 56

P
age 62



Responsible Investment & Stewardship Review

Source: Macau photo agencyWhile our planned work in responsible investment and policy advocacy continued, the rise of COVID-19
globally added a new dimension to our priorities. We have had to navigate issues with companies and
their approach to effective shareholder engagement in a virtual world; on mental health in the
workforce; and on modern human slavery in supply chains. Each of these issues has been exacerbated
by the various lockdowns imposed around the world. However, climate has remained our top priority
and we have been active in highlighting the need for a socially-inclusive, green recovery through our
advocacy work at both UK and EU level.

Putting the ‘S’ back in ESG
The ongoing pandemic continues to shine a light on a whole range of social challenges and inequalities,
highlighting the need for the investment sector to further engage on the social component of ESG.
Social data is sparce and can be challenging to quantify. To help improve this, Brunel has joined the
Workforce Disclosure Initiative. The initiative calls for greater transparency on workforce policies and
practices in companies’ direct operations and supply chains. We have also joined the Good Work
Coalition, which engages with companies on the importance of a real living wage and living hours.
Helen Price has recently written a guest blog to raise awareness and highlight the newly-launched Living
Wage Investor Toolkit and unpack its usefulness in engaging with companies. Brunel will continue to
engage on this throughout the year.

Working with policy makers and regulators
The Department for Work & Pensions launched a consultation in August, proposing mandatory Taskforce
on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) to be embedded within pensions Law. The public
consultation, launched by the Pensions Climate Risk Industry Group (of which Faith Ward is a member),
sought views on policy proposals to require trustees of larger occupational pension schemes and
authorised schemes to address climate change risks and opportunities through effective governance
and risk management measures.

Our key message to the DWP was the same one we shared with the FCA in their consultation on climate
disclosures of companies (submitted the week before). We emphasised that, for pension funds to
improve transparency, there needs to be reporting all the way along the investment chain. Currently,
the FCA proposes a ‘comply or explain’ approach, while the DWP is looking for mandatory reporting –
we have flagged the disparity. We report in line with TCFD recommendations each year and are
currently drafting our disclosures for inclusion in our 2020 Annual Report and Accounts.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 9 of 56

P
age 63

https://shareaction.org/workforce-disclosure-initiative/
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/K_kkCLPkNUMKYfBufry?domain=shareaction.org/


Responsible Investment & Stewardship Review

Climate – practical support in achieving Net Zero
Brunel is part of the leadership of the Institutional Investor Group on Climate Change (IIGCC) and has
therefore been closely involved in drafting the Net Zero Investment Framework, which aims to set a
global standard for investors to demonstrate they are Paris-aligned. ‘Paris-aligned’ is defined as limiting
temperature rises to well below 2°C, preferably 1.5°C, above pre-industrial levels, by 2050 or sooner.

The project, in collaboration with 70 global investors representing $16 trillion in assets, has three main
objectives:
• Develop working definitions of concepts, terms and pathways relevant to achieving Paris-aligned
portfolios
• Develop and assess methods and approaches for measuring alignment and the transition of asset
classes
• Test the financial implications of aligning portfolios to the goals of the Paris Agreement, using real world
portfolios and quantitative modelling

The project takes an investment-led approach and delivers recommended frameworks for achieving
Paris alignment by decarbonising portfolios and increasing allocations to climate solutions. The
framework takes both a top-down and bottom-up approach. That includes analysis at fund and portfolio
level, at asset class level (for sovereign debt, listed equity, corporate debt and real estate) and analysis
of external influences (stakeholder & market engagement and policy advocacy). This holistic approach
enables investors to maximise their impact in driving real-world decarbonisation.

The Net Zero methodology was released for consultation to the wider investment community in
September and the feedback from the consultation is currently being considered by the IIGCC. This will
feed into an updated framework that is due to be published towards the end of the year.

Brunel was one of five investors that support testing the methodologies and we look forward to sharing
our own reflections and hearing the insights of others through the consultation later this year. The next
phase of the project entails creating frameworks for infrastructure and private equity asset classes.
Participants will consider some of the relative impacts of different climate solutions. The next phase will
also be used to develop guidance on how to support investors with the implementation of the
framework. For further information on the project please see - https://www.iigcc.org/our-work/paris-
aligned-investment-initiative/

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 10 of 56

P
age 64

https://www.iigcc.org/our-work/paris-aligned-investment-initiative/
https://www.iigcc.org/our-work/paris-aligned-investment-initiative/


Responsible Investment & Stewardship Review

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 11 of 56

P
age 65



Summary of Pension Fund Performance

Period Fund Strategic BM Excess

3 Month 1.6% 0.2% 1.5%

Fiscal YTD 12.9% 10.8% 2.1%

1 Year -3.1% -2.7% -0.4%

3 Years 2.9% 3.4% -0.5%

5 Years 7.4% 7.7% -0.3%

10 Years 8.0% 8.0% 0.0%

Since Inception 8.3%

Performance of Fund Against Benchmark (Annualised Performance) Rolling Quarter Total Fund (Net of Manager Fees)

Fund Benchmark Fund Cum. Benchmark Cum.

Q
4 2

018

Q
1 2

019

Q
2 2

019

Q
3 2

019

Q
4 2

019

Q
1 2

020

Q
2 2

020

Q
3 2

020

-15.0%

-10.0%

-5.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

Key Drivers of Performance

Over the third quarter of 2020, the Fund delivered a positive absolute return ahead of its strategic benchmark. Highlights during the period were:

• All three actively managed Brunel equity portfolios exceeded their benchmarks in the quarter.
• The key Brunel portfolio driver of performance in the quarter was Global High Alpha which returned 7.4%, beating the benchmark by more than 4%.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 12 of 56

P
age 66



Asset Allocation of Pension Fund

Legacy Assets, 53.6%

Brunel UK Active Equity, 4.7%

Brunel Emerging Market Equity, 3.5%

Brunel Global High Alpha Equity, 7.2%

Passive Developed Equities, 3.1%

Passive Developed Equities (Hedged), 3.8%

Brunel Diversifying Returns Fund, 5.3%

Passive Smart Beta (Hedged), 4.7%

Passive Smart Beta, 4.7%

Passive UK Equities, 8.4%

Brunel Private Equity, 0.4%

Brunel Secured Income, 0.6%

Asset Allocation Split

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 13 of 56

P
age 67



Asset Allocation of Pension Fund

-10.0% -8.0% -6.0% -4.0% -2.0% 0.0% 2.0% 4.0% 6.0%

Brunel Diversifying Returns Fund

Brunel Emerging Market Equity

Brunel Global High Alpha Equity

Brunel Private Equity

Brunel Secured Income

Brunel UK Active Equity

Passive Developed Equities

Passive Developed Equities (Hedged)

Passive Smart Beta

Passive Smart Beta (Hedged)

Passive UK Equities

Aberdeen Standard

Allianz

Barings

CBRE

CQS

Cash

Harbourvest

Hermes

IFM

Insight

Internally Managed UK Equities

Investec

Royal London

SSgA Currency Overlay

Schroders

Wellington

Allocation Against Strategic Benchmark

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 14 of 56

P
age 68



Legacy Manager Performance

Annualised Return Risk (Standard Deviation) Benchmark Return Benchmark Standard Deviation

Aberdeen Standard 11.0% 16.8% -3.2% 14.7%

Allianz 8.0% 8.1% 9.1% 13.9%

Barings 0.8% 10.9% 4.7% 0.1%

CBRE 3.0% 4.4% 2.9% 2.5%

Harbourvest 16.9% 15.2% -3.2% 14.7%

Hermes 4.0% 6.5% 10.0% 0.1%

IFM 11.8% 8.7% 10.0% 0.1%

Insight -1.2% 14.3% -1.4% 14.4%

Internally Managed UK Equities 49.9% 34.5% -3.3% 14.6%

Investec 8.0% 10.7% 9.1% 13.9%

Royal London 6.5% 6.7% 6.0% 7.3%

Legacy Manager Performance – 3 Year

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 15 of 56

P
age 69



Legacy Manager Performance

Annualised Return Risk (Standard Deviation) Benchmark Return Benchmark Standard Deviation

Schroders 0.2% 21.3% -7.2% 20.0%

Wellington 11.1% 14.1% 9.1% 13.9%

Dorset County Pension Fund 2.9% 9.4% 3.4% 8.2%

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 16 of 56

P
age 70



Brunel Portfolios Overview

Portfolio Benchmark AUM
(GBPm)

Perf.
3 Month

Excess
3 Month

Perf.
1 Year

Excess
1 Year

Perf.
3 Year

Excess
3 Year

Perf.
5 Year

Excess
5 Year

Perf.
SII*

Excess
SII*

Initial
Investment

Brunel Diversifying
Returns Fund SONIA Benchmark 161 -1.2% -1.2% 31 Jul 2020

Brunel Emerging Market
Equity MSCI EM TR Gross 105 5.8% 1.0% 3.8% -1.7% 09 Oct 2019

Brunel Global High
Alpha Equity MSCI World TR Gross 219 7.4% 4.1% 19.2% 13.2% 15 Nov 2019

Brunel UK Active Equity FTSE All Share 143 -1.7% 1.2% -15.1% 1.5% -3.8% 0.4% 21 Nov 2018

Passive Developed
Equities

FTSE World
Developed 93 3.3% -0.0% 1.4% -0.1% 24 Jan 2020

Passive Developed
Equities (Hedged)

FTSE World
Developed Hedged 117 6.3% -0.1% 0.3% -0.2% 31 Jan 2020

Passive Smart Beta SciBeta Multifactor
Composite 142 1.6% 0.0% -5.6% -0.3% 3.5% -0.3% 25 Jul 2018

Passive Smart Beta
(Hedged)

SciBeta Multifactor
Hedged Composite 144 4.7% 0.0% -3.8% -0.2% 1.6% -0.5% 25 Jul 2018

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Tradeable NAV performance reflects NET performance. The following product pages reflect the portfolio’s NET performance

Where there are disparities between returns quoted above and returns provided for the same fund and period in the following pages, this is because the fund-specific pages reflect the
posttransition phase, important for monitoring the performance of selected managers, while those given above reflect the Clients’ actual experience from the point of initial investment, which
in some cases includes the shared impact of transition costs.

Performance based on tradeable NAV

*Since Initial Investment

Page 17 of 56

P
age 71



Brunel Portfolios Overview

Portfolio Benchmark AUM
(GBPm)

Perf.
3 Month

Excess
3 Month

Perf.
1 Year

Excess
1 Year

Perf.
3 Year

Excess
3 Year

Perf.
5 Year

Excess
5 Year

Perf.
SII*

Excess
SII*

Initial
Investment

Passive UK Equities FTSE All Share 256 -2.8% 0.1% -16.5% 0.1% -7.3% -0.0% 11 Jul 2018

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Tradeable NAV performance reflects NET performance. The following product pages reflect the portfolio’s NET performance

Where there are disparities between returns quoted above and returns provided for the same fund and period in the following pages, this is because the fund-specific pages reflect the
posttransition phase, important for monitoring the performance of selected managers, while those given above reflect the Clients’ actual experience from the point of initial investment, which
in some cases includes the shared impact of transition costs.

Performance based on tradeable NAV

*Since Initial Investment

Page 18 of 56

P
age 72



Passive Developed Equities

Description

Provide exposure to FTSE
Developed World using a low cost
highly liquid approach.

Geographically diversified range
of equities.

High

High absolute risk with very low
tracking error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £2,103,325,916

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 3.3% 3.3% 0.0%

 Fiscal YTD 23.8% 23.8% 0.0%

 1 Year 5.8% 5.8% 0.0%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 8.2% 8.3% 0.0%

Performance to Quarter End Rolling Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.
Q

3 2
018

Q
4 2

018
Q

1 2
019

Q
2 2

019
Q

3 2
019

Q
4 2

019
Q

1 2
020

Q
2 2

020
Q

3 2
020

-16.0%

-12.0%

-8.0%

-4.0%

0.0%

4.0%

8.0%

12.0%

16.0%

20.0%

24.0%

• In Q3 2020 Global Equity markets continued to rebound from the market sell off initiated by the Coronavirus pandemic. The benchmark FTSE Developed
World index was up 3.3% over the quarter. The index also delivered positive performance over the 12 month period ending on the 30th of September, up
5.8% in absolute terms. The Passive Developed Equities product closely replicated the performance of the benchmark over both periods.

• GBP appreciated in value against the the US Dollar, up over 4%. As a consequence, the GBP hedged product outperformed the unhedged product,
returning 6.3% over the quarter.

• In Sterling terms, several sectors performed positively over the quarter, namely Consumer Goods and Services, Industrials, Basic Materials and Technology.
Utilities, Financials and Telecommunications were detractors, but their underperformance was small in comparison to the Oil and Gas sector, which
performed negatively to the tune of -17.7% for a variety of reasons. Subdued demand in the wake of the coronavirus pandemic was a significant headwind,
alongside increasing scrutiny around strategies for climate transition and potential wariness of a more climate focused Joe Biden presidency.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 19 of 56

P
age 73



Passive Developed Equities (Hedged)

Description

Provide exposure to FTSE
Developed World using a low cost
highly liquid approach.

Geographically diversified range
of equities.

High

High absolute risk with very low
tracking error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £771,682,857

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 6.3% 6.4% -0.1%

 Fiscal YTD 25.8% 26.0% -0.1%

 1 Year 7.4% 7.6% -0.1%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 5.2% 5.3% -0.1%

Performance to Quarter End Rolling Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.
Q

3 2
018

Q
4 2

018
Q

1 2
019

Q
2 2

019
Q

3 2
019

Q
4 2

019
Q

1 2
020

Q
2 2

020
Q

3 2
020

-20.0%

-16.0%

-12.0%

-8.0%

-4.0%

0.0%

4.0%

8.0%

12.0%

16.0%

20.0%

• In Q3 2020 Global Equity markets continued to rebound from the market sell off initiated by the Coronavirus pandemic. The benchmark FTSE Developed
World index was up 3.3% over the quarter. The index also delivered positive performance over the 12 month period ending on the 30th of September, up
5.8% in absolute terms. The Passive Developed Equities product closely replicated the performance of the benchmark over both periods.

• GBP appreciated in value against the the US Dollar, up over 4%. As a consequence, the GBP hedged product outperformed the unhedged product,
returning 6.3% over the quarter.

• In Sterling terms, several sectors performed positively over the quarter, namely Consumer Goods and Services, Industrials, Basic Materials and Technology.
Utilities, Financials and Telecommunications were detractors, but their underperformance was small in comparison to the Oil and Gas sector, which
performed negatively to the tune of -17.7% for a variety of reasons. Subdued demand in the wake of the coronavirus pandemic was a significant headwind,
alongside increasing scrutiny around strategies for climate transition and potential wariness of a more climate focused Joe Biden presidency.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 20 of 56

P
age 74



Passive Developed Equities – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

APPLE INC 113,775,359

MICROSOFT CORP 95,966,906

AMAZON.COM INC 81,362,592

FACEBOOK INC-CLASS A 38,311,763

ALPHABET INC-CL A 26,807,558

ALPHABET INC-CL C 26,532,296

JOHNSON & JOHNSON 23,921,961

PROCTER & GAMBLE CO/THE 20,643,354

VISA INC-CLASS A SHARES 20,589,656

NESTLE SA-REG 20,287,980

NVIDIA CORP 19,479,355

TESLA INC 19,305,761

HOME DEPOT INC 18,210,747

MASTERCARD INC - A 18,195,311

UNITEDHEALTH GROUP INC 17,947,428

JPMORGAN CHASE & CO 17,783,697

BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY INC-CL B 16,016,459

VERIZON COMMUNICATIONS INC 15,065,554

ROCHE HOLDING AG-GENUSSCHEIN 14,547,802

SAMSUNG ELECTRONICS CO LTD 14,511,952

Top 20 Holdings

0% 7% 14% 21% 28% 35% 42% 49% 56% 63% 70%

Americas  64.3%

Europe & Middle East  16.9%

Pacific  12.2%

UK    4.5%

Emerging Market    2.1%

Not classified by MSCI    0.1%

Frontier Market    0.0%

Regional Exposure

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20% 22%

Technology  20.6%

Financials  16.1%

Industrials  13.1%

Health Care  12.2%

Consumer Services  12.2%

Consumer Goods  11.9%

Basic Materials    3.9%

Utilities    3.1%

Oil & gas    2.4%

Telecommunications    2.3%

Cash    1.7%

Funds    0.5%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 21 of 56

P
age 75



Passive Developed Equities – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 22 of 56

P
age 76



Passive Smart Beta

Description

Exposure to equity markets and a
combination of smart beta factors
to outperform market cap indices.

Invest passively in equities via
alternative indices.

High

Absolute: High Relative: V.Low

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £751,322,544

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 1.6% 1.6% 0.0%

 Fiscal YTD 17.2% 17.3% 0.0%

 1 Year -5.5% -5.3% -0.2%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 3.9% 4.1% -0.3%

Performance to Quarter End Rolling Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.
Q

3 2
018

Q
4 2

018
Q

1 2
019

Q
2 2

019
Q

3 2
019

Q
4 2

019
Q

1 2
020

Q
2 2

020
Q

3 2
020

-18.0%

-15.0%

-12.0%

-9.0%

-6.0%

-3.0%

0.0%

3.0%

6.0%

9.0%

12.0%

15.0%

The Passive Smart Beta Index recorded a return of 1.6% during Q2 2020, underperforming the MSCI World developed index by 1.7%.

The broader MSCI World index returned 3.3% over the quarter, largely driven by a market rally through August, where we saw the S&P 500 reach new peaks
and return 4.6%. As per recent quarters, this performance can largely be attributed to ‘COVID-immune’ business models such as technology stocks.

The relative underperformance of the Smart Beta Fund can also be attributed to the month of August, where the portfolio underperformed by 2.5%. As
discussed above, the market was driven by technology stocks, which this portfolio has an underweight position to, as it incorporates a more defensive bias in
its construction.

As discussed in the Q2 reporting, we have seen global markets becoming increasingly concentrated year to date, a trend that continued during Q3 as
large cap, cyclical, tech stocks have once again driven performance. Using the effective number of stocks as a calculation of diversification, we can see
that the MSCI World is currently represented by 9.8% of its constituents; the effective number at the start of the year was 15.2% of constituents.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 23 of 56

P
age 77



Passive Smart Beta

Continued Commentary

The hedged Smart Beta Fund outperformed the unhedged fund due to the long exposure of GBP over Q3. The hedged fund returned 4.7% over the quarter.
The outperformance of the hedged class can be attributed to the long GBP exposure, as sterling returned 4.6% against the USD, 2.35% against the JPY and
0.2% against the EUR.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 24 of 56

P
age 78



Passive Smart Beta (Hedged)

Description

Exposure to equity markets and a
combination of smart beta factors
to outperform market cap indices.

Invest passively in equities via
alternative indices.

High

Absolute: High Relative: V.Low

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £143,658,260

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 4.7% 4.7% 0.0%

 Fiscal YTD 19.4% 19.4% 0.0%

 1 Year -3.8% -3.5% -0.2%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 1.6% 2.1% -0.5%

Performance to Quarter End Rolling Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.
Q

3 2
018

Q
4 2

018
Q

1 2
019

Q
2 2

019
Q

3 2
019

Q
4 2

019
Q

1 2
020

Q
2 2

020
Q

3 2
020

-24.0%

-20.0%

-16.0%

-12.0%

-8.0%

-4.0%

0.0%

4.0%

8.0%

12.0%

16.0%

The Passive Smart Beta Index recorded a return of 1.6% during Q2 2020, underperforming the MSCI World developed index by 1.7%.

The broader MSCI World index returned 3.3% over the quarter, largely driven by a market rally through August, where we saw the S&P 500 reach new peaks
and return 4.6%. As per recent quarters, this performance can largely be attributed to ‘COVID-immune’ business models such as technology stocks.

The relative underperformance of the Smart Beta Fund can also be attributed to the month of August, where the portfolio underperformed by 2.5%. As
discussed above, the market was driven by technology stocks, which this portfolio has an underweight position to, as it incorporates a more defensive bias in
its construction.

As discussed in the Q2 reporting, we have seen global markets becoming increasingly concentrated year to date, a trend that continued during Q3 as
large cap, cyclical, tech stocks have once again driven performance. Using the effective number of stocks as a calculation of diversification, we can see
that the MSCI World is currently represented by 9.8% of its constituents; the effective number at the start of the year was 15.2% of constituents.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 25 of 56

P
age 79



Passive Smart Beta (Hedged)

Continued Commentary

The hedged Smart Beta Fund outperformed the unhedged fund due to the long exposure of GBP over Q3. The hedged fund returned 4.7% over the quarter.
The outperformance of the hedged class can be attributed to the long GBP exposure, as sterling returned 4.6% against the USD, 2.35% against the JPY and
0.2% against the EUR.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 26 of 56

P
age 80



Passive Smart Beta – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

WALMART INC 6,244,418

VERIZON COMMUNICATIONS INC 6,112,232

ABBOTT LABORATORIES 5,589,797

PFIZER INC 5,520,463

MERCK & CO. INC. 5,452,498

COGNIZANT TECH SOLUTIONS-A 5,332,928

TRANE TECHNOLOGIES PLC 5,184,744

CUMMINS INC 5,057,508

APPLE INC 5,036,957

COSTCO WHOLESALE CORP 5,030,872

BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY INC-CL B 5,024,831

SYNOPSYS INC 4,957,469

COMCAST CORP-CLASS A 4,844,762

EBAY INC 4,727,653

MONDELEZ INTERNATIONAL INC-A 4,622,000

MEDTRONIC PLC 4,383,045

XILINX INC 4,331,960

ALPHABET INC-CL A 4,208,449

EATON CORP PLC 4,202,621

ALLSTATE CORP 4,199,820

Top 20 Holdings

0% 7% 14% 21% 28% 35% 42% 49% 56% 63% 70%

Americas  65.1%

Europe & Middle East  18.0%

Pacific  12.0%

UK    4.4%

Not classified by MSCI    0.4%

Frontier Market    0.1%

Emerging Market    0.0%

Regional Exposure

0% 3% 6% 9% 12% 15%

Information Technology  15.3%

Financials  13.0%

Health Care  11.6%

Consumer Staples  11.3%

Industrials  11.3%

Consumer Discretionary    8.7%

Utilities    7.8%

Materials    6.9%

Communication Services    5.2%

Real Estate    4.3%

Energy    2.5%

Cash    1.9%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 27 of 56

P
age 81



Passive Smart Beta – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 28 of 56

P
age 82



Passive UK Equities

Description

Provide exposure to FTSE All Share
using a low cost highly liquid
approach.

Invest passively in securities
underlying the FTSE All Share.
Provide long term growth

High

High absolute risk with very low
tracking error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £860,123,638

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month -2.8% -2.9% 0.1%

 Fiscal YTD 7.1% 7.0% 0.1%

 1 Year -16.6% -16.6% 0.0%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception -7.3% -7.3% 0.0%

Performance to Quarter End Rolling Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.
Q

3 2
018

Q
4 2

018
Q

1 2
019

Q
2 2

019
Q

3 2
019

Q
4 2

019
Q

1 2
020

Q
2 2

020
Q

3 2
020

-24.0%

-21.0%

-18.0%

-15.0%

-12.0%

-9.0%

-6.0%

-3.0%

0.0%

3.0%

6.0%

9.0%

12.0%

•The UK stock market performed poorly over the course of Q3 2020, with the benchmark FTSE All Share Index returning -2.9% through the period. The Brunel
UK passive product performed in line with the benchmark, returning -2.8%.

• Several sectors performed positively over the quarter, most notably Technology and Basic Materials; however, the significant underperformance of both
Oil & Gas and Telecommunications, which is primarily comprised of BT and Vodafone, detracted from these positive contributions.

• The composition of the FTSE All Share, with its significant weighting to Oil & Gas, was a considerable drag when comparing the performance of the index
against its US and European peers. This drag is a continuation of an ongoing theme which saw the Oil & Gas sector lose more than half its value over 12
months to the 30th of September 2020.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 29 of 56

P
age 83



Passive UK Equities – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

ASTRAZENECA PLC 48,657,345

GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC 31,389,452

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO PLC 27,804,628

HSBC HOLDINGS PLC 26,906,247

DIAGEO PLC 26,626,105

UNILEVER PLC 22,804,797

RIO TINTO PLC 22,142,588

RECKITT BENCKISER GROUP PLC 20,901,351

BP PLC 19,595,900

ROYAL DUTCH SHELL PLC-A SHS 17,368,084

ROYAL DUTCH SHELL PLC-B SHS 15,295,212

BHP GROUP PLC 15,064,032

RELX PLC 14,037,859

NATIONAL GRID PLC 13,682,518

PRUDENTIAL PLC 12,674,537

LONDON STOCK EXCHANGE GROUP 12,204,947

VODAFONE GROUP PLC 12,063,214

EXPERIAN PLC 11,591,967

ANGLO AMERICAN PLC 10,138,396

CRH PLC 9,664,261

Top 20 Holdings

0% 9% 18% 27% 36% 45% 54% 63% 72% 81% 90%

UK  84.0%

Europe & Middle East  11.4%

Pacific    1.8%

Not classified by MSCI    1.7%

Emerging Market    0.7%

Frontier Market    0.2%

Americas    0.1%

Regional Exposure

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20% 22% 24% 26%

Financials  24.1%

Consumer Goods  15.3%

Industrials  12.8%

Consumer Services  11.9%

Health Care  11.0%

Basic Materials    8.6%

Oil & gas    6.3%

Utilities    3.3%

Cash    2.5%

Telecommunications    2.0%

Technology    1.2%

Funds    1.1%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 30 of 56

P
age 84



Passive UK Equities – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 31 of 56

P
age 85



Brunel Diversifying Returns Fund

Description

Provide exposure to a range of
alternative return drivers and a
degree of downside protection
from equity risk.
Actively managed to achieve
growth at moderate absolute risk,
diversified between asset classes
and by geography.

Managed Liquidity.

Moderate absolute risk against
cash.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £1,203,446,140

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month

 Fiscal YTD

 1 Year

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception -1.0% 0.0% -1.0%

Performance to Quarter End Rolling Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.

Q
3 2

020

-1.2%

-1.0%

-0.8%

-0.6%

-0.4%

-0.2%

0.0%

0.2%

The Sub-Fund was launched on 27th July 2020, after which there was a phased transition to sell down the seed assets. The performance period began on
13th August 2020, when the target portfolio was reached. There was one further large, and five smaller, weekly subscriptions into the fund during the
reporting period.

The manager allocations remained within their strategic ranges throughout the post-transition period and there were no notable changes to positioning by
the managers of the underlying strategies.

The four strategies used within the fund target a variety of different return premia. Some will benefit from mean reversion in markets and factors, while others
are momentum-driven or trend-following. Some risk premia, notably Value and Quality, are nearing historically wide dispersion levels. While there is always
scope for markets to become more distorted, as they did in this period, from a long-term perspective, that kind of distortion indicates scope for attractive
future returns.

• Performance was modestly positive from Lombard Odier, which has gradually added risk to the All Roads Fund to take it back to its/their neutral point from
an all-time low in the spring.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 32 of 56

P
age 86



Brunel Diversifying Returns Fund

Continued Commentary

• JPMorgan is seeing wider dispersion on Quality and Value than for some time, although during this period the distortions became more extreme. Of the risk
premia included in the Diversified Risk Fund, only Size saw a mini revival in this period.

• William Blair Dynamic Diversified Allocation fund retains its cautious stance, as it views both equity and bonds as currently overvalued. Managers believe
stock-specific opportunities are attractive and their models indicate some appealing reversionary potential among currencies.

• UBS had a challenging period. Several of its long positions, notably Norwegian Krone and Brazilian Real, suffered from weakening investor sentiment
towards commodity-dependent currencies.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 33 of 56

P
age 87



Brunel Diversifying Returns Fund – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

LO FDS ALL ROADS X1SHGBPIA 339,231,004

JPM DIVERSIFIED RISK X GBP 336,297,690

WILLIAM B SICAV-DY D A-ZHGBP 334,667,759

UBS CURR ALLO RET STR GBPUBA 184,554,276

Top 20 Holdings Regional Exposure

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 34 of 56

P
age 88



Brunel Emerging Market Equity

Description

Provide exposure to emerging
market equities, targeting excess
returns and enhanced risk control
from leading managers.
A geographically diverse
portfolio, typically expected to
achieve higher long-term growth
rates than developed economies.

Managed liquidity. Less exposure
to more illiquid assets

High absolute risk with moderate
to high relative risk, around 5%
tracking error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £1,244,895,550

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 5.7% 4.8% 0.9%

 Fiscal YTD 25.6% 24.3% 1.2%

 1 Year

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 1.1% 2.4% -1.4%

Performance to Quarter End Rolling Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.

Q
4 2

019

Q
1 2

020

Q
2 2

020

Q
3 2

020

-20.0%

-16.0%

-12.0%

-8.0%

-4.0%

0.0%

4.0%

8.0%

12.0%

16.0%

20.0%

Emerging Market equities have now recovered from the COVID-induced sell off that took place in Q1, with returns for the year now in positive territory on a
year-to-date basis. MSCI Emerging Markets – a proxy for broad emerging market equities – returned +1.5% year to date, despite falling by more than 18% in
Q1 2020. The fund enjoyed positive returns in both relative and absolute terms in the most recent quarter. Absolute performance over the last 3 months was
+5.7% vs benchmark return, proxied by MSCI Emerging Markets, and +4.8% in GBP terms.

Many global economies are yet to see economic activity return to pre-COVID levels, which could present significant challenges, given equity markets have
performed so well since Q1. We anticipate ongoing uncertainty in financial markets due to COVID-19 and related lockdowns, with further complications
provided by geopolitical risks and increasing influence from retail investors – both these issues are common in emerging markets. In the long run, we believe
COVID-19 will create a wide range of opportunities for listed companies in emerging markets. The portfolio is positioned to capitalise on these opportunities.

Key Points

• Stock selection was a significant driver of relative return in the portfolio during last quarter, particularly in Taiwan and China. Taiwan Semiconductor
Manufacturing, a global semiconductor major, and Wuliangye Yibin, a brewer of Chinese spirits, are good examples of this, returning +35% & +29%

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 35 of 56

P
age 89



Brunel Emerging Market Equity

Continued Commentary

respectively over the quarter.

• The fund’s positioning with respect to countries continues to be a detractor to relative performance. An underweight position in India detracted from
relative performance, given the significant market return of +10%. Overweight positions in Hong Kong and Mexico also detracted from relative performance
since these markets significantly lagged the broader benchmark return, returning +1.7% & 0% (in absolute terms) respectively.

• Price Momentum was a significant contributor to relative performance over the quarter. The Sub-Fund currently has an underweight position to
momentum stocks as a result of one manager taking many contrarian positions. This added considerable value over the quarter, as higher momentum
names underperformed the benchmark by almost 3%.

• Currency volatility was prevalent in emerging markets in Q3. The portfolio has several modest active positions in emerging market currencies relative to
benchmark. These do not normally impact relative return but sterling-denominated holdings in select emerging markets, notably Russia, boosted portfolio
performance due to a strengthening pound.

• Performance on a since-inception basis remains behind benchmark. The fund has returned +1.1% since the performance inception date of 7th November
2019, lagging the benchmark by +2.4%. The main driver of this underperformance remains the underweight to China, which detracted significantly in Q1.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 36 of 56

P
age 90



Brunel Emerging Market Equity – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

TAIWAN SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFAC 76,133,427

TENCENT HOLDINGS LTD 75,047,702

ALIBABA GROUP HOLDING-SP ADR 51,936,299

ALIBABA GROUP HOLDING LTD 42,279,641

SAMSUNG ELECTRONICS CO LTD 37,972,292

AIA GROUP LTD 22,024,945

SBERBANK PJSC -SPONSORED ADR 16,798,328

WULIANGYE YIBIN CO LTD-A 14,785,324

HDFC BANK LTD-ADR 14,166,693

ISHARES MSCI INDIA ETF 14,072,957

PING AN INSURANCE GROUP CO-H 12,724,588

CHINA MENGNIU DAIRY CO 11,757,058

NEW ORIENTAL EDUCATIO-SP ADR 11,306,238

NASPERS LTD-N SHS 11,261,865

MEDIATEK INC 11,120,235

SAMSUNG ELECTRONICS-PREF 10,921,553

YANDEX NV-A 10,573,739

CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK-H 9,648,363

BID CORP LTD 9,627,429

INFOSYS LTD-SP ADR 9,574,845

Top 20 Holdings

0% 7% 14% 21% 28% 35% 42% 49% 56% 63% 70%

Asia  63.3%

Americas  11.7%

Europe Middle East & Africa    9.7%

Pacific    7.5%

Europe & Middle East    3.4%

Frontier Market    2.5%

UK    1.3%

Not classified by MSCI    0.7%

Regional Exposure

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20%

Consumer Discretionary  19.3%

Information Technology  18.5%

Financials  15.6%

Communication Services  13.6%

Consumer Staples  12.7%

Health Care    4.4%

Materials    4.1%

Industrials    3.3%

Cash    2.0%

Funds    1.9%

Energy    1.8%

Real Estate    1.4%

Utilities    1.2%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 37 of 56

P
age 91



Brunel Emerging Market Equity – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 38 of 56

P
age 92



Brunel Global High Alpha Equity

Description

Provide global equity market
exposure together with excess
returns from accessing leading
managers.
High conviction, concentrated
portfolios with strong style/factor
biases invested in a
unconstrained manner.

Managed liquidity. Less exposure
to more illiquid assets.

High absolute risk with moderate
to high relative risk, around 5-6%
tracking error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £3,235,679,824

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 7.3% 3.3% 4.0%

 Fiscal YTD 33.1% 23.9% 9.2%

 1 Year

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 20.9% 7.7% 13.2%

Performance to Quarter End Rolling Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.

Q
4 2

019

Q
1 2

020

Q
2 2

020

Q
3 2

020

-16.0%

-12.0%

-8.0%

-4.0%

0.0%

4.0%

8.0%

12.0%

16.0%

20.0%

24.0%

After the Sub-Fund was launched in Dec 2019, global equity markets experienced the most significant quarterly sell-off since the global financial crisis of
2007/08. This has been followed, in Q2, by the strongest quarterly performance since the crisis, reflecting the impact of Covid-19 on global equity markets.
This quarter, developed equity markets (proxied by MSCI World) delivered a more muted 3.3% return consolidating the rebound in Q2. Despite a brief hiatus
towards the end of the quarter, returns continued to be driven by a small subset of very large cap companies.

Against this backdrop, the Sub-Fund continued to perform strongly over the quarter, providing a relative outperformance of +4% above the benchmark,
thereby improving its outperformance since inception to +13.2%.

Over the reporting period, this outperformance was driven by both sector allocation and stock selection. The largest overweight sector (Consumer
Discretionary) and a significant underweight to Energy, contributed most on an allocation basis. However, stock selection was also important, with holdings
in both Consumer Discretionary and Healthcare providing strong returns over the quarter.

Dispersion in manager performance continued over the quarter, although not to quite the extreme seen in previous quarters. Again, this is not unexpected
given the individual manager style characteristics and the level of dispersion in the market. Baillie Gifford’s outperformance continues to be a significant

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 39 of 56

P
age 93



Brunel Global High Alpha Equity

Continued Commentary

contributor to Sub-Fund returns, reflecting their strategy to identify long-term growth companies.

As part of asset allocation changes, two clients traded in the Sub-Fund during the quarter, resulting in a net redemption of c. 2%. The Sub-Fund was
rebalanced at the same time, to return manager allocations to target, thereby maintaining the style balance and risk profile within the portfolio.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 40 of 56

P
age 94



Brunel Global High Alpha Equity – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

MICROSOFT CORP 119,602,417

MASTERCARD INC - A 98,962,619

KEYENCE CORP 80,386,734

MOODY'S CORP 72,436,069

ALIBABA GROUP HOLDING-SP ADR 70,244,224

AMAZON.COM INC 66,977,329

ALPHABET INC-CL A 65,787,070

TAIWAN SEMICONDUCTOR-SP ADR 62,049,765

NESTLE SA-REG 61,988,985

TJX COMPANIES INC 52,757,952

FACEBOOK INC-CLASS A 49,957,616

JOHNSON & JOHNSON 48,445,635

TENCENT HOLDINGS LTD 48,232,539

TESLA INC 46,545,297

ASML HOLDING NV 42,077,936

ABBOTT LABORATORIES 36,868,754

VERISK ANALYTICS INC 36,847,693

ROCHE HOLDING AG-GENUSSCHEIN 35,398,368

SHERWIN-WILLIAMS CO/THE 34,208,771

NIDEC CORP 33,757,791

Top 20 Holdings

0% 6% 12% 18% 24% 30% 36% 42% 48% 54% 60%

Americas  55.4%

Europe & Middle East  18.3%

Emerging Market  10.0%

UK    8.8%

Pacific    7.5%

Not classified by MSCI    0.0%

Regional Exposure

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20% 22% 24%

Information Technology  23.1%

Consumer Discretionary  18.9%

Health Care  12.0%

Industrials  11.9%

Financials  10.4%

Communication Services    9.2%

Consumer Staples    6.5%

Materials    4.8%

Cash    2.1%

Real Estate    0.7%

Energy    0.4%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 41 of 56

P
age 95



Brunel Global High Alpha Equity – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 42 of 56

P
age 96



Brunel UK Active Equity

Description

Provide exposure to UK Equities,
together with enhanced returns
from manager skill.

Skilled managers will create
opportunities to add long term
value through stock selection and
portfolio construction.

Managed level of liquidity. Less
exposure to more illiquid assets.

High absolute risk with moderate
relative risk, around 4% tracking
error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £1,402,911,062

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month -1.7% -2.9% 1.2%

 Fiscal YTD 9.8% 7.0% 2.8%

 1 Year -15.1% -16.6% 1.5%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception -4.1% -4.5% 0.4%

Performance to Quarter End Rolling Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.
Q

4 2
018

Q
1 2

019

Q
2 2

019

Q
3 2

019

Q
4 2

019

Q
1 2

020

Q
2 2

020

Q
3 2

020

-30.0%

-25.0%

-20.0%

-15.0%

-10.0%

-5.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

The UK stock market continued to experience volatility in the third quarter of 2020 with high levels of uncertainty over the path of Covid-19. We anticipate
the UK market environment will continue to be challenging over the coming period, given the uncertainty companies face in dealing with the impacts of
the Covid-19 virus, and in adapting to any post-Brexit trade deal.

Over the quarter, the Sub-Fund was subject to a significant client outflow of c.12%, alongside an amendment to the underlying manager allocation. ASI was
removed as a manager, with assets previously under their management to be allocated between Invesco and Baillie Gifford. The reallocation is expected
to complete early in Q4 2020. As agreed in the product governance review, the Sub-Fund’s benchmark was changed from the FTSE All Share Index to the
FTSE All Share ex Investment Trust Index. This report displays the FTSE All Share Index as the benchmark index, with comparison to the new benchmark
provided below. Future reporting will use the FTSE All Share Index ex Investment Trusts as the benchmark index.

• The Fund provided an absolute return of -1.7% over the three months. Over the quarter, the Sub-Fund outperformed the FTSE All Share Index by 1.2% and
the FTSE All Share ex Investment Trust Index by 1.8%.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 43 of 56

P
age 97



Brunel UK Active Equity

Continued Commentary

• At composite level, the Fund’s outperformance was a result of positive asset allocation and stock selection. An underweight position to the oil and gas
sector, which significantly underperformed the market over the period, was particularly beneficial to relative performance.

• Baillie Gifford and Invesco made a positive contribution to relative performance and ASI underperformed the benchmark.

• Since inception, the Sub-Fund has returned -4.1% on an annualised basis, 0.4% p.a. more than the FTSE All Share Index and 1.3% p.a. more than the FTSE All
Share Index ex Investment Trusts.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 44 of 56

P
age 98



Brunel UK Active Equity – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO PLC 43,639,913

UNILEVER PLC 42,874,365

RIO TINTO PLC 42,507,383

ASTRAZENECA PLC 37,285,992

BHP GROUP PLC 36,620,989

GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC 34,769,568

RELX PLC 33,154,427

PRUDENTIAL PLC 30,978,251

DIAGEO PLC 28,342,839

HIKMA PHARMACEUTICALS PLC 22,755,068

RIGHTMOVE PLC 22,727,543

AUTO TRADER GROUP PLC 22,049,612

BUNZL PLC 21,603,182

LEGAL & GENERAL GROUP PLC 19,581,281

HSBC HOLDINGS PLC 17,192,320

ST JAMES'S PLACE PLC 16,745,280

BAILLIE GIFFORD BR SM-C-ACC 15,745,704

FERGUSON PLC 14,586,317

GAMES WORKSHOP GROUP PLC 13,931,723

ULTRA ELECTRONICS HLDGS PLC 13,583,041

Top 20 Holdings

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

UK  90.7%

Europe & Middle East    4.0%

Pacific    3.0%

Frontier Market    1.8%

Emerging Market    0.4%

Not classified by MSCI    0.1%

Regional Exposure

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20%

Financials  18.0%

Consumer Goods  16.2%

Consumer Services  14.3%

Industrials  13.3%

Cash  13.0%

Health Care    8.9%

Basic Materials    7.4%

Oil & gas    3.0%

Technology    2.9%

Funds    1.4%

Telecommunications    1.0%

Utilities    0.5%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 45 of 56

P
age 99



Brunel UK Active Equity – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 46 of 56

P
age 100



Glossary of Terms

 Term  Previously referred as  Meaning

 Absolute return

 Allocation

 Alternative Investment Fund (AIF)

A fund manager that is authorised (full scope AIFM) or registered (if they
manage AIFs with assets under management below certain thresholds) to
manage AIFs such as hedge funds, private equity, real estate funds.

 Alternative Investment Fund Managers (AIFM)

 Annualised

Measures the impact of decisions to allocate assets differently from the
benchmark.
An Alternative Investment Fund such as a hedge fund, private equity, real
estate fund and other funds focused on alternative asset classes.

Figures expressed as applying to one year.

The actual return, as opposed to the return relative to a benchmark.

This is an EU law that requires each AIF managed within the scope of the
Directive to have a single AIFM responsible for ensuring compliance with
the Directive.

 Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive

 Assets Under Management (AUM)
This measures the total market value of all the financial assets which a
financial institution such as a mutual fund, venture capital firm, or
brokerage house manages on behalf of its clients and themselves.

 Attribution Identifies the drivers of performance relative to the fund benchmark. The
relative return is decomposed into two areas; Allocation and Selection.

An investment vehicle and fund manager, based in the UK, that allows
LGPS pension funds or other organisations with money to invest alongside
each other - while keeping a clear record of who owns what.

 Authorised Contractual Scheme (ACS)

Expected return based on market indices as dictated by the fund strategy. Benchmark Return

Board of executive and non-executive directors, leading the Brunel
company.

 Brunel Manager
 Brunel Board

Brunel Pension Partnership - The FCA-authorised investment manager entity
that manages the pooled investments. Brunel

The Executive Directors are responsible for overseeing the delivery of the
Brunel objectives. Brunel Executive Directors

.

 (AIFMD)

 Board

(ED)

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 47 of 56

P
age 101



Glossary of Terms

 Meaning Previously referred as Term

One of the eight LGPS Pools in England & Wales. A FCA regulated
company, wholly owned by the Administering Authorities, and responsible
for implementing the asset allocation strategies of the Brunel Funds by
investing Fund assets within defined 'portfolios'.  In particular, it will research
and select the investment funds needed to meet the requirements of the
detailed Strategic Asset Allocations.  These investment funds will be
operated by professional external investment managers.

 Brunel Pension Partnership Limited

Brunel Pension Partnership [c£30bn: Avon, Buckinghamshire, Cornwall,
Devon, Dorset, Environment Agency, Gloucestershire, Oxfordshire,
Somerset, Wiltshire]
A corporate officer primarily responsible for managing the financial risks of
the corporation. This officer is also responsible for financial planning and
record-keeping, as well as financial reporting to higher management. In
the Local Authorities this is the S151 officer.

 Chief Finance Officer

The chief lawyer of the legal department, usually in a company or a
governmental department who minimizes its legal risks by advising the
company's other officers and board members on any major legal and
regulatory issues the company confronts, such as litigation risks. In the Local
Authorities this is the Monitoring Officer.

 Chief Legal Officer

This is an investment scheme wherein several individuals come together to
pool their money for investing in a particular asset(s) and for sharing the
returns arising from that investment as per the agreement reached
between them prior to pooling in the money.

 Collective Investment Scheme

.

 Creation, Amendment and Deletion policy Brunel procedure for creation, amendment and deletion of portfolios

 Cross Pool Collaboration Group A collaborative group across the eight UK LGPS pools

(Brunel)

(CFO)

(CLO)

(CIS)

(CAD policy)

(CPCG)

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 48 of 56

P
age 102



Glossary of Terms

 Meaning Previously referred as Term

Auditors, appointed to provide internal audit services to Brunel Deloitte
The weighted average time to payment of cashflows (in years), calculated
by reference to the time and amount of each payment. It is a measure of
the sensitivity of price/value to movement in yields.

 Duration

A subset of non-financial performance indicators used by investors to
evaluate corporate behaviour and to determine the future financial
performance of companies.

 Environment, Social and Governance

Finance and Legal Assurance Group (with membership of each AAs
equivalent to Chief Finance Officer (CFO) and Chief Legal Officer (CLO))
will sponsor the changes in the Funds and the arrangements for
governance of the Brunel company.

 Finance and Legal Assurance Group

This is a financial regulatory body in the United Kingdom, which operates
independently of the UK government and is financed by charging fees to
members of the financial services industry.

 Financial Conduct Authority.

 Freedom Of Information Request
The Freedom of Information Act (FOIA ) gives individuals the right to
request access to recorded information held by public sector
organisations.

 Fund Manager An organisation that provides investment products

Strategic, financial, economic, commercial and management case. Full Business Case

 FundRock

FundRock is a leading third party UCITS Management Company,
Alternative Investment Fund Manager, Authorised Corporate Director and
Authorised Contractual Scheme (ACS) Operator. FundRock serves as
Brunel’s ACS operator.

 Fund Return
The total return achieved by the fund or asset class over the period. The
return is obtained using the following equation on a monthly basis:
((capital gain/loss + income) / average balance) * 100

 Grant Thornton Auditors appointed to provide external audit services to Brunel

 INALYTICS An investment transition advisor procured by Brunel to initially advise on the
passive equities transition

(ESG)

(FBC)

(FLAG)

(FCA)

(FOI)

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 49 of 56

P
age 103



Glossary of Terms

 Meaning Previously referred as Term

The Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change (IIGCC) is a forum for
investors to collaborate on climate change. IIGCC’s mission is to mobilise
capital for the low carbon future by amplifying the investor voice and
collaborating with business, policymakers and investors. IIGCC provides
investors with a collaborative platform to encourage public policies,
investment practices, and corporate behaviour that address long-term risks
and opportunities associated with climate change.

 Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change

The contract with a fund manager Investment Management Agreement

 Replaces the
A document that replaces the Statement of Investment Principles under
the 2016 LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations.
Administering Authorities are required to prepare and maintain an ISS
documenting how the investment strategy for the fund is determined and
implemented, including its approach to pooling.

 Investment Strategy Statement

The process of a business identifying and verifying the identity of its clients.
The term is also used to refer to the bank regulation which governs these
activities.

 Know Your Customer

Investment management firmLegal & General Investment Management

.

 Local Government Association

This is an organisation which comprises local authorities in England and
Wales. The LGA seeks to promote better local government; it maintains
communication between officers in different local authorities to develop
best practice. It also represents the interests of local government to
national government.

 Local Authority Pension Funds Investments A magazine for local authority pension investment specialists.
The collaborative shareholder engagement group for local authority
pension funds. The Forum provides a unique opportunity for Britain's local
authority pension funds to discuss investment issues and shareholder
engagement.

 Local Authority Pension Fund Forum

 Local Government Pension Scheme
This is a nationwide scheme and is a valuable part of the pay and
rewardpackage for employees working in local government or working for
otheremployers participating in the Scheme and for some councillors.

 (IIGCC)

 Statement of
 Investment Principles

(IMA)

(ISS)

(KYC)

(LGIM)

(LAPFF)

(LAPF)

(LGA)

(LGPS)

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 50 of 56

P
age 104



Glossary of Terms

 Meaning Previously referred as Term

The Scheme is administered locally for participating employers through 99
regional pension funds Local Government Pension Scheme

 Draft LGPS
Regulations 2016 (Investment Regulations) that came into effect 1
November 2016.

 LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds)

A move toward investment fee transparency and consistency, and part of
the government’s criteria for pooling investments. LGPS Code of Transparency (Transparency Code)

The impact of the assets producing returns different to those assumed
within the actuarial valuation basis, excluding the yield change and
inflation impact.

 Market volatility

The rate of return on an investment including the amount and timing of
cashflows. Money-weighted rate of return

.

 Fund Portfolio The grouping of the asset types to be available for funds. For example,
Global Equities Core, Hedge funds, UK Gilts, LDI.

 Portfolio group The higher level category of asset types. For example, equities, alternatives,
fixed interest.

 MiFID

MiFID is the European Union (EU) legislation that regulates firms who provide
services to clients linked to ‘financial instruments’ (shares, bonds, units in
collective investment schemes and derivatives), and the venues where
those instruments are traded. MiFID applied in the UK from November 2007,
and was revised by MiFID II, which took effect in January 2018. MiFID II is
made up of MiFID (2014/65/EU) and the Markets in Financial Instruments
Regulation (MiFIR - 600/2014/EU).

 Markets in Financial Instruments Directive II

The return on a fund compared to the return on index or benchmark. This is
defined as: Return on Fund minus Return on index or Benchmark. Relative return

Measures the impact of performance at asset class or manager level in
relation to the overall fund. Selection

 Regulations 2016 (Investment Regulations)
 (Management and
 Investment of Funds)
 Regulations 2016

(MiFID II)

 (LGPS)

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 51 of 56

P
age 105



Glossary of Terms

 Term  Previously referred as  Meaning

 Time-weighted rate of return

 Yield (Gross Redemption Yield)
The return expected from a board if held to maturity. It is calculated by
finding the rate of return that equates the current market price to the value
of future cashflows.

The rate of return on an investment removing the effect of the amount and
timing of cashflows..

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 52 of 56

P
age 106



Brunel Committees and Groups

 Full name  Abbreviation  Chair  Purpose

 Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee  ARC  Patrick Newberry,  To oversee key functions of the Regulated Company, including:
            -   Financial and Annual reporting

            -   Compliance and whistleblowing
            -   Internal controls

            -   External audit function
 Brunel Investment Committee  BIC  CIO

            -   Responsible Investment update
            -   Stakeholder input (from Client Relations Team)

            -   Procedures
            -   Investment proposals (private and listed markets)

            -   Forward look
 Brunel Investment Risk Committee  BIRC  CIO  To provide challenge and insight in respect of investment risks and

 exposures. This will include oversight of portfolio guidelines and monitoring.
 Brunel Oversight Board  BOB  Ray Theodolou (Glos)  The Oversight Board has been established by the administering authorities

participating in the Brunel Pension Partnership. Acting for the administering
authorities in their capacity as shareholders in, and clients of, Brunel, the
Oversight Board will have responsibility for ensuring that Brunel delivers the
services required to achieve investment pooling across the 10 LGPS funds
comprising the Brunel Pension Partnership.The Oversight Board shall
comprise of one individual appointee of each administering authority
participating in the Brunel Pension Partnership. In addition to the individuals
appointed by each of the administering authorities, two members
representing Fund members shall be entitled to attend and contribute to
meetings of the Oversight Board.

 Brunel Operations Committee  BOC  COO

            -   HR policies
            -   Technology and infrastructure

 Formal meeting of the Brunel Investment Team, covering:
            -   Economic and Markets update

 To review the detailed elements of Brunel’s operations, including:

.

 NED

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 53 of 56

P
age 107



Brunel Committees and Groups

 Full name  Abbreviation  Chair  Purpose

 Brunel Operations Committee   BOC  COO
            -   Finance
            -   Managing supplier relationships
            -   ICAPP oversight

 Brunel Risk and Compliance Committee  BRCC  DoR & GC
 Client Group  CG  Sean Collins

 The Executive Committee  ExCo  CEO

 Remuneration Committee  RemCo  Mike Clark, NED

 Second line review overseeing the Compliance and Risk function

The core responsibility of ExCo is to oversee delivery of the Brunel

 In line with the Shareholders Agreement, to set and monitor remuneration

      -   Chief Investment Officer
      -   Chief Operations Officer
      -   Client Relationship Director

 policy including that for senior management remuneration.

objectives. The Executive Committee comprises:
      -   Chief Executive Officer

.

Client Group has been established by the administering authorities
participating in the Brunel Pension Partnership. Acting for the administering
authorities in their capacity as shareholders in, and clients of, Brunel, the
Client Group will provide practical and technical support, guidance and
assistance to the Oversight Board in its strategic role of ensuring that Brunel
delivers the services required to achieve investment pooling across the 10
LGPS funds comprising the Brunel Pension Partnership.Client Group shall
comprise of at least one individual appointee of each administering
authority participating in the Brunel Pension Partnership.

             -  Regulatory change (and compliance with)

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 54 of 56

P
age 108



Disclaimer

This material is for information only and for the sole use of the recipient, it is not to be reproduced, copied or shared. The report was prepared
utilising agreed scenarios, assumptions and formats.

Brunel accepts no liability for loss arising for the use of this material and any opinions expressed are current (at time of publication) only. This
report is not meant as a guide to investing or as a source of specific investment recommendations and does not constitute investment research.

Certain information included in this report may have been sourced from third parties. While Brunel believes that such third party information is
reliable, Brunel does not guarantee its accuracy, timeliness or completeness and it is subject to change without notice.

Nothing in this report should be interpreted to state or imply that past performance is an indicator of future performance. References to
benchmark or indices are provided for information only and do not imply that your portfolio will achieve similar results.

Brunel provides products and services to professional, institutional investors and its services are not directed at, or open to, retail clients.

Authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority No. 790168.

The Industry Classification Benchmark is a joint product of FTSE International Limited and Dow Jones & Company, Inc. and has been licensed for
use.‘FTSE’ is a trade and service mark of London Stock Exchange and The Financial Times Limited. “Dow Jones” and “DJ” are trade and service
marks of Dow Jones & Company Inc. FTSE and Dow Jones do not accept any liability to any person for any loss or damage arising out of any error
or omission in the ICB.

The Global Industry Classification Standard (GICS®) was developed by and is the exclusive property of Morgan Stanley Capital International Inc.
and Standard & Poor’s. GICS is a service mark of MSCI and S&P and has been licensed for use by State Street Bank and Trust Company.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 September 2020

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 55 of 56

P
age 109



Information Classification: Public Page 56 of 56

P
age 110



 

 

RLPPC OVER 5 YEAR CORPORATE BOND FUND 

  

Quarterly Report 30 September 2020 

For professional clients only, not suitable for retail investors 
 

 

Page 111



 

CONTENTS 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 SEPTEMBER 2020 2 │ PAGE 
 

Contents  

RLPPC OVER 5 YEAR CORPORATE BOND FUND 3 
 
 

 

Page 112



 

RLPPC OVER 5 YEAR CORPORATE BOND FUND 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 SEPTEMBER 2020 3 │ PAGE 
 

RLPPC Over 5 Year C orporate Bond Fund 

Reported yields reflect RLAM's current perception of market conventions around timing of bond cash flows. Heightened uncertainty due to the 

COVID 19 crisis may impact these timings for bonds with callable feature. 

Performance 

 Fund (%) Benchmark¹ (%) Relative (%) 

Q3 2020 1.68 1.28 0.40 

Year-to-date 5.60 5.93 -0.33 

Rolling 12 months 5.16 4.77 0.39 

3 years p.a. 6.51 5.96 0.56 

5 years p.a. 7.46 6.87 0.59 

Since inception p.a. 02.07.2007² 8.16 7.09 1.08 

Past performance is not necessarily a reliable indicator of future performance. The value of investments and the income from them is 
not guaranteed and may go down as well as up and investors may not get back the amount originally invested. 

All performance figures stated gross of fees and tax unless otherwise stated. 

Source: RLAM, ¹Benchmark: iBoxx Sterling Non-Gilt Over 5 Year Index. 

² The fund launched 02.07.2007 but its benchmark and objective changed on 30.06.2012.Performance prior to 30.06.2012 has therefore been 
omitted. If you require performance prior to this change, please contact your client account manager. 

The fund objective is to outperform the benchmark by 0.80% per annum gross of the standard management fees. 

  

Asset split 

 Fund 
(%) 

Benchmark¹ 
(%) 

Conventional credit bonds² 99.7 99.1 

Index linked credit bonds 0.0 0.0 

Sterling conventional gilts 0.0 0.0 

Sterling index linked gilts 0.0 0.0 

Foreign conventional sovereign 0.3 0.9 

Foreign index linked sovereign 0.0 0.0 

Derivatives 0.0 0.0 

Other 0.0 0.0 
 

Fund data 

 Fund Benchmark¹ 

Duration³ 10.1 years 10.7 years 

Gross redemption yield⁴ 2.47% 1.76% 

No. of stocks 242 737 

Fund size  £243.3m  - 

Source: RLAM, Launch date: 20.07.2007. 

¹Benchmark:  iBoxx Sterling Non-Gilt Over 5 Year Index. 

²Conventional credit bond allocation includes exposure to non-sterling 
credit bonds and CDs, where applicable. 

³Excluding cash 

⁴The gross redemption yield is calculated on a weighted average basis 

Page 113



 

RLPPC OVER 5 YEAR CORPORATE BOND FUND 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 SEPTEMBER 2020 4 │ PAGE 
 

Sector breakdown 

 

Source: RLAM. Figures in relation to your portfolio exclude the impact of cash held, although they do include the impact of CDs if held within 

your portfolio 

Maturity profile 

 

Credit breakdown 

 

Ten Largest Holdings 

 Weighting (%) 

HSBC Bank 5.375% 2033 1.9 

Électricité De France 6% 2114 1.3 

E On International Finance 6.125% 2039 1.3 

Finance for Residential Social Housing 8.368% 2058 1.3 

M&G Plc 5.7% 2063 1.2 

London And Quadrant Housing Trust 2.75% 2057 1.2 

Thames Water Utilities 2 7.738% 2058 1.2 

Exchequer Partnership 5.396% 2036 1.1 

Dali Capital 4.79924% 2037 1.1 

Annes Gate Property 5.661% 2031 1.1 

Total 12.7 

Source: RLAM. Figures in the table above exclude derivatives where held, subject to rounding. 

Page 114



 

RLPPC OVER 5 YEAR CORPORATE BOND FUND 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 SEPTEMBER 2020 5 │ PAGE 
 

Market overview 

 The Corporate Bond Purchase Scheme from the Bank of England (BoE) has played a major role in the recovery of the 

sterling credit market since March. The Scheme dates back to August 2016, when the BoE announced £10bn of investment 

grade corporate bond purchases to deal with the aftermath of the Brexit vote. In the wake of the Covid-19 crisis, the BoE 

pledged an additional £10bn of purchases under the Scheme. This helped improve market liquidity considerably, with bid-

offer spreads on many of the more liquid issues returning to their pre-Covid levels during the third quarter. The programme 

was completed on 1 October and no further purchases have been announced. 

 The Scheme, which excludes many asset-backed securities (ABS) and all financial bonds, has distorted market valuations. 

The eligible bonds (which represent approximately 28% of typical credit indices) have strongly outperformed the wider 

market. In Bank of England buybacks: the show cannot go on you can read our analysis of the programme, in which we 

consider what happened in the months after the Scheme was started in 2016, attempting to answer the question of how 

long-term investors ought to act in the face of inevitable market distortions. 

 The UK government continued to support the economy over the quarter through its Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme 

(“furlough”), tax deferrals, business grants and loan guarantees. In late September, Chancellor Rishi Sunak announced that 

the furlough scheme would be replaced on 1 November by a new Job Support Programme. The programme requires an 

employee to work a minimum of 33% of their regular hours, with the government and employer each paying one third of the 

employee’s salary for the remaining hours in which they do not work. Additionally, larger businesses must show that their 

turnover has fallen to remain eligible for the support. 

 The scale of the impact of these programmes on the UK government’s finances became clearer during the quarter. In our 

last quarterly report, we noted that UK government borrowing in the current year would exceed £300bn. It is now estimated 

to be £370bn; approximately 18% of GDP. The BoE has neutralised the impact of the heavy government bond issuance this 

implies by buying many of the bonds. This is due to end in November, although a further extension of quantitative easing is 

expected. The yield on 10-year gilts was just 0.23% at the end of September, little changed from 0.17% at the end of June. 

Short-dated government bond yields remained negative for maturities of less than seven years, although the BoE has played 

down the likelihood that it will implement negative base rates imminently. 

 Against this background, credit outperformed gilts during the third quarter, reflecting a tightening of credit spreads. The 

broad gilt market returned -1.23% over the quarter, while sterling investment grade corporate debt returned 1.16%. The 

average sterling investment grade credit spread (the average extra yield available from a corporate bond compared with 

government debt of equal maturity) narrowed from 1.47% to 1.29%, as measured by the ML Sterling Non-Gilt index. The 

iBoxx Sterling Non-Gilt index experienced a similar move. 

 All sterling credit sectors outperformed gilts and achieved positive absolute returns during the quarter. The strongest 

performances came from the subordinated financial sectors (banks and insurance). Investors were attracted to the higher 

yields on bonds in these sectors, compensating for the fact that they are considered more risky due to their lower positioning 

in capital structures. At the other end of the spectrum, the weakest returns came from supranational bonds, covered bonds 

and asset-backed securities. These types of debt are considered to be less risky, and so lagged the wider market given the 

evident appetite for risk among investors. Reflecting this same dynamic, lower-rated debt significantly outperformed 

higher-rated issues. Medium-dated bonds outperformed both short- and long-dated issues. 

 Sterling valuations have lagged those seen in the euro and US dollar markets, with credit spreads generally wider. This has 

been most evident in the financial sectors, despite their relatively strong performance during the quarter. It is likely that the 

“Brexit” credit spread premium, which has been a feature of sterling assets since 2016, will continue until there is greater 

clarity on the UK’s eventual trading arrangements with the EU. The relatively wide credit spreads available in the sterling 

market meant that issuance fell short of expectations in the latter part of the quarter as companies sought cheaper debt 

funding in other markets. Sterling issuance amounted to £7.8bn over the quarter, and despite the fact that it was mostly 

concentrated in September, that month’s issuance was only half the level seen in September 2019. 

Portfolio commentary 

 The fund performed strongly in the third quarter, achieving a positive absolute return and outperforming the benchmark. 

This outperformance reflected two primary factors: we were substantially underweight supranationals (the worst 

performing sterling credit sector) and were overweight subordinated financials (the best performing sectors). We have long 

held such positioning based upon our view that we are overcompensated for the risks we run in doing so. Supranational 

bonds have only a low yield advantage over government bonds, whereas the yields currently available on financial debt are 

highly attractive. We expect the excess return over supranational bonds to underpin medium-term outperformance. 

 We retained our high exposure to secured and structured bonds. These are largely excluded from the Corporate Bond 

Purchase Scheme, which resulted in their slight underperformance during the quarter. Individual issuers such as 

Page 115

https://www.rlam.co.uk/Documents-RLAM/Articles/Bank%20of%20England%20buybacks%20-%20the%20show%20cannot%20go%20on.pdf


 

RLPPC OVER 5 YEAR CORPORATE BOND FUND 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 SEPTEMBER 2020 6 │ PAGE 
 

Heathrow, the UK’s regulated hub airport, pub business Mitchells & Butlers and utility Thames Water came under 

pressure. However, the balance sheets of these companies retain significant liquidity and our exposure to them is in bonds 

that have claims over assets that we feel adequately protect us, which should ultimately be reflected in market pricing. 

 Rising downgrades and defaults remain a concern given the financial impact of the Covid crisis on many businesses. BBB is 

an obvious area to look at, because when bonds get downgraded from BBB into sub-investment grade, they can experience 

large price falls. While a material part of the portfolio is invested in BBB issues, our exposure is selective and, we believe, 

higher quality than the average BBB issue. A large part of our BBB exposure falls into three categories, which we consider to 

have lower downgrade risks than other parts of the BBB universe, particularly unsecured bonds in more cyclical areas: 

– Secured debt: a material proportion of our secured debt is BBB rated. Such debt will be highly covenanted or have 

claims over specific cashflows or assets. 

– Utilities: we have a bias towards regulated utilities as they are required to maintain investment grade credit ratings as 

part of their licence to operate. 

– Banks and insurance: the sector has become more strictly regulated since the global financial crisis, and is an area with 

high solvency ratios. 

 One area of increased focus for us during the quarter was social housing, after several comparatively quiet quarters. We like 

bonds in this sector due to their attractive valuations, considering the stable cashflows and security over assets. Our 

purchases within the sector included a new issue from Hyde Group, a non-for-profit housing association which focuses on 

the South West of England, with more than 49,000 homes for over 100,000 people. Hyde issued 2055 bonds at a spread of 

130 basis points (bps) over gilts. We bought 35-year debt of Platform Housing Group, one of the largest housing 

associations in the Midlands, at a spread of 125bps. We also participated in a tap of an existing 2049 issue from Housing 

21, which provides properties for older people across the country, at a spread of around 150bps. 

 Otherwise, our new issue activity was fairly quiet over the quarter, reflecting the lower level of issuance in the market due to 

seasonal trends and the relative attractiveness of euro and dollar markets for issuers. Among our notable purchases were a 

new issue from FTSE 250 real estate firm Assura. The company issued a ‘social bond’ with proceeds being used to fund 

acquisition, development and refurbishment of publicly accessible primary care and community healthcare centres. The 

bonds are unsecured, but underlying cashflows are based on revenues from the NHS, and came at spread of 140bps. We also 

added a rare sterling issue from US REIT Realty Income, which came at a spread of 150bps, where a diversified portfolio 

of predominantly US commercial property assets provide us with some useful non-UK diversification.  

 Rating agency action was less pronounced in the third quarter than might have been expected given the scale of the 

economic impact arising from Covid-19. Nevertheless, nearly 20% of investment grade bonds have seen some credit rating 

downgrade in 2020. This was most evident in the second quarter with the rate materially lower this quarter. We expect that 

the rate of downgrades will pick up again as the economic impact on the corporate sector becomes clearer. Given the high 

weighting of BBB in credit market indices, it is likely that there will be further downgrades to sub-investment grade; at the 

present time, only 1% of bonds have transitioned from investment grade to sub-investment grade in 2020. Overall, 

downgrades in the portfolio remain lower than the market average. We would expect this due to the nature of the strategies 

relative to the broad market; however it was pleasing to see that our focus on the integrity of the initial lending position has 

been paying off.  

 Our sterling credit approach emphasises the attractions of strong covenants and the importance of security. One 

consequence of the strong creditor position that secured lending provides is the existence of restrictive operational and 

financial covenants to which issuers need to remain compliant. This is distinct from the vast majority of unsecured 

corporate bonds. While these credit enhancements are a key protection, they do mean that we continued to engage in a 

number of discussions over the quarter with the most immediately impacted issuers (largely encapsulating the airport, retail 

property and leisure sectors) regarding temporary waivers and amendments to bond terms in order to accommodate the 

specific impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic. As mentioned in our Q2 report, intu Properties entered administration and in 

September, one of its subsidiary secured bond issuers, intu debenture, announced that it had failed to make a scheduled 

interest payment on its 5.562% 2027 debt. This followed an active decision by bondholders to preserve cash in the issuer 

and ensure the underlying shopping centre assets would continue to trade despite the significant short-term disruption to 

rental income from Covid-19 (including government allowance for tenants to remain in situ even if they are unable to pay 

rents), as well as an increase in temporary costs following the parent company entering administration. While disappointing, 

the relatively small impact on the portfolios emphasises the value of a diversified portfolio with a bias to bonds offering 

security and covenants. We continue to be involved in restructuring discussions as part of a unified bondholder group of 

institutional investors with a clear focus on maximising realisations. This applies also to other challenged intu-related 

secured bonds (SGS and Metrocentre, which were not in default in Q3), but where there are ongoing bondholder discussions 

that are focused on maintaining the shopping centres open and allowing for maximising potential recoveries should the 

situation deteriorate further. We will continue to monitor this situation closely and engage with stakeholders in order to 

Page 116



 

RLPPC OVER 5 YEAR CORPORATE BOND FUND 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 SEPTEMBER 2020 7 │ PAGE 
 

maximise recovery, and believe that market pricing is appropriate given the range of outcomes but reflecting our senior 

claim on the underlying assets.  

 We approached all of these discussions with a common philosophy of balancing the need to be responsible lenders at a time 

of unprecedented social and economic disruption, while ensuring that we preserve our clients’ economic interests. We have 

typically assented to the changes required, but in a number of cases we sought appropriate enhancements to maintain the 

correct balance between different stakeholders. While we expect these interactions to continue through the remainder of the 

year, this extraordinary event has underpinned our strong belief that security and effective covenants remain both 

undervalued by the market and underappreciated in terms of the tangible creditor control and protection they provide. 

Outlook 

 The recent upturn in Covid-19 case numbers in the UK has forced the government to tighten its social distancing measures, 

including a 10pm curfew for pubs and restaurants, as well as encouraging everyone to work from home where possible. The 

current indications are that this policy will last the whole winter, and there is the potential for further restrictions if the 

measures fail to contain the spread of the virus. The economic recovery, which had already been slowing during the 

summer, may be jeopardised by these new lockdown measures and rising unemployment seems likely. 

 Even if the measures succeed in curtailing the spread of Covid-19 and societies are able to return to more normal conditions, 

the economy is likely to be compromised over the medium term. The level of government debt has surged to levels not seen 

since the Second World War, while tax receipts will become increasingly challenged by rising unemployment. We expect the 

greater supply of government debt, which is presently being absorbed by the BoE, will eventually lead investors to seek 

higher yields, and thereby cause an upward trend in long-term interest rates. 

 Over the next two or three years, however, interest rates look set to remain at very low levels, with yield curves heavily 

managed by governments. Central banks appear increasingly comfortable running inflation above their historic target 

levels, given their desires to avoid painful economic recessions. While we do not anticipate negative interest rates from the 

BoE in the near term, the BoE’s analysis of the potential impact of negative rates suggests that they are a plausible 

possibility on the way out of an economic recession. As yet, there are few signs of higher inflation, but it remains a 

possibility that will need to be monitored. 

 We expect that economic activity will gradually improve in 2021, particularly if a successful vaccine or treatment for the 

Covid-19 becomes widely available. There are, however, many threats to this expectation: the possibility of new waves of the 

virus, complications in the development and distribution of vaccines, subdued consumer confidence and business 

investment, corporate failures, and government and central bank policies. The UK also faces the additional uncertainty of 

new trading arrangements with the EU. 

 Looking at our portfolio strategy, while we have seen a recovery in risk markets including sterling investment grade, there is 

no real change to our outlook since April – namely that the short-term outlook is highly uncertain. It is consequently 

essential that the portfolio is maintained in such a way that it will be resilient across a variety of market scenarios. Specific 

targeting within the BBB area, which is more prone to heavier price falls on downgrades to sub-investment grade, remains 

essential in an environment of increasing ratings-transition risk. Our emphasis on seniority within capital structures, 

proximity to the underlying assets and diversification across sectors and issuers remains necessary for controlling the risks 

that we may face. 

 

Page 117



 

RLPPC OVER 5 YEAR CORPORATE BOND FUND 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 SEPTEMBER 2020 8 │ PAGE 
 

IMPORTANT INFORMATION 

For professional clients only, not suitable for retail investors. The views expressed are the author’s own and do not constitute investment advice. 

This document is a financial promotion. It does not provide, and should not be relied on for, accounting, legal or tax advice, or investment 
recommendations. For more information on the fund or the risks of investing, please refer to the fund factsheet, Prospectus or Key Investor 
Information Document (KIID), available via the Fund Information page on www.rlam.co.uk. 

Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future results. The value of investments and the income from them is not guaranteed and may go 
down as well as up and investors may not get back the amount originally invested.  

Portfolio characteristics and holdings are subject to change without notice. This does not constitute an investment recommendation. For 
information purposes only, methodology available on request. Information derived from sources other than Royal London Asset Management is 
believed to be reliable; however, we do not independently verify or guarantee its accuracy or validity. 

All rights in the FTSE All Stocks Gilt Index, FTSE Over 15 Year Gilts Index, FTSE A Index Linked Over 5 Years Gilt Index and FTSE A 
Maturities Gilt Index (the “Index”) vest in FTSE International Limited (“FTSE”). All rights in the FTSE 350, FTSE All Share, FTSE 100, FTSE 
250, FTSE 350 Higher Yield and FTSE Small Cap (the “Index”) vest in FTSE International Limited (“FTSE”).  “FTSE®” is a trade mark of the 
London Stock Exchange Group companies and is used by FTSE under licence. The Royal London Funds (the "funds") have been developed 
solely by Royal London Asset Management. The Index is calculated by FTSE or its agent. FTSE and its licensors are not connected to and do 
not sponsor, advise, recommend, endorse or promote the fund and do not accept any liability whatsoever to any person arising out of (a) the 
use of, reliance on or any error in the Index or (b) investment in or operation of the fund. FTSE makes no claim, prediction, warranty or 
representation either as to the results to be obtained from the Funds or the suitability of the Index for the purpose to which it is being put by 
Royal London Asset Management. 

All confidential information relating to any Royal London Group company must be treated by you in the strictest confidence. It may only be used 
for the purposes of assessing the proposal to engage Royal London Asset Management Limited (RLAM). Confidential information should not be 
disclosed to any third party and should only be disclosed to those of your employees and professional advisers who are required to see such 
information for the purpose set out above. You should ensure that these persons are made aware of the confidential nature of such information 
and treat it accordingly. You agree to return and/ or destroy all confidential information on receipt of our written request to do so. 

Issued by Royal London Asset Management Limited, Firm Registration Number: 141665, registered in England and Wales number 2244297; 
Royal London Unit Trust Managers Limited, Firm Registration Number: 144037, registered in England and Wales number 2372439; RLUM 
Limited, Firm Registration Number: 144032, registered in England and Wales number 2369965. All of these companies are authorised and 
regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Royal London Asset Management Bond Funds Plc, an umbrella company with segregated liability 
between sub-funds, authorised and regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland, registered in Ireland number 364259. Registered office: 70 Sir 
John Rogerson’s Quay, Dublin 2, Ireland. 

All of these companies are subsidiaries of The Royal London Mutual Insurance Society Limited, registered in England and Wales number 
99064. Registered Office: 55 Gracechurch Street, London, EC3V 0RL. The Royal London Mutual Insurance Society Limited is authorised by the 
Prudential Regulation Authority and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulation Authority. The Royal London 
Mutual Insurance Society Limited is on the Financial Services Register, registration number 117672. Registered in England and Wales number 
99064. FQR RLAM EM 0912.  

       

 

Page 118



������ ������� 	��
���
 ��� ��� ���
���� ����� ����� ���� �������� ���� � � �����!�" ��� ��� ������ �� �� ���#$$ ��" �%& �!�'��� ��" �����( �� )� ����� '���&" �!� ������ �!�'���

*�" !�" ����"� �+� �$ ��',-. �� !/�!�" ��� ����" !�0 !/�' 1!�'

Page 119



2

3456567 89: ;9<=>?8

§

@ABC DEA DFGHIE DIJHKKE ILMNO LIIB KP HKKDE K QRIDSBE THIP DE KKHJA DB NAE DMDS

ULC HEBCBE VE LJHIS KEA DDMS LO EA DWDIB LS QHKIDMDJDS NLUDIMTDME HREB LME LHEE DTWE

E LRLME ILCEA DIB KB MNB MRBS DMRDLOX LUBS YZ[ QEA DO HBC GIDLO C HJTHP DIKE LHNIDDLM

HMLEA DIKEB TGC GK\BCCB MEA D]^ HMS IB KB MNE DMKB LMK\ DE JDDMEA D]^ HMSX AB MH

HA DHS LO EA D]^ DC DREB LMKE LLPEA DB IE LCC LMB MUDKE LIKDMEB TDME
§

_CC HKKDE RC HKKDKRLME IB\ GE DSE LIDE GIMK `a LHMKWDIO LITDS JDCCb cZ `defg JBEA\ LEA

EA Dh GILWDHMHMS]^ \ LLP KRLME IB\ GEB MNE LIDE GIMK `_CEA LGNAiB NAjB DCS

b ck `lefg KHJKLTDTHIP YE L YTHIP DE ULC HEBCBE VB M^ DWE DT\ DI QLGI]^ HMS

h GILWDHM\ LLP KWDIO LITDS JDCC LUDIEA DFGHIE DIHKHJA LC D `h GILWDHMmm HMS

mmm IHE DSX an K Q]X̂ IDSBEoB KPp IHMKO DIHMSh GILWDHMo DNGC HE LIVX HWBE HC

KDRGIBEB DKRLME IB\ GE DSE LHWLKBEB UDWDIO LITHMRDO ILT_mb̂ ck `eefg QO LCC LJDS\ V

qB MHMRB HC Kb ck `refg HMSX LMUDIEB\C DKb ck `stfg `u MUDKE TDME NIHS DX LIWLIHE D

X IDSBEb ck `ZZfg NDMDIHE DS HTLS DKE\ GE WLKBEB UDIDE GIM
§

v wxyz{| w} ~y� �~����xy} ~wx� �~w�y ������� yx�� w~�� �w}�� y~yx�� �� y~} ~wx

EA D]^ HMS HKTHCC RLME IB\ GEB LMO ILT_ KB H
§

pA DRA HMNB MNKE IGRE GIDLO RIDSBE THIP DE K QHMSB MRIDHKB MNO LRGKLMNDLWLCBEB RHC

IB KP QWHIEB RGC HIC VHTLMNKES D\EE IHSB MNS DKP K QTDHMKEA HE THIP YE L YTHIP DE ULC HEBCBE V

B KMLC LMNDIMDRDKKHIBC VHNGBS DLIWIL�VO LIWLE DMEB HCC LKKIB KPB MWLIEO LCB LK `

^ DWE DT\ DIAB NACB NAE DSEAB KJBEA RLMRDIMKIDC HEB MNE LNDLWLCBEB RKRHGKB MNTHIP YE L Y

THIP DEC LKKDKLMEA DS D\E LOO GMS HTDME HCC VKE ILMN\ GKB MDKKDK

§

a LLPB MNC LMNDIE DIT QJDIDTHB MO LRGKDS LM\ LEE LT YGWO GMS HTDME HC IDKDHIRA Q

y�� �~� �� �y�~y��� y� w�w��� � �y� w�� �� ��� y�� y~� �� ����w�� �� y� ���� �~� �y� �

RLIWLIHE DS DO HGCE K `@ DIDTHB MRLMO BS DMEEA HE QS DKWBE DEA DKDTHIP YE L YTHIP DE

TLUDK QEA DRLTWHMB DKJDC DMSE LA HUDKGOO B RB DME RHKAO C LJNDMDIHEB LMHMS

CB FGBSBE VE LWHVEA DB ME DIDKE HMS WIB MRB WHC LMEA DB IS D\E `@BEAEA DC DUDC LO B MRLTD

HUHBC H\C D QHC LMNKBS DGMGKGHCC VHEE IHREB UDRHWBE HC NHB MKb HKHIDKGCE LO EA DULC HEBCBE Vg Q

WHIE KLO EA DKG\ YB MUDKE TDME NIHS DRIDSBE THIP DE IDTHB MAB NAC VHEE IHREB UDB MLGI

UB DJ QHMS JBEABE KO C D�B\BCBE V QJD\ DCB DUDEA HEEA DB MUDKE TDME WILKWDRE KO LI� GCEB

_ KKDEX IDSBE IDTHB MD�RDCC DMEB MEAB KDMUB ILMTDME

�� ������� � ��� �� ��  ��¡��¢�£ �¤ � ¥¦§�̈ ���� �����̈ ¢�� ���� ©¨ � ª��� �«� ��� ���¢� ��� ¬£�̈ �¡�¤ � ®�  ����¨ ���  �� ���¢� �����¨ ���¤ ��� �¤ �¡���� ��� ��� �� ��̄��� ¢���¨ �� ���� °� ª��̈ �«� �� ��¢± ��¢��¤  ���� �

² �¤ ¬³« ���±¤ � ´�� �� �¨ �¤ � ¥  ��¡ � ��̈ ��¨ �¨ �¢� ¤ �¤ ���� ���¤ � �� �®������ ��̈ �� ¬

. ���!�µ,-. ���" '�� �� ����¶·. �̧� �'+ ��¹·¹· 1º » ��%�� ��� ����������" '�� �� ��� ��� �$ ���" !" �̧� ��$ ��� ¼�½̧��������" �!�'���" ����� �� 1»� � ���+ ���� ��� ��% )� ��'̧��$ ��'��!�̧��¾ �!�" ����$�� �" ����� '��� �� ��� �% 

��� '��¿ �� !���"�" ������� ��" '��$ '�� ���" �%��� ����� ���$ �����+¾ �!�� �!� ��%� 1»� ���" ���%������ ���� �� �� � ��%�� ��� ���!��+ ��!�" ���� 1� ����� ����� ���� ��� ¸� �!��� ���" ��!�����!�� ��%�� ��� ���" �� �!"�" �%

*� ��� ��� �" �����" ��� �À ��� 1» ��%�� ��� �������$ ��"�� ��� ���" ��̧��̧�������  1Á Â ½!�̧� *� ����/�" ���$ ��!�����! � �� %" �%̧��̧���� 1Ã Ä �� ������̧�������� �( ��$ ��'��!�� �� �½ÅÆ( 1(� ������$ ��� ��� ���� �$�� �̧������ ��" ��

Ç ÈÉÇ ÊÉËÌ ÍÉÎ ÍË ÏÐÑ ÒÏÒË ÈÌ ÈÓËÌÐ ÒÐ ÔÎ ÍÕÐ ÒÖÈÔÒËÐË ÊË ÍÎ ×ØÌÐ ÒÙÉÍÒÍÔË ÏËÐ ÈÔÐ ÔÖÑ ÊÎ ÍÒÌÐ ÒË ÈÉÐ ÖÉÍË ÊÉÔÒÏÔÎ ÙÏÒË ÙÍÉÇ ÈÉÚÏÔÖÍÐ ÒÔÈË ÏÉÍÑÐ ÏÛÑ ÍÐ ÔÎÐ ÖÏË ÈÉÈÇÇ ÊË ÊÉÍÉÍÒÊÑË Ò ×ØÌ ÍÜÏÑ ÊÍÈÇÐ ÔÜÍÒË ÚÍÔË ÒÖÏÔÝÈÎ ÈÓÔÏÒÓÍÑÑ ÏÒÊÙ ×

7 ;9Þ: ;ßà ;á â<<=9ã

§

ä åæç èéêë ìíîï ðìï èî éñíòï ìðìñî ñóôìî óìî õóöé÷ øïê éóùú ûef W `H `JBEA KB MNC DSB NBE

ULC HEBCBE Vü

§

X �_B KHC LMN YLMC V QHREB UDC VTHMHNDS NC L\ HC RIDSBE WLIEO LCB L

§

u MUDKE KWIDS LTB MHMEC VHRILKKa LHMK QiB NAjB DCS HMSqB MHMRB HC K Q_ KKDEm HRP DS

v y� �~��� y����ý w� �y~���� yþ w�� �

§

� HB ME HB MKC LJB ME DIDKE IHE DS GIHEB LMb RHWWDS HEE JLVDHIKg HMSS LDKMLE GKD

O B MHMRB HCC DUDIHNDÿ
7 89: ;9<=>?8� �� =Þ 8�

� �����	 
��	 ���� �����	 ������ ���� 	 ��� � �����	 �������� � �� ��� ��������� � �� ��� ���� !" � � ���# ��� ���

� �� ���� � $� $�% �� ��	�	 � &
z '()* '{++ ',-.* '/+0z 'z+.z 'z-0

Page 120



1

23 4564789 4 :; 49 <=76=4> 4=47?49@ 4ABCD2 6@ 5=4?3 566 :749 8>> 446

. ���!�µ,-. ����¶·. �̧� �'+ ��¹·¹· 1º Ä �� ������$ ����!��� �ÂEÅÆ( �� ���!� ��� 1Á F·GF·� �� �½" ��+� ��� ��+ ��!� '��¿ ��� ���!�'̧�" �" �%�� �H.II�JI �����%��I ���� �� �½K ����� �Å� �+ ��L" %�M" ���� �� �½JLN··K

�½̧������" �L �� %��ÅÆ(� ��'� 1»� �" �� �½" �" �!� �� �� '����  � ��� �*�� �%������� ���� �" ��� �̧��" ��" ��" !�� �� ���" ����" �� ��� ��� �" '̧�  �� ��,O�" ��" '"� ��� ��� �" �� �½" �!�'̧��"�" �����" �¿ 1»�" �̧������ ��" ��

" �!� �� ���" �� ��" !��� ������� �̧�� �̧�$ ��'��!�" ���� ����" �+� �" ��" !�� ���$$ �� ��������� � 1»� ���� ���$" ����� '��� �!��%�� �*���*��� ���̧ 1
P��Q� �R ��� S P��TU ��� � �� �VW

�X�Y ��� �Z ��� �� ���
�[

\]̂\_]`̂̂abcacdaecf gdddf gdbch i]̂̂h i_̂]h iĥ̂f gfbcf gfcd j klmno mp bdfe
q rpst bdfu
v mrw mno mp bdfu
x mo pyzp{ bdfa
| yt { bdfa
} m~mno mp bdfa
� z{ bdbd

������������������

����
������
����

� �� ���� � ¡¢  £ �¤�
¥� �¦ § �¦ ̈£� ©�

��  ¦ ª«  ¤���¬

®̄ °±² ³°́ µ¶ ·¸ ¹ºº ··» ¼½¾¿À
Á ÂÃÄÅ

Æ ÂÆÆÅ
ÇÆ ÂÈÄÅÉ

Ê �ËÌÍ

ÎÏÐÎÏÑ ´Ò ±Ó� ±² ³°́
Ô
 °ÕÖÖ ×
ØÙ	 ±Ò Ú±ÒÛ

Ü ÝÞßà
á Ýââà
Ôã ÝÞÏàÛ

ä åæçè

ÎÏÐÎÏ� Óé±ÖÖÑ ´Ò ±Ó� ±² ³°́
Ô
 °ÕÖÖ ×
ØÙ	 ±Ò Ú±ÒÛ

ê ÝÜãà
á ÝÜßà
Ôá ÝáÎàÛ

Ï Ýßêà

�ëì Õ°íÞàÔ
ØÙÛ
Þ ÝÜãà

ã ÝÏîà
á Ýáîà

Þ ÝêÎàï ±ð² ±ñì ±° îÏîÏP��Q� �R ��� �V��

S
P��TU ���� �� �VW

Page 121



Page 122



ò

. ���!�µ,-. ����¶·ó ���¹·¹· 1»� ���" ���%������ ���� �À ��� *"��" �����" ��� �������� !� ����  ̧���� ��� ��� ���" ��� ���'�'��������
��$ ����" ���" �̧������ ��" �� 1Ä �%" ���� ����  �" �" ��ô �$I ��%ÆÂÂJÆ ���

Â /�" ��� ���Â ½̧�����K 1& �� �'� ��� ������ �E··ô� ��� ������" �% 1º , ���" �!� �� ��!�''"�� �� !��� � 1% 1'��%" �̧��� �� ��Àõ� �� %" �% 1. �!� ��*�" %��" �%������ �*����ô �$ö�÷ ¼�½!� ��" �%�Æ. ���� ��" !�� ¼���

�!�� �� �̧� �E··ô� ���� �*!�'̧��" ���*"�� �!�'̧��"� �F· µF·� �� �½!�'̧�" �" �%�� �.ø(GI.»�I �����%��I ���� �� �½����� ��,ÂÆ �$�Å� �+ ��L" %�M" ���� �� �½ 1M" ���� �O �� ��"�  ����'���� �� !��̧��̧� '��� ����

��" ����� �� ���� � " ���� �'�� ��"�  1O ����� ������� ¼�� ���$" %������ ����+ �� ���� �� ����+¾ �!�� �'�� ��" �� ��� �̧� ���" ���  �" %�"$" !��� !� ��%���'��¿ �� �!���" ���� ����!�� �!������ *���� ����� � 1

jB DCS YE L Yh �WDRE DS� HE GIBE Vbù múg

u ME DIDKE YIHE Dû GIHEB LM

@ DB NAE DS_ UDIHNDo HEB MN

^ WIDHSû GIHEB LMü ýþ ÿ � ��� ���� �� 	
�

ü ��þ �ÿý �� ���

��� ���� �� ��� �� � ���� �� �!�
��"# $%&# '() �* �!�

�� "# $%&# '() + ,+-. ��'/0 �12 ') 3 45678 98 4: �� �;�< ��='>/#?( '0 ��) � @ ,A-B8 CDC58 DE : F ,G-��< �>H< >')# / I ,J-�� < �>H< >')# / K ,F-L D:MN @ ,K- OP QPRS TU VWTX OY QRYS OY QZ[S OY QOZS [ Q\PS [ QZ[S R Q\RS Z Q[ZS Y Q\[S Y QYOS]S\S
O]SO\S
Y]SY\S

^ _̀̀abc defc _bg hijc dhk lc bebdc em k n bo akf ic em k p qrstuv rwq
n bx _ìefc _by hdz b_m _{|

^ _bkàhi}c kdihfc _bei| ^ _bkàhig f e~m hk � ef hic em k � �qw�� � fcmc fc hk � hem� kf ef h
X �����

P Q\YS P QOZS Z Q�\S Z Q\ZS ] Q�YS �] Q�OS �O Q�[S �Y QY�S �Z QYYS �R Q]�S �[ QPPS�O\S �O]S �\S]S
\SO]S

n bo akf ic em k lc bebdc em k � hem fẑ eih
^ _̀̀abc defc _bg hijc dhk ^ _bkàhig f e~m hk � hem� kf ef h

n bx _ìefc _by hdz b_m _{| � fcmc fc hk � bhi{| � ef hic em k
^ _bkàhi}c kdihfc _bei|

S _x���

Page 123



�

. ���!�µ,-. ���" '�� �� ����¶·. �̧� �'+ ��¹·¹· 1»� ���" ���%������ ���� �À ��� *"��" �����" ��� �������� !� ����  ̧���� ��� ��� ���" ��� ���'�'��������
��$ ����" ���" �̧������ ��" �� 1Ä �%" ���� ����  �" �" ��ô �$I ��%

ÆÂÂJÆ ���Â /�" ��� ���Â ½̧�����K 1& �� �'� ��� ������ �E··ô� ��� ������" �% 1º , ���" �!� �� ��!�''"�� �� !��� � 1% 1'��%" �̧��� �� ��Àõ� �� %" �% 1. �!� ��*�" %��" �%������ �*����ô �$ö�÷ ¼�½!� ��" �%�Æ. ���

� ��" !�� ¼��� �!�� �� �̧� �E··ô� ���� �*!�'̧��" ���*"�� �!�'̧��"� �F· µF·� �� �½!�'̧�" �" �%�� �.ø(GI.»�I �����%��I ���� �� �½����� ��,ÂÆ �$�Å� �+ ��L" %�M" ���� �� �½ 1M" ���� �O �� ��"�  ����'���� �� !��̧��

�̧ '��� ������" ����� �� ���� � " ���� �'�� ��"�  1O ����� ������� ¼�� ���$" %������ ����+ �� ���� �� ����+¾ �!�� �'�� ��" �� ��� �̧� ���" ���  �" %�"$" !��� !� ��%���'��¿ �� �!���" ���� ����!�� �!������ *���� ����� � 1

jB DCS YE L Yh �WDRE DS� HE GIBE Vbù múg

u ME DIDKE YIHE Dû GIHEB LM

@ DB NAE DS_ UDIHNDo HEB MN

^ WIDHSû GIHEB LM

� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ����� �����  ¡¢�¡  �¢�¡  £¢�¤  ¤¢

¥¦§
¦̈¥¦̈
§¦©¥
¦

ª «¬¬ «¬ ®̄° ®±² ¯« ±« ®² ³®́µ¶· ¸¹ º»¼ ¸½ ¾¿ ÀÁ¾ÂÃº»Ä¹ Å̧½ º¾
¿ ÀÁ¾ÂÃº»Æ¼ ¾Ç»º¹¼ ÀÁ̧»ÈÉ ÁÊ Â¾¹ »¼ ¸½ ¾Ë º̧½¹Ì¿ »̧º

É ÁÍ À»Ã̧¹¼ ÀÁÎ ºÇÌ ÁÀ½ ÀÏÈ
¿ ÀÃÃÂÁ¼ Ç̧¹¼ ÀÁÄ º»Ð¼ Çº¾Ñ¼ Á̧ÁÇ¼ ¸½ ¾

¦ ÀÍÒÓÔ

ÕÖ ×ØÙÕÚ ×ÚÙÛÜ ÝÞßÕà ×áÙÕâ ×ãÙÛä Ýåßæ ×áÙâ ×àÙå ÝÜßã ×ãÙØ ×ØÙ

çèéê çëêé
êëê
èéê

ì íîïðñòóôõ ïöóò÷õ íîøóùú ûü ýþÿ û� ��÷õ�õ÷õ òï� îòó�ù� ýû�� �ü ûü ý
� î	 íóñø÷õ íî
 òö� îí� í�ùì íîïðñòó�÷ ø� òï

� �����ÿ �ûüÿ ��� ýþ�ÿ �ý�� òø�÷�ì øóò� î� ðï÷ óõ ø� ï�ÿ �û��ÿ û� �
ê í	���� �� �  !"# $%$� &' !(#

) *+,- ./0 "( !1#

234 5678 9: ;9< =2>4 5678 ?@ A?B
23CD EFGD HIJ K ;L<

=2>CD EFGD HIJ 9L ;M<N OOPQR STU PV 3 HWXYDZD H8 [\ A]B^ 57_HYZD̀I Ha 57J 8 M ;b<cD 767WD 6I 8 K ;M<def ghif hPVjQ k AlBmdnf ghif hPVjQ ? AkB^ 68Fo : ;p<

Page 124



q

r stuvwxy z uxy{|}~ ����
���� r stuvwxy��

� ���������
|}������ tw���� sz�� � ����� ���

� ���� ���� ���� �� ¡ �� ¢ ��  £¤¥
¤¦£¤
¦¥¤§£
¤§¥¤

¨©ª«ª«¬®¯¬°±²³´µ¶·¸·¹
º» ¼½¾¿ ÀÁÂ¿ÂÁ ÃÄÅ ÆÇ ÈÉ ÊË ÌÊËÍ

Î ÏÐÑÒÓÔÕ Ö ÑÔÕ×
ØÙÚ ÑÔÕ×ØÙÛÜ

Î ÏÐÑÒÓÔÕÛÜ

ØÙÛÜ ÓÝÞÓ×× ÐÓß ÏÐÕÎ ÏÐÑÒÓÔÕÛÜ ÓÝÞÓ××ÐÓß ÏÐÕà áâãäåæçèéêëèé à áâãäåæçèé ÓÝÞÓ××ÐÓß ÏÐÕ ØÙìí ÓÝÞÓ××ÐÓß ÏÐÕîïÙî ÐÓðñßò ÏÖßñ ó ××Óßô ÏÕð

õö ÷øùõú ÷øùõû ÷øùõü ÷øùõý ÷øùõþ ÷øùõÿ ÷øùõ� ÷øù� ���� ÷øù� ���þ ÷øù� ���ü ÷øùû ÷øù ���
�	��
	��
�
�
��

�������������������������
� !"#$ %&'$'& ()* +, -. /0 1/02

3 456789:;3 8<=> ?@= 8A @<@=BC3 8D= 8?E 86FCFC GH 5IA 68= 56I<68D68<8I= <J 86K 46?@I78L IA 8MNOJ GL IA 8M68= 56I<@68NOJP 8A Q8A GH 46R 4@I<68= 56I< ST8<P 4TNOJP 8A Q8A 68= 56I<K 46=P 83UJVW3XYW 8Z86@Q8AW 4@I

L IA 8M@IA3UJ[ 564D8@IW 8Z86@Q8AW 4@IL IA 8M GH 46P> QP \> 8RA> IA> 78< ST85<8=P 8L:[O 4Y]Ŵ3_> QP̀> 8RA: 4I<= 6@> I8AL IA 8M@IAL:[O 4KY]W[ 564_> QP̀> 8RAL IA 8M Ga @IQ8<> IA> 7@= 8@<<8= @RR 47@=> 4I6@IQ8<R> Z8= 4

A @= 8 GXP> <D68<8I= @=> 4I> I7R 5A 8<P> <= 46> 768= 56I<@IA D@<= D86K 46?@I78> <I4= @68R> @ER 8> IA> 7@= 464KK 5= 56868<5R= < GXP 8Z@R 584K> IZ8<= ?8I= <7@IQ4A 4TI@<T8RR @<5D G

bcdedef ghi jhklmng

opqrdedef ghi jhklmng

Page 125



s

3 456789:;3 8<=> ?@= 8A @<@=BC3 8D= 8?E 86FCFC 5<> IQQ64<<74I= 6>E 5=> 4I< G_> QP̀> 8RA> I7R 5A 8<: 46D46@= 8O 4IA <@IA:t3 @IA 8M7R 5A 8<YO3 @IA: 4IZ86=>ER 8< GJ @<= D86K 46?@I78> <I4Q5@6@I= 884KK 5= 56868<5R= < GXP 8

Z@R 584K> IZ8<= ?8I= <7@IQ4A 4TI@<T8RR @<5D G3= 6@= 8Q\@IAa 8Q> 4I@R 74I= 6>E 5=> 4I<@68K 46>RR 5<= 6@=> Z8D56D4<8<4IR \ GXP 868> <I4Q5@6@I= 88=P @==P 8H 5IA T>RR> IZ8<=> I=P 8<8<= 6@= 8Q> 8<4668Q> 4I<@= @RR 46A 4<4> I=P 8

<@?8?@II86@<<8
=K 46=P> I=P> <D68<8I= @=> 4I G

u vwxy z {zz|u vxuyz {}~| � ����z {�~|

z {��| � ����u vw�y� ���� u vu�yz {��|

� ���� ���� ���� ���� ��� ���� ������ ¡¢ �£¤  �¥�¦  ¥¢ £§  ¨©ª  �¢«� ��¬��¥� � � ��«  � �¥�� ¥��® ¯ °±² ³ °µ́ °² ¶

· ¸¹¹º
· ¸»¼º

· ¸·½º

¾ ¿À¾Á
Â ÃÄÅÆ

Â ÃÂÅÆ

Ç ÈÇÉÊ ËÌÍÎ ËÊÍÏ ÈÐÉÑ ËÊÍ Ò ÓÔÕÖ ×ØÙ
ÚÛÚÒ
Ò ÙÖ ØÜ ØÕÕÝ Þ ßàáâ ßãä ßá å

æ çèéêæ çë ìêæ çíîêæ çé èêæ çïïêï çî èê

ð ñò óô

ð ñò óôï çõéê
ï çííê
æ çïæê

Page 126



ö

÷ øùúû ÷ ø÷üû÷ øüýûþ ÿ��� � ����� øùúû

�þ ÿ	��
� ����÷ ø�÷û � �����þ ÿ�þ� �ý ø÷ýû�

�� ����� ����� ����� ����� ����� ����� ���� ���� ����� ���� ���� ��� ���! ���" ��� #$%& '()*+,-./ *01- (2(3- 2/ 04- 567- */8& '+9'+2, * & +*8- ,: '2(
; <==> & 29- , 2/? 2- (

3 456789:;3 8<=> ?@= 8A @<@=BC3 8D= 8?E 86FCFC 5<> IQQ64<<74I= 6>E 5=> 4I< G_> QP̀> 8RA> I7R 5A 8<: 46D46@= 8O 4IA <@IA:t3 @IA 8M7R 5A 8<YO3 @IA: 4IZ86=>ER 8< GJ @<= D86K 46?@I78> <I4Q5@6@I= 884KK 5= 56868<5R= < GXP 8

Z@R 584K> IZ8<= ?8I= <7@IQ4A 4TI@<T8RR @<5D G3= 6@= 8Q\@IAa 8Q> 4I@R 74I= 6>E 5=> 4I<@68K 46>RR 5<= 6@=> Z8D56D4<8<4IR \ GXP 868> <I4Q5@6@I= 88=P @==P 8H 5IA T>RR> IZ8<=> I=P 8<8<= 6@= 8Q> 8<4668Q> 4I<@= @RR 46A 4<4> I=P 8

<@?8?@II86@<<8
=K 46=P> I=P> <D68<8I= @=> 4I G

@æ çïëêAæ çî èêæ çèîê@ë çïîêAæ çéîê@ë çí ìêA

ð ñò óô

ð ñò óô@ï çæõêA
@ë çææêA
æ çæõê

B CDEF
G HIJK

L CLMF

NM COEFP
NQ CEDFP

L CLRF

ST UVWSX UVWSY UVWSZ UVWS[ UVWV UVW[ UVWZ UVW \ ]̂_` abc
ded\
\ c` bf b__g f bh` i bjk b` l

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL | Dorset County Pension Fund | 1

Dorset County (‘DC’) property fund provides diversified exposure to good quality real estate located throughout the UK, across a range
of sectors including offices, industrial, retail and other. The allocation to property has recently been reduced from 11% to 9% of DC’s
total assets which represents approximately £270m. The strategy is to transition the portfolio gradually to a 50/50 split between Secure
Long Income (“SLI”) and Conventional properties, with SLI properties within the Conventional portfolio counting towards the total.

CONVENTIONAL SLI

Mandate Commenced 1993 Commenced 2017

Performance objective MSCI Quarterly over 5 years LPI +2% p.a.

Capital Value (Q3 2020) £254.7m (87%) £38.4 (13%)

Number of assets 27 9

Target portfolio size £160m* £110m

Value of purchases during quarter - -

Value of sales during quarter £0.1m -

Net initial yield (p.a.) 4.2% 3.8%

Average unexpired lease term (to break) 9.3 years (8.1 years) 66.8 years (18.5 years)

COMBINED VALUATION
Direct Property (Q3 2020 values) £263.0m

Indirect Assets (Q3 2020 values) £30.1m

Total Portfolio Valuation £293.1m

PERFORMANCE** CONVENTIONAL SLI COMBINED MSCI QUARTERLY UNIVERSE

Q3 2020 0.5% 1.1% 0.7% 0.1%      

12 months -2.6% 3.5% -1.7% -2.9%

3 yrs p.a. 2.9% - 3.1% 2.4%

5 yrs p.a. 4.7% - 5.0% 4.2%

(Combined Dorset Portfolios)

£293.1M 36
AssetsCapital Value 

** Conventional & Combined are Nominal returns and SLI are Real returns.  SLI’s Nominal returns for Q3 1.6% and 12 months to 
September 2020 4.6% with RPI Q3 0.5% and 12 months 1.1%. 

QUARTERLY REPORT
Q3 2020

DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND

* The Conventional portfolio includes SLI assets (c.15%), therefore the total SLI allocation is 50%. 

Page 129



PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL | Dorset County Pension Fund | 2

STRATEGY

Bow Lane, London

Coney Street, York   

Size

▪ Target size £270m – current size £293.1m.  DC has recently reduced its allocation to 
property from 11% to 9% of total assets which represents approximately £270m.    

▪ The longer term intention is to transition the portfolio gradually to a 50/50 split between 
Conventional property and SLI, the SLI property held within the Conventional portfolio is to 
be included in the 50:50 allocation.    

Performance objectives 

▪ Conventional and SLI portfolios’ have had distinct benchmarks since 1st April 2018. 
▪ Conventional portfolio:  “To achieve a return on Assets at least equal to the average MSCI 

(formerly IPD) Quarterly Universe Portfolio Return including Transactions and Developments 
for a rolling five year period commencing 1 January 2006.”

▪ Secure Long Income Portfolio:  “To achieve a total return greater than, or equal to, Limited 
Price Inflation (“LPI”) plus 2.0% p.a. measured over the long run (7-10 years) commencing 1 
April 2018.”  

Income yield

▪ Target is for the Conventional portfolio income return to exceed the MSCI benchmark income 
return.

▪ Continue to focus on reducing the vacancy rate and maintaining a resilient income yield.
▪ Ensure SLI held properties / new acquisitions have strong rental growth prospects, long 

leases and an element of indexation.  

ALLOCATION

Property type

▪ Conventional portfolio:  Remain well diversified as the portfolio transitions to a 50/50 split to 
SLI, with holdings in good locations with a proportion of exposure to properties that will allow 
active management to generate outperformance.

▪ We anticipate maintaining a total of between 15-20 assets with an average lot size of 
between £8m and £11m.

▪ SLI portfolio:  target lot sizes between £3m and £25m with an average lease length in excess 
of 15 years at purchase with at least 70% of the portfolio having index linked rent reviews 
once fully invested.   

Geographic allocation ▪ Diversified by location but with a bias towards London and the South East.

Sector allocation

▪ Diversified by sector with a maximum of 50% in any single sector.
▪ Target a lower than average weighting to Offices and Retail and a higher than average

weighting to Industrial and Other Commercial.
▪ Source suitable SLI investments that could be available in any sector.

ECONOMIC AND PROPERTY UPDATE 
• As the UK economy adapts to a prolonged period with social distancing measures in place, the recovery has

entered a tougher and weaker phase.

• Having rebounded strongly in June and July, the pace of growth has slowed and the new Covid-19 restrictions will
further increase pressure on businesses particularly in light of the Government’s announcement of a month’s
national lockdown in November.

• The latest forecasts from Oxford Economics suggest that employment will continue to fall in 2021, even as GDP
growth hits c.8% y/y.

• Our latest UK property market forecasts were finalised in September. These include an All Property capital value
decline of 10% this year, as rents fall and yields soften. This hit to values would be the sharpest since 2008, but
much smaller than the c.40% seen following the 2008 Global Financial Crisis. We expect values to find their floor
in mid-2021, before a gradual resumption of capital value growth.

• Over the five-year forecast horizon 2021-25, UK property is expected to deliver an annualised total return of 6.2%
p.a.

Page 130



PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL | Dorset County Pension Fund | 3

CONVENTIONAL PORTFOLIO INFORMATION 

TRANSACTIONS

Purchases £0m

Disposals £0.1m

Target portfolio size £160m

Union House, Southwark, London

CONVENTIONAL PORTFOLIO INFORMATION

Q3 2020

Direct market value £224.6m

Indirect market value £30.1m

Total Conventional Portfolio market value £254.7m

No. of assets (direct avg. value) 27 (£9.4m)

No. of lettable units (direct avg. value) 80 (£2.8m)

Vacancy rate (% direct ERV) 3.5% (13.8%)*

Avg. unexpired direct lease term (to break) 9.3 years (8.1 years)

Direct net initial yield (p.a.) 4.2%

% of income direct RPI / index linked 10.7%

Rent with +10 years remaining (% of direct rent) 16.4% 

Rent with +15 years remaining (% of direct rent) 11.0% 

Largest Tenant WorldPay Limited
£1.2m p.a.

(11.7% of direct income)

Euroway Industrial Estate, Swindon

*Vacancy rate plus active development projects, which represent 10.3% of ERV

Page 131



PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL | Dorset County Pension Fund | 4

52.3%

16.3%

11.1%

6.2%

8.2%

5.9%

London / South East Eastern South West North Midlands Scotland

CONVENTIONAL PORTFOLIO ANALYSIS

SECTOR BREAKDOWN INCLUDING INDIRECT HOLDINGS  

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

DC Conventional Portfolio MSCI Quarterly Universe

GEOGRAPHICAL BREAKDOWN EXCLUDING INDIRECT HOLDINGS 

Cambridge Science Park 

Page 132



PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL | Dorset County Pension Fund | 5

SLI PORTFOLIO INFORMATION

TRANSACTIONS

Purchases £0m

Disposals £0m

Target Portfolio Size £110m

Union House, Southwark, London

SLI PORTFOLIO INFORMATION

Red Lion, London SW1

Q3 2020

Direct market value £38.4m

Indirect market value £0m 

Total SLI Portfolio market value £38.4m

No. of assets (avg. value) 9 (£4.3m)

No. of lettable units (direct avg. value)* 13 (£3.0m)

Vacancy rate (% ERV) 0%

Avg. unexpired direct lease term (to break) 66.8 years (18.5 years)

Net initial yield (p.a.) 3.8%

% of income index linked 71.8%

Rent with 15+ years remaining (% of rent) 72.3% 

Largest Tenant Mears Plc
£0.4m p.a.

(27.7% of contracted income)

*Assumes each residential portfolio is treated as a single lettable unit.

Page 133



PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL | Dorset County Pension Fund | 6

Union House, Southwark, London

SLI PORTFOLIO ANALYSIS 

36.9%

23.5%

39.7%

London / South East Eastern

South West Midlands

North Rest of UK

36.9%

63.1%

SECTOR BREAKDOWN (% OF TOTAL VALUE)

Supermarkets Pubs Ret. W'house Offices

Industrial Hotel Other Residential

GEOGRAPHICAL BREAKDOWN (% OF TOTAL VALUE) 

Elgin Bar & Grill, London W9  

Ingersley Building, Macclesfield 

Page 134



PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL | Dorset County Pension Fund | 7

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

% Portfolio Covered by Asset Value

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL, GOVERNANCE
Responsible ESG practices are fundamental to Dorset County Pension Fund’s strategy and we are

targeting a Gold ambition level. We focus on three key pillars and the targets to 2022 are set out in

each of these below.

LEGISLATION UPDATE

The Environment Bill 2020 was added to the parliamentary schedule this quarter.  Its goal can be summarised as ‘Protecting and 

improving the natural environment using market forces’.

The Bill intends to set new legally binding targets in four priority areas of the natural environment: air quality; waste and resource 

efficiency; water and nature that will be reviewed on a five-yearly basis.  This includes: an ambitious and legally binding target for 

particulate matter, internalising biodiversity within the economic system, greater scrutiny and collaboration on the sustainability of 

the water system, and moving towards a circular economic model with much increased producer responsibility.

KEY FUND ACTIONS COMPLETED IN Q3 2020

ACTION OUTCOME

Annual Report
The fund has released its Annual ESG Report for 2019. The report reviews the 
funds position against all its 2022 KPIs.

x x x

GRESB

The GRESB submission took place ahead of the deadline on 1st August.  The 
provisional results have now been published and are being reviewed by the CBRE 
ESG team.  We are awaiting final results to be published on 16th November 
before conducting a final analysis and reporting on DC’s score.  We expect to 
disclose the results in the Q4 2020 report.

x x x

Star Standards

The CBRE ESG team has developed the Star Standards guide which is now being 
implemented across the DC portfolio for all refurbishments.  This is to ensure that 
a minimum standard is achieved during a refurbishment, helping the Fund meet 
its KPI targets. 

x x x

COMPLIANCE
• Energy ratings
• Policies
• TCFD

• Compliance 
Risk

• Green Leases

TRANSPARENCY
• Building 

certifications
• Reporting

• Stakeholder 
engagement

• Data coverage

CARBON

• Energy 
• Water
• Waste 

• Tenant 
Workshops

All Environmental Compliance Risks GRESB Outperformance 18% Carbon Intensity Reduction

Figures 1  - Performance against KPI actions (additional KPIs will be added as and when data becomes available)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

% Units Rated A-E

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

% of Leases with Green Lease Clauses

Green Leases 

EPC  Compliance

Green Leases

Data Sharing

Green Leases

Collaboration

EPC Rating

Building 

Certification

2019 Performance 2020 Performance Target

Page 135



PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL | Dorset County Pension Fund | 8

IMPORTANT NOTICE

The information contained herein must be treated in a confidential manner and may not be reproduced, used or disclosed, in whole or in part,
without the prior written consent of CBRE Global Investors.

The indirect property portion of this portfolio is managed by CBRE Global Investment Partners Limited which is authorised and regulated by the
Financial Conduct Authority in the United Kingdom. In accordance with the restrictions on the promotion of non-mainstream pooled investments,
the communication of this document in the United Kingdom is only made to persons defined as professional client or eligible counterparties, as
permitted by COBS 4.12.5R (Exemption 7) and the Collective Investment Scheme (Exemptions) Order 2001.

Acceptance and/or use of any of the information contained in this document indicate the recipient’s agreement not to disclose any of the
information contained herein. This document does not constitute any form of representation or warranty on the part of CBRE Global Investors,
investment advice, a recommendation, or an offer or solicitation, and it is not the basis for any contract to purchase or sell any security, property
or other instrument, or for CBRE Global Investors to enter or arrange any type of transaction. CBRE Global Investors expressly disclaims any
liability or responsibility therefore.

This document should not be regarded as a substitute for the exercise by the recipient of its, his or her own judgement. The figures in this
document have not been audited by an external auditor. This document does not purport to be a complete description of the markets,
developments or securities referred to in this report. The value of an investment can go down as well as up and an investor may not get back the
amount invested. Past performance is not a guide to future performance. Forecasts of future performance are not an indicator of future
performance. All target or projected “gross” internal rates of return (“IRRs”) do not reflect any management fees, incentive distributions, taxes,
transaction costs and other expenses to be borne by certain and/or all investors, which will reduce returns. “Gross IRR” or “Gross Return” shall
mean an aggregate, compound, annual, gross internal rate of return on investments. “Net IRR” or “Net Returns” are shown after deducting fees,
expenses and incentive distributions. There can be no assurance that the mandate will achieve comparable results, that targeted returns,
diversification or asset allocations will be met or that the investment strategy and investment approach will be able to be implemented or that the
mandate will achieve its investment objective. Actual returns on unrealized investments will depend on, among other factors, future operating
results, the value of the underlying assets and market conditions at the time of disposition, foreign exchange gains or losses which may have a
separate and uncorrelated effect, legal and contractual restrictions on transfer that may limit liquidity, any related transaction costs and the timing
and manner of sale, all of which may differ from the assumptions and circumstances on which the valuations used in the prior performance data
contained herein are based. Accordingly, actual returns may differ materially from the returns indicated herein. The value of any tax benefits
described herein depends on your individual circumstances. Tax rules may change in the future.

CBRE Global Investors and its affiliates accept no liability whatsoever for any direct, consequential or indirect loss of any kind arising out of the
use of this document or any part of its contents.

Where funds are invested in property, investors may not be able to realise their investment when they want. Whilst property valuation is conducted
by an independent expert, any such opinion is a matter of the valuer’s opinion. Property is a specialist sector which may be less liquid and
produce more volatile performance than an investment in broader investment sectors. CBRE Global Investors Limited is regulated by the Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS). CBRE Global Investors (UK Funds) Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct
Authority (FCA).

Page 136



������������
��	
	�������
���	��������
��������	�

�����������
���
��������
������������
��������	

������������
����������� 
���!������"
�#� ����"��
�� !$�%�

Page 137



Page 138



&

'()*++
Page 139



,

'()*++

- ./0 1

23 456789: ;6<8==> ;??@ <AB ;C DE F=@ C;= 8G@=BH <F@ AB= 7;I 75I ;=@ 4<F JK 7= 5;6@ ;II@ ;L@I@= M? ;= ;;F;=NO3 8P= 8CL 86QORS JK 7= 5;6@ ;II@ ;L@I@= MHEOR@ FF7;I 8?L ;F8? 4<=B 8

P68F8<= T;I 584U=B 8;7= 5;6@ ;II@ ;L@I@=@ 8F68I ;=@ T8= 4=B 8C;<? ;= 87;FBUI 4GT;I 58V F88;PP8<?@ WU 46U 46C5I ;X

22Y 8T86;A8Z8WP4
F568T;I 584U@ <UI ;=@ 4<I@ <[ 8?I@ ;L@I@=@ 8FB 8? A8?\ P46=U 4I@ 4;FF8= T;I 58 J222]B@ F@ F;P64WMU 46=B 8P64P4F8? <4=@U@ 7;=@ 4<I 8T8I 4Û 5<? T;I 58\HEOR _RQ̀ J

a bcdef g hi jklm ha jklmg h ldd no jklmg h ldd npq drk q drkseq cd h ldd n

t uvwx uyz u {| }~� {�� }|� {| }��� }��� }�~

� ���� ���� �� ��� ��� ��� �� ���� ���� ���

� k� leq �k� n��� na�� n��i n�ai n��
a�  ¡ ¢d  �� £¤¥a�  p ks  �� £¤¥

¦ §�©̈ §ª« §¬��
� ®��� �¯
� ®��� �°

� ���� ����¬��
� ®�°� ��
� ®��� ®�

± �¨ ²��« �ªª« �³«ª«̈ ´¬��µ
° ®��° ��
° ®��� ��

¶ cme· c�q cq d·� leq cdf k¸ ¹kmleq cºa
a n»h
a� nih

¼ ½¾¿À ÁÂÃÄÅ ¾ÆÇ ÂÈÅ É¾À ½Ê Ë½ÃÂÈÅ ÉÌÍÍ ÎÏÐ
ÍÑ ÎÑÐ

ÒÓÔÕ Ö× ØÙÚÛÜÛ ÝÛÜ ÞßÛ ÙàÜ ØáâÚãÜ äåæ çæèéßê åÚÛ ÚëäÛ ÙÜãÛ ÙìáØåÚØÛ ÙÛ Ùíî åÜÛ äÙ ç

ïðñ òó ôõö ÷òð øùòôú÷òóñ ûôó ÷øüóð ÷ýþøýøþóñ øúøüóð ÷ÿ �ú�� òô�ó �ôþñ ôö

îÛ åêÛîÛÜÛ ØÚÜ� åÜ åáØ� Ø� �Ø�ê ÞÜ� ØëäáÜí äîÛ ä ç��Û Úåî ÚäÚ� ä�ÚÜ� ØëäáÜí äîÛ äÛ Ú

ÝØáÞìî äÚØÜ äÜ� Øê ØÙì� âåá	Û ÙÜ ØáâÚäíÛÜ ÚÜ äÜ åîÛ Ùíî åÜÛ äÙÚØÙÚÛÜÛ ÝÛÜ Þ ç
�� Øåê äÝØÜ åêî ØÚ� ä�ÚÚÜ áØÚÚÜ ØÚÜ Úí äáî äÙ� 
Ü ØáâÛ Ùíî åÜÛ äÙáåÜ ØÚ ç�� Ø� �Ù�

ìåÙÚ�ëëäáÜ å� ç�éí åîîÛ Ùî äÙ� 
Ü ØáâÛ Ùíî åÜÛ äÙØ�ëØìÜ åÜÛ äÙÚëáÛ äáÜ äá�ÙÙÛ Ù�

ä�Ü äí ìäîî åÜ ØáåîÜ äÚ�ëëäáÜÜ� Ø� Ø� �Ø ç

�� ØØ�ëäÚ�áØÝ
åî �ØäíÛ Ùíî åÜÛ äÙ 
îÛ Ù	 Ø�îÛ åêÛîÛÜÛ ØÚ� Ø� �Ø� �åÚà��æ ç� âåÜ�æ

× ØëÜ Øâê Øá�æ�æ ç
� ì çè çæéí åîîÛ ÙÛ Ùíî åÜÛ äÙ�ä�î�Ü å	 ØÜ� Ø� �Ù�Ü äì ç� ç� �î ØÝØáå�Ø

�f ld¹kq d� cd¹  e kmbq d·� leq cdk�skre leq cdg

� ��� �� �°� �� ��� �� �°� �� ��� �� �°�

� ����w �� ��y ��ux
�§ªª �¨ ���ª ! �"�°̄ ����� ����� ���°� ����� �°̄� �°

# �$���%��²ª̈« &ª �� ��°� ���� ��°� ���� ����� ���
' ()1*+ )(,)-.+. /0-. ),

1 2321444 56 .0 1

7 879 87: 87& 87, 87; 87< 87= 87 >?@ABC DEFABC GEHABI JKLABI MENABI JKOABP QRSABP TF@ABU VWXYZ[ >?@AB\ TK]AB\ J?OAB^ JKLAB^ MENAB^ >?_AB` aNbAB` TF@Acd DEFAcd

Page 140



;

'()*++

e fghii j k lm nop qrrso r

tu qvuwu o xp sy zse fg{ |i}i j

e fg~}i j � sy zsqrrso r �� mww qo slqw�
tu qvuwu o xp sy zse fg�}} j e fghii j � �� ��� ����� �

e fg�}} j � sy zsqrrso r �� mww qo slqw�

Page 141



<

'()*++¦��� ��� ��%�« �&�����¨ $�ª ²����²ª̈« �%© �§��� ���� ²&���� ��«©̈« �ª §�% �¨ ���« �¨ ����¨ ��¨ ��

¬�� ��� ��%�« �&�����¨ $�ª ²����²ª̈« �%© �§��� ���� ²&���� ��«©̈« �ª §�% �¨ ���« �©ª �«̈ §���&��¨ �«̈ §��

� �� ��
� �� ����� ��� �������� ���  ¡¢�£¤¥
� �¦� ��� §�������� ���  ¡�̈£¤¥

© ª
©«
¬ §¦�� ������ ��
©«
¬ §¦�� ������ ��

® °̄±²°³́ °̄µ¶ ·¶́³ ¸

¹º »¼
½¹¾ »¿

¾ »À
½
½

® Á̄Â̄Áµ³ ²Ã °̄Ä ¸

¼ »º
½¹¾ »¾

¾ »¾
¹¾ »º
º »Å

Æ °Ä ²Ç ½¶́ °È ²Ä ·¶́³ ¸

¼¾É »¾
½¹ ÊÀËº »É

¾É¼ »À
¹ ÊÀÉË »É
Ëº »¿

Ì ²ÂÍÁÎÏ µ̧²µ·Á²²Ð²°
³ ¸

½¹º¹ »À
É »º

½º »Å
½
½

Æ °³ ²Á²̧³ Áµ³ ²̧ÑµÂ̧

½¿Å »É
Ë¹Ë »¼

½¹É¼ »É
½
½

Ò ¯³ µ¶ Á²³ ÍÁ°̧ÑµÂ̧

½º »¾
½¹À »Å

¾ »É
À¹ »¾
¹ »¿

Æ °Ó¶ µ³́ °̧̄ÑµÂ̧

½¹À »¹
¾¾ »¿

½É »¹
¾Åº »º
¹Ô »¾

Õ Í³ ÍÁ²̧

º »º
¹Ë »Å

½À »À
½
½

Ö́ ·Ï× ÁµÄ ²ØÙÚÕ Í°Ä

¹¹ »¹
½
½
½
½

Û́ ÜÍÄ́́³ Ý

¾º »¾
½
½
½
½

Þ §� �� ����� �

ßàá â£
ãààà âä

áå âæ
¤ çèè¤ âà
áá âæ

é� �����   ��êë ª��«

ß¤è âå
ãàèä âå

¤££ â£
¤ çèèè âì
¤££ â£

íp s îqw ïsmð op swu qvuwu o xv sñep jqlò lsðw seo rop só soô rrsoõ qw ïsmð op sömloð mwu mmð zuw o rqñy r nqörop qo qls ïrsy qrop sv sñep jqlòð mlop swu qvuwu o x

p sy zu ñzömloð mwu m npu ep nqrw qro ïöy qo sy mñ~÷ qlep�i�i fíp s îqw ïsmð op swu qvuwu ou srop qo qlsu ñðw qou mñp sy zsyu rghhi fh j f

Page 142



Page 143



ø

'()*++
ùú ûüý þ ÿ���� �

� ���	
þ ���	�

 ���	�
�� ��� ����� ��

�
�
� � �� �
� � �� �
� � �� �

� ���� �ú� �

�� ���
��� ���
�� ���

� ���
 �!�

" #ü$% &û�ý

�� ���
��� �� 
�� � �

! ���
� �!�

' �( ��� )�

* �**
* �þ+
* �+,
� �+þ
� �*-

ùú ûüý þ ÿ���� �
� ���	
þ ���	�

 ���	�
�� ��� ����� ��

.

.
/ÿ/( ��� )�. /ÿ/( ��� )�. /ÿ/( ��� )�.

� ���� �ú� �

�� 0��� 0��!
�!! 0��� 01�1
�1 0!�! 0�1�

�� 0 �� 0���
��� 0��� 0!�1

" #ü$% &û�ý

�� 0��� 0���
�!� 011� 0!��
��� 0� � 0! �

!� 0� � 0��!
��� 0!�� 0�!1

' �( ��� )�

,- 23þ�
� 24
3 2-þ+
5 2þ4, 2�35
,� 2-,
 2,33
�3 2+5þ 23þ*

Page 144



6

'()*++78 9;7 87 978 977 87 978 ;7 87 98 7 87 98 ;7 87 98 977 87 98 9;7 87 98 :77 87 98 :;7 87 9 :79: 7:79,:79;
:79<:7
9=:79ø

: 9:796: ::796: &:796: ,:796: 9:7:7: ::7:7: &:7:7; <= >?

@ A= BCBD= C>= BD

@ AE ? >=F <A

G HBCAF IJ=F AK BLDM>NOPCHB

Q F?= DNCB>K= <DM>N

R <AK DNBOFE F OCF DS

T >CCU

G =J BC

Q F?=F AE ? >=F <ADNCB>K= <DM>N
; <= >? OP9P? >=F HBNBCE <C9>AOB

Page 145



97

'()*++V W

XYZX [XYZ\XYZ]XYẐ
XYZ_XYZ̀

aZ XYZbaX XYZbac XYZba\ XYZbaZ XYXYaX XYXYac XYXYd ef gh

i jf klkmf lgf km
no poqr psot pou pt vu pqqr psw puow px vtt psot pus pu vu pyZ̀_ z`

i j{h gf| ej
w pq vn pwuu px vqt pt vy px vqq pr vr pq voo ps vtw px vnx potw pru pu [^̂ z\

} ~klj| ��f| j� k�m�g���l~k
y pyy pyy pyy pyy ps vy puy pyy pyy pyy pyy pyy pyY zc

�|hf m�lkg�f em�g�
vu pq vqy pqx pnn pn vy pqqt ps vn py vt pyu pr vw psq pw vq px [Y z]

�|hf| j{h gf| ejm�lkg�f em�g�
vt poq pw vy puy px vy pst pyo ps vt prr pr vw pwqu pq vy ptZZ z`

� ej� m�k�|{| �l| m�
vy poy pyy pyy pyy py vy pq vy pty po vy pq vy pqy pq vy pq [Y zc

� gll�
r pny pwy puy puq puy pny pxy puy puy poy py vy pqZY z\

}f� kl
vu po vw py vqy py vr po vt ps vy pt vy pn vq pr vq poy ps vq ps vy ps [ĉ z`

d ef gh

\̂ zZ [` z\̀] z\ [c z] [_ zXZ̀ zZc zZY zb [\c z] []c z]]c zc [X zcZŶ z]

d ef gh ��W�h gf| ~k�kl{ elWgj�k
nr pquu pnqrq pyqox puqoy prqrs prquq puqut puqyw pyuu puqys psqyn pu [

Page 146



99

'()*++78 9; 87 978 97 87 978 ; 87 98 7 87 98 ; 87 98 97 87 98 9; 87 98 :7 87 9��� �� �8 &7 87 9 :79: 7:79,:79;
:79<:7
9=:79ø

: 9:796: ::796: &:796: ,:796: 9:7:7: ::7:7: &:7:7; <= >?

@ A= BCBD= C>= BD
@ AE ? >=F <A

G HBCAF IJ=F AK BLDM>NOPCHB
Q F?= DNCB>K= <DM>N

T CBKF=
R <AK DNBOFE F OCF DS

T >CCU

�F IJQ C>K B�R� � PAK

G =J BC

Q F?=F AE ? >=F <ADNCB>K= <DM>N
; <= >? OP9P? >=F HBNBCE <C9>AOB

Page 147



9:

'()*++� �

���� ������������
�����
��� ¡� ���¢¡� ���¢¡£ ���¢¡� ���¢¡� ����¡� ����¡£ ����¤ ¥¦ §¨

© ª¦ «¬«¦ ¬§¦ «
®¯ °¯ ®± °²³ °³̄ °³̄ °±̄ °²± °±́ °µ± °±± °±± °± ®± °³� ¶�

© ª·̈ §¦̧ ¥ª
± °²± °±̄ °³̄ °³ ®± °µ± °¯ ®± °¹ ®¯ °º̄ °² ®± °»± °¯ ®± °² �� ¶�

¼ ½«¬ª¸ ¾¿¦̧ ªÀ «ÁÂ§ÃÄÅ¬½«
± °Æ± °³ ®¯ °³̄ °²̄ °³± °±± °± ®± °±̄ °² ®± °±̄ °±± °±� ¶¢

Ç̧̈¦ Ã¬«§À¦ ¥Â§Ã
®¯ °» ®µ °¹¹ °²́ °¹³ °»̄ °³ ®± °Æ± °± ®± °¯ ®± °±̄ °±̄ °²¢ ¶�

Ç̧̈¦̧ ª·̈ §¦̧ ¥ªÃ¬«§À¦ ¥Â§Ã
± °± ®± °¯̄ °» ®± °Æ ®± °±̄ °³± °³ ®± °³± °µ ®± °Æ± °º ®± °²� ¶�

È ¬«À̧¦
± °±́ °±̄ °±± °±± °±± °±± °±± °±± °±± °±± °±± °±� ¶�

É ¥ªÀ Ã«Ä·̧̧ Ä¬¸ Ê
®± °² ®± °±̄ °±± °±̄ °³± °±̄ °±̄ °±± °±± °±̄ °±± °± �� ¶�

È §¬¬Ë
®± °º ®± °Æ ®¯ °± ®± °» ®± °±̄ °±̄ °±± °±± °± ®± °±̄ °±± °± �£ ¶�

Ì̧ ¾¿Ç ¬§À «ÍÉÎÏ ÅªÀ
¯ °³± °±̄ °²± °±́ °±± °±̄ °±̄ °±± °¯ ®± °µ± °Æ± °¯� ¶�

¼¦¿ «¬
² °³ ®± °» ®¯ °µ± °¯ ®¯ °±± °²± °³ ®± °² ®± °±̄ °²± °±̄ °´� ¶�

¤ ¥¦ §¨

� ¶� �  ¶�¢ ¶�¢ ¶�� ¶�� ¶� �� ¶� �� ¶ � ¶� �� ¶¢� ¶�� ¶��¢ ¶ 

¤ ¥¦ §¨ ÄÅ�Å¨ §¦̧ ½«Ã«¬· ¥¬�§ªÄ«
¯ °Æ ®µ °»³ °¹̄³ °Ǣº °¹³± °¯̄¹ °º̄º °¹³± °±̄» °¯̄¹ °º̄¹ °» �

Page 148



Pension Fund Committee
Thursday, 26 November 2020
Pension Fund Annual Report

For Decision
Local Councillor(s): All

Executive Director: A Dunn, Executive Director, Corporate Development

Report Author: David Wilkes
Title: Service Manager (Treasury and Investments)
Tel: 01305 224119
Email: david.wilkes@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Report Status:  Public

Recommendation:

That the Committee approve for publication the Pension Fund Annual Report 
2019/20.

Reason for Recommendation:

The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Regulations 2013 require all 
administering authorities within the LGPS to publish an annual report.  The report 
attached as Appendix 1 meets the requirements of this legislation and is 
prepared in accordance with the most recent guidance issued by the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA).

1. Executive Summary 

The annual report is a key component of the communication between the 
pension fund and its stakeholders.  The report includes in one place key 
information regarding the management, administration and investment 
performance for the year, as well as the financial statements for the year and the 
key governance, administration and investment strategy documents.

Page 149

Agenda Item 9



Please note that at the time of writing the report of the independent auditors to 
the Committee regarding the pension fund annual financial statements had not 
been received.

2. Financial Implications

No financial implications arising from this report have been identified.

3. Wellbeing and Health Implications

No wellbeing and health implications arising from this report have been identified.

4. Climate implications

No climate implications arising from this report have been identified.

5. Other Implications

No other implications arising from this report have been identified.

6. Risk Assessment

The risks associated with the pension fund’s governance, administration and 
investments are considered as part of the annual report.

7. Equalities Impact Assessment

No equalities implications arising from this report have been identified.

8. Appendices

Appendix 1: Draft Pension Fund Annual Report 2019/20.

9. Background Papers

 Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Regulations 2013
 Preparing the Annual Report – CIPFA Guidance for Local Government 

Pension Scheme Funds 2019 Edition

Footnote:
Issues relating to financial, legal, environmental, economic and equalities 
implications have been considered and any information relevant to the decision is 
included within the report.

Page 150



Annual Report 2019-2020

P
age 151



Cover photos

© Andy Harris -  Main image Bournemouth pier 
    Bottom, right, Portland

© Shutterstock - Bottom, left, Maiden Newton

P
age 152



Co
nt

en
ts

  |
  2Contents

Introduction and Overview 3
Chairman’s Statement 4
Introduction  6
Key Financial Information 7
Developments to the Fund in 2019-20 7
The Annual Report 8
Responsible Investing 8

Overall Fund Management 9
The Fund’s Managers 10
Other Organisations/Individuals 11
Contact and Further information 13

Financial Performance 14

Investment Performance 16
 
Scheme Administration 23
The Local Government Pension   
Scheme (LGPS) 24
Scheme Administration and  
Governance – 2019-20 25
Performance Information 27
Scheme Membership 30
Scheme Benefits 31

Participating Employers of the Fund  33
Other Scheme Administration  
Information  44
Dorset County Pension Fund  
new website  52
McCloud Judgement 52
Government response to consultation  
on restricting exit payments 53
Cohabiting partners and the LGPS 53
My Pension  54

Actuarial Information 55
Statement of the Actuary IAS26 Report 56

Governance  64
Pension Fund Committee 65
The Local Pension Board for the  
Dorset County Pension Fund 68

Pension Fund Accounts 71
Independent Auditor's Report 72
Fund Account s 73
Net Assets Statement 74
Notes to the Accounts 75

Asset Pools  93
Brunel Costs and Savings 93

Other Material 97
Knowledge and Skills 98
Training  98
Glossary of Terms 100

Appendices  103
Appendix 1 -  Governance Policy and   

Compliance Statement 104
Appendix 2 -  Investment Strategy   

Statement 114
Appendix 3 -  Pension Administration   

Strategy Report 120
Appendix 4 - Funding Strategy 
  Statement 135
Appendix 5 -  Communication Policy   

Statement 151
Appendix 6 -  UK Stewardship Code   

Principles 159
Appendix 7 - Climate Change Policy 161
Appendix 8 - Voting Issues Policy 177
Appendix 9 - Risk Management 180

P
age 153



Introduction and Overview

P
age 154



In
tro

du
ct

io
n 

an
d 

O
ve

rv
ie

w
  |

  4

representative on the Brunel Pension 
Partnership oversight board.

This is also the first annual report 
since Dorset Council became the 
administering authority for the pension 
fund in April 2019 following the 
reorganisation of local government 
in Dorset, and this also resulted in a 
number of changes to the membership 
of the Committee. I would like to thank 
Andrew Turner and Councillors Spencer 
Flower, May Haines, Colin Jamieson 
and John Lofts for their hard work and 
contribution, and to welcome Adrian 
Felgate and Councillors Ray Bryan, David 
Brown, Howard Legg and Felicity Rice to 
the Committee.

Investment Performance
The value of the pension fund’s assets 
had risen from £3.0 billion at the end 
of March 2019 to £3.2bn at the end of 
December 2019.  However, in the last 
quarter of the financial year growing 
concerns about the impact of the 
coronavirus pandemic saw severe falls 
in all markets leaving the value of the 

Introduction
This is the first annual report of the 
Dorset County Pension Fund since my 
election as chairman by the Pension 
Fund Committee in September 2019. I 
want to begin by thanking the previous 
chairman, Councillor John Beesley, for 
all his hard work over the last five years 
as well as the four years previously as 
vice-chairman. He remains a valued 
member of the Committee and is our 

Chairman’s Statement

fund’s assets at £2.7bn at the end of 
March 2020.

The pension fund’s return on investments 
for the year was -9.7%, below the 
combined benchmark of -8.0%. Over the 
longer term, the pension fund returned an 
annualised -0.4% over the three years to 
March 2020, compared to the benchmark 
of 0.8%, and an annualised 4.1% against 
a benchmark of 4.6% over five years.

Since April 2020 we have seen a 
significant recovery from these lows,  
but the outlook is still very uncertain,  
and we anticipate more volatility over  
the remainder of this financial year.

Investment Pooling 
In response to the government’s 
requirement for Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS) funds to 
pool investments, in order to improve 
efficiency and to reduce costs, Dorset 
is one of the ten pension funds which 
formed the Brunel Pension Partnership, 
which itself is one of eight such pools 
across England and Wales.

P
age 155



In
tro

du
ct

io
n 

an
d 

O
ve

rv
ie

w
  |

  5 As at 31 March 2020 approximately 40% 
of the pension fund’s total assets had 
transitioned to Brunel’s management.  
Fee savings in a full year from the 
assets transferred to date are estimated 
at approximately £1.5m, compared to 
Dorset’s share of Brunel’s annual running 
costs of £1m. As more assets transition 
to Brunel’s management, fee savings are 
expected to increase.

Actuarial Valuation
In 2019-20 we received the results of the 
latest triennial valuation of the pension 
fund’s assets and liabilities from our actuary, 
Barnett Waddingham. This estimated that 
at 31 March 2019 the fund had assets 
sufficient to cover 92% of its accrued 
liabilities, an improvement from 83% at 
31 March 2016, with the deficit recovery 
period reduced from 22 to 19 years. New 
contribution rates effective from 1 April 2020 
were also agreed for all scheme employers, 
with the average employer contributions to 
meet the cost of future benefits rising from 
15.6% to 17.7% of payroll.

Annual Employer Meeting
The Annual Employers’ Conference was held 
at Kingston Maurward in November 2019. 
The event was well attended and featured 
speakers from the pension fund’s actuary, 
the Pensions Regulator and officers.

Thank You
The success of the pension fund depends 
on the combined efforts of all those 
involved in its administration. I would like to 
thank the Vice-Chairman, Councillor Peter 
Wharf, my fellow Committee members, 
local pension board members and external 
advisers for all their support over the past 
year. My thanks extend also to the staff 
who support the pension fund for all their 
hard work throughout the year.

Yours sincerely,

Cllr Andy Canning
Chairman

P
age 156



In
tro

du
ct

io
n 

an
d 

O
ve

rv
ie

w
  |

  6Introduction
Dorset Council (DC, the Council) is the 
statutory administering authority for 
the Dorset County Pension Fund (DCPF, 
the Fund), which is part of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). 
All aspects of the Fund’s management 
and administration, including investment 
matters, are overseen by the Pension 
Fund Committee (PFC), which is 
a committee of the Council. It is a 
contributory defined benefit pension 
scheme established under statute, which 
provides for the payment of benefits to 
employees of DC and former employees 
of Dorset County Council and the 
admitted and scheduled bodies in the 
Fund. Separate arrangements are made 
for teachers, fire-fighters and police 
officers.

The purpose of the Fund is to provide 
retirement benefits specified by the 
LGPS regulations for staff working for 
local authority employers, and other 
employers admitted by agreement, in 
the Dorset area. The regulations also 
specify the member contribution rates 
as a percentage of pensionable pay, 
with employer contribution rates being 

set every three years by the Fund’s 
Actuary, Barnett Waddingham LLP. 
These contributions are supplemented 
by earnings on the Fund’s investments in 
order to pay retirement benefits.

The day to day running of the Fund is 
delegated to the Fund Administrator 
who is the Executive Director (Corporate 
Development S151) of the Council and 
is responsible for implementing the 
decisions made by the PFC. Supporting 
him is a team of staff split into two 
sections. The Pension Administration 
Team administers all aspects of member 
records, pension benefits etc. and the 
Treasury and Investments team looks 
after the accounting and management 
information requirements of the Fund. All 
aspects of the day to day management 
of investment funds are undertaken by 
external fund managers with the exception 
of the Treasury Management function.

Publication of this report gives the 
Council the opportunity to demonstrate 
the high standard of governance and 
financial management applied to the 
Fund. It brings together a number of 

separate reporting strands into one 
comprehensive document that enables 
both the public and employees to see 
how the Fund is managed and how well it 
is performing.

It is in the interest of both employees and 
the public that the Fund is well managed 
and continues to provide high returns 
and excellent value for money.

P
age 157



In
tro

du
ct

io
n 

an
d 

O
ve

rv
ie

w
  |

  7 Key Financial Information
•  The market value of the Fund's 

Investments fell by £327.5 million 
(10.8%) over the year with a valuation 
of £2.7 billion as at 31 March 2020, 
compared to the previous year end 
valuation of £3.0 billion. Over the last 
five years the value of the fund has 
increased by £0.5 million (21.7%).

•  The Fund achieved a return on 
investments for the 2019-20 financial 
year of -9.7%, 1.7% below the benchmark 
return of -8.0% and below the discount 
rate (or target rate of return) used by the 
actuary at the last valuation of 5.4%.

•  The Fund underperformed its 
benchmarks over three years with 
a performance of -0.4% against its 
benchmark of 0.8%. Over five years 
the performance was 4.1% against a 
benchmark of 4.6%.

•  The number of active contributors in 
the Fund fell from an adjusted 26,369 
in 2018-19 to 24,548 in 2019-20, a 
decrease of 6.9%, whilst the number of 
pensioners rose during 2019-20 by 4.3% 
to 23,330 including dependents.

•  At the most recent actuarial valuation, 
as at 31 March 2019, the funding level 
was 92%, an increase from 83% as at 
31 March 2016, with the deficit recovery 
period of no more than 19 years  
(22 years at the 2016 valuation).

•  Income from contributions has been 
gradually increasing over the past five 
years from £111.4M in 2015-16 to 
£136.7M as at 31 March 2020, a rise of 
22.7%. The pension benefit payments 
have been steadily rising over the same 
period from £104.1M in 2015-16 to 
£127.9M as at 31 March 2020, a rise of 
22.8%.

Developments in the Fund in  
2019-20
•  In October 2019, the pension fund’s 

investment in the JP Morgan Emerging 
Markets Diversified Equity Fund 
transferred to the Brunel Emerging 
Markets Equities portfolio for a value of 
£101.4M.

•  In November 2019, the pension fund 
invested £125M in the Brunel High Alpha 
Developed Markets Equities, funded by 

partial disinvestment from the Fund’s 
assets under the management of its 
two global equities’ managers, Investec 
(£60M) and Wellington (£65M).

•  In January 2020, the pension fund’s 
remaining assets of £179.1M under the 
management of Investec transitioned to 
Brunel’s Global Passive Equity portfolio.

•  In January 2020 CBRE, the Fund 
Property manager part sold the vacant 
office 270-279 Cambridge Science 
Park in Cambridgeshire to South 
Cambridgeshire District Council for a 
price of £8.05m, 6% above the final 
valuation (£7.63M). No new property 
purchases were added to the Fund in 
2019-20. Two properties staircased from 
the Derwent portfolio were sold during 
the final quarter of 2019-20 with total net 
sale receipts of £0.1M.

•  Dorset’s shares of commitments 
made by Brunel to Private Equity funds 
were £14.1M to the Capital Dynamics 
Global Secondary Fund, £18.4M to the 
Neuberger Berman Private Equity Impact 
Fund, and £8.4M to the Ardian Buyout 
Fund 7 leaving approximately £18.9M 
uncommitted.  

P
age 158



In
tro

du
ct

io
n 

an
d 

O
ve

rv
ie

w
  |

  8•  Brunel has made commitments to three 
Secured Income funds - the Aberdeen 
Standard Long Lease Property Fund, 
the M&G Secured Property Income 
Fund and the Greencoats Renewable 
Income Fund.  Dorset’s share of these 
commitments is £50m in total and all 
have been committed.

The Annual Report
The Local Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations 2013 require administering 
authorities to prepare a document known 
as “The Pension Fund Annual Report”. The 
authority must publish the Pension Fund 
Annual Report on or before 1st December 
following the year end. The Pension Fund 
Annual report compiles many of the reports 
and statements which the Fund produces 
into a single, annual document.

In 2019 CIPFA created a “Guidance for 
Local Government Pension Scheme Funds” 
showing a checklist for preparing the 
annual report showing disclosures that 
"must", "should" and "may" be included 
in the annual report, which have been 
included under the following headings. 
Dorset County Pension Fund has disclosed 
all information that must be provided.

•  Overall Fund Management – The 
report must list the names and, where 

appropriate, contact details for the 
Fund Management.

•  Financial Performance – The report 
must provide an overview of the fund’s 
financial performance, focused primarily 
on income, expenditure and cash flows.

•  Investment Policy and Performance 
– This should demonstrate how the 
investment strategy statement has 
been put into practice during the year 
and how this links to the Funding 
Strategy Statement.

•  Scheme Administration – A report of the 
arrangements made during the year for 
the administration of the fund.

•  Actuarial Report – Disclosure of the 
current level of funding as reported 
by the actuary at the last triennial 
revaluation.

•  Governance – Regulation 55 of the 
LGPS Regulations 2013 prescribes the 
content of the Governance Compliance 
Statement.

•  Fund Account, Net Assets Statements 
and Notes - The report must include 
a fund account and a net assets 
statement with supporting notes and 
disclosures in accordance with proper 
accounting practices.

•  Asset Pools – How asset pooling 
arrangements are progressing.

•  Pensions Administration Strategy report.

•  Funding Strategy Statement.

•  Investment Strategy Statement

•  Communications Policy Statement.

•  External Audit Opinion

•  Other Material - any other material which 
the authority considers appropriate.

Responsible Investing
The Council has a paramount fiduciary duty 
to obtain the best possible financial return 
on Fund investments without exposing 
assets to unnecessary risk. The Council 
believes that following good practice 
in terms of social, environmental and 
ethical issues is generally likely to have a 
favourable effect on the long-term financial 
performance of a company and will improve 
investment returns to its shareholders. 

The Fund investment managers, acting 
in the best financial interests of the Fund, 
are expected to consider, amongst other 
factors, the effects of social, environmental 
and ethical issues on the performance of a 
company when undertaking the acquisition, 
retention or realisation of investments for 
the Fund.

P
age 159



Overall Fund Management

P
age 160



O
ve

ra
ll 

Fu
nd

 M
an

ag
em

en
t  

|  
10Overall Fund Management

The Fund’s Managers

Administering Authority
Dorset Council, County Hall
Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1XJ

The Fund is invested in Equities (UK and 
Overseas), Corporate Bonds, Private 
Equity, Property, Diversified Growth 
Funds, Multi Asset Credit, Infrastructure, 
Liability Driven Investments and Cash 
and Cash Equivalents. The Fund does not 
currently manage any fund’s internally 
but used thirteen external fund managers 
in 2019-20 the details of which are 
provided below. Dorset has fourteen 
portfolios managed by the Brunel 
Pension Partnership.

Fund Managers Managers Asset Class Address
Schroders UK Equities 1 London Wall Place, London EC2Y 5AU
Royal London Asset 
Management 

Bonds 55 Gracechurch Street, London EC3V 0RL

J.P.Morgan Asset Management Overseas Equities 60 Victoria Embankment, London  
EC4Y 0JP

Investec Asset Management Overseas Equities 25 Basinghall Street, London EC2V 5HA
Wellington Asset Management Overseas Equities 80 Victoria Street, London SW1E 5JL
HarbourVest Partners, LLC Private Equity One Financial Center Boston, MA 02111
Aberdeen Standard Investments Private Equity 6 St Andrew Square, Edinburgh EH2 2AH

CBRE Global Investors Property Third Floor, One New Change, London 
EC4M 9AF

Baring Asset Management 
Limited

Diversified 
Growth Funds

20 Old Bailey, London EC4M 7BF

CQS Multi Asset Credit 4th Floor, One Strand, London WC2N 5HR                                  
Hermes Investment 
Management

Infrastructure 150 Cheapside, London EC2V 6ET

IFM Investors Infrastructure 3rd Floor, 60 Gresham Street, London 
EC2V 7BB

Insight Investment Management 
Limited

Liability Driven 
Investments

160 Queen Victoria Street, London 
EC4V 4LA

P
age 161



O
ve

ra
ll 

Fu
nd

 M
an

ag
em

en
t  

|  
11 The Fund Actuary

Employee contributions are fixed by 
Central Government. However, the Actuary 
is required to set employer contribution 
rates to ensure benefits under the Scheme 
are properly funded. Although the Actuary 
is required to carry out a full valuation 
every three years, they are also required 
to calculate contributions rates for new 
employers, if membership figures change 
and if an employer leaves the Scheme. The 
Council appointed Fund Actuary is Barnett 
Waddingham. 

Independent Adviser
An Independent Adviser (Alan Saunders) has 
been appointed to support the Pension Fund 
Committee through reviewing investment 
activity, giving advice on general investment 
matters, assisting in the selection of new 
managers and carrying out independent 
assessments of compliance against other 
benchmarks that the Fund’s performance 
is measured against, and offer a practical 
approach to address and control risk.

External Auditor
Deloitte are the appointed as external 
auditors for Dorset Council and the 
Dorset County Pension Fund with effect 
from 1 April 2019.

Other Organisations/Individuals
Service Address

Actuary

Barnett Waddingham LLP 163 West George Street, Glasgow G2 2JJ

Auditors

Deloitte LLP 5 Callaghan Square, Cardiff CF10 5BT

AVC Providers

Prudential Plc PO Box 2711, Reading RG1 3UL

Bankers

NatWest - Main Bankers 49 South Street, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1DW

State Street  - Banker 20 Churchill Place, Canary Wharf, London E14 5HJ

Custodian

State Street Global Services Quartermile 3, 10 Nightingale Way, Edinburgh EH3 9EG

Fund Legal Advisers

Osborne Clarke 2 Temple Back East, Redcliffe, Bristol BS1 6EG

Governance Adviser

Mr Peter Scales 1 Frederick's Place, London  EC2R 8AE

MJ Hudson Allenbridge

Independent Adviser

Mr Alan Saunders 1 Frederick's Place, London  EC2R 8AE

MJ Hudson Allenbridge

Local Government Pension Fund Pool

Brunel Pension Partnership Limited 101 Victoria Street, Bristol BS1 6PU

P
age 162



O
ve

ra
ll 

Fu
nd

 M
an

ag
em

en
t  

|  
12Custodian Services 

The Fund employs State Street Bank & 
Trust as its global custodian, independent 
to the investment managers, to be 
responsible for the safekeeping of the 
Fund’s assets. State Street Bank & Trust 
provides a wide variety of services that 
underpin the work of the officers of 
the Pension Fund and its investment 
managers in managing the Pension Fund’s 
assets. The performance of the global 
custodian is reported to the Committee 
and Board on an annual basis.

The custody services provided by State 
Street Bank & Trust to the Fund include:

•  safekeeping of the Pension Fund’s 
assets in the various different 
investment managers;

•  collection of income from dividends 
and interest;

•  tax reclamation services;

•  corporate action processing and 
proxy voting based on the instructions 
received by the Pension Fund’s 
investment managers;

•  filing of US-based class action 
lawsuits;

•  foreign exchange settlement to 
enable the Pension Fund to buy and 
sell assets in foreign currencies;

•  stock lending;

•  reporting on the value of pension 
Fund’s assets and the investment 
performance of the Fund’s investment 
managers.

Internally Managed Cash
The Pension Fund also holds cash 
internally as working balances and 
operates its own treasury management 
policy, which is implemented by the 
County’s Treasury Management Team.   
 
Working balances comprise funds required 
to pay pensions, to fund private equity, 
property investments and other managers 
and to pay day-to-day expenses. Surplus 
balances will be invested in accordance 
with the Treasury Management Strategy.

Legal Adviser
The Pension Fund uses Osborne Clarke 
for advice covering conveyancing, 
investment and employer issues.

P
age 163



O
ve

ra
ll 

Fu
nd

 M
an

ag
em

en
t  

|  
13 Contact and Further Information

For more information about the Dorset 
County Pension Fund, please contact 
our Pensions helpline on:

Telephone:   
(01305) 224845

Email:   
pensionshelpline@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Address:
Dorset County Pension Fund
County Hall, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1XJ

Our website:
Contains further information relating to  
the LGPS. The address is as follows:  
www.dorsetpensionfund.org

Alternatively, you can contact a member of the team as follows:

Queries regarding Fund Investments  
and Accounts
Mr Aidan Dunn 
Executive Director of  
Corporate Development 
aidan.dunn@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Mr David Wilkes  
Service Manager 
(Treasury and Investments )  
(01305) 224119
                                                   
Queries regarding Benefits
Mrs Karen Gibson  
Service Manager for Pensions    
(01305) 228524

P
age 164



Financial Performance

P
age 165



Fi
na

nc
ia

l P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

  |
  1

5

Late Contributions
In 2019-20 there were no employers who 
regularly paid their contributions late. 

Analysis of Pension Overpayments
There was a total of £78,926.81 pension 
overpayments in 2019-20. As at 31 
March 2020, £7,343.79 of this had been 
recovered and £71,583.02 remained 
outstanding. 

No amounts had been written off during 
the year.

Financial Performance

P
age 166



Investment Performance

P
age 167



2016 2019

Market 
Value

£M

2017 2018 2020
0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

In
ve

st
m

en
t P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
  |

  1
7

Investment Performance 

Fund Valuation (year ended 31 March)- The diagram below shows the change 
in value of the Fund over the last five years as at 31 March.

 UK Equities £491.0M (18.2%)
 Bonds £220.6M (8.2%)
 Liability Driven Investments £306.8M (11.4%)
 Overseas Equities £766.5M (28.4%)
 Private Equity £98.1M (3.6%)
 Property (including Property Funds) 
 £301.0M (11.2%)
 Diversified Growth Fund £152.8M (5.7%)
 Multi Asset Credit £120.4M (4.5%)
 Infrastructure £195.3M (7.2%)
 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 (including Derivatives) £53.4M (2.0%)

Note: F/X Hedging (£9.7M) (-0.4%)

 £316 £2.7
 
 Fund value Total
 decrease fund value

M Bn

% % -9.7 -1.7

 Fund value Underperformed 
 decrease benchmark

Total Asset Distribution as at 31 March 2020 - The total asset distribution of the 
Dorset County Pension Fund as at 31 March 2020 is shown in the chart below. 
These allocations are within the agreed ranges.

This year’s Fund Information

P
age 168



In
ve

st
m

en
t P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
  |

  1
8Asset Allocation

The Dorset County Pension Fund 
Committee is responsible for deciding 
the asset allocation of the fund. The 
table opposite summarises the Fund’s 
Asset Allocation.

The main requirement in managing 
the Fund is to ensure adequate 
diversification of its assets over different 
asset classes. The correct balance 
must be struck between the desire for 
enhanced returns and potential ‘risk’ 
of volatility in those returns i.e. the 
investment policy of the Fund is aimed at 
maximising returns within the acceptable 
limits of risk. The portfolio balance needs 
to be regularly monitored and adjusted 
in line with the economic, financial and 
market indicators.

31-Mar-19 31-Mar-20 Target Allocation

Asset Class Manager £M % £M % £M %
UK Equities Several  643.0 21.3  491.0 18.2  539.3 20.0
Overseas Equities Several  703.0 23.3  682.8 25.3  593.2 22.0
Emerging Markets Equities JP Morgan/Brunel  98.2 3.2  83.8 3.1  80.9 3.0
Total Listed Equities  1,444.2 47.8  1,257.6 46.6  1,213.4 45.0
Corporate Bonds Royal London Asset 

Management
 214.4 7.1  220.6 8.2  161.8 6.0

Multi Asset Credit CQS  139.7 4.6  120.4 4.5  134.8 5.0
Diversified Growth Barings  176.1 5.8  152.8 5.7  215.7 8.0
Infrastructure Several  138.7 4.6  195.3 7.2  134.8 5.0
Private Equity Several  80.3 2.7  98.1 3.6  134.8 5.0
Property CBRE  323.3 10.7 301.0 11.2 323.5 12.0
Cash Internal  105.1 3.5  53.4 2.0  -   0.0
F/X Hedging State Street  0.7 0.0 -9.7 -0.4  -   0.0
Total Return Seeking Assets  2,622.5 86.7  2,389.5 88.6  2,318.9 86.0
Liability Matching Assets Insight  401.1 13.3  306.8 11.4  377.5 14.0
Total Asset Valuation  3,023.6 100.0  2,696.3 100.0  2,696.3 100.0

-5

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

UK 
Equities

Overseas 
Equities

Emerging 
Markets

Corporate 
Bonds

Multi 
Asset 
Credit

Diversified 
Growth 

Fund

Infrast-
ructure

Private 
Equity

Property Cash Liability 
Matching

F/X 
Hedging

Asset mix of the portfolio Actual 31/03/20

Actual 31/03/19

Strategic Target

P
age 169



In
ve

st
m

en
t P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
  |

  1
9 Investment Managers

The investment managers and their 
appointed portfolios are shown opposite, 
with the figures showing the percentage 
of the Fund’s assets that each manager 
is responsible for based on market 
values as at 31 March 2020.

2019-2020
Investment Manager Asset Class £M %
Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Overseas Equities 437.8 16.2
Brunel Pension Partnership Limited UK Equities 435.3 16.1
Insight Investment Management Limited Liabilty Driven Investment 306.8 11.4
CBRE Global Investors Property/Property Funds 301.0 11.2
Royal London Asset Management Bonds 220.6 8.2
Wellington Asset Management Overseas/UK Equities 171.7 6.4
Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Global Equities 168.2 6.2
Baring Asset Management Limited Diversified Growth Fund 152.8 5.7
CQS Multi Asset Credit 120.4 4.5
IFM Investors Infrastructure 104.4 3.9
Hermes Investment Management Infrastructure 81.9 3.0
Cash and Cash Equivalents Cash and Cash Equivalents/

Interest Receivables
56.0 2.1

HarbourVest Partners, LLC Private Equity 55.0 2.0
Schroders UK Equities 41.8 1.6
Aberdeen Standard Investments Private Equity 34.0 1.3
Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Private Equity 9.1 0.3
Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Property Funds 9.0 0.3
Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Long Term Investments 0.4 0.0
Derivatives Derivatives -9.7 -0.4
Total 2,696.5 100.0

P
age 170



In
ve

st
m

en
t P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
  |

  2
0Fund Returns Achieved Over One, Three 

and Five Years by Asset Class
The table opposite sets out the returns 
for one, three, five years in each of the 
investment categories and enables 
comparison against their specific 
benchmarks. 

Dorset Benchmark Dorset Benchmark Dorset Benchmark
1 year 3 year 5 year

% % % % % %
UK Equities
Schroders -19.5 -24.4 -4.0 -9.2 4.1 -1.0
Brunel/ LGIM Passive -18.5 -18.5 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Brunel UK Active -20.0 -18.5 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Overseas Equities
Wellington -3.5 -5.8 3.4 2.2 N/A N/A
Brunel / LGIM Smart Beta -10.2 -10.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Brunel / LGIM  Smart Beta 
(Hedged)

-14.8 -14.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Bonds
Royal London Asset Management 2.9 2.0 3.8 2.7 4.7 3.9
Multi Asset Credit
CQS -13.8 4.8 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Private Equity
HarbourVest 29.2 -18.5 17.9 -4.2 19.7 0.6
Aberdeen Standard 19.6 -18.5 12.7 -4.2 14.7 0.6
Brunel PM Private Equity 25.3 -6.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Property
CBRE Global Investors -0.8 1.3 5.0 5.7 6.4 6.6
Brunel PM Secured Income 1.7 1.5 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Diversified Growth Fund
Barings Asset Management -13.2 4.9 -3.0 4.8 -0.5 4.7
Inflation Hedging Bonds
Insight -23.5 -23.1 -7.1 -7.2 -0.1 -0.1
Infrastructure
Hermes Fund 12.4 10.1 7.8 10.0 9.1 10.0
IFM Fund 8.0 10.1 11.6 10.0 N/A N/A
Overall Fund Return -9.7 -8.0 -0.4 0.8 4.1 4.6

P
age 171



In
ve

st
m

en
t P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
  |

  2
1

2016 20192013 2014 2015

Dorset

Benchmark

2017 20182011 2012 2020
-10

0

10

20

30

Total Annual Returns - The diagram below shows the total return of the Fund 
compared with its benchmark for each of the last ten years as at 31 March. 

Rates of Return One Year Summary 
During the year, the Fund underperformed its bespoke benchmark with a return 
of -9.7% compared to a benchmark of -8.0%. Positives to performance have been 
attributable to the Private Equity managers and UK Equity manager Schroders. The 
two Private Equity managers HarbourVest and Aberdeen Standard outperformed their 
benchmark by 47.7% and 38.1% respectively, whilst Schroders returned -19.5% against 
its benchmark of -24.4%.

The main detractors to performance was the Multi Asset Credit manager CQS who 
underperformed their index by 18.6% and the Diversified Growth Fund manager Barings 
Asset Management who underperformed their index by 18.1%.

Rates of Return Three Year Summary 
Over the three-year period, the Fund 
returned -0.4% against its bespoke 
benchmark of 0.8%. Positives to 
performance have been attributable to 
the Private Equity managers and UK 
Equity manager Schroders. The two 
Private Equity managers HarbourVest 
and Aberdeen Standard outperformed 
their benchmark by 22.1% and 16.9% 
respectively, whilst Schroders returned 
-4.0% against its benchmark of -9.2%.

The main detractor to performance was 
the Diversified Growth Fund manager 
Barings Asset Management who 
underperformed their index by 7.8%.

Rates of Return-Five Year Summary 
Over the five-year period, the Fund 
underperformed its benchmark with a 
return of 4.1% compared to a benchmark 
of 4.6%. Positives to performance were 
HarbourVest, Aberdeen Standard and 
Schroders who outperformed their 
benchmarks by 19.1%, 14.1% and 5.1% 
respectively. 

Diversified Growth Manager Baring  
Asset Management underperformed  
their benchmark by 5.2% over the  
five-year period.

P
age 172



In
ve

st
m

en
t P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
  |

  2
2Performance Monitoring

Investment manager performance 
is reviewed quarterly by the Pension 
Fund Committee. The Committee 
review a comprehensive quarterly and 
longer period reports that includes the 
performance of each manager measured 
against their benchmark and target. 
Information on returns is currently 
provided by State Street. 

Fund Benchmarks
The Fund utilises external investment 
managers to undertake the day to day 
management of the Fund’s assets. Each 
manager has a specific benchmark and 
performance target against which their 
performance is regularly monitored. 

The table opposite shows the Managers 
of the Fund and their respective 
benchmarks.

Manager Description Benchmark Indices Date of 
Appointment

Aberdeen Standard Private Equity FTSE All Share 2006

Baring Asset 
Management

Diversified Growth Fund 3 Month LIBOR +4% 2012

Brunel - Colmore Private Equity MSCI ACWI 2019

Brunel - Colmore Secured Income Consumer Price Index 2019

Brunel - Fundrock UK Active Equity FTSE All Share 2018

Brunel - Fundrock Global Equity High Alpha MSCI World TR Gross 2019

Brunel - Fundrock Emerging Markets Equity MSCI EM TR Gross 2019

Brunel - LGIM Passive Smart Beta Passive Smart Beta 2018

Brunel - LGIM Passive Smart Beta (Hedged) Passive Smart Beta (Hedged) 2018

Brunel - LGIM Passive UK Equities Passive UK Equities 2018

Brunel - LGIM Passive Developed Equities FTSE World Developed 2020

Brunel - LGIM Passive Developed Equities 
(Hedged)

FTSE World Developed GBP 
(Hedged)

2020

CBRE Property MSCI Quarterly Universe 2000

CQS Multi Asset Credit 1 month LIBOR +4% 2017

HarbourVest Private Equity FTSE All Share 2006

Hermes Infrastructure 10% Absolute Return 2015

IFM Infrastructure 10% Absolute Return 2016

Insight Liability Driven Investment Sourced from Insight 2012

Royal London Asset 
Management

Corporate Bonds iBoxx Sterling Non-Gilt over 5 
Years

2007

Schroders UK Equities FTSE Small Cap ex 
Investment Trusts

2006

SSgA Currency Overlay -

Wellington Investment 
Management

Global Equity MSCI World Net 2015

P
age 173



Scheme Administration

P
age 174



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 2
4

The Local Government  
Pension Scheme
The Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) has been in existence since 1922 
and has developed into a comprehensive 
scheme providing pensions for all members 
and their spouses, civil partners or eligible 
cohabitating partners and eligible children.

The Local Government Pension Scheme is 
a defined benefit scheme. This means that 
benefits are determined by the regulations 
and are not affected by investment 
performance or market conditions. 

From April 2019 the LGPS in Dorset is 
administered by Dorset Council, and 
prior to this by Dorset County Council. 
The Dorset County Pension Fund (DCPF) 
administration service covers 317 
employers, and over 70,000 members. A 
breakdown of scheme membership can 
be found on page xx.

Employees of all Local Authorities, higher 
and further education establishments, 
schools and other public bodies and 
service providers can join the LGPS.

Scheme Administration
The Scheme is governed by the Public 
Services Pension Act 2013.The fund is 
administered in accordance with the 
following secondary legislation:

•  The Local Government Pension 
Scheme 2013 (as amended)

•  The Local Government Pension 
Scheme (Transitional Provisions, 
Savings and Amendment) regulations 
2014 (as amended)

•  The Local Government Pension 
Scheme (Management and Investment 
of Funds) Regulations 2016.

How the Scheme Currently Works
The LGPS is required to be funded. 
Scheme funds, currently surplus to 
immediate pension benefit requirements, 
are invested in approved securities. The 
Fund must be sufficient to sustain future 
pension entitlements of past and present 
members. The Fund is financed by 
members and employers’ contributions 
and earnings from investments.  

Until 31 March 2014 the LGPS was 
classified as a final salary scheme whereby 

the annual pension and any retirement 
grant were paid based on the period of 
membership and (usually) the final twelve 
months pay. Benefits built up in the LGPS up 
to and including 31 March 2014 will continue 
to be calculated on a final salary basis. 
 
With effect from 1 April 2014 the LGPS 
changed from a final salary scheme to a 
career average scheme. All benefits built 
up in the LGPS after 31 March 2014 will 
be calculated under the rules of the new 
career average scheme. 

Our vision is to administer the DCPF 
successfully, in a cost-effective way, 
whilst meeting member expectations, and 
ensuring our statutory duties are met.

The Administration Service cost was 
measured as £19.32 per member in 
2019-20. With data quality scores very 
high, and staff turnover very low, this 
represents good value for money. 

The Data Quality scores for the Fund, as 
reported to the Pensions Regulator in 2019 
were 99.3% for Common Data, and 98.1% 
for Scheme Specific (Conditional) Data.

P
age 175



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 2
5 Scheme Administration and 

Governance – 2019-20
From April 2019 the LGPS in Dorset is 
administered by Dorset Council, and 
prior to this by Dorset County Council. 
The Dorset County Pension Fund (DCPF) 
administration service covers over 230 
employers, and over 80,000 members. A 
breakdown of the scheme membership 
can be found on page xx.

Employees of all Local Authorities, higher 
and further education establishments, 
schools and other public bodies and 
service providers can join the LGPS. 

The LGPS is a defined benefit scheme. 
This means that benefits are determined 
by the regulations and are not affected 
by investment performance or market 
conditions. 

Standard contributions for members 
vary from 5.5% to 12.50% depending on 
the members’ level of pensionable pay. 
Employers meet the balance of the cost 
of the LGPS through variable employer 
contributions which are set by the DCPF’s 
actuary every three years following a 
valuation. Employer contribution rates 
are shown on page xx.

Benefits accrued up to 31 March 2014 

are calculated on a final salary basis. 
Benefits accrued after this date, are 
based on a career average basis. The 
main section of this scheme accrues 
a pension build up each year of 1/49th 
of pensionable pay received, with 
additional pension being added for each 
subsequent year and an adjustment to 
the pension build up each year in line 
with CPI. Alternatively, members can 
opt for the 50/50 section of the scheme, 
where they can pay 50% of the normal 
contribution and accrue 50% of the 
standard pension but still benefit from 
full ill health and death benefits.

The Pensions Administration Strategy is 
included in Appendix 3

Scheme Employers
Scheme employers are supported by a 
dedicated team and website. In addition 
to the information, forms and fact 
sheets available on the website, regular 
training is provided to assist employers in 
understanding their role and responsibilities, 
and in completing the data returns required.

Our employers are all required to use 
our Your Fund employer portal, which 
enables notifications and data to be 
exchanged securely. This system links 
directly into our work flow system.

Employer meetings, (Pension Liaison 
Officers Group – PLOG), meet three 
times a year, providing regulatory 
updates and pension news specifically of 
interest to employers and regular training 
and information updates. All employers 
are invited to attend, minutes and training 
materials are published on our website.

Specific support is provided to employers 
outsourcing, and to new employers 
joining the fund including a dedicated 
section on the website.

Full support and regular training 
is provided to assist employers in 
completing and maintaining their LGPS 
discretions policy, including a section 
on the fund website containing a full list 
of discretions, policy guidance and a 
template document.

Value for Money
The Dorset County Pension Fund (DCPF) 
is committed to ensuring that the 
administration functions represent value 
for money and ensuring the continued 
improvement of cost efficiency where 
possible. Our vision is to administer 
the DCPF successfully, in a cost-
effective way, whilst meeting member 
expectations, and ensuring our statutory 
duties are met.

P
age 176



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 2
6Further detail about the performance 

of the Fund’s administration functions 
during 2019-20 is included on page 36.

The DCPF  has subscribed to the CIPFA 
Pensions Administration Benchmarking 
Club to assess its performance and costs 
against other LGPS Funds. However, this 
was not possible for the 2019-20 year due 
to the restricted working resulting from the 
health crisis and lockdown. The DCPF will 
consider resuming this next year, but with 
less than 25% of LGPS Funds contributing 
data to the benchmarking club, the findings 
are of less value than in previous years.

The DCPF administration service remains 
at an average cost to other funds 
nationally. With data quality scores very 
high, and staff turnover and complaints 
very low, this represents good value for 
money.

Data Quality
Retaining good quality data within the 
Fund is paramount to ensuring effective 
governance and administration of 
members’ pension records. Whilst the 
Fund has a high level of scheme member 
data which is considered to be present 
and accurate, it continually strives to 
improve its data quality. 
Since 2018, the DCPF has developed a Data 

Improvement Plan following annual reports 
commissioned to examine the quality 
of the data held. The annual report, and 
subsequent improvement plans, have led 
to the continued improvement of our data, 
and currently all scheme data is in excellent 
condition. This comes as a continued 
and joint effort of both the administration 
team and the DCPF employers who have 
committed to providing accurate and timely 
data. Where employers have not been 
able to meet these requirements, financial 
penalties as set out in the Pensions 
Administration Strategy have been imposed, 
together with an enhanced programme of 
training and support.

Cost efficiencyStatutory duties

Member 
expectations

Successful
administration

The Pensions Regulator requires all 
pension schemes to report to them via 
the annual Scheme Return, the data 
quality scores, for both common and 
scheme specific data. 

Using the scoring mechanism as set out 
by the Pensions Regulator, the DCPF 
reported that 99.3% of its common 
data (e.g. NI Number, address etc.) 
was present and accurate and the 
scheme specific conditional data (e.g. 
employment details, contribution history 
etc.) was scored as being 98.1% present 
and accurate.
 

P
age 177



Performance Information
The table below shows a summary of the main task areas, our local target for 
completion, (Fund KPIs), the legal timescales, the number of tasks completed in each 
work area, plus the % completed within our target time. 

Process Fund KPIs Legal 
Requirement

Number of cases 
completed in year

% completed 
within 
Benchmark

Deaths - Calculate and notify amount of 
dependent's benefit

15 days 2 months 739 N/A

Estimates - Letter notifying estimate of retirement 
benefits

15 days 2 months 1312 99.39%

Retirements - Process and pay lump sum 
retirement grant (including all retirement types)

5 Days 2 months 2829 97.84%

Deferment - Calculate and notify deferred benefits 40 Days 2 months 3206 94.45%

Transfers in - Letter detailing transfer in quote 15 Days 2 months 930 99.25%

Transfers out - Letter detailing transfer out quote 10 Days 2 months 534 96.82%

Refund - Process and pay a refund 15 Days 2 months 4246 93.33%

Joiners - Send notification of joining the LGPS to 
scheme member

30 Days 2 months 4922 97.11%

Divorce - estimates for divorce purposes 
processed

30 Days or 21 Days for 
Court Ordered Requests

3 months 190 N/A

General Correspondence 30  3415 N/A

Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 2
7

P
age 178



Communications and Member 
Engagement
The Dorset County Pension Fund (DCPF) 
provides an on-line Member Self-Serve 
(MSS) facility, which allows active, deferred 
and pensioner members the option to 
change basic details, such as address, 
run through benefit calculations and 
also receive communications. 26.61% of 
active members and 17.96% of deferred 
members are now registered with MSS.

The DCPF main website will be changing 
from 30 September 2020. The new 
website address from 1 October 2020 
will be www.dorsetpensionfund.org.  
This site will be for scheme members, 
providing information, forms and fact 
sheets. A separate website will be 
available for employers, effective from 
the same date.

Annual Benefit Illustrations are issued 
each year to active and deferred 
members together with an annual 
newsletter detailing regulatory changes 
and key messages for members. Further 
newsletters are sent to members 
highlighting issues of importance, such 
as changes in scheme regulations, when 
required.  Annual newsletters are also 
sent to pensioner members each year. 

These communications are very well 
received by members.

In April 2020 an additional newsletter 
was issued to members at the start of 
the COVID-19 lockdown.  The aim was 
to ensure members knew how best to 
communicate with DCPF and to promote 
the use of MSS. This led to 1,040 new 
activations during the month of April. 
The newsletter provided reassurance to 
members who may have been concerned 
about their pension at this time, as 
well as information about the furlough 
scheme and links to additional relevant 
information.

The DCPF also provides a Pensions 
Helpline where members can contact 
DCPF either by telephone or e-mail. 
Member presentations and roadshows 
are also staged throughout the county by 
arrangement with employers.

The Communication Policy Statement for 
the DCPF is attached at Appendix 5.

In-House Additional Voluntary 
Contributions (AVC) Provider
The DCPF has appointed the Prudential 
as its In-House AVC provider. A 
review of this provision has recently 

been concluded.  This facility allows 
members the option to top up their LGPS 
pension provision by paying additional 
contributions which are deducted from 
the members salary at source.

Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 2
8

P
age 179



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 2
9

Provision LGPS 2008 LGPS 2014

Basis of the Pension Final Salary A Career Average Revalue Earnings scheme.(Prior to 31st 
March 2014, the scheme was a final salary scheme). 

Accrual rate The accrual rate was 1/60th The accrual rate is 1/49th. 

Revaluation rate (the rate of 
increase for accumulated pension)

Based on Final Salary Consumer Price Index

Normal Pension Age 65 There is no normal scheme pension age, instead each 
member’s Normal Pension Age (NPA) will be their State 
Pension Age.

Employee Contribution Rates Between 5.5% and 7.5% Between 5.5% and 12.5%

Opting Out No Members who have already or are considering opting out of 
the scheme can instead elect to pay half the contributions 
for half the pension, while still retaining the full value of 
other benefits. This is known as the 50/50 option.

Lump Sum Trade Off Trade £1 of pension for £12 lump sum Trade £1 of pension for £12 lump sum

Death in Service Lump Sum 3 x Pensionable Pay 3 x Pensionable Pay

Death in Service Survivor Benefits 1/160th accrual based on Tier 1 ill health pension 
enhancement

1/160th accrual based on Tier 1 ill health pension 
enhancement

Ill Health provision Tier 1 - Immediate payment with service enhanced to 
Normal Pension Age (65) 
Tier 2 - Immediate payment with 25% service 
enhancement to Normal Pension Age (65) 
Tier 3 - Temporary payment of pension for up to 3 years

Tier 1 - Immediate payment with service enhanced to 
Normal Pension Age (65) 
Tier 2 - Immediate payment with 25% service 
enhancement to Normal Pension Age (65) 
Tier 3 - Temporary payment of pension for up to 3 years

Indexation of pension in Payment CPI (RPI for pre-2011 increases) CPI

Vesting Period 3 Months 2 Years

The scheme includes a 50/50 option which allows a member to contribute half of their normal contribution rate into the scheme in 
return for half of their normal pension. Under this option full life assurance and ill health cover is retained. 

The LGPS 2008/2014 Schemes
Changes to the Local Government Pension Scheme. The table below compares the LGPS 2008 and the LGPS 2014 schemes.

P
age 180



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 3
0Scheme Membership

Entry to the LGPS is automatic for all 
employees under the age of 75 and with a 
contract of employment for more than three 
months. Any employees with a contract for 
less than three months are able to elect to 
join the scheme. Employees who do not 
wish to remain in the scheme can opt out; if 
this is done within two years of joining they 
can claim a refund of the contributions they 
have paid. Fire fighters and teachers, who 
have their own pension schemes, are not 
entitled to be members of the LGPS.

Members who leave the scheme may 
transfer their accrued benefits to other 
approved schemes. Members who leave 
with less than two years membership 
can choose to receive a refund of their 
contributions (less income tax) provided 
they have no other LGPS benefits and, in 
most circumstances, have not transferred 
other pension benefits. New members 
may transfer benefits accrued with other 
schemes into the Fund (usually within a 
deadline of twelve months). 

Standard contributions for members 
vary from 5.5% to 12.5%, depending on 
the members’ level of pensionable pay. 
Employers meet the balance of the cost 
of the LGPS through variable employer 
contributions which are set by the DCPF’s 

actuary every three years following a 
valuation. A valuation was undertaken as at 
31 March 2019 that sets out the employers’ 
contribution rate for the three-year period 
commencing 1 April 2020. Employer 
contribution rates are shown on page xx.

Employees Contributions Table 2019-20
There are nine salary bands with a different 
contribution percentage for each band. The 
contribution percentage a member pays is 
based on their actual annual pensionable 
salary from 1 April to 31 March each year.

Contribution Table 2019-20

Band Pay Bands:  
Actual Pensionable Pay

Contribution Rate Main 
Scheme %

Contribution rate 50/50 
Scheme %

1 Up to £14,100 5.50 2.75

2 £14,101 to £22,500 5.80 2.90

3 £22,501 to £36,500 6.50 3.25

4 £36,501 to £46,200 6.80 3.40

5 £46,201 to £64,600 8.50 4.25

6 £64,601 to £91,500 9.90 4.95

7 £91,501 to £107,700 10.50 5.25

8 £107,701 to £161,500 11.40 5.70

9 £161,501 or more 12.50 6.25

P
age 181



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 3
1 Scheme Benefits

Benefits built up before April 2014 also 
retain their protected Normal Pension Age, 
which for most members is 65, although 
certain members have a retirement age of 
60 for all or part of their membership. There 
is an additional protection for members 
who were active on 31 March 2012 and 
were within ten years of their protected 
Normal Pension Age on 1 April 2012. These 
members will get a pension at least equal 
to the pension they would have received 
in the LGPS had it not changed on 1 April 
2014, subject to meeting certain criteria.

The main section of this scheme accrues 
a pension build up each year of 1/49th of 
pensionable pay received, with additional 
pension being added for each subsequent 
year and an adjustment to the pension build 
up each year in line with CPI. Alternatively, 
members can opt for the 50/50 section of 
the scheme, where they can pay 50% of the 
normal contribution and accrue 50% of the 
standard pension but still benefit from full 
ill health and death benefits.

Pension is determined at a rate of 1/60th 
of final pay for each year of membership 
between 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2014 
and 1/80th of final pay for each year of 
membership before 1 April 2008. 

Retirement grants are based on 3/80th 
of final pay for each year of membership 
before 1 April 2008. Although an automatic 
lump sum is not a feature of the retirement 
benefits after that date, retirees have 
the option to take a lump sum from the 
scheme up to certain limits, getting £12 of 
tax-free lump sum for every £1 of annual 
(taxable) pension given up. 

Where a member dies in service, a lump 
sum in the form of a death grant would 
be paid. This death grant is equal to three 
years’ pay. Survivor’s pensions are payable 
on the death of a scheme member to the 
scheme member’s husband, wife, civil 
partner or eligible co-habiting partner at 
an accrual rate of 1/160th. The survivor 
pension for an eligible co-habiting partner 
only takes account of the member’s 
pensionable service after 5 April 1988. 
Children’s pensions are also payable to 
eligible children of deceased scheme 
members. 

In the main, benefits can be paid upon 
leaving to a member with at least 2 years 
qualifying membership in the following 
circumstances: 

•  on reaching State Pension Age, without 
any early retirement reductions applied; 

•  between the age of 55 and State 
Pension Age, however early retirement 

reductions will normally apply where 
someone draws their pension benefits 
before State Pension Age. The amount 
of reduction that applies depends 
on the individual’s age, sex, length of 
pensionable service and the date they 
joined the scheme; 

•  at any age, if the member retires on the 
grounds of permanent ill-health. Three 
different levels of ill-health benefit are 
payable, depending on how soon it is 
judged that an individual will be able 
to obtain gainful employment again in 
future. In the case of death in service, 
dependants’ benefits are paid even if the 
membership is less than 3 months. 

•  at the age of 55 and, if the member 
retires by reason of redundancy or 
business efficiency. 

If a member leaves with at least two 
years membership and is not entitled to 
immediate payment of benefits and does 
not choose to transfer out their accrued 
benefits, deferred benefits are awarded. 
Deferred benefits are those which 
remain in the Fund and are paid when 
the member reaches retirement age. 
Such benefits are subject to inflationary 
increases between the date of leaving 
and the date of payment.  

P
age 182



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 3
2Pension Increase

Mandatory increases in pensions and 
deferred benefits are made in accordance 
with annual statutory Pension Increase 
(Review) Orders to help protect pensions 
against inflation. As the September 2019 
Consumer Prices Index (CPI) rate was 1.7%, 
therefore the annual pension will increase 
by 1.7%.

Pensioners must be over the age of fifty-
five or have retired on ill-health grounds to 
receive the increase. Those in receipt of a 
widow’s, widower’s or dependant’s benefit 
receive the increase regardless of age.

The table below show the rate of increases 
that have applied for the last ten years. 

Year Beginning April Rate of Increase % Index

2020 1.7 CPI

2019 2.4 CPI

2018 3.0 CPI

2017 1.0 CPI

2016 0.0 CPI

2015 1.2 CPI

2014 2.7 CPI

2013 2.2 CPI

2012 5.2 CPI

2011 3.1 CPI

CPI - Consumer Price Index

P
age 183



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 3
3 Participating Employers  

of the Fund
At 31 March 2020 there were 317 
employers in the Pension Fund. 
Participating employers can be 
scheduled bodies or admitted bodies, as 
defined below:

•  Scheduled Bodies. Employers such 
as the Council (including maintained 
school) and Academies, whose 
employees are automatically entitled 
to be members of the Fund.

•  Admitted Bodies. These are voluntary, 
charitable and, in certain circumstances, 
private sector organisations carrying 
out scheduled bodies’ contracts, where 
staff can become members of the 
Scheme by virtue of an Admission 
Agreement between the Pension Fund 
and the relevant body. At 31 March 
2020 there were 58 admitted bodies 
participating in the Pension Fund.

The membership of the Scheme is 
analysed below over the three main 
categories of Active Members, Deferred 
Members and Pensioners.

•  Active Members: Those in 
employment with the Council or one 
of the scheme employers making 
contributions to the Pension Fund.

•  Deferred Members: Those who have 
left the Council or one of the Scheme 
employers but have not yet become 
entitled to receive their pension from 
the Scheme.

•  Pensioners: Those who receive a 
pension from the Scheme (including 
spouses’ and dependants’ pension).

Scheme employers are supported by 
a dedicated team, who are available 
to assist and support employers. In 
addition to the information, forms and 
fact sheets available on our website, 
regular training is provided to assist 
employers in understanding their role and 
responsibilities, and in completing the 
data returns required.

Our employers are all required to use 
our Your Fund employer portal, which 
enables notifications and data to be 
exchanged securely. This system links 
directly into our own work flow system.

Employer meetings (Pension Liaison 
Officers Group – PLOG), meet three 
times a year, and all employers are 
invited to attend.

Specific support is provided to employers 
outsourcing and new employers including 
a dedicated section on our website.

Full support and regular training 
are provided to assist employers in 
completing and maintaining their 
LGPS discretions policy, including an 
employer's website containing a full list 
of discretions, policy guidance and a 
template at: www.dcpfemployers.org

P
age 184



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 3
4Employer Contribution Rates - Year Ended 31 March 2020  

The tables below show the Scheduled Bodies and Admitted Bodies Information. 

The following are the employers participating in the Dorset County Pension Fund 
as at 31 March 2020. The contribution rates shown are the percentage of its 
employees’ pensionable pay that each employer paid into the fund during 2019-20. 
The contribution rates are set at a level so as to bring the fund to 100% funding over 
a period of twenty-two years. The contributions received from both employers and 
employees during the year are also shown.

Schedule Bodies  Number of 
Active Members 

 Number of 
Pensioners 

Contribution 
Rate Paid %

 Employer 
Contributions 

Employee 
Contribution 
Rate Paid %

Employee 
Contributions

Principal Councils
BCP Council  4,803 6,387 15.6 30,070,441.08 6.4 7,470,360.02
Dorset Council  6,494 11,114 15.9 35,576,180.50 6.4 8,197,886.16
Tricuro  857  309 17.7 2,548,677.91 5.9 848,439.98
Tricuro Supported Living  43 0 17.7 53,641.90 5.6 17,045.99

Parish and Town Councils
Alderholt Parish Council  1 0 22.0 7,372.97 5.7 1,905.23
Arne Parish Council  1 0 22.0 1,452.00 5.5 363.00
Bere Regis Parish Council  1 0 22.0 2,541.10 5.5 637.91
Blandford Town Council  14  11 22.0 62,223.59 6.3 17,872.33
Bothenhampton And Walditch Parish Council  1 0 22.0 2,219.38 5.5 554.86
Bridport Town Council  20  8 22.0 99,214.76 6.3 28,391.44
Chickerell Town Council  2 0 22.0 10,039.34 6.2 2,821.32
Christchurch Town Council  1 0 22.0 4,481.78 5.8 1,185.81
Colehill Parish Council  1  2 22.0 6,139.08 6.5 1,813.80
Corfe Mullen Parish Council  7  1 22.0 28,568.66 6.0 9,081.79
Crossways Parish Council  1 0 22.0 3,318.48 5.5 829.59
Dorchester Town Council  26  24 22.0 106,708.20 6.5 31,386.16
East Stoke Parish Council  1 0 22.0 616.80 5.5 154.19
Ferndown Town Council  4  8 22.0 28,430.96 6.6 8,589.17
Gillingham Town Council  13  8 22.0 69,359.72 6.2 19,691.27

P
age 185



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 3
5 Schedule Bodies  Number of 

Active Members 
 Number of 
Pensioners 

Contribution 
Rate Paid %

 Employer 
Contributions 

Employee 
Contribution 
Rate Paid %

Employee 
Contributions

Knightsford Parish Council  1 0 22.0 1,755.92 5.6 446.18
Lower Winterbourne Parish Council  2 0 22.0 1,159.28 5.5 289.82
Lyme Regis Town Council  14  11 22.0 75,081.64 6.2 21,154.99
Lytchett Matravers Parish Council  1 0 22.0 3,886.93 5.8 1,024.77
Lytchett Minster & Upton Town Council  5  1 22.0 24,132.48 6.1 6,641.78
Milborne St Andrew Parish Council 0  1 N/A 142.44 5.5 35.61
Portland Town Council  8  3 22.0 23,587.34 5.9 6,262.34
Puddletown Parish Council  1  1 22.0 1,161.35 5.5 290.32
Shaftesbury Town Council  7  4 22.0 41,328.31 6.2 11,873.48
Sherborne Town Council  16  20 22.0 82,147.66 6.4 23,723.73
St Leonard's Parish Council  1 0 22.0 5,975.92 6.5 1,765.63
Stalbridge Town Council  1 0 22.0 5,087.69 5.8 1,341.30
Sturminster Marshall Parish Council  1 0 22.0 2,369.64 5.5 592.44
Sturminster Newton Parish Council 0  2 N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Swanage Town Council  28  64 22.0 147,056.56 6.2 40,294.36
Verwood Town Council  3  1 22.0 14,140.35 6.1 3,930.89
Wareham St Martin Parish Council 0  1 N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Wareham Town Council  7  10 22.0 33,741.74 6.4 9,820.87
West Moors Parish Council  2  1 22.0 10,093.69 6.5 2,823.79
West Parley Parish Council  1  1 22.0 3,453.98 5.8 910.65
Weymouth Town Council  43 1 22.0 217,563.54 6.7 64,515.19
Wimborne Minster Town Council  9  2 22.0 40,413.93 6.1 11,222.53
Wool Parish Council  1  1 22.0 4,153.32 5.8 1,094.88

Further and Higher Education Establishments
Arts Institute At Bournemouth  235  72 14.1 1,110,885.97 6.1 449,463.07
Bournemouth and Poole Adult Learning  125  29 19.6 407,711.64 6.3 72,911.35
Bournemouth and Poole College  362  427 15.5 1,531,443.40 6.4 395,935.05
Bournemouth University  1,629  557 13.1 4,897,496.89 6.9 2,123,500.20
Harewood College 0  3 N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Kingston Maurward College  184  112 15.1 367,388.79 6.0 142,503.26
Weymouth College  211  221 15.3 700,674.63 6.1 201,869.37

P
age 186



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 3
6Schedule Bodies  Number of 

Active Members 
 Number of 
Pensioners 

Contribution 
Rate Paid %

 Employer 
Contributions 

Employee 
Contribution 
Rate Paid %

Employee 
Contributions

Academies and Schools
All Saints Church of England Academy  48  2 18.8 88,736.81 5.8 27,177.24
Allenbourn Middle School 1  51  8 18.8 0.00 N/A 0.00
Atlantic Academy (Aspirations)  47  44 18.8 182,901.63 6.3 58,310.57
Avonbourne Academy  119  69 18.8 686,614.74 5.8 110,056.88
Baden-Powell and St Peter's Church of England Junior School 2  7  5 18.8 0.00 N/A 0.00
Bayside Academy  54  2 18.8 83,749.88 5.7 25,163.33
Beaucroft School 0  11 N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Bethany CE VA Junior School 2  32  5 18.8 0.00 N/A 0.00
Bishop Of Winchester Academy  56  10 18.8 159,550.45 5.8 48,825.34
Blandford Education Trust 5 0  9 N/A 106,124.65 5.7 32,117.88
Bourne Academy  50  10 18.8 187,689.18 6.2 62,229.16
Bournemouth School Academy  38  23 18.8 123,763.85 6.2 40,860.51
Bournemouth School For Girls Academy  59  30 18.8 157,861.34 6.3 53,149.59
Bovington Academy  48  1 18.8 56,750.73 5.6 17,046.91
Broadstone First School 3  25  6 18.8 0.00 N/A 0.00
Broadstone Middle School 3  18  2 18.8 0.00 N/A 0.00
Budmouth Academy  134  60 18.8 369,406.86 5.9 108,630.99
Burton C of E Primary School  26  1 18.8 63,229.31 5.6 15,031.47
Carter Community School  45  7 18.8 104,022.99 6.0 33,123.76
Castleman Academy Trust  12  1 18.8 138,906.42 5.7 42,489.15
Chickerell Primary Academy  40  10 18.8 72,158.22 5.6 21,613.87
Christchurch Infant School  41  1 18.8 87,982.37 5.8 21,517.51
Coastal Learning Partnership  449  6 18.8 1,072,711.70 5.7 325,155.11
Colehill First School 1  29  3 18.8 0.00 N/A 0.00
Corfe Hills School  59  67 18.8 204,176.21 6.0 47,864.18
Courthill Infant School 2  2  4 18.8 0.00 N/A 0.00
Diocese Salisbury Academy Trust  305  26 18.8 339,362.93 5.6 87,463.32
Dorchester Middle School  40  8 18.8 87,972.56 5.8 27,323.26
Dorset Studio School  5 0 18.8 22,658.93 6.1 7,310.53

P
age 187



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 3
7 Schedule Bodies  Number of 

Active Members 
 Number of 
Pensioners 

Contribution 
Rate Paid %

 Employer 
Contributions 

Employee 
Contribution 
Rate Paid %

Employee 
Contributions

Elm Acadmey Leaf  29  3 18.8 84,135.45 5.8 25,546.08
Emmanuel Middle School 1  23  5 18.8 0.00 N/A 0.00
Epiphany Academy  48  8 18.8 65,965.69 5.7 19,883.08
Glenmoor School  6  6 18.8 31,162.04 6.0 7,585.98
Greenwood Tree Academy Trust  126  12 18.8 201,259.65 5.6 60,900.84
Hamwic Education Trust  521  25 18.8 802,115.77 5.7 242,487.77
Hayeswood School 1  20  6 18.8 0.00 N/A 0.00
Heath Academy Trust  140  11 18.8 223,788.80 5.5 66,403.18
Heatherlands Primary School 2  42  5 18.8 0.00 N/A 0.00
Heathlands Primary School 2  36  5 18.8 0.00 N/A 0.00
Highcliffe Academy  61  36 18.8 194,384.00 6.0 62,904.34
Highcliffe Junior School 0  6 N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Highcliffe St Mark Primary School  76  3 18.8 134,710.75 5.5 31,700.28
Hill View Primary Academy  59  3 18.8 77,406.43 5.6 23,051.79
Hillside Community First School 1  17  2 18.8 0.00 N/A 0.00
Jewell Academy  30 0 18.8 69,221.01 5.6 20,685.99
King's Park Academy  54  7 18.8 135,039.23 5.9 41,716.19
Kingsleigh Primary School  89  7 18.8 206,669.25 5.8 63,289.12
Kinson Primary School  29  4 18.8 70,316.53 5.8 21,551.38
Lilliput C of E Infant School 2  3  1 18.8 0.00 N/A 0.00
Lockyer's Middle School 1  28  3 18.8 0.00 N/A 0.00
Loders Primary Trust  9  3 18.8 11,603.29 5.4 3,306.03
Longfleet Primary School 2  8  3 18.8 0.00 N/A 0.00
Longspee Academy  28 0 18.8 77,305.54 5.7 23,149.33
Lytchett Minster School  75  23 18.8 241,739.27 6.0 61,515.00
Magna Academy  29  10 18.8 106,318.02 6.3 34,766.35
Malmesbury Park Primary School  76  11 18.8 142,010.22 5.7 36,475.94
Manorside Primary Academy  28  7 18.8 64,805.95 5.8 19,891.26
Marshwood Primary School  10  1 18.8 10,127.76 5.5 2,962.98
Merley First School 1  34  2 18.8 0.00 N/A 0.00
Montacute Academy  78  34 18.8 166,125.22 5.7 50,485.32

P
age 188



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 3
8Schedule Bodies  Number of 

Active Members 
 Number of 
Pensioners 

Contribution 
Rate Paid %

 Employer 
Contributions 

Employee 
Contribution 
Rate Paid %

Employee 
Contributions

Moordown St Johns Primary School  52  8 18.8 70,848.31 5.6 21,250.80
Mudeford Infants School  23  2 18.8 46,105.42 5.7 11,098.89
Mudeford Junior School  27 0 18.8 52,990.90 5.6 12,593.23
Muscliff Primary School  70  5 18.8 133,767.12 5.8 41,104.13
Oakmead Academy Leaf  28  20 18.8 105,024.61 6.1 34,124.81
Ocean Academy Poole  25  2 18.8 54,218.24 5.7 16,373.03
Old Town First School & Nursery 2  5  4 18.8 0.00 N/A 0.00
Parkfield Academy  28  3 18.8 66,462.63 5.9 18,568.59
Parkstone Grammar School  65  28 18.8 180,254.95 6.0 52,423.75
Plymouth Cast - Bournemouth  83  7 18.8 124,672.52 5.7 37,794.91
Plymouth Cast - Dorset  153  23 18.8 186,371.16 5.6 55,258.57
Plymouth Cast - Poole  93  6 18.8 140,223.53 5.7 43,184.32
Pokesdown Academy  59  10 18.8 88,674.25 5.7 26,782.21
Poole Grammar Academy  62  43 18.8 173,227.41 6.0 56,585.92
Poole High School  118  38 18.8 347,584.04 6.0 98,228.80
Portsmouth & Winchester Diocesan  54  6 18.8 80,311.68 5.7 24,838.78
Queen Elizabeth's School 1  63  12 18.8 199,084.98 5.9 65,360.07
Queens Park Academy 2  30  6 18.8 75,648.05 N/A 22,791.41
Shaftesbury Academy  136  33 18.8 399,184.60 5.9 99,276.59
Sherborne Area School's Trust  345  46 18.8 640,623.83 5.7 196,743.48
Shillingstone C Primary School 4 0  6 N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Somerford Primary Community School  40  2 18.8 96,123.98 5.8 23,641.88
Southern Multi Academy Trust  168  16 18.8 247,101.35 5.6 74,588.81
St Aldhelm's Academy  34  6 18.8 109,459.10 6.0 34,987.03
St Clement's And St John's C of E Infant School 2  26  4 18.8 0.00 N/A 0.00
St Edward's RC & Cof E School 8 0  5 N/A 182,339.63 6.0 51,728.54
St Gregory's Primary School 0  1 N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
St John's CE VC First School 1  20  2 18.8 0.00 N/A 14,135.24
St Joseph's Primary School  31 0 18.8 48,870.95 5.6 11,546.07
St Luke's Church of Primary School 2  44 0 18.8 0.00 N/A 0.00
St Mark's C of E Primary School  59  8 18.8 96,608.00 5.6 28,759.71

P
age 189



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 3
9 Schedule Bodies  Number of 

Active Members 
 Number of 
Pensioners 

Contribution 
Rate Paid %

 Employer 
Contributions 

Employee 
Contribution 
Rate Paid %

Employee 
Contributions

St Michael's C Of E Primary School  62  6 18.8 130,659.10 5.7 39,092.02
St Michael's Middle School 1  40  6 18.8 0.00 N/A 0.00
St Michaels Primary School 0  5 N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
St Osmunds C of E Middle School 8 0  13 N/A 119,780.07 5.7 36,440.99
St Peter RC School  141  60 18.8 312,818.64 5.8 95,859.05
St Walburgas R C Primary School 0  5 N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Stalbridge CE Primary School 0  3 N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Stanley Green Academy  33 2 18.8 46,542.44 5.4 13,415.59
Stourfield Infant School 0  1 N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Teach Trust  164 20 18.8 316,960.71 5.8 97,034.86
The Bicknell School 0  9 N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
The Priory C of E Primary School  21  1 18.8 45,438.46 6.0 11,533.86
The Quay Academy  37  4 18.8 100,136.12 5.9 31,640.35
The Studio Academy Leaf  15 0 18.8 42,707.73 5.9 13,485.10
The Swanage School  30 0 18.8 67,627.24 6.2 22,268.59
The Wey Valley Academy  49  21 18.8 156,429.20 6.0 49,468.43
Thomas Hardye Academy  249  41 18.8 372,905.81 5.9 116,817.61
Tregonwell Academy  134  7 18.8 348,262.23 6.1 112,653.17
Twynham School  291  50 18.8 631,013.44 5.9 199,198.32
Wareham St Mary CE Primary School 2 0  5 N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Westfield School  103  53 18.8 319,392.45 5.8 79,457.33
Wimborne Multi Academy Trust  57  1 18.8 594,476.41 5.8 181,957.32
Winton Academy  62  5 18.8 160,198.73 6.1 47,414.87
Winton Primary School  57  3 18.8 129,615.06 5.7 39,538.91
Witchampton School 1  12  3 18.8 0.00 N/A 0.00
Woodroffe School  46  45 18.8 212,760.40 5.9 53,802.31
Wyvern Academy  94  15 18.8 235,614.86 5.6 70,504.70

P
age 190



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 4
0Schedule Bodies  Number of 

Active Members 
 Number of 
Pensioners 

Contribution 
Rate Paid %

 Employer 
Contributions 

Employee 
Contribution 
Rate Paid %

Employee 
Contributions

Other
Bournemouth Hurn Airport 0  41  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Bournemouth Transport 6  1  200 23.2 3,302,386.26 4.7 1,086.54
Caterlink Southern  8 0 22.3 17,313.01 5.6 4,193.92

Christchurch Learning Centre  4 0 23.5 17,513.94 4,415.99
Churchill (Harbourside)  4 0 14.0 5,619.92 5.5 2,127.87
Churchill Bourne  3 0 23.6 3,616.52 5.5 842.82
Churchill St. Joseph's 7 0 0 22.5 53.01 5.5 12.95
Compass Contact Services Ltd  5  1 18.2 8,903.34 5.5 2,668.11
Dorchester Joint Burial Committee 0  1  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Dorset CC Health 0  1  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Dorset Council Partnership 0  1  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Dorset Valuation Panel 0  1  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Energy Kidz Limited 9  5 0  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Harrison Catering  2 0 25.1 2,036.11 5.5 446.18
Millbrook Healthcare (DC)  5  4 16.8 26,016.61 6.4 9,128.66
Police & Crime Commissioner  1,415  764 15.5 5,892,864.64 6.8 2,233,419.67
Poole Housing Partnership  96  67 14.4 477,638.35 6.8 188,561.29
Stour Valley Poole Partnership  103  31 15.8 651,301.01 6.4 180,982.28
The Colliton Club  1 0 15.9 2,325.59 5.5 627.00
Two Counties (St.Michael's)  1 0 9.5 631.93 5.5 365.87
Wareham Joint Burial Committee 0  2  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Wessex Education Shared Services  21  5 19.4 90,768.50 6.2 29,861.24
Wimborne Cemetery JMC 0  1  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Total Scheduled Bodies  24,152 21,952

P
age 191



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 4
1 Admitted Bodies  Number of 

Active Members 
 Number of 
Pensioners 

Contribution 
Rate Paid %

 Employer 
Contributions 

Employee 
Contribution 
Rate Paid %

Employee 
Contributions

1610 Ltd  1 0 14.2 3,028.39 5.8 1,228.04
A Q S Homecare 0  12  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Action For Children  1 0 21.0 6,497.31 6.5 2,011.00
Addaction Ltd 0  1  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
AECC University College  29  36 20.5 143,048.48 6.7 46,428.50
Age Concern Bournemouth  1  4 23.6 1,536.36 5.5 358.05
Ansbury  51  72 16.0 237,829.81 6.1 77,697.53
AP Chant Plumbing & Heating 0  2  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Barnardo's 0  1  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
BH Live  102  55 15.4 317,583.35 6.3 131,608.74
Bournemouth Citizens Advice Bureau 0  5  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Bournemouth Health 0  1  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Bridport Museum Trust 0  1  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Care Quality Commission  1 0 14.4 32,345.34 6.8 2,836.82
Care South 0  367  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Care UK  6  40 17.4 17,617.61 6.5 6,860.85
Churchill Cleaning 0  2  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Churchill Contract Services 0  1  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Churchills (Poole) 0  1  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Churchills Bearwood 0  2  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Convex Leisure Ltd 0  2  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
CSCI 0  15  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
DC Leisure Management Ltd 0  6  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Dorset Association of Parish and Town Councils  3  5 23.6 16,617.73 6.1 4,296.67
Dorset Community Action  2  32 23.6 12,067.72 6.2 3,167.05
Dorset County Museum  4  16 23.6 24,536.37 6.8 7,089.98
Dorset Lighting 0  1  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
East Boro Housing Trust 9 0  7 17.7 67,218.60 5.9 19,762.19
East Dorset Housing Association 0  44  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Golf For All 0  1  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00

P
age 192



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 4
2Admitted Bodies  Number of 

Active Members 
 Number of 
Pensioners 

Contribution 
Rate Paid %

 Employer 
Contributions 

Employee 
Contribution 
Rate Paid %

Employee 
Contributions

Healthy Living Wessex 0  1  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Innovate Services Ltd 10 0 0 21.2 1,828.79 N/A 500.32
Interclean 0  1  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Jurassic Coast Trust  2 0 21.5 15,499.46 6.6 7,133.54
Links4Learning 0  1  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Mack Trading 0  3  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Magna Housing Association Ltd  60  239 17.2 553,806.42 6.9 127,029.68
Magna Housing Group  8  31 16.6 129,096.83 7.3 19,956.91
Mouchel 0  71  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Places For People  11  1 17.7 28,995.28 6.1 10,072.08
Poole Harbour Commissioners 0  6  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Purbeck Housing Trust 0  15  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Sequal Solutions Ltd 0  2  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Signpost Care Partnership 0  2  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Signpost Housing Association Ltd 0  45  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Signpost Services Ltd 0  8  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
SLM (Weymouth) Charitable Trust  6  3 13.0 15,423.59 6.2 7,142.51
SLM Comm Leisure Charitable Trust  26  2 16.0 87,053.42 6.2 23,934.74
SLM Community & Leisure Blandford  14  5 12.0 23,188.73 6.6 12,622.95
SLM Food And Beverage Ltd  1  1 16.0 4,001.16 5.8 1,087.93
South Dorset Community Sports Trust  1 0 26.6 3,646.57 6.5 892.21
Sovereign Housing Group  3  49 16.3 185,075.26 10.1 19,249.34
Spectrum Housing Group  13  15 17.3 352,930.23 6.9 40,189.71
Stonewater  2  30 14.7 123,392.62 9.3 13,567.77
Synergy Housing Group  35  40 17.1 1,365,343.78 6.8 83,215.58
The Arts Development Company  4  2 19.8 20,412.47 6.0 5,298.79
Wessex Water Authority 0  6  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Weyco Services Ltd  7 0 15.3 26,257.11 6.0 8,776.19
Weymouth and Portland Housing Association 0  52  N/A 0.00 N/A 0.00
Weymouth Port Health  2  15 23.6 667.44 5.5 155.52
Total Admitted Bodies  396  1,378 
Overall Total  24,548  23,330 108,552,860.18 28,216,231.19

P
age 193



Notes to the table (on pages 43-51)
1   Contributions all recorded under "Wimborne Academy Trust" - there is no split for individual schools.
2   Contributions all recorded under "Coastal Learning Partnership" - there is no split for individual schools.
3   Contributions all recorded under "Castleman Academy Trust" - there is no split for individual schools.
4   There are no active members as the school went back to Dorset Council payroll from 1 July 2018.
5   Joined Dorset Salisbury Academy Trust 1 January 2020.
6   Made additional payment £3M in February 2020.
7   Last active Member left 7 May 2019.
8  Backdated contributions to be paid in 2020-21.
9  Service and Staff transferred to Tricuro 9 October 2019.
10 Last Active member left 25 September 2019.Sc

he
m

e 
Ad

m
in

is
tra

tio
n 

 | 
 4

3

P
age 194



31 March 2019*

Active Members

Pensioners

31 March 2020

Deferred Members

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

Membership Summary

* Adjusted figures.

Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 4
4Other Scheme Administration 

Information
Scheme Membership
The table below shows the Membership in the 
Fund over the last two financial years.

Membership Summary 31 March 
2019*

31 March 
2020

Change Change %

Active Members 26,369 24,548 -1,821 -6.9

Pensioners 22,370 23,330 960 4.3

Deferred Members 24,572 26,081 1,509 6.1

73,311 73,959

P
age 195



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 4
5 Age Profile of Fund Membership as at 

31 March 2020
As at 31 March 2020 the Fund had a 
total membership of 73,959 split into 
24,548 active members, 26,081 deferred 
members and 23,330 pensioners including 
dependents. The fund membership is split 
70.9% female and 29.1% male, with thirty 
pensioners/dependents over 100 years 
old (16 females and 14 males), the oldest 
being 105 years old.

The chart opposite shows the Fund Age 
profile as at 31 March 2020.

Starters and Leavers During 2019-20
During 2019-20 there were 5,594 new 
starters in the Pension Fund and 5,145 
that have left the scheme.

Contributions and Benefits
The table below show the history of 
Contributions Received and Benefits Paid 
over the last five financial years. 

Year Member 
Contributions £M

Benefits 
Paid £M

2015-16 106,672 104,157

2016-17 109,146 108,075

2017-18 119,537 113,223

2018-19 122,212 120,112

2019-20 136,769 127,919

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

4500

5000

5500

15-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70-74 75+ 80-84 85-89 90-94 95-99 100+

Active 

Deferred 

Pensioners

Fund Age Distribution as at 31 March 2020

* This does not include the dependants

2019-20

Member Contributions £M

Benefits Paid £M

90,000

100,000

110,000

120,000

130,000

140,000

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

Contributions Received and Benefits Paid 2015-16 to 2019-20

P
age 196



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 4
6New Pensioners Details

The table below shows the details of new 
pensioners split between various categories.

New Pensioners

Title Total Members

Actuarial Reduction 2

Early Retirement 825

Flexible Retirement 32

Ill-health Retirement 32

Late Retirement 131

Normal Retirement 121

Redundancy/Efficiency 173

Total 1,316

Scheme Administration
Dorset Council is the administering 
authority for the Dorset County 
Pension Fund and the scheme 
administration is the responsibility of 
the Fund Administrator. The costs of 
administering the scheme are charged to 
the Pension Fund. 
 
Financial Services staff assist the Fund 
Administrator in his statutory duty to 
ensure that the Pension Scheme remains 
solvent and is administered effectively, 
adhering to the Local Government 
Pension Scheme Regulations in order to 
meet any current and future liabilities.  

Staffing
There are four teams within the Pensions 
and the Treasury and Investments 
Team; three teams which administer 
the Local Government Pension 
Scheme - the Technical Administration 
Teams, the Employer Relationship and 
Communication Team and the Systems 
Team. The remaining team is the 
Treasury and Investments Team.

The Pensions Administration team 
is accountable to the Pension Fund 
Committee, the Local Pensions Board, 
participating Employers and Scheme 
members. The team is fully committed 
to providing a quality service to meet the 
needs of the Fund’s various stakeholders 
and to deliver excellent customer care.

The Pensions Administration Team 
comprises xx full time equivalent staff who 
provide a wide range of services including:

•  administration of the affairs of Dorset 
County Pension Fund; 

•  administration of new starters in the 
Scheme; 

•  calculation of pensions and lump 
sums for retiring members of 
the LGPS and provision of early 
retirement estimates; 

•  calculation of service credit 
calculations, outgoing transfer value 
calculations and divorce estimates 
for the Local Government; 

•  calculation of deferred pensions and 
refunds for early leavers; 

•  calculation of widows and 
dependants benefits for retired and 
active members; 

•  dealing with the administration of 
in-house AVCs and APCs; 

•  maintenance of the database 
of pension scheme members 
and provision of annual benefit 
statements and deferred benefit 
statements;

•  undertaking the annual pension 
increase exercise; 

•  key Performance Indicators report;

•  promotion and facilitation 
of relationships and working 
arrangements between Dorset 
Council and its Employers; 

•  responsible for the design, 
procurement and issuing of fact 
sheets, newsletters and guidance to 
scheme members and employers;

•  liaison with the Actuary to provide 
information for the triennial valuation, 
annual accountancy disclosures and 

P
age 197



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 4
7 ad hoc costings for employers and 

prospective employers;

•  preparation of Pensions Fund 
Committee reports relating to benefits 
related issues. 

 
A team of 5 full time equivalent staff 
in the Treasury and Investments 
Team provide support to the Fund 
Administrator in his statutory role in 
relation to accounting and investment 
related activities for the Pension Fund, 
including: 

•  collection of employee and employer 
contributions to be invested into the 
LGPS;

•  day-to-day accounting for the Pension 
Fund; 

•  liaison with External and Internal 
Audit; 

•  preparation of the Pension Fund 
Accounts for inclusion in Dorset 
Council’s Statement of Accounts; 

•  preparation of the Annual Report and 
Accounts of the Pension Fund; 

•  reconciliation of all Managers’ 
purchases, sales and dividends 
received;

•  allocation of cash to Investment 
Managers; 

•  appointment of Advisers and Actuary; 

•  investment of the Fund’s surplus cash 
balances; 

•  liaison with Investment Managers, 
Advisers and Actuary; 

•  monitoring and review of Investment 
Managers, Advisers and Actuary; 

•  preparation of the Investment 
Strategy Statement and Funding 
Strategy Statement; 

•  rebalancing of Investment Managers’ 
portfolios to their target asset 
allocations; 

•  completion of statistical and financial 
returns for Government and other 
bodies; 

•  co-ordination of the production 
of FRS102/ IAS19 information for 
employers; 

•  co-ordination of reports for Quarterly 
Pension Fund Committee and Local 
Pension Board meetings and the 
Pension Fund’s Annual Meeting; 

•  preparation of Pension Fund 
Committee reports relating to 
investments and accounting issues. 

The Pensions Regulator (TPR)  
Following the continuing expansion of 
its statutory duties in respect of Public 
Sector Pension Schemes (PSPS) the TPR 
priorities for 2018 to 2021 are: 

a)  developing an approach to regulation 
that focuses on more proactive and 
targeted work and uses a wider 
range of regulatory interventions;

b)  effective regulation of defined 
benefit schemes;

c)  effective regulation of master trusts;

d)  enhancing and executing effective 
regulatory approaches across all 
schemes;

e)  equipping our staff to meet the 
challenges that TPR faces;

f)  ensuring employers meet their 
ongoing automatic enrolment duties;

g)  preparing for the impact of Brexit;

h)  promoting good trusteeship 
through improving governance and 
administration.

Parliamentary Under Secretary of State
Since February 2020 Luke Hall has 
been the Parliamentary Under Secretary 
of State at the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government.

P
age 198



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 4
8Communications 

The Pension Fund is committed to 
establishing and maintaining effective 
communications with its members and 
other interested parties. The Fund has 
a Communications Policy statement 
formalising the processes by which this 
will be achieved. This policy statement  
is available on the Fund’s website at 
https://www.dorsetpensionfund.org/
dorset-pension-fund/about-us/forms-
and-publications and is reproduced in 
full on page xx.

Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure
From the day a person starts a job with 
an employer, to the day when benefits 
or dependant’s benefits are paid, the 
employer and the Pension Scheme 
administering authority have to make 
decisions under the Pension Scheme 
rules that affect the member (or their 
dependants).  When the member (this 
includes dependants) is notified of a 
decision they should check, as far as they 
can, that it is based on the correct details 
and that they agree with the decision. 

If they are not satisfied with any decision 
affecting them made in relation to the 
Scheme, they have the right to ask for it 
to be looked at again under the formal 

complaint procedure. They also have a 
right to use the procedure if a decision 
should have been made by their employer 
or administering authority, but it hasn't 
been. The complaint procedure's official 
name is the "Internal Dispute Resolution 
Procedure" (IDRP). 

The following gives an overview of the 
IDRP process: 

First stage
If a member needs to make a formal 
complaint, they should make it: 

• in writing, and 

•  normally within 6 months of the day 
when they were told of the decision 
they want to complain about. 

The complaint will be considered 
carefully by a person nominated by the 
body that took the decision against 
which the member wishes to complain. 
This guide calls them the “nominated 
person”. That person is required to give 
the member their decision in writing. 

If the nominated person's decision is 
contrary to the decision the member 
complained about, the employer or 
administering authority that made that 
original decision will now have to deal 

with your case in accordance with the 
nominated person's decision. 

If the decision the member complained 
about concerned the exercise 
of discretion by the employer or 
administering authority, and the 
nominated person decides that the 
employer or administering authority 
should reconsider how they exercised 
their discretion, they will be required to 
reconsider their original decision. 

Second Stage
The member can ask the pension 
scheme administering authority to take a 
fresh look at the complaint in any of the 
following circumstances: 

•  the member is not satisfied with 
the nominated person's first-stage 
decision, 

•  the member has not received a 
decision or an interim letter from the 
nominated person, and it is 3 months 
since the member lodged your 
complaint, 

•  it is one month after the date by 
which the nominated person told the 
member (in an interim letter) that they 
would give them a decision, and they 
have still not received that decision. 

P
age 199



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 4
9 This review would be undertaken by a 

person not involved in the first stage 
decision.

The member will need to send the 
appropriate administering authority their 
complaint in writing. The time limits for 
making the complaint are set out within 
the IDRP Employee’s Guide (see link 
below). The administering authority will 
consider the complaint and give you their 
decision in writing.  

If the member is still unhappy following 
the administering authority's second 
stage decision, they can take the case to 
the Pensions Ombudsman provided they 
do so within 3 years from the date of the 
original decision (or lack of a decision) 
about which the member is complaining. 

If a member approaches you because 
they are unhappy with a decision made 
please ask them to contact staff in the 
Pensions Administration team in the 
first instance as many issues can be 
resolved without the need to resort to the 
lengthy process of IDRP. It could simply 
be that there is a misunderstanding of 
the Regulations and that the decision 
made is in fact correct and this can be 
explained to the member accordingly.

The LGPS Internal Dispute Resolution 
Procedure (IDRP – Employee’s Guide 
and the IDRP – Employer’s Wording) for 
correspondence can be found at:  
https://www.dorsetpensionfund.org/
dorset-pension-fund/about-us/forms-
and-publications

Pensions Ombudsman
In cases where a complaint or dispute 
has not been satisfactorily resolved 
through the IDRP, an application can 
be made to the pensions Ombudsman 
within three years of the event that gave 
rise to the complaint or dispute or, if 
later, within three years of when the 
individual first knew about it (or ought to 
have known about it). There is discretion 
in certain instances for the time limit to 
be extended.

The Ombudsman can investigate and 
determine any complaint or dispute 
involving maladministration of the 
scheme or matters of fact or law 
and his or her decision is final and 
binding (unless the case is taken to the 
appropriate Court on a point of law). 
Matters where legal proceedings have 
already started cannot be investigated by 
the pensions Ombudsman.

The Pensions Ombudsman’s website  
can be found at  
www.pensions-ombudsman.org.uk  
or they can be contacted on  
0800 917 4487.

The Pensions Advisory Service (TPAS)
TPAS is available at any time to assist 
members and beneficiaries of the 
scheme in connection with any pension 
query that they may have difficulty which 
they cannot resolve with the scheme 
administrator. Information can be found 
at the following:
TPAS: pensionsadvisoryservice.org.uk 
Call: 0800 011 3797.

General Data Protection Regulations 
The General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR) is a new set of European Union 
(EU) regulations which came into force 
on 25 May 2018. GDPR changes how 
organisations process and handle 
data, with the key aim of giving greater 
protection and rights to individuals. In 
order to administer the pension scheme, 
LGPS funds require various pieces of 
personal data provided by both the 
individual member and their employer. 
To ensure GDPR compliance, every LGPS 
fund is required to update their privacy 
notice in line with the new requirements 
setting out, among other things, why 

P
age 200



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 5
0certain data is held, the reason for 

processing the data, who they share 
the data with and the period for which 
the data will be retained. Within the 
notice, members will also be provided 
with additional information about their 
rights under the legislation. The Dorset 
Council’s privacy notices are available to 
view online at:
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/
your-council/about-your-council/data-
protection/data-protection.aspx

Equality and Diversity 
Dorset County Pension Fund has a 
workforce that reflects and is part of 
the community it serves. It is the policy 
of Dorset Council to ensure that all its 
employees are selected, trained and 
promoted on the basis of their ability, 
the requirements of the job and other 
similar non-discriminatory criteria. All 
employment decisions are based purely 
on relevant and objective criteria. 
 
Dorset aim to deliver accessible, high-
quality and value for money services to 
all our customers, without discrimination 
on grounds of group memberships; for 
example; sex, race, disability, sexual 
orientation, religion, belief or age. 

Information Technology 
The Pensions Team main administration 
system is Altair, provided under licence 
by Aquilla Heywood. This licence 
provides for regular upgrades to keep 
up to date with changes in regulations 
and developments in best practice. This 
system is used for holding membership 
data, the calculation of pension benefits, 
the generation of scheme documents 
and the data extracts required at each 
actuarial valuation.

The Pensions Team use CMS for Case 
Management, provided under license 
by London Pension Fund Authority. 
This license provides the ability to 
track the lifecycle of an LGPS member, 
monitor the volume of work, ensure 
any member requests are responded to 
and automation of new starter records.  
It also provides ‘Your Fund’ a site for 
employers with secure access where 
they can submit online forms and data to 
the Pensions Team.

The Pensions Team use an Information 
Management System, provided under 
license by Hugh Symons.  This license 
provides an electronic view of Pension 
members correspondence with a secure 
drive for the Pensions Team.

The Fund’s financial data is collected 
from a number of different payroll 
providers and collated on the County 
Council’s SAP system. This system is 
maintained in-house by the Council’s 
IT team and includes comprehensive 
contingency and business continuity 
provisions.  The payment of pensions is 
managed in-house by the Pension Fund, 
using SAP ERM System. 

All Council staff involved in Pension 
Fund Administration and Investment 
activities have access to the internet and 
the Council’s intranet. 

The Fund maintains a website that 
is managed by its own officers and 
supported by Dorset Council. The web 
address is  
https://www.dorsetpensionfund.org

Benefit Statements
The Pensions Administration Team is 
required each year to send annual benefits 
statements to its active and deferred 
members. The statement is intended to 
inform the scheme member of the value of 
their benefits and provide an overview of 
when they may become payable.

P
age 201



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 5
1 Performance Standards 

The Pensions Team has a number of 
service standards that it seeks to meet 
in order to ensure that it is providing an 
efficient and timely service to members 
of the LGPS. The standards are: 

New Active Members 
Membership Certificate: Dorset aim to 
issue a Membership Certificate to a new 
member within one month of receiving 
a completed notification from the 
member’s employer. 

Transfers In: Dorset aim to acknowledge 
the member’s request for transfer details 
and calculate the estimated benefits 
that a transfer value will buy and issue 
a quotation within 10 days of receiving 
details from the previous scheme and 
any additional essential information 
required from Her Majesty’s Revenue 
& Customs. Dorset aim to request 
payment of the transfer value within 5 
days of receiving confirmation from the 
member that the transfer is to proceed. 
Dorset aim to confirm the actual benefits 
purchased by the transfer value within 
10 days of receiving payment from the 
previous scheme.

Existing Active Members 
Annual Benefit Statements: Provided 
pay details are received from employers 
promptly after the year end and all 
information is held, Dorset will make 
available each year an Annual Benefit 
Statement to each member showing 
the estimated current value of accrued 
benefits, the value of prospective 
benefits at normal retirement age, the 
estimated current value of death-in-
service benefits and, for tax purposes 
the amount of Annual Allowance used 
by the change in benefit value since the 
previous year.

Paying Extra Contributions: Dorset aim 
to provide information within 10 days 
of receiving a request from a member 
wishing to pay extra contributions. 

Retirements: Dorset aim to send details 
of the benefits payable and pay the 
member’s tax-free cash lump sum within 
10 days of receiving all of the information 
required from the member’s employer 
and/or the member. 

Deaths: Dorset aim to send details of 
the benefits payable within 10 days of 
receiving all of the information required 
from the late member’s employer and we 
will pay the lump sum death grant within 

10 days of receiving Grant of Probate 
(or other appropriate documentation) or 
authorisation from two delegated officers. 

Early Leavers: Dorset aim to send details 
of the benefit options available within 30 
days of receiving all of the information 
required from the employer. 

Refunds: Dorset aim to pay a refund by 
the end of the month following receipt of 
the member’s formal request for payment. 

Transfers Out: Dorset aim to issue a 
quotation, guaranteed for 3 months, 
within 10 days of receiving the member’s 
request and confirmation of the 
member’s contracted-out rights from 
Her Majesty's Revenue & Customs 
(where appropriate). Dorset aim to 
pay a transfer value within five days of 
receiving confirmation from the member 
that the transfer is to be made and all 
of the information required to make 
payment is received. 

Deferred Members 
Annual Benefit Statements: Dorset aim to 
make available to each deferred member a 
Benefit Statement by 31 August annually, 
showing the current value of the member’s 
preserved benefits. 

P
age 202



Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 5
2Provided Dorset hold an address which 

has been confirmed we will write to the 
member setting out the benefit options 
available to them, at least 30 days prior 
to the date benefits become payable.

Dorset County Pension Fund  
new website 
The Dorset County Pension Fund 
(DCPF) main website will be changing 
from 30 September 2020. The new 
website address from 1 October 2020 
will be www.dorsetpensionfund.org. 
On this website you will find member 
information, plus forms and publications.
Please note that this does not affect My 
Pension, the DCPF online member portal.

McCloud Judgement
When the LGPS changed from a final 
salary to a career average pension 
scheme in 2014, protections for older 
scheme members were introduced. 
Similar protections were provided in 
other public sector pension schemes. 
The Court of Appeal ruled that 
younger members of the Judges’ and 
Firefighters’ Pension schemes have 
been discriminated against because the 
protections do not apply to them. The 
Government has confirmed that there 
will be changes to all main public sector 
schemes, including the LGPS, to remove 
this age discrimination. This ruling is 
often called the ‘McCloud judgment’. 

The Government is still considering 
exactly what changes need to be 
made to remove the discrimination 
from the LGPS. This means it has not 
been possible to reflect the impact of 
the judgment in your Annual Benefit 
Illustration this year.  If you qualify for 
protection it will apply automatically - you 
do not need to make a claim. For more 
information, see the frequently asked 
questions on the national LGPS website 
at https://www.lgpsmember.org/news/
story/mccloud_qanda.php

Members’ Self Service (MSS)
Members of the Fund can access their 
own pension records online, through 
Altair Member Self Service (My Pension). 
In 2018, The DCPF launched MSS 
facility, which enables active, deferred 
and pensioner members the option to 
change basic details, such as address, 
run through benefit calculations and also 
receive communications. This has been 
very successful, with approximately 26% 
of active members signed up for this 
service and 18% of deferred members. 

The Dorset County Pension Fund has 
its own website, with information for all 
member types, and for employees. The 
site contains information, forms and 
fact sheets, as well as details covering 
investments and governance.

Annual Benefit Illustrations are issued 
each year to active and deferred 
members together with an annual 
newsletter detailing regulatory changes 
and key messages for members. 
Annual newsletters are also sent to 
pensioner members each year. These 
communications are very well received 
by members.

P
age 203



Government response to 
consultation on restricting exit 
payments
The government has published its 
response to the April 2019 consultation 
on restricting exit payments in the public 
sector. This may primarily affect LGPS 
members who are made redundant.

The LGPS regulations will need to be 
amended to allow for the exit cap, 
and details of how this will apply in 
practice provided.  Further details will be 
communicated to DCPF members when 
available.

Background
The Small Business, Enterprise and 
Employment Act 2015 (‘the 2015 Act’) 
as amended by the Enterprise Act 2016 
(‘the 2016 Act) provides the power 
for HM Treasury to make regulations 
implementing a £95,000 cap on exit 
payments in the public sector.  The cap 
of £95,000 will apply to the aggregate 
sum of payments made in consequence 
of termination of employment. The 
relevant payments in scope remain the 
same as in the regulations published 
on 10 April 2019. The cap also applies 
where two or more relevant public 
sector exits occur in respect of the 

same person within any period of 28 
consecutive days. The total amount of all 
exit payments 

Cohabiting partners and the LGPS
If you are living with a partner they may 
be eligible for a cohabiting partner’s 
pension if they fit the eligibility criteria at 
the date of your death. You have to have 
paid into the LGPS on or after 1 April 
2008 for a pension to be payable to an 
eligible cohabiting partner. 

An eligible cohabiting partner is a partner 
you are living with who, at the date of 
your death, has met all of the following 
conditions for a continuous period of at 
least 2 years:

•  you and your cohabiting partner are, 
and have been, free to marry each 
other or enter into a civil partnership 
with each other, and

•  you and your cohabiting partner have 
been living together as if you were a 
married couple, or civil partners, and

•  neither you or your cohabiting partner 
have been living with someone else 
as if you/they were a married couple 
or civil partners, and

•  either your cohabiting partner is, and 
has been, financially dependent on you 

or you are, and have been, financially 
interdependent on each other.

Your partner is financially dependent 
on you if you have the highest income. 
Financially interdependent means that 
you rely on your joint finances to support 
your standard of living. It doesn't mean 
that you need to be contributing equally. 
For example, if your partner's income is 
a lot more than yours, he or she may pay 
the mortgage and most of the bills, and 
you may pay for the weekly shopping.

On your death, a survivor's pension would 
be paid to your cohabiting partner if:

•  all of the above criteria apply at the 
date of your death, and

•  your cohabiting partner satisfies 
your pension fund that the above 
conditions had been met for a 
continuous period of at least 2 years 
immediately prior to your death.

Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 5
3

P
age 204



My Pension
Registering for My Pension, the DCPF’s 
online pension portal allows you to view 
your pension benefits at any time.  You 
can update your address and lump sum 
death grant nomination on My Pension 
and can also upload documents to DCPF 
securely.

To register for My Pension, please go to 
https://mypension.dorsetcc.gov.uk/ and 
click on ‘Sign up to Member Self Service’ 
at the bottom left of the homepage.
 
COVID-19
The National LGPS member’s website 
contains useful information regarding 
the LGPS and COVID-19.
https://www.lgpsmember.org/news/
story/covid_19_member_qanda.php

Furloughed LGPS members
If your employer has put you on furlough, 
there may be some reduction to your 
LGPS benefits.

While on furlough, your employer could pay 
80% of your wages up to a monthly cap 
of £2,500. The Government will fund your 
employer to do this. Employers can choose 
to top up your pay to 100%, but if you 
receive less pay when you are on furlough, 

the amount of pension you build up during 
this period will also be reduced. You will 
continue to pay pension contributions on 
the pay you receive.

You can pay Additional Pension 
Contributions (APCs) to buy extra 
pension to make up for the pension lost 
during this period. Your employer does 
not have to pay towards the cost, but 
they can choose to.

Visit https://www.lgpsmember.org/
more/apc/index.php to find out more 
abut APCs, use an online calculator and 
download an application form.

The GOV.UK website provides more 
information on support for workers 
during the COVID-19 crisis  
https://www.gov.uk/coronavirus/worker-
support.

Sc
he

m
e 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
 | 

 5
4

P
age 205



Actuarial Information

P
age 206



Ac
tu

ar
ia

l I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
 | 

 5
6

Statement of the Actuary
IAS26 Report
Pension accounting disclosure as at  
31 March 2020

Prepared in accordance with IAS26

The web-link to the Actuary’s Report 
can be found on the pension website 
at  www.dorsetpensionfund.org/
media/5680/valuation-report.pdf 

Barnett Waddingham LLP - 12 June 2020

Introduction
We have been instructed by Dorset 
Council, the administering authority 
to the Dorset County Pension Fund 
(the Fund), to undertake pension 
expense calculations in respect of 
pension benefits provided by the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (the LGPS) 
to members of the Fund as at 31 March 
2020. We have taken account of current 
LGPS Regulations, as amended, as at the 
date of this report. 

Actuarial Information
This report is addressed to the 
administering authority and its advisers; 
in particular, this report is likely to be of 
relevance to the Fund’s auditor. 

These figures are prepared in accordance 
with our understanding of IAS26.  In 
calculating the disclosed numbers we 
have adopted methods and assumptions 
that are consistent with IAS19. 

This advice complies with Technical 
Actuarial Standard 100: Principles for 
Technical Actuarial Work (TAS 100). 

The LGPS is a defined benefit statutory 
scheme administered in accordance with 
the Local Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations 2013 and currently provides 
benefits based on career average 
revalued earnings. 

An allowance has been made for the 
recent Court of Appeal judgement in 
relation to the McCloud and Sargeant 
cases which relate to age discrimination 
within the Judicial and Fire Pension 
schemes respectively. On 27 June 
2019 the Supreme Court denied the 

Government’s request for an appeal, 
and on 15 July 2019 the Government 
released a statement to confirm that 
it expects to have to amend all public 
service schemes, including the LGPS.   

We understand no similar allowance was 
made in the Fund’s 2018-2019 annual 
accounts for the estimated impact.  

The estimated impact on the total 
liabilities at 31 March 2020 has been 
allowed for as a past service cost and 
has resulted in a slight increase in the 
defined benefit obligation as at 31 
March 2020. Please see the impact 
of the McCloud/Sargeant judgement 
section below and in the 31 March 2020 
employer briefing note post-accounting 
date for further information.   

It should be noted that this adjustment is 
an estimate of the potential impact on the 
Fund’s defined benefit obligation based 
on analysis carried out by the Government 
Actuary’s Department (GAD) and the 
Fund’s liability profile.  It is not yet clear 
how this judgement may affect LGPS 
members’ past or future service benefits.

P
age 207



Ac
tu

ar
ia

l I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
 | 

 5
7 Valuation data

Data sources
In completing our calculations for 
pension accounting purposes we have 
used the following items of data, which 
we received from Dorset Council: 

•  The results of the valuation as at 31 
March 2019 which was carried out for 
funding purposes and the results of 
the 31 March 2019 IAS26 report which 
was prepared for accounting purposes 
(Version 2 dated 8 May 2019);

•  Estimated whole Fund income and 
expenditure items for the period to 31 
March 2020;

•  Estimated Fund returns based on 
Fund asset statements provided (or 
estimated where necessary) as at 31 
March 2019 and 31 March 2020; and

•  Details of any new early retirements 
for the period to 31 March 2020 that 
have been paid out on an unreduced 
basis, which are not anticipated in the 
normal service cost.

Although some of these data items have 
been estimated, we do not believe that they 
are likely to have a material effect on the 
results of this report.  Further, we are not 
aware of any material changes or events 
since we received the data. The data has 

been checked for reasonableness and we 
are happy that the data is sufficient for the 
purposes of this advice. 

Fund membership statistics
The table below summarises the 
membership data, as at 31 March 2019. 

Member data 
summary

Number Salaries/
Pensions

Average 
age

£000s
Actives 24,516 427,351 46
Deferred 
pensioners

32,946 40,142 45

Pensioners 22,466 104,902 71

Early retirements
We requested data on any early 
retirements in respect of the Fund from 

the administering authority for the year 
ending 31 March 2020.  

We have been notified of 154 new 
early retirements during the year which 
were not allowed for at the previous 
accounting date.  The total annual 
pension that came into payment was 
£1,953,100. 
 
Assets
The return on the Fund (on a bid value to 
bid value basis) for the year to 31 March 
2020 is estimated to be -10%. The actual 
return on Fund assets over the year may 
be different. 

The estimated asset allocation for Dorset 
County Pension Fund as at 31 March 2020 
is as follows: 

Asset breakdown 31 Mar 2020 31 Mar 2019
£000s % £000s %

Equities 1,343,676 50 1,525,656 50
Liability Driven 
Investment

306,823 11 401,129 13

Cash 81,992 3 111,507 4
Other Bonds 220,608 8 214,353 7
Diversified Growth Fund 152,783 6 176,110 6
Property 301,015 11 323,272 11
Infrastructure 186,305 7 138,742 5
Multi Asset Credit 120,399 4 139,717 5
Total 2,713,601 100 3,030,486 100

P
age 208



Ac
tu

ar
ia

l I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
 | 

 5
8We have estimated the bid values where 

necessary.  The final asset allocation of 
the Fund assets as at 31 March 2020 
may be different from that shown due to 
estimation techniques. 

Unfunded benefits
We have excluded any unfunded benefits 
as these are liabilities of employers 
rather than the Fund. 
 
Actuarial methods and assumptions
Valuation approach
To assess the value of the Fund’s liabilities 
at 31 March 2020, we have rolled forward 
the value of Fund’s liabilities calculated for 
the funding valuation as at 31 March 2019, 
using financial assumptions that comply 
with IAS19. 

The full actuarial valuation involved 
projecting future cashflows to be paid 
from the Fund and placing a value on 
them.  These cashflows include pensions 
currently being paid to members of the 
Fund as well as pensions (and lump sums) 
that may be payable in future to members 
of the Fund or their dependants.  These 
pensions are linked to inflation and will 
normally be payable on retirement for 
the life of the member or a dependant 
following a member’s death. 

It is not possible to assess the accuracy 
of the estimated liability as at 31 March 
2020 without completing a full valuation.  
However, we are satisfied that the approach 
of rolling forward the previous valuation 
data to 31 March 2020 should not introduce 
any material distortions in the results 
provided that the actual experience of 
the Fund has been broadly in line with 
the underlying assumptions, and that the 
structure of the liabilities is substantially 
the same as at the latest formal valuation.  
From the information we have received 
there appears to be no evidence that this 
approach is inappropriate. 

This has been updated since the last 
accounting date when the results were 
based on a continuation of the roll forward 
from the 31 March 2016 funding valuation. 

Experience items allowed for since the 
previous accounting date 
Results are based on a roll forward of 
a full valuation of funded membership 
data at 31 March 2019.  As a result of 
allowing for actual experience, which 
may be different from that assumed 
previously, an experience item may be 
observed in the reconciliation of liabilities 
to 31 March 2020.  The effect of allowing 
for the actual experience is shown in 
Appendix 2. 

Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) 
Equalisation
As a result of the High Court’s recent 
Lloyds ruling on the equalisation of 
GMPs between genders, a number 
of pension schemes have made 
adjustments to accounting disclosures 
to reflect the effect this ruling has on 
the value of pension liabilities.  It is our 
understanding that HM Treasury have 
confirmed that the judgement “does not 
impact on the current method used to 
achieve equalisation and indexation in 
public service pension schemes”.  More 
information on the current method of 
equalisation of public service pension 
schemes can be found here. 

On 22 January 2018, the Government 
published the outcome to its Indexation 
and equalisation of GMP in public service 
pension schemes consultation, concluding 
that the requirement for public service 
pension schemes to fully price protect 
the GMP element of individuals’ public 
service pension would be extended to 
those individuals reaching State Pension 
Age (SPA) before 6 April 2021.  HM 
Treasury published a Ministerial Direction 
on 4 December 2018 to implement this 
outcome, with effect from 6 April 2016.  
Details of this outcome and the Ministerial 
Direction can be found here. 

P
age 209



Ac
tu

ar
ia

l I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
 | 

 5
9 Our valuation assumption for GMP is 

that the Fund will pay limited increases 
for members that have reached SPA 
by 6 April 2016, with the Government 
providing the remainder of the 
inflationary increase.  For members 
that reach SPA after this date, we have 
assumed that the Fund will be required 
to pay the entire inflationary increase.  
Therefore we do not believe we need 
to make any adjustments to the value 
placed on the liabilities as a result of the 
above outcome. 
 
Impact of McCloud/Sargeant judgement 
The Scheme Advisory Board, with consent 
of the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government (MHCLG), 
commissioned GAD to report on the 
possible impact of the McCloud/Sargeant 
judgement on LGPS liabilities, and in 
particular, those liabilities to be included 
in local authorities’ accounts as at 31 
March 2019.  This followed an April 2019 
CIPFA briefing note which said that local 
authorities should consider the materiality 
of the impact.  This analysis was to be 
carried out on a “worst-case” basis, (i.e. 
what potential remedy would incur the 
highest increase in costs/liabilities).  The 
results of this analysis are set out in GAD’s 
report dated 10 June 2019. 

We have used this analysis provided by 
GAD to estimate the possible impact 
of the McCloud/Sargeant judgement 
for the Fund.  The key assumption 
is the assumed rate of future salary 
increases which is set out in the 
Financial assumptions section of this 

disclosure.  The average age of the 
Fund’s membership can be found in the 
table on page 4. 

We have included a summary of our 
impact assessment below. 

GAD estimated the impact on past service liabilities to be 3.2% of active 
liabilities based on a salary increase assumption of CPI plus 1.5% p.a.

Adjusting this to reflect the Fund’s own salary increase assumption 
(which is that salaries will increase at 1.0% p.a. above CPI), gives an 
estimated impact of 2.1% of active liabilities.

Adjusting this to allow for the additional accrual of liabilities since 31 
March 2019 and an approximate adjustment to strip out members who 
joined the Scheme who are unlikely to be affected by the outcome of the 
judgement gives an estimated impact of 2.0% of active liabilities. 

This is equivalent to 0.8% of the Fund's total liabilities at the 
accounting date (i.e. active liabilities are estimated to be 37% of 
the Fund's total liabilities at the accounting date).

P
age 210



Ac
tu

ar
ia

l I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
 | 

 6
0Demographic/Statistical assumptions

We have adopted a set of demographic 
assumptions that are consistent with 
those used for the most recent Fund 
valuation, which was carried out as at 
31 March 2019.  The post retirement 
mortality tables adopted are the S3PA 
tables with a multiplier of 90% for males 
and 100% for females.  These base tables 
are then projected using the CMI_2018 
Model, allowing for a long-term rate of 
improvement of 1.25% p.a, smoothing 
parameter of 7.5 and an initial addition to 
improvements of 0.5% p.a. 

This has been updated since the last 
accounting date when the assumption 
adopted was based on those adopted 
for the Fund’s 31 March 2016 valuation, 
updated to use the CMI_2018 Model.  
The post retirement mortality tables 
adopted were the S2PA tables with a 
multiplier of 85%.  These base tables 
were then projected using the CMI_2018 
Model, allowing for a long-term rate of 
improvement of 1.5% p.a, smoothing 
parameter of 7.0 and no initial addition to 
improvements. 

The impact of updating the demographic 
assumptions is set out in the Change in 
demographic assumptions figure in Table 
1 of Appendix 2. 

The assumed life expectations from age 
65 are: 

Life expectancy from age 65 (years)

31 Mar 
2020

31 Mar 
2019

Retiring  
today

Males 23.3 22.9

Females 24.7 24.8

Retiring in  
20 years

Males 24.7 24.6

Females 26.2 26.6

We have also assumed that:

•  Members will exchange half of their 
commutable pension for cash at 
retirement;

•  Members will retire at one retirement 
age for all tranches of benefit, which 
will be the pension weighted average 
tranche retirement age; and

•  The proportion of the membership 
that had taken up the 50:50 option 
at the previous valuation date will 
remain the same.

 

Financial assumptions
The financial assumptions used to 
calculate the results in the Appendices 
are as follows: 

Assumptions 
as at

31 Mar 
2020

31 Mar 
2019

31 Mar 
2018

% p.a % p.a % p.a

Discount rate 2.35 2.40 2.55

Pension 
increases

1.90 2.40 2.30

Salary 
increases

2.90 3.90 3.80

These assumptions are set with 
reference to market conditions at 31 
March 2020. 

Our estimate of the Fund’s past service 
liability duration is 21 years. 

An estimate of the Fund’s future 
cashflows is made using notional 
cashflows based on the estimated 
duration above.  These estimated 
cashflows are then used to derive a 
Single Equivalent Discount Rate (SEDR).  
The discount rate derived is such that 
the net present value of the notional 
cashflows, discounted at this single 

P
age 211



Ac
tu

ar
ia

l I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
 | 

 6
1 rate, equates to the net present value 

of the cashflows, discounted using 
the annualised Merrill Lynch AA rated 
corporate bond yield curve (where the 
spot curve is assumed to be flat beyond 
the 30 year point).  This is consistent 
with the approach used at the previous 
accounting date. 

Similar to the approach used to derive 
the discount rate, the Retail Prices Index 
(RPI) increase assumption is set using 
a Single Equivalent Inflation Rate (SEIR) 
approach, using the notional cashflows 
described above.  The single inflation 
rate derived is that which gives the same 
net present value of the cashflows, 
discounted using the annualised Merrill 
Lynch AA rated corporate bond yield 
curve, as applying the BoE implied 
inflation curve.  As above, the Merrill 
Lynch AA rated corporate bond yield 
spot curve is assumed to be flat beyond 
the 30 year point and the BoE implied 
inflation spot curve is assumed to be 
flat beyond the 40 year point.  This is 
consistent with the approach used at the 
previous accounting date. 

As future pension increases are 
expected to be based on the Consumer 
Prices Index (CPI) rather than RPI, we 
have made a further assumption about 

CPI which is that it will be 0.80% p.a. 
below RPI i.e. 1.90% p.a.  We believe 
that this is a reasonable estimate for the 
future differences in the indices, based 
on the different calculation methods, 
recent independent forecasts and the 
duration of the Fund’s liabilities.  The 
difference between RPI and CPI is 
less than assumed at the previous 
accounting date.  This reflects the 
movement in market implied RPI 
inflation that occurred following the UK 
Statistics Authority’s proposal to change 
how RPI is calculated and subsequent 
announcements from the Chancellor on 
the issue. 

Salaries are assumed to increase at 
1.0% p.a. above CPI.  This differs from 
the salary increase assumption at the 
previous accounting date and has been 
updated in line with the most recent 
funding valuation.  At the last accounting 
date, salaries were assumed to increase 
at 1.5% p.a. above CPI in addition to a 
promotional scale, allowing for a short-
term overlay from 31 March 2016 to 31 
March 2020 for salaries to rise in line 
with CPI. 

Curtailments
We have calculated the cost of 
curtailments arising as a result of the 

payment of unreduced pensions on early 
retirement.  The cost assessed is only in 
relation to those that affect the pension 
liabilities in the Fund. 

We calculate the cost of curtailments at 
the point of exit, with interest applied to the 
accounting date accounted for separately. 

Over the year, we understand that 154 
former employees became entitled to 
unreduced early retirement benefits.  The 
capitalised cost of the additional benefits 
on IAS19 compliant assumptions is 
calculated at £11,552,000.  This figure has 
been included within the service cost in the 
statement of profit and loss. 

Results and disclosures
We estimate that the net liability 
as at 31 March 2020 is a liability of 
£2,072,942,000.  
 
The results of our calculations for the 
year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in 
the appendices below:

•  Appendix 1 sets out the Statement of 
financial position as at 31 March 2020;

•  Appendix 2 details a reconciliation of 
assets and liabilities during the year; and

•  Appendix 3 shows a sensitivity analysis 
on the major assumptions.

P
age 212



Ac
tu

ar
ia

l I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
 | 

 6
2Appendix 1 Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020The figures presented in this report are 

prepared only for the purposes of IAS19.  
In particular, they are not relevant for 
calculations undertaken for funding 
purposes or for other statutory purposes 
under UK pensions legislation. 

We would be pleased to answer any 
questions arising from this report. 

Louise Lau FFA Associate 
 

Net pension asset as at 31 Mar 2020 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018
£000s £000s £000s

Present value of the defined benefit obligation 4,786,543 5,058,643 4,902,826
Fair value of Fund assets (bid value) 2,713,601 3,030,486 2,867,378

Net liability in balance sheet 2,072,942 2,028,157 2,035,448
*Present value of funded obligation consists of £4,697,294,000 in respect of vested obligation and  
£89,249,000 in respect of non-vested obligation.

Appendix 2 Asset and benefit obligation reconciliation for the year to 31 March 2020 

Reconciliation of opening & closing balances of the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation

Year to 31 
Mar 2020

Year to 31 
Mar 2019

£000s £000s
Opening defined benefit obligation 5,058,643 4,902,826
Current service cost 168,392 166,982
Interest cost 120,097 123,922
Change in financial assumptions (508,903) 244,869
Change in demographic assumptions (92,309) (292,618)
Experience loss/(gain) on defined benefit obligation 116,048 -
Liabilities assumed / (extinguished) on settlements - -
Estimated benefits paid net of transfers in (151,558) (119,874)
Past service costs, including curtailments 48,074 4,614
Contributions by Scheme participants and other employers 28,059 27,922
Unfunded pension payments - -
Closing defined benefit obligation 4,786,543 5,058,643

We have allowed for the estimated impact of the recent McCloud judgement as a past service cost.  We have 
estimated the impact on the total liabilities as at 31 March 2020 to be £36,522,000 (or 0.8% as a percent of 
total liabilities).  

P
age 213



Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of 
the fair value of Fund assets

Year to 31 
Mar 2020

Year to 31 
Mar 2019

£000s £000s
Opening fair value of Fund assets 3,030,486 2,867,378
Interest on assets 72,464 73,148
Return on assets less interest (365,922) 89,976
Other actuarial gains/(losses) 1,387 -
Administration expenses (2,354) (2,354)
Contributions by employer including unfunded 101,039 94,290
Contributions by Scheme participants and other 
employers

28,059 27,922

Estimated benefits paid plus unfunded net of 
transfers in

(151,558) (119,874)

Settlement prices received / (paid) - -
Closing Fair value of Fund assets 2,713,601 3,030,486

The total return on the Fund’s assets for the year to 31 March 2020 is (£293,458,000).

Appendix 3 Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analysis £000s £000s
Present value of total obligation 4,786,543
Sensitivity to +0.1% -0.1%
Discount rate 4,689,545 4,885,645
Long term salary increase 4,795,892 4,777,273
Pension increases and deferred revaluation 4,876,641 4,698,296
Sensitivity to +1 Year - 1 Year
Life expectancy assumptions 4,975,652 4,605,076

Ac
tu

ar
ia

l I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
 | 

 6
3

P
age 214



Governance

P
age 215



G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

 | 
 6

5

Pension Fund Committee
The Dorset County Pension Fund 
Committee Members as at 31 March 2020.  

Governance

Dorset County Pension Fund 
Committee 

Committee 
Member

Representing

Andy Canning 
(Chairman)

Dorset Council

Peter Wharf 
(Vice Chairman)

Dorset Council

Adrian Felgate Scheme Member 
Representative

David Brown Bournemouth, Christchurch, 
Poole Council

Felicity Rice Bournemouth, Christchurch, 
Poole Council

Howard Legg Dorset Council

John Beesley Bournemouth, Christchurch, 
Poole Council

Mark Roberts Dorset Council

Ray Bryan Dorset Council

Councillor Andy 
Canning 
Dorset Council
Chairman

Councillor Peter 
Wharf
Dorset Council
Vice-Chairman

Councillor John 
Beesley
BCP

Councillor David 
Brown
BCP

Councillor Ray 
Bryan
Dorset Council

Mr Adrian 
Felgate
Scheme Member 
Representative

Councillor Dr 
Felicity Rice
BCP

Councillor 
Howard Legg
Dorset Council

Councillor Mark 
Roberts
Dorset Council

Mr Aidan Dunn
Fund 
Administrator

P
age 216



G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

 | 
 6

6Committee Members Attendance 
The table below summarises the meetings which have taken place including  
attendance by members of the Committee. 

Committee Member 20 Jun
2019

12 Sep 
2019

27 Nov
2019

12 March
2020

Total Voting  
rights

Adrian Felgate* û ü ü ü 3 ü

Andrew Turner* ü û û û 1 ü

Andy Canning ü ü ü ü 4 ü

David Brown ü ü ü ü 4 ü

Felicity Rice ü ü û ü 3 ü

Howard Legg ü ü ü ü 4 ü

John Beesley ü ü ü û 3 ü

Mark Roberts ü ü ü ü 4 ü

Peter Wharf ü ü ü ü 4 ü

Ray Bryan ü ü ü ü 4 ü

*Adrian Felgate replaced Andrew Turner as the Scheme Member Representative with effect from the 
September 2019 Pension Fund Committee.

Committee Structure 
The Council delegates the management 
of the Fund to the Pension Committee. 
A Committee of elected members, five 
Dorset Councillors, three Councillors 
representing Bournemouth, Christchurch 
and Poole and one voting Scheme 
Member representative are responsible 
for making investment policy, overseeing 
how the scheme is run and monitoring 
performance. The Committee is supported 
by an investment management expert who 
is not involved in the management of the 
Fund’s Assets. The Committee meets on a 
quarterly basis.

Committee Responsibilities
The Pension Fund Committee terms 
of reference are set out below and the 
Committee is responsible for monitoring 
all aspects relating to the investment of 
the assets of the Fund as follows:  
 

•  Setting and monitoring performance 
objectives for the Pension Fund.

•  Approval and review of the overall 
investment strategy of the Pension 
Fund.

•  Approval and review of asset 
allocation decisions.

•  Performance monitoring Investment 
Managers and investments.

•  Appointing (and, when necessary, 
dismissing) Investment Managers*.

•  Appointing (and, when necessary, 
dismissing) Investment Consultants.

•  Appointing (and, when necessary, 
dismissing) the Pension Fund Actuary.

•  Appointing (and, when necessary, 
dismissing) the Pension Fund Custodian.

•  Setting and approving Administering 
Authority discretions for the Local 
Government Pension Scheme.

•  Agreeing and monitoring actions to 
address findings from any review of 
Pension Fund activities.

•  Approval of key policies and statement:
 - Investment Strategy Statement.
 - Funding Strategy Statement.
 -  Governance Compliance 

Statement.
 -  Communications Strategy 

Statement.

*   This had been the responsibility of the Pension 
Fund Committee but as national pooling of 
LGPS funds progresses, this responsibility 
will ultimately transfer to the Brunel Pension 
Partnership, of which Dorset County Pension 
Fund is a member. The Pension Fund 
Committee will still retain control over the 
asset allocation.

P
age 217



G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

 | 
 6

7 Accountability and Transparency 
Pensions Committee meetings are open to 
members of the public. 

Pensions Committee agendas and 
minutes are published on the Dorset 
County Council website at  https://
dorset.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.
aspx?committeeid=434

Code of Conduct
Councillors are required to comply with 
the requirements of the Localism Act 
2011 regarding disclosable pecuniary 
interests which are to:

•  Check if there is an item of business 
on this agenda in which you or a 
relevant person has a disclosable 
pecuniary interest.

•  Inform the Secretary to the 
Committee in advance about your 
disclosable pecuniary interest and if 
necessary take advice.

•  Check that you have notified your 
interest to your own Council’s 
Monitoring Officer (in writing) and that 
it has been entered in your Council’s 
Register (if not this must be done 
within 28 days and you are asked to 
use a notification form available from 
the clerk).

•  Disclose the interest at the meeting 
and in the absence of a dispensation 
to speak and/or vote, withdraw from 
any consideration of the item.

Conflicts of Interest
The Pension Fund is governed by elected 
members acting as trustees and the 
code of conduct for elected members’ 
sets out how any conflicts of interest 
should be addressed. 

The code includes general provisions 
on ethics and standards of behaviour 
which require elected members to 
treat others with respect and not to 
bully, intimidate or do anything to 
compromise the impartiality of those 
who work for or on behalf of the 
Council. The Code also contains rules 
about “disclosable pecuniary interests” 
and sets out the action an elected 
member must take when they have 
such an interest in Council business, for 
instance withdrawing from the room or 
chamber when the matter is discussed 
and decided in committee, unless 
dispensation has been obtained from the 
Council’s Monitoring Officer.

P
age 218



G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

 | 
 6

8The Local Board Members Attendance
The table below summarises the meetings 
which have taken place including 
attendance by members of the Board. 

Pension Board 
Member

25 June
2019

24 Sep
2019

3 Dec
2020

Total

Paul Kent ü ü ü 3
John Jones ü û û 1
Jeff Morley ü ü û 2
Adam Richens û û û 0
Councillor  
David Shortell

ü ü ü 3

James Stevens ü û ü 2
Mary O' Sullivan û ü ü 2
Luke White û ü ü 2

Function of the Local Pension Board
The function of the Local Pension Board 
as defined by sections 5 (1) and (2) of 
the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 is 
to assist the Scheme Manager to:

•  to secure compliance with the LGPS 
regulations and any other legislation 
relating to the governance and 
administration of the LGPS;

•  to secure compliance with 
requirements imposed in relation to 
the LGPS by the Pensions Regulator;

•  in such other matters as the LGPS 
regulations may specify;

The Local Pension Board for the 
Dorset County Pension Fund
With effect from 1 April 2015 Dorset County 
Pension Fund created a Local Pension Board.  

The current membership of the Local 
Pension Board as at 31 March 2020.

The Local Pension Board Current 
Membership
Board Member Representing
Paul Kent (Chairman) Self-Nominated Retired 

Scheme member 
Jeff Morley Scheme Member 

Representative - 
Nominated by Unison - 
Active Scheme Member

Adam Richens Employer Representative 
- Bournemouth, 
Christchurch, Poole 
Council

Councillor David 
Shortell

Employer 
Representative - Dorset 
Council

James Stevens Scheme Member 
Representative - Active 
Scheme Member

Julie Strange Employee 
Representative - Dorset 
Police

Mary O'Sullivan Employer 
Representative Arts 
University Bournemouth

There is currently a vacancy for a Scheme  
Member Representative.

Local board Member Update

•  The new Interim Chairman is Paul 
Kent replacing the previous Chairman 
Councillor Andrew Cattaway who 
announced he was not standing at the 
May 2019 elections.

•  Councillor David Shortell joined the 
Board for the June 2019 meeting and 
Mary O’Sullivan joined as an Employer 
Representative on behalf of the Arts 
University Bournemouth.

•  Jason Vaughan left the employment 
of the Council and will no longer 
attend Local Pension Board meetings.

•  John Jones left the employment of 
Dorset Police, so can no longer serve 
as an Employer Representative of 
the Board. Julie strange is the new 
Scheme Member Representative for 
Dorset Police.

•  There was no March 2020 meeting 
due to the lockdown.

P
age 219



G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

 | 
 6

9 The Local Pension Board will ensure it 
complies effectively and efficiently with 
the code of practice on the governance 
and administration of local government 
pension schemes issued by the Pension 
Regulator.

The Local Pension Board will also 
help to ensure that the Dorset County 
Pension Fund (DCPF) is managed and 
administered effectively and efficiently 
and complies with the code of practice 
on the governance and administration 
of local government pension schemes 
issued by the Pension Regulator and 
with due regard to guidance issued by 
government, The Pensions Regulator and 
the LGPS Advisory Board.

In accordance with Governance Regulation 
106 (6), the Local Pension Board has the 
power to do anything which is calculated to 
facilitate, or is conducive to, the discharge of 
any of its functions.

Assisting the Scheme Manager is 
interpreted as helping the Scheme 
Manager, including doing work requested 
by the Scheme Manager.  However, the 
Local Pension Board does not replace 
the Scheme Manager nor make decisions 
which are the responsibility of the 
Scheme Manager.

The remit of the Local Pension Board 
is interpreted as covering all aspects of 
governance and administration of the 
DCPF, including funding and investments.  
For the avoidance of doubt, this does not 
extend to the operational investment of 
the Fund’s assets.

The Local Pension Board is entitled to 
request information from the Scheme 
Manager in order to carry out its function.

Membership of the Local Pension Board
The Local Pension Board shall consist of six 
members and be constituted as follows:
• four employer representatives; and
• four scheme member representatives.

Scheme employer and member 
representatives shall be appointed in equal 
number, with a minimum of four in total, 
and shall together form the majority of the 
Local Pension Board’s membership.

Scheme employer representatives 
shall comprise of Dorset Council and 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 
Council, plus two others.

Scheme member representatives shall 
include at least one member nominated by 
the Unions, with Unison as lead union.

No officer or elected member of the 
administering authority (Dorset Council) 
who is responsible for the discharge of 
any function under the Local Government 
Pension Scheme regulations may be a 
member of the Local Pension Board. This 
is a specific requirement of the regulations.

As part of the process for selecting 
members of the Local Pension Board, Dorset 
Council, via the Standards and Governance 
Committee, will be asked to nominate their 
member, and DCPF will contact:

•  Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 
Council to seek their nominations;

•  Unison, as lead union, to nominate 
member representatives; 

•  all Scheme members to canvass 
interest.  Active, pensioner and 
deferred pensioner members will be 
eligible to stand as scheme member 
representatives.  

The Pension Board is responsible for:

•  Scrutinising the progress of actions to 
meet the performance objectives of 
the Pension Fund;

•  Reviewing and monitoring the training 
plan of the Pensions Board and 
elected members and officers with 
delegated responsibilities for the 

P
age 220



G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

 | 
 7

0management and administration of 
the Pension Fund;

•  Reviewing and monitoring the 
performance of external business 
partners, including the pensions 
administration service, the actuary, 
the custodian and the investment 
consultant;

•  Reviewing and monitoring the Risk 
Register and risk monitoring of 
scheme employers;

•  Reviewing the implementation of 
revised policies and procedures, 
including the administering 
discretions;

•  Reviewing the compliance of projects 
commissioned by the Pension Fund 
Committee, including the Triennial 
Valuation of the Pension Fund;

•  Ensuring pension rules and 
regulations are being complied with, 
when officers are making decisions 
on pension matters;

•  Scrutinising data quality;

•  Reviewing internal audit reports;

•  Assisting in the development of 
improved customer services;

•  Reviewing compliance of Investment 
Managers with Investment 
Management Agreements; and

•  Reviewing progress of agreed actions 
to address finding from any review of 
the Pension Fund activities.

Accountability and Transparency 
Pension Board agendas, minutes and 
additional reports are published on the 
Dorset County Pension Fund website 
at  www.dorsetpensionfund.org/dorset-
pension-fund/about-us/local-pension-
board/

P
age 221



Pension Fund Accounts

P
age 222



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 7
2

Pension Fund Accounts
Independent Auditors Statement to the Members of the Dorset County Pension Fund Committee on the 
Pension Fund Financial Statements.

We have examined the pension fund 
financial statements for the year ended 
31 March 2019, which comprise the Fund 
Account, the Net Assets Statement and 
the related notes 1 to 22. 

Respective responsibilities of the Chief 
Financial Officer and the auditor 
As explained more fully in the 
Statement of the Chief Financial 
Officer's Responsibilities, the Chief 
Financial Officer is responsible for 
the preparation of the pension fund's 
financial statements in accordance with 
applicable United Kingdom law. 

Our responsibility is to report to you 
my opinion on the consistency of the 
pension fund financial statements within 
the pension fund annual report with 
the pension fund financial statements 
in the statement of accounts of Dorset 
County Council, and its compliance with 

applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC 
Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2018/19. 

We also read the other information 
contained in the pension fund annual 
report and consider the implications 
for my report if we become aware 
of any apparent misstatements or 
material inconsistencies with the 
pension fund financial statements. The 
other information consists only of the 
summaries of key financial information 
and of investment performance included 
in the annual report. 

We conducted my work in accordance 
with Auditor Guidance Note 07 -Auditor 
Reporting, issued by the National Audit 
Office. Our report on the administering 
authority's full annual statement of 
accounts describes the basis of our 
opinion[s] on those financial statements. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the pension fund financial 
statements included in the pension fund 
annual report are consistent with the full 
annual statement of accounts of Dorset 
County Council for the year ended 31 
March 2019 and comply with applicable 
law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 
the United Kingdom 2018/9. 

We have not considered the effects of 
any events between the date we signed 
our report on the full annual statement of 
accounts (31 July 2019) and the date of 
this statement. 

Ian Howse (Appointed auditor) 
For and on behalf of 
Deloitte LLP Cardiff, UK

22 October 2019

To come

P
age 223



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 7
3 Fund Accounts

Pension Fund Account for the Year 
Ended 31 March 2020 
The Pension Fund Accounts contain 
two core statements, the Pension Fund 
Account and the Net Assets Statement. 
Each of the statements is accompanied 
by supplementary notes providing 
additional detail to the figures presented.

Fund  Account
2018-19 2019-20

£’000 £’000 Note £’000 £’000
Dealings with members, employers and others directly involved in the Fund
122,212 Contributions 7 136,769

94,290 Employer contributions 108,553
27,922 Member contributions 28,216

5,938 Transfers in from other pension funds 8 10,793
128,150 Total additions from dealing with members etc 147,562

(120,112) Benefits 9 (127,919)
(98,737) Pensions (104,933)
(17,771) Commutations and retirement grants (19,875)

(3,604) Death benefits (3,111)
(5,700) Payments to and on account of leavers 10 (35,202)

(296) Refunds of contributions (347)

(5,404) Transfers to other pension funds (34,855)
2,338 Net additions/(withdrawals) from dealings with 

members and others
(15,559)

(14,345) Management expenses 11 (14,009)
(12,007) Net additions/(withdrawals) including Fund 

management expenses
(29,568)

30,533 Investment Income 12 24,531
18,693 Dividends from equities 10,799
10,439 Rents from properties 12,025

1,109 Income from property funds 1,176
481 Interest on cash deposits 565

71 Other investment income 101
(260) Taxes on income (135)

143,208 Profit/(loss) on disposal of investments and 
changes in the value of investments

(311,314)

173,741 Net return on investments (286,783)
161,734 Net increase/(decrease) in assets available for 

benefits during the year
(316,351)

2,868,218 Opening net assets of the fund 1 April 3,029,952
3,029,952 Closing net assets of the fund 31 March 2,713,601

P
age 224



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 7
4Net Assets Statement

31 March 2019 31 March 2020
£’000 £’000 Note £’000 £’000

395 Long term investments 13 427
395 Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd 427

3,025,386 Investment assets 14 2,698,426
29,469 UK equities (quoted) 11,251

421,913 Overseas equities (quoted) 160,536
2,104,713 Pooled investment vehicles 2,115,368

80,275 Private equity 98,085
281,480 Property 264,665
103,022 Cash & cash equivalents 54,925

733 Derivative contracts (9,757)
3,781 Other investment assets 3,353

(1,686) Investment liabilities 15 (2,316)
(1,686) Other investment liabilities (2,316)

3,024,095 Total net investments 16 2,696,537
1,930 Long term debtors 965

1,930 Other long term debtors 965
12,911 Current assets 22,803

8,689 Contributions due from employers 17,612
4,222 Other current assets 5,191

(8,984) Current liabilities (6,704)
(534) Unpaid benefits (787)

(8,330) Other current liabilities (5,917)
(120) Deferred income -

3,029,952 Net assets available to fund benefits 2,713,601

P
age 225



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 7
5 Notes to the Accounts

Note 1. Description of the Fund
The Dorset County Pension Fund ("the 
Fund") is part of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS) and is administered 
by Dorset Council ("the Council").

a) General
The scheme is governed by the Public 
Service Pensions Act 2013. The fund is 
administered in accordance with:

 -  the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) Regulations 2013  
(as amended)

 -  the LGPS (Transitional Provisions, 
Savings and Amendment) Regulations 
2014 (as amended)

 -  the LGPS (Management and Investment 
of Funds) Regulations 2016.

It is a contributory defined benefit pension 
scheme administered by the Council to 
provide pensions and other benefits for 
pensionable employees of the Council, 
other councils and a range of other 
scheduled and admitted bodies within the 
county area. Teachers, police officers and 
firefighters are not included as they come 
within other national pension schemes. 
The fund is overseen by the Dorset County 
Pension Fund Committee, which is a 
committee of the Council.

b) Membership
Membership of the LGPS is voluntary and 
employees are free to choose whether to 
join the scheme, remain in the scheme or 
make their own personal arrangements 
outside the scheme.

Organisations participating in the Fund 
include the following:

 -  Scheduled bodies, which are 
automatically entitled to be members 
of the Fund.

 -  Admitted bodies, which participate 
in the fund under the terms of an 
admission agreement between the 
Fund and the employer. Admitted 
bodies include voluntary, charitable 
and similar not-for-profit organisations, 
or private contractors undertaking 
a local authority function following 
outsourcing to the private sector.

Membership details are set out below:
31 March 

2019
31 March 

2020

309 Total Employers 317

Employees

7,544 Administering Authority 6,492

18,323 Other Scheduled Bodies 17,660

502 Admitted Bodies 396 

26,369 Total Employees 24,548

Pensioners

8,701 Administering Authority 8,986

12,322 Other Scheduled Bodies 12,967

1,347 Admitted Bodies 1,377 

22,370 Total Pensioners 23,330

Deferred Pensioners

8,989 Administering Authority 8,996

14,345 Other Scheduled Bodies 14,541

1,238 Admitted Bodies 1,220 

24,572 Total Deferred Pensioners 24,757

418 'Undecided' members 1,324

73,729 Total Members 73,959

P
age 226



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 7
6c) Funding

Benefits are funded by contributions and 
investment earnings. Contributions are 
made by active members of the Fund in 
accordance with the Local Government 
Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 and 
ranged from 5.5% to 12.5% of pensionable 
pay for the financial year ending 31 
March 2020. Employers’ contributions are 
set based on triennial actuarial funding 
valuations. The last such valuation was 
at 31 March 2019 although contributions 
for 2019-20 were based on the valuation 
as at 31 March 2016. Currently, employer 
contribution rates range from 9.5% to 
26.6% of pensionable pay.

d) Benefits
Prior to 1 April 2014, pension benefits 
under the LGPS were based on final 
pensionable pay and length of pensionable 
service. From 1 April 2014, the scheme 
became a career average scheme, whereby 
members accrue benefits based on their 
pensionable pay in that year at an accrual 
rate of 1/49th. Accrued pension is uprated 
annually in line with the Consumer Prices 
Index. A range of other benefits are 
also provided including early retirement, 
disability pensions and death benefits.

Note 2. Basis of Preparation
The statement of accounts summarise 
the Fund's transactions for the 2019-20 
financial year and its financial position 
at 31 March 2020. The accounts have 
been prepared in accordance with the 
CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 
 2018-19 ("the Code"), which is based upon 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS), as amended for the UK public 
sector.

Paragraph 3.3.1.2 of the Code requires 
disclosure of any accounting standards 
issued but not yet adopted. No such
accounting standards have been identified 
for 2019-20.

The accounts report on the net assets 
available to pay pension benefits. They 
do not take account of obligations to pay 
pensions and benefits which fall due after 
the end of the financial year nor do they 
take into account the actuarial present 
value of promised retirement benefits. 
The Code gives administering authorities 
the option to disclose this information in 
the net assets statement, in the notes to 
the accounts or by appending an actuarial 
report prepared for this purpose. The Fund 
has opted to disclose this information by 
appending an actuarial report.

The accounts have been prepared on a 
going concern basis.

Note 3. Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies
Fund Account:

Contribution income
Normal contributions are accounted for on 
an accruals basis as follows:

Employee contribution rates are set in 
accordance with LGPS regulations, using 
common percentage rates for all schemes 
which rise according to pensionable pay.

Employer contributions are set at the 
percentage rate recommended by the Fund 
actuary for the period to which they relate.

Employer deficit funding contributions are 
accounted for on the basis advised by the 
Fund actuary in the rates and adjustment 
certificate issued to the relevant 
employing body. Additional employers’ 
contributions in respect of ill- health and 
early retirements are accounted for in the 
year the event arose. Any amount due in 
the year but unpaid will be classed as a 
current financial asset. Amounts not due 
until future years are classed as long term 
financial assets.

P
age 227



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 7
7 Transfers to and from other schemes

Transfers in and out relate to members 
who have either joined or left the Fund.

Individual transfers in/out are accounted 
for when received or paid. Transfers 
in from members wishing to use the 
proceeds of their additional voluntary 
contributions (see below) to purchase 
scheme benefits are accounted for on 
a receipts basis and are included in 
Transfers In (Note 8).

Bulk (group) transfers are accounted 
for in accordance with the terms of the 
transfer agreement.

Investment income
Interest income is recognised in the 
Fund account as it accrues, using the 
effective interest rate of the financial 
instrument as at the date of acquisition 
or origination.

Dividend income is recognised on the 
date the shares are quoted ex-dividend. 
Any amount not received by the end 
of the reporting period is disclosed in 
the net assets statement as a current 
financial asset.

Distributions from pooled funds are 
recognised at the date of issue. Any amount 

not received by the end of the reporting 
period is disclosed in the net assets 
statement as a current financial asset.

Property-related income consists 
primarily of rental income. Rental income 
from operating leases on properties 
owned by the Fund is recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease. Any lease incentives granted are 
recognised as an integral part of the total 
rental income, over the term of the lease. 
Contingent rents based on the future 
amount of a factor that changes other 
than with the passage of time, such as 
turnover rents, are only recognised when 
contractually due.

Changes in the value of investments 
(including investment properties) are 
recognised as income and comprise all 
realised and unrealised profits/losses 
during the year.

Benefits payable
Pensions and lump-sum benefits payable 
include all amounts known to be due 
as at the end of the financial year. Any 
amounts due but unpaid are disclosed 
in the net assets statement as current 
liabilities, providing that payment
has been approved.

Taxation
The Fund is a registered public service 
scheme under Section 1(1) of Schedule 
36 of the Finance Act 2004 and as 
such is exempt from UK income tax on 
interest received and from capital gains 
tax on the proceeds of investments 
sold. Income from overseas investments 
suffers withholding tax in the country of 
origin, unless exemption is permitted. 
Irrecoverable tax is accounted for as a 
fund expense as it arises.

Management expenses
The Fund discloses its pension fund 
management expenses in accordance 
with the CIPFA guidance Accounting 
for Local Government Pension Scheme 
Management Expenses (2016). All items 
of expenditure are charged to the Fund 
on an accruals basis.

Net Assets Statement:
Financial assets
All investment assets are included in the 
financial statements on a fair value basis 
as at the reporting date. A financial asset 
is recognised in the net assets statement 
on the date the Fund becomes party to the 
contractual acquisition of the asset. From 
this date any gains or losses arising from 
changes in the fair value of the asset are 
recognised in the fund account.

P
age 228



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 7
8The values of investments as shown 

in the net assets statement have been 
determined at fair value in accordance 
with the requirements of the Code and 
IFRS 13 (see Note 17). For the purposes 
of disclosing levels of fair value hierarchy, 
the Fund has adopted the classification 
guidelines recommended in Practical 
Guidance on Investment Disclosures 
(PRAG/Investment Association, 2016).

Freehold and leasehold properties
Properties are valued annually as at the 
year-end date by independent external 
valuers on a fair value basis and in 
accordance with the Royal Institute of 
Chartered Surveyors’ (RICS) Valuation 
Standards. See Note 17 for more details.

Foreign currency transactions
Dividends, interest and purchases and sales 
of investments in foreign currencies have 
been accounted for at the spot market rates 
at the date of transaction. End-of-year spot 
market exchange rates are used to value 
cash balances held in foreign currency 
bank accounts, overseas investments and 
purchases and sales outstanding at the end 
of the reporting period.

Derivatives
The Fund uses derivative financial 
instruments to manage its exposure to 
specific risks arising from its investment 

activities. The Fund does not hold 
derivatives for speculative purposes.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash in hand and 
demand deposits and includes amounts 
held by the Fund’s external managers.

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly 
liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash 
and that are subject to minimal risk of 
changes in value.

Loans and receivables
Financial assets classed as amortised 
cost are carried in the net asset 
statement at amortised cost, ie the 
outstanding principal receivable as at the 
year-end date plus accrued interest.

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is recognised in the 
net assets statement on the date the 
Fund becomes party to the liability. The 
Fund recognises financial liabilities 
relating to investment trading at fair 
value as at the reporting date, and any 
gains or losses arising from changes 
in the fair value of the liability between 
contract date, the year-end date and the 
eventual settlement date are recognised 
in the fund account as part of the change 
in value of investments.

Other financial liabilities classed as 
amortised cost are carried at amortised 
cost ie the amount carried in the net 
asset statement is the outstanding 
principal repayable plus accrued interest. 
Any interest charged is accounted for 
on an accruals basis and included in 
administration costs.

Actuarial present value of promised 
retirement benefits
The actuarial present value of promised 
retirement benefits is assessed on a 
triennial basis by the scheme actuary 
in accordance with the requirements of 
International Accounting Standard (IAS) 
19 and relevant actuarial standards. As 
permitted under the Code, the Fund has 
opted to disclose the actuarial present 
value of promised retirement benefits 
by way of an actuarial report appended 
to the accounts.

Additional voluntary contributions
The Fund provides an additional 
voluntary contribution (AVC) scheme 
for its members, the assets of which 
are invested separately from those of 
the Fund. AVCs are not included in the 
accounts in accordance with Section 
4(1)(b) of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (Management and Investment 
of funds) Regulations 2016 but are 
disclosed for information in Note 21.

P
age 229



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 7
9 Contingent assets and contingent 

liabilities
A contingent asset arises where an 
event has taken place giving rise to a 
possible asset whose existence will 
only be confirmed or otherwise by the 
occurrence of future events.

A contingent liability arises where an 
event has taken place prior to the year-
end giving rise to a possible financial 
obligation whose existence will only 
be confirmed or otherwise by the 
occurrence of future events. Contingent 
liabilities can also arise in circumstances 
where a provision would be made, except 
that it is not possible at the balance 
sheet date to measure the value of the 
financial obligation reliably.

Contingent assets and liabilities are not 
recognised in the net asset statement 
but are disclosed by way of narrative in 
the notes (see Note 23).

Note 4. Critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies
Pension fund liability
The net Fund liability is re-calculated 
every three years by the appointed 
actuary, with annual updates in the 
intervening years. The methodology used 
is in line with accepted guidelines.

This estimate is subject to significant 
variances based on changes to the 
underlying assumptions which are 
agreed with the actuary and have been 
summarised in Note 19. Actuarial 
re-valuations are used to set future 
contribution rates and underpin the 
Fund’s most significant investment 
management policies, for example in 
terms of the balance struck between 
longer term investment growth and 
short-term yield/return.

Directly held property
The Fund’s property portfolio includes 
a number of directly owned properties 
which are leased commercially to various 
tenants. The Fund has determined 
that these contracts all constitute 
operating lease arrangements under the 
classifications permitted by IAS 7 and the 
Code, therefore the properties are retained 
on the net asset statement at fair value.

Note 5. Assumptions made about the 
future and other major sources of 
uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements 
requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts. 
Estimates and assumptions take account 
of historical experience, current trends 

and future expectations, however actual 
outcomes could be different from the 
assumptions and estimates made.

The items in the net asset statement 
for which there is a significant risk of 
material adjustment the following year 
are as follows:

Actuarial present value of promised 
retirement benefits (Note 20)
Estimation of the net liability to pay 
pensions depends on a number of 
complex judgements relating to the 
discount rate used, salary increases, 
changes in retirement ages, mortality 
rates and returns on Fund assets. A 
firm of consulting actuaries is engaged 
to provide the Fund with expert advice 
about the assumptions to be applied.

Private equity investments (Note 17)
Private equity investments are valued 
at fair value in accordance with 
International Private Equity and Venture 
Capital Valuation Guidelines (2012). 
Investments are not publicly listed and 
as such there is a degree of estimation 
involved in the valuation.

Quarterly valuation statements for 
private equity investments are produced 
a significant length of time after the 

P
age 230



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 8
0quarter end, and consequently 'lagged' 

valuations are included in the accounts.  
This had lead to particular uncertainty in 
valuations this year following the market 
falls experienced in March 2020.

Freehold, leasehold property and pooled 
property funds (Note 17)
Valuation techniques are used to 
determine the carrying amount of pooled 
property funds and directly held freehold 
and leasehold property. Where possible 
these valuation techniques are based 
on observable data but where this is not 
possible management uses the best 
available data.

The independent valuation of the Fund's 
investment property assets as at 31 
March 2020 include a ‘material valuation 
uncertainty’ clause due to the potential 
impacts of COVID-19 on property values.

Note 6. Events after the reporting date
There are events, both favourable and 
unfavourable, that can occur between 
the end of the reporting period and the 
date when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue. There are events 
that provide additional information about 

conditions that existed at the end of the 
reporting period (adjusting events), and 
events that occur after the reporting 
period (non-adjusting events).

Brexit

Whilst the United Kingdom has now 
offiicially left the European Union (EU), 
there is a transition period during which 
further work and negotiation is required 
on how the parties will transact business 
and interact after that.  The terms of 
future trading agreements are still to be 
agreed, but it is expected that these will 
have short and long term implications for 
the Fund's assets and liabilities.

COVID-19

Since 31 December 2019, the spread of 
COVID-19 has severely impacted many 
economies around the world.  In many 
countries, organisations are being forced 
to cease or limit operations for long or 
indefinite periods of time. Governments 
and central banks have responded with 
fiscal and monetary interventions to support 
economic conditions, and global financial 
markets have experienced significant 
volatility.  The duration and impact of the 
COVID- 19 pandemic remains unclear at 
this time, and it is not possible to reliably 
estimate the impact on the financial 
position or performance of the Fund.

These are deemed to be non-adjusting 
events as it is not possible to reliably 
estimate the consequences on the 
financial position and/or performance 
of the Fund.  Accordingly the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 March 
2020 have not been adjusted.

Note 7. Contributions receivable
By category:

2018-19 2019-20

£'000 Employer contributions £'000

68,282 Contributions re future 
service costs

71,672

22,325 Contributions re past 
service costs (deficit 
recovery)

26,648

101 Voluntary additional 
contributions

1,138

3,575 Augmentation cost of 
early retirements

9,095

- Exit payments from 
employers

-

7 Exit credits to 
employers

-

94,290 Total employer 
contributions

108,553

27,922 Member contributions 28,216

122,212 Total contributions 
receivable

136,769

P
age 231



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 8
1 By type of employer:

2018-19 2019-20

£'000 £'000

35,391 Administering authority 45,023

83,016 Other scheduled bodies 87,271

3,805 Admitted bodies 4,475

122,212 Total contributions 
receivable

136,769

Note 8. Transfers in from other pension 
funds
All transfers in from other pension funds 
were individual transfers, there were no 
group transfers to the Fund in 2019-20.

Note 9. Benefits payable
By type of employer:

2018-19 2019-20

£'000 £'000

40,151 Administering authority 44,791

72,131 Other scheduled bodies 75,227

7,830 Admitted bodies 7,901 

120,112 Total benefits payable 127,919

Note 10. Payments to and on Account of 
Leavers
Transfers to other pension funds in 2019-20 
included a group transfer of £25M to fund 
the liabilities for all LGPS members of the 

Dorset & Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Authority 
that have now transferred to the Wiltshire 
Pension Fund. All other transfers out to other 
pension funds were individual transfers.

Note 11. Management expenses
The table below shows a breakdown 
of the management expenses incurred 
during the year.

2018-19 2019-20

£'000 £'000
1,745 Administrative expenses 1,538

609 Oversight and 
governance costs

502

 11,991 Investment management 
expenses

 11,969

14,345 Total management 
expenses

14,009

Investment management expenses 
consisted of:

2018-19 2019-20

£'000 £'000
10,002 Investment 

management fees
9,525

282 Performance related fees 429
123 Custody fees 144
385 Transaction costs 245
386 Transition costs 677
813 Other fees and costs 949

11,991 Total investment 
management expenses

11,969

Transaction costs associated with 
pooled investment vehicles are taken 
into account in calculating the bid/offer 
spread of these investments and are 
therefore embedded within the purchase 
and sales costs and not separately 
identifiable.  All other transaction costs 
have been charged to the fund account.

Note 12. Investment income
Rents from properties are shown net  
of operating expenses of £1,019k in 
2019-20 (£1,152k in 2018-19).

Other investment income includes 
income from lending UK and overseas 
equity stock held by the Fund. All 
benefits as a stockholder are retained 
except for the voting rights. The income 
from stock lending was £39k (£71k in 
2018-19) and there was no stock on  
loan as at 31 March 2020.

The absence of fixed interest income 
is a result of all of the Fund's holdings 
in this category of investment being 
held in Pooled Investment Vehicles. 
These vehicles retain income within 
their structure and consequently are 
not separately identified in the financial 
statements but are reflected in the 
valuation of the units in that pooled 
investment.

P
age 232



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 8
2Note 13. Long term investments

In response to the requirements of the 
investment regulations for LGPS funds to 
pool investment assets, Brunel Pension 
Partnership Ltd (Brunel) has been formed 
to oversee the investment assets for 
the Avon, Buckinghamshire, Cornwall, 
Devon, Dorset, Environment Agency, 
Gloucestershire, Oxfordshire, Somerset, 
and Wiltshire LGPS funds.    
 
Each of the ten funds own an equal share 
of Brunel, with share capital invested by 
each fund at a cost of £840k.  The value 
of each fund's shareholding based on 
Brunel's most recently audited accounts 
was £427k (£395k at 31 March 2019).

Note 14. Investments
The following table summarises details 
of the market valuation of the Fund's 
investments as at the reporting date.

% £'000 £'000 %
31 March 2019 

Market Value
Description 31 March 2020 

Market Value
0.00 395 Long Term Investments 427 0.00

395 Brunel Pensions Partnership 427
1.00 29,469 UK Equities - Quoted 11,251 0.40

14,932 Investec -
14,537 Wellington 11,251

14.00 421,913 Overseas Equities - Quoted 160,536 6.00
200,402 Investec 39
221,511 Wellington 160,497

2.70 80,275 Private Equity 98,085 3.60
46,925 HarbourVest 55,016
32,091 Aberdeen Standard 34,001

1,259 Capital Dynamics Global Secondary Fund V 4,509
- Neuberger Berman Private Equity Impact Fund 2,851
- Neuberger Berman SCIOP IV 420
- Ardian LBO Fund 1,288

9.30 281,480 Property (directly owned) 264,665 9.80
281,480 CBRE Global Investors 264,665

Pooled Investment Vehicles
7.10 214,353 Bonds 220,608 8.20

214,353 RLAM Corporate Bond Fund    220,608
20.20 613,642 UK Equities - Quoted 477,121 17.70

52,033 Schroder UK Smaller Companies Equity Fund   41,864
374,013 LGIM UK Equity Index (passive) 304,674
187,596 Brunel (UK Equities) 130,583

12.50 379,228  Global Equities - Quoted      606,013 22.50
98,177 JP Morgan Emerging Markets Diversified Equity -

281,051 LGIM Smart Beta Fund (passive)  241,856
- LGIM World Developed Equities (passive)     168,225
- Brunel Global High Alpha Equities 112,158
- Brunel Emerging Markets Equities   83,774

4.60 139,717 Multi Asset Credit (MAC) 120,339 4.50
139,717 CQS Credit Multi Asset Fund    120,399

P
age 233



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 8
3 31 March 2019

Market Value
Description 31 March 2020

Market Value
% £'000 £'000 %

1.40 41,792 Property 36,350 1.30
8,255 Lend Lease Retail Partnership 6,655

13,415 Standard Life UK Shopping Centre Trust 10,333
17,183 CBRE UK Long Income Property Fund 16,265

2,939 Aberdeen Standard Long Lease Property Fund 3,097
0.00 - Secured Income Funds 8,966 0.30

- Greencoats Secured Income Fund 8,966
5.80 176,110 Diversified Growth Funds 152,783 5.70

176,110 Barings Dynamic Asset Allocation Fund 152,783
4.60 138,742 Infrastructure 186,305 6.90

51,897 Hermes GPE / Infrastructure Funds 81,835
86,845 IFM Global Infrastucture Fund 104,470

13.30 401,129 Liability Driven Investment 306,823 11.50
401,129 Insight LDI Fund 306,823

69.50 2,104,713 Total - Pooled Investments 2,115,368 78.60
3.40 103,022 Cash & Cash Equivalents 54,925 2.00
0.00 733 Derivatives (9,757) -0.40
0.10 2,095 Investment Receivables/(Payables) 1,037 0.00

100.00 3,024,095 Total Investments 2,696,537 100.00

Any single investments exceeding 5% of 
total net assets are in pooled investment 
vehicles made up of underlying investments 
each of which represent substantially less 
than 5% of total net assets.

Investment assets under the 
management of Brunel Pension 
Partnership are valued at £1,062M at 31 
March 2020 (£847M at 31 March 2019).

P
age 234



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 8
4Value  

1 April 2019
Purch’s & 
Derivative 
payments

Sales & 
Derivative 
receipts

Change in 
market value

Value  
31 March 
2020

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Equities - Unquoted 395 - - 32 427
Equities - Quoted 451,382 613,961 (706,829) (186,727) 171,787
Pooled Investment Vehicles 2,104,713 576,938 (443,112) (123,171) 2,115,368
Private Equity 80,275 19,309 (21,249) 19,750 98,085
Property 281,480 2,716 (8,823) (10,708) 264,665
Total Securities 2,918,245 1,212,924 (1,180,013) (300,824) 2,650,332
Forward Foreign Exchange 733 - - (10,490) (9,757)
Total Securities and Derivatives 2,918,978 1,212,924 (1,180,013) (311,314) 2,640,575
Other Investment Balances:
Cash & cash equivalents 103,022 - - (792) 54,925
Other investment assets 3,781 - - - 3,353
Other investment liabilities (1,686) - - - (2,316)
Net Investment Assets 3,024,095 1,212,924 (1,180,013) (312,106) 2,696,537

Note 16. Analysis of derivatives
The Fund's holdings in derivatives are 
to hedge liabilities or exposures to 
reduce risk. To maintain appropriate 
diversification a significanct proportion 
of the Fund's equity portfolio is in 
overseas stock. To reduce the volatility 
associated with fluctuating currency 
rates, the Fund hedges 50% of the US 
Dollar, Euro and Japanese Yen exposure 
within the portfolios managed by the 
Fund's global equties managers. As at 31 
March 2020, the Fund held the following 
open forward currency contracts.

Settlement Currency 
Bought

Local Value Currency 
Sold

Local Value Asset Value Liability 
Value

000s 000s £’000 £’000
1-6 months GBP 163,770 USD 215,085 - (9,458)

GBP 28,150 EUR 32,222 - (409)

GBP 19,868 JPY 2,661,433 - (52)

USD 86,900 GBP 69,829 160 0

JPY 947,427 GBP 7,093 - (1)

EUR 10,921 GBP 9,676 4 0

Open Forward Currency Contracts at 31 March 2020 164 (9,920)

Net Forward Currency Contracts at 31 March 2020 (9,757)

Note 15. Reconciliation of movements in 
investments and derivatives
The following table summarises details 
of purchases, sales and changes in the 
market valuation of investments in the 
fund during the financial year.

P
age 235



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 8
5 Note 17. Fair value of investment assets

All investment assets have been valued 
using fair value techniques which 
represent the highest and best price 
available at the reporting date. Asset 
valuations have been classified into 
three levels, according to the quality 
and reliability of information used to 
determine fair values, as follows:

Level 1:  where fair values are derived 
form unadjusted quoted prices 
in active markets for identical 
assets;

Level 2:   where market prices are not 
available, for example, where 
an asset is traded in a market 
that is not considered to be 
active, but where valuation 
techniques are based 
significantly on observable 
market data;

Level 3:   where at least one input that 
could have a significant effect 
on the valuation of the asset 
is not based on observable 
market data.

31 March 220 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

UK Equities - Quoted 11,251 - - 11,251
Overseas equities - Quoted 160,536 - - 160,536
Pooled Investment Vehicles - 1,883,747 231,621 2,115,368
Private Equity - - 98,085 98,085
Property - - 264,665 264,665
Cash & Cash Equivalents 46,027 8,898 - 54,925
Derivatives - (9,757) - (9,757)
Other investment assets 3,353 - - 3,353
Total 221,167 1,882,888 594,371 2,698,426

31 March 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

UK Equities - Quoted 29,469 - - 29,469
Overseas equities - Quoted 421,913 - - 421,913
Pooled Investment Vehicles - 1,927,120 177,593 2,104,713
Private Equity - - 80,275 80,275
Property - - 281,480 281,480
Cash & Cash Equivalents 90,674 12,348 - 103,022
Derivatives - 733 - 733
Other investment assets 3,781 - - 3,781
Total 545,837 1,940,201 539,348 3,025,386

During the year ended 31 March 2020 there were no transfers between levels 1, 2 or 3 of 
the fair value hierarchy .    

The following tables summarise the Fund's investment assets by class at 31 March 2020 
and at 31 March 2019 measured at fair value according to the above fair value hierarchy.

P
age 236



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 8
6The basis of the valuation of each class of investment asset is summarised below.

Description of Asset Basis of Valuation Key Inputs Key Sensitivities

Level 1:

Market quoted 
investments

Published bid market price ruling on the 
final day of the accounting period.

Not required. Not required.

Exchange traded 
pooled investments

Published exchange prices at the 
reporting date.

Not required. Not required.

Level 2:

Pooled investments - 
unit trusts etc.

Closing bid price where bid and offer 
prices are published, or closing single 
price where single price only is published.

Net Asset Value (NAV) based pricing set 
on a forward pricing basis.

Not required.

Level 3:

Freehold and 
leasehold properties

Valued at fair value at the reporting date 
by Peter Sudell FRICS of BNP Paribas 
Real Estate and Andrew Wells FRICS (the 
Derwent portfolio) of Allsop LLP, both acting 
as independent valuers and in accordance 
with current RICS Valuation Standards.

Existing lease terms and rentals, 
independent market research, nature 
of tenancies, covenant strength for 
existing tenants, assumed vacancy levels, 
estimated rental growth, discount rate.

Significant changes in rental growth, 
vacancy levels or the discount rate could 
affect valuations, as could more general 
changes to market prices.

Unquoted equity Comparable valuation of similar 
companies in accordance with 
International Private Equity and Venture 
Capital Valuation Guidelines (2012).

Earnings (EBITDA) and revenue multiples, 
discount for lack of marketability, control 
premium.

Valuations could be affected by material 
events occurring between the date of 
the financial statements provided and 
the Fund's reporting date, changes to 
expected cashflows, differences between 
audited and unaudited accounts.

Property funds Underlying assets valued at fair value 
at the reporting date by each fund's 
valuers in accordance with current RICS 
Valuation Standards, taking account of 
other financial assets and liabilities within 
the fund structure.

Existing lease terms and rentals, 
independent market research, nature 
of tenancies, covenant strength for 
existing tenants, assumed vacancy levels, 
estimated rental growth, discount rate.

Significant changes in rental growth, 
vacancy levels or the discount rate could 
affect valuations, as could more general 
changes to market prices.

P
age 237



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 8
7 Sensitivity of assets valued at Level 3

Having analysed historical data and current market trends, and consulted with 
independent investment advisors, the Fund has determined that the valuation 
methods described above are likely to be accurate within the following ranges, 
and has set out below the consequent potential impact on the closing values of 
investments held at 31 March 2020.

Valuation 
range

Value at 31
March 2020

Value on 
Increase

Value on 
Decrease

  % £’000 £’000 £’000
(+/-)

Pooled Investment Vehicles 15.00 231,621 266,364 196,878
Private Equity 15.00 98,085 112,798 83,372
Property 15.00 264,665 304,365 224,965
Total 594,371 683,527 505,215

Note 18. Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments
The Fund's primary long-term risk is that its assets will fall short of its liabilities 
(i.e. promised benefits payable to members). Therefore the aim of investment risk 
management is to minimise the risk of an overall reduction in the value of the Fund 
and to maximise the opportunities for gains across the whole Fund portfolio. The 
Fund achieves this through asset diversification to reduce exposure to market risk 
(price risk, interest rate risk and currency risk) and credit risk to an acceptable level. 
In addition, the Fund manages its liquidity risk to ensure there is sufficient liquidity to 
meet its forecast cash flows.

Responsibility for the Fund's risk management strategy rests with the Committee. 
The Committee receives regular reports from each investment manager and from its 
Independent Adviser on the nature of the investments made and their associated risks.

(a) Market Risk
Market risk is the risk of loss resulting from general market fluctuations in equity and 
commodity prices, interest and foreign exchange rates and credit spreads. The Fund 
is exposed to market risk from its investment activities, particularly through its equity 

holdings. In general, excessive volatility 
in market risk is managed through the 
diversification of the portfolio in terms 
of geographical and industry sectors 
and individual securities, and by gaining 
exposure to different markets through 
different investment managers. Exposure 
to specific markets and asset classes is 
limited by applying strategic targets to 
asset allocation, which are agreed and 
monitored by the Committee.

(a) (i) Other Price Risk
Other price risk represents the risk 
that the value of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate as a result of changes 
in market prices (other than those 
arising from interest rate risk or foreign 
exchange risk), whether those changes 
are caused by factors specific to the 
individual instrument or its issuer or 
factors affecting all such instruments 
in the market. The Fund's investment 
managers mitigate this risk through 
diversification in line with their own 
investment strategies.

P
age 238



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 8
8

As at 31 March 2020 Value Change Increase Decrease
£’000 % £’000 £’000

UK equities - quoted 11,251 15.00 1,688 (1,688)
Overseas equities - quoted 160,536 15.00 24,080 (24,080)
Pooled Investment Vehicles 2,115,368 15.00 317,305 (317,305)
Private Equity 98,085 15.00 14,713 (14,713)
Property 264,665 15.00 39,700 (39,700)
Cash & cash equivalents 54,925 0.00 - -
Derivatives (9,757) 15.00 (1,464) 1,464
Other investment assets 3,353 0.00 - -
Total 2,698,426 14.68 396,022 (396,022)

(a) (ii) Interest Rate Risk
The Fund invests in financial assets for the primary purpose of obtaining a return 
on investments on behalf of scheme members. These investments are subject to 
interest rate risks, which represent the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of 
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The 
Fund's exposure to interest rate movements on those investments at 31 March 2020 
and 2019 are provided below, based on underlying financial assets at fair value.

As at 31 March 2020 Market 
Value

Change in net 
assets

+1% -1%
£'000 £'000 £'000

Cash & cash equivalents 54,925 549 (549)
Assets held in pooled investment vehicles:
Bonds 220,608 2,206 (2,206)
Multi Asset Credit (MAC) 120,399 1,204 (1,204
Liability Driven 
Investment (LDI)

306,823 3,068 (3,068)

Total 702,755 7,028 (7,028)

As at 31 March 2019 Market 
Value

Change in net 
assets

+1% -1%
£'000 £'000 £'000

Cash & cash equivalents 103,022 1,030 (1,030)
Assets held in pooled investment vehicles:
Bonds 214,353 2,144 (2,144)
Multi Asset Credit (MAC) 139,717 1,397 (1,397)
Liability Driven 
Investment (LDI)

401,129 4,011 (4,011)

Total 858,221 8,582 (8,582)

As at 31 March 2019 Value Change Increase Decrease
£’000 % £’000 £’000

UK equities - quoted 29,469 15.00 4,420 (4,420)
Overseas equities - quoted 421,913 15.00 63,287 (63,287)
Pooled Investment Vehicles 2,104,713 15.00 315,707 (315,707)
Private Equity 80,275 15.00 12,041 (12,041)
Property 281,480 15.00 42,222 (42,222)
Cash & cash equivalents 103,022 0.00 - -
Derivatives 733 15.00 110 (110)
Other investment assets  3,781 0.00 - -
Total     3,025,386 14.47 437,787 (437,787)

The following table demonstrates the change in the net assets available to pay 
benefits if the market price for each class of investment had increased or decreased 
by 15%, excluding temporary investments and cash deposits.

Interest rates vary and can impact the value 
of the net assets available to pay benefits to 
scheme members. This analysis assumes 
that all other variables, in particular foreign 
currency rates, remain constant. The 
analysis is performed on the same basis for 
the year ended 31 March 2019.

An increase or decrease of 1% (100 basis 
points) in interest rates at the reporting date 
would have increased or decreased the 
change for the year in net assets available to 
pay benefits by the amount shown below.

P
age 239



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 8
9 (a) (iii) Currency Risk

Currency risk represents the risk 
that future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. The 
Fund is exposed to currency risk on any 
cash balances and investment assets 
that are not denominated in UK sterling.

To mitigate the effect of movements 
in foreign exchange rates against its 
overseas equities investments, the Fund 
has in place a 50% passive currency 
hedge against the three major currencies, 
the US Dollar, the Euro and the Japanese 
Yen, and 50% of its holdings in the LGIM 
Smart Beta fund are in hedged units.

Following analysis of historical data, 
the Fund considers the likely volatility 
associated with foreign exhange rates 
to be +/- 10% in total. The following 
summarises the Fund's exposure to 
currency exchange rate movements on 
its investments net of these hedges.

As at  
31 March 
2020

Total 
Exposure

Unhedged 
Exposure

Potential
Movement

£’000 £’000 £'000
Overseas 
equities - 
quoted

160,536 80,268 8,027

Pooled 
Investment 
Vehicles

983,665 722,546 72,255

Private 
Equity

98,085 98,085 9,809

Total 1,242,286 900,899 90,090

As at  
31 March 
2019

Total 
Exposure

Unhedged 
Exposure

Potential
Movement

£’000 £’000 £'000
Overseas 
equities - 
quoted

421,913 210,957 21,096

Pooled 
Investment 
Vehicles

781,900 641,375 64,137

Private 
Equity

80,275 80,275 8,028

Total 1,284,088 932,606 93,261

(b) Credit Risk
Credit risk represents the risk that the 
counterparty to the financial instrument 
will fail to discharge an obligation 
and cause the Pension Fund to incur 
a financial loss. The market values 
of investments generally reflect an 
assessment of credit in their pricing and 

consequently the risk of loss is implicitly 
provided for in the carrying value of the 
Fund's financial assets and liabilities.

The selection of high quality 
counterparties, brokers and financial 
institutions minimises credit risk that 
may occur though the failure to settle 
transactions in a timely manner. The 
Fund's exposure to concentrations of 
credit risk to individual counterparties 
comprises of temporary investments 
and bonds held in pooled investment 
vehicles. The contractual credit risk 
is represented by the net payment or 
receipt that remains outstanding.

Deposits are not made with banks 
and financial institutions unless they 
are rated independently and meet the  
Fund's credit criteria. The Fund also sets 
limits as to the maximum percentage of 
deposits placed with any one individual 
institution. In addition, to enable 
diversification, the Fund is able to invest 
in Money Market Funds, all of which 
have a AAA rating from the leading credit 
rating agencies.

P
age 240



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 9
0

Investment 31 March 
2020

31 March 
2019

£'000 £'000
Bank Account Deposits 35,225 44,572
Money Market Funds 19,700 58,450
Assets held in pooled investment vehicles:

Bonds 220,608 214,353
Multi Asset Credit (MAC) 120,399 139,717
Liability Driven 
Investment (LDI)

306,823 401,129

Total 702,755 858,221

(c) Liquidity Risk   
Liquidity risk represents the risk that the 
Fund will not be able to meet its financial 
obligations as they fall due. Such risks 
are mitigated by maintaining a detailed 
cashflow model and taking appropriate 
steps to ensure that there is adequate cash 
available to meet liabilities as they fall due.

The Fund has immediate access to its 
cash holdings and defines liquid assets 
as assets that can be converted to cash 
within three months notice, subject to 
normal market conditions.  As at 31 
March 2020, liquid assets were £2,173M 
representing 80% of total net assets 
(£2,486m at 31 March 2019 representing 
82% of total net assets at that date).

Note 19. Funding arrangements
In accordance with the LGPS Regulations, 
the Fund's actuary, Barnett Waddingham, 
undertakes a funding valuation every 
three years for the purpose of setting 
employer contribution rates for the 
forthcoming triennial period. The most 
recent such valuation took place as 
at 31 March 2019, setting employer 
contribution rates for the period 1 April 
2020 to 31 March 2023. 

Contribution rates for the year ending 
31 March 2020 were set at the valuation 
calculated as at 31 March 2016. The 
common contribution rates set at the 
2016 valuation for the three year period 
ending 31 March 2020 are as follows.

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20
Future service 
contributions

15.60% 15.60% 15.60%

Deficit recovery 
contributions

4.40% 5.10% 5.80%

Total employer 
contributions

20.00% 20.70% 21.40%

The contribution rates paid by each 
employer, in addition to those paid by 
members of the scheme, are set to be 
sufficient to meet the liabilities that build 
up each year within the Fund in respect 
of the benefits earned by each employer's 
active members of the Fund during the 

year plus an amount to reflect each 
participating employer's share of the value 
of the Fund's assets compared with the 
liabilities that have already accrued at the 
valuation date. Each employer pays an 
individual rate of contributions to reflect its 
own particular circumstances and funding 
position within the Fund. The contribution 
rates were calculated using the projected 
unit method taking account of market 
conditions at the valuation date.

At the 2019 valuation, the Fund was 
assessed as 92% funded (83% at the 2016 
valuation) with a deficit recovery period 
of no more than 19 years (22 years at the 
2016 valuation). The key assumptions 
applied by the actuary for the 2019 and 
2016 valuations are summarised below. 
To be consistent with the market value of 
assets, the liabilities were valued allowing 
for expected future investment returns and 
increases to benefits as determined by 
market levels at the valuation date.

Valuation 
2019

Valuation 
2016

Annual rate of return on 
investments

5.00% 5.40%

Annual rate of increases 
in pay (long term)

3.60% 3.90%

Annual rate of inflation 
(CPI)

2.60% 2.40%

The Fund's exposure to credit risk at  
31 March 2020 is the carrying amount of 
the financial assets. 

P
age 241



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 9
1 Note 20. Actuarial present value of 

promised retirement benefits 

Estimation of the net liability to pay 
pensions depends on a number of 
complex judgements relating to the 
discount rate used, salary increases, 
changes in retirement ages, mortality 
rates and returns on Fund assets. A 
firm of consulting actuaries is engaged 
to provide the Fund with expert advice 
about the assumptions to be applied.

This valuation as at 31 March 2020 is set 
out in Appendix D Pension Fund - IAS 26 
Disclosures to these financial statements 
2019-20.

Note 21. Additional Voluntary 
Contributions (AVC)
The Council administers an in-house AVC 
Scheme with two designated providers, 
Prudential and Utmost Life and Pensions 
Limited (formerly Equitable Life). The 
amounts contributed to AVC plans by 
employees who are members of the 
pension scheme do not form any part of, 
and are not included in, the Fund accounts.

Each employer in the Fund is responsible 
for collecting from their own employees 
and paying to the AVC provider those 
contributions due on AVC plans. Dorset 

Council, in its capacity as a scheme 
employer, deducted and paid to the AVC 
providers a total of £418k in 2019-20 
(£352k in 2018-19).

Note 22. Related party transactions
Related party issues arise primarily 
from the fact that the Council is the 
administering authority for the Fund. The 
Council also has various operational, 
contractual and financial dealings with a 
number of scheduled and admitted bodies 
of the Fund, however, these activities 
do not relate to the Council's role as 
administering authority for the Fund.

The Council remits monthly contributions 
to the Fund in arrears, and March 2020 
contributions of £2.4M were accrued 
as at 31 March 2020. Management and 
administration costs of £1.7M were incurred 
by the Council and recharged to the Fund 
in 2019-20. In addition at any given time 
there may be amounts which have been 
paid or received by both the Council or the 
Fund where indebtedness arises between 
the two. These can arise due to operational 
necessity or where single transactions have 
elements relating to both the Council and 
the Fund and are settled on a regular basis.

Senior officers of the Council are members 
of the Fund as employee contributors. 

As at 31 March 2020, one member of the 
Committee was a contributing member 
of the Fund and one member of the 
Committee was a deferred member of the 
Fund. The key management personnel 
of the Fund are the members of the 
Committee, the Council's Chief Financial 
Officer (who is the Fund Administrator) 
and the Deputy Chief Financial Officer. The 
£1.7M recharge from the Council includes 
a charge of £19,000 for the Deputy Chief 
Financial Officer's time spent working for 
the Fund.

Note 23. Contingent assets, liabilities 
and contractual commitments
Recovery of withholding tax
The Fund is continuing the process required 
to recover withholding tax from various 
EU investments following rulings requiring 
equal treatment for all EU investors. These 
claims will be retrospective and will cover 
a varying number of years depending on 
the domicile. Neither the amount nor the 
expected time of settlement are known so 
consequently the financial statements as at 
31 March 2020 do not reflect any potential 
recovery of tax.

P
age 242



Pe
ns

io
n 

Fu
nd

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
 | 

 9
2Impact of the McCloud and Sargeant 

judgements
The Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) introduced a new Career Average 
Revalued Earnings (CARE) benefit 
structure with effect from 1 April 2014.  For 
members who were 10 years or less from 
Normal Retirement Age on 1 April 2012, 
an ‘underpin’ was provided based on the 
existing final salary scheme to provide 
transitional protection to those members.

In December 2018, the Court of Appeal 
found that transitional protections in 
the pension schemes for firefighters 
("McCloud") and the judiciary ("Sargeant") 
resulted in unlawful age discrimination.  
The implications of the ruling are expected 
to apply to all public sector schemes 
including the LGPS. The Government 
sought permission to appeal this decision 
to the Supreme Court but that permission 
was denied on 27 June 2019.  There 
remains considerable uncertainty about the 
eventual remedy that may be put in place 
for the LGPS.

The Government Actuary's Department’s 
(GAD) estimated the potential impact to 
be between 0.1% and 3.2% of total LGPS 
active member liabilities, depending on a 
number of assumptions.  Whilst this looks 
at the national picture, the impact on any 

given fund and its scheme employers 
could be significantly different.  The Fund’s 
actuary have calculated the estimated 
impact on liabilities for the main employers 
in the Fund based on the assumptions used 
by GAD.  These results range from 0.4% to 
0.8% of total liabilities for each employer.

P
age 243



Asset Pools

P
age 244



As
se

t P
oo

ls
  |

  9
4

Background 
In 2015 the Department of Communities 
and Local Government (as it then was) 
issued LGPS: Investment Reform Criteria 
and Guidance which set out how the 
government expected funds to establish 
asset pooling arrangements. The 
objective was to deliver:

•  Benefits of scale. 

•  Strong governance and decision 
making. 

•  Reduced costs and excellent value for 
money, and

•  An improved capacity and capability 
to invest in infrastructure.

  
This has led to the creation of eight asset 
pools which have significantly changed 
the previous approach to investing, 
although it should be stressed that the 
responsibility for determining asset 
allocations and the investment strategy 
remains with individual pension funds. 

As a result of the investment pooling 
agenda, the Dorset Fund joined with nine 
other LGPS administering authorities 

Asset Pools
(Avon, Buckinghamshire, Cornwall, Devon, 
Environmental Agency, Gloucestershire, 
Oxfordshire, Somerset and Wiltshire) to 
form the Brunel Pension Partnership. 

In summary:

•  Brunel has ten shareholders, each with a 
ten percent share in the business.

•  Brunel’s shareholders are Brunel’s 
client funds.

•  Brunel is one of eight national Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
pools in England and Wales.

Dorset County Council approved the 
business case for Brunel in January 2017, 
based on estimated potential fee savings 
of £550 million over a 20 year period 
across the ten funds, of which Dorset’s 
share was £74 million. The project would 
see initial costs, but in Dorset’s case was 
expected to break even by 2021-22. 
 
The expected costs and savings for the 
Dorset, as per the original business case 
approved in January 2017, and then 
submitted to Government, are set out in 
the following table. 

 
Table 1:  Expected Costs and Savings from Pooling (as per Business Case)

2016-
2017

2017-
2018

2018-
2019

2019-
2020

2020-
2021

2021-
2022

2022-
2023

2023-
2024

2024-
2025

2025-
2026

2026-
2036

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Set up costs 117 1,066 - - - - - - - - - 1,183

Ongoing Brunel 
Costs

- - 487 637 657 679 701 724 747 772 9,247 14,650

Dorset Fund 
Savings

- - (125) (129) (133) (137) (141) (145) (149) (154) (1,818) (2,931)

Transition costs - - 1,283 1,896 123 - - - - - - 3,301

Fee savings - - (59) (1,499) (2,562) (2,986) (3,453) (3,953) (4,232) (4,527) (66,788) (90,058)

Net costs / 
(savings)

117 1,066 1,586 905 (1,915) (2,444) (2,893) (3,374) (3,634) (3,909) (59,359) (73,855)

P
age 245



As
se

t P
oo

ls
  |

  9
5 Following approval of the business case, 

the Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd was 
established in July 2017, as a company 
wholly owned by the Administering 
Authorities (in equal shares) that 
participate in the pool. The company 
is authorised by the Financial Conduct 
Authority (FCA). It is responsible for 
implementing the detailed Strategic 
Asset Allocations of the participating 
funds by investing Funds’ assets within 
defined outcome focused investment 
portfolios. In particular, it researches and 
selects the external managers or pooled 
funds needed to meet the investment 
objective of each portfolio.
 
Now that Brunel is operational, the 
financial performance of the pool will 
be monitored to ensure that Brunel 
is delivering on the key objectives 
of investment pooling. This includes 
reporting of the costs associated with 
the appointment and management of 
the pool company including set up costs, 
investment management expenses and 
the oversight and monitoring of Brunel 
by the client funds. The set up and 
transition costs incurred to date are set 
out in the following table.

Table 2:  Investment Pool Set Up Costs

The Dorset Fund transitioned its first assets to Brunel in July 2018, comprising the allocation 
to passive equities. The savings achieved to date are set out in the following table. 

Table 3:  Investment Fee Savings from Pooling 

This analysis shows the fee savings achieved for the assets that have transitioned to 
Brunel portfolios against the fees charged at the time the business case for pooling 
was prepared in 2016. The price variance shows the savings or costs arising from 
changes in fees if asset values had remained unchanged, and the quantity variance 
shows the additional savings or costs from changes in asset values.

2019-20 Cumulative
Direct Indirect Total to date
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Set Up Costs
Recruitment  -    -    -    18 
Legal  -    -    -    133 
Consulting, Advisory & Procurement  -    -    -    82 
Other support costs e.g. IT, accommodation  -    -    -    0 
Share purchase / subscription costs  -    -    -    840 
Total Set Up Costs  -    -    -    1,072 
Transition Costs
Transition fees - 67 67 67
Taxation - 160 160 433
Other transition costs - 737 737 1,581
Total Transition Costs  -   964 964 2,081

Value OBC
31-Mar-16

Value
31-Mar-20

Price
Variance

Quantity
Variance

Total Saving
/ (Cost)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
UK Passive Equities 365,654 304,676 -33 0 -33
UK Active Equities 218,539 130,585 1,099 423 1,522
Global Passive Equities 0 168,227 9 -17 -9
Smart Beta Passive Equities 227,083 241,858 179 154 333
Emerging Market Equities 65,186 83,777 31 -93 -61
High Alpha Global Equities 0 112,161 130 -303 -173
Private Markets -5 301 296
Total 876,462 1,041,285 1,410 465 1,875

P
age 246



As
se

t P
oo

ls
  |

  9
6A summary of the costs and savings to date compared to the original business case 

is provided in the following table. 

Table 4: Expected vs Actual Costs and Savings to Date 
2018-19 2019-20

Budget Actual Budget Actual

In Year To date In Year To date In Year To date In Year To date

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Set up costs 0 1,183 0 1,072 0 1,183 0 1,072

Ongoing Brunel Costs 487 487 807 807 637 1,124 1,006 1,813

Clients Savings (125) (125) (125) (125) (129) (254) (129) (254)

Transition costs 1,283 1,283 1,118 1,118 1,896 3,179 964 2,082

Fee savings (59) (59) (358) (358) (1,499) (1,558) (1,052) (1,410)

Net costs / (savings) 1,586 2,769 1,442 2,514 905 3,673 789 3,303

P
age 247



Other Material

P
age 248



O
th

er
 M

at
er

ia
l  

|  
98

Knowledge and Skills 
There is a requirement for all those 
involved in the management and oversight 
of public sector pension funds (whether 
members or officers) to ensure they 
achieve the level of knowledge and skill 
necessary for performing their duties and 
responsibilities effectively.

Dorset County Pension Fund recognises 
the importance of ensuring that it has 
the necessary resources to discharge its 
pensions administration responsibilities 
and that all staff and members charged 
with the financial administration, 
governance and decision-making with 
regard to the pension scheme are fully 
equipped with the knowledge and skills to 
discharge the duties and responsibilities 
allocated to them.

The Dorset County Pension Fund seeks 
to utilise individuals who are both capable 
and experienced and it will provide/arrange 
training for staff and members of the 
pensions decision-making and governance 
bodies to enable them to acquire and 
maintain an appropriate level of expertise, 
knowledge and skills.

Other Material
Training
All public sector organisations charged 
with the financial management of 
pension schemes will be aware of the 
schemes’ growing complexity.  Public 
sector pension scheme financial 
management demands appropriate 
skills, including knowledge of financial 
markets and products; financial services 
procurement; pensions accounting and 
auditing; actuarial practices; investment 
performance and risk management and 
the implications of legal and regulatory 
requirements.
 
Every public sector organisation should 
secure appropriate training, having 
assessed the professional competence 
of both those involved in pension 
scheme financial management and 
those with a policy, management and/or 
oversight role. They should also ensure 
that those charged with pension scheme 
governance have access to the skills and 
knowledge they require to carry out this 
role effectively. 

CIPFA has published its Pensions 
Finance Knowledge and Skills Framework 

as a basis for the training and 
development of those involved in pension 
scheme finances. The six areas within 
the Knowledge and Skills framework are:

•  Pensions legislative and governance 
context;

•  Pensions accounting and auditing 
standards; 

•  Financial services procurement and 
relationship management;

•  Investment performance and risk 
management; 

•  Financial markets and product 
knowledge; 

•  Actuarial methods, standards and 
practices.

As an administering authority of the 
Local Government Pension Scheme, 
Dorset Council has always recognised 
the importance of ensuring that all 
officers and members of the Pension 
Fund Committee charged with the 
financial management and decision 
making with regard to the pension 
scheme are fully equipped with the 
knowledge and skills to discharge the 

P
age 249



O
th

er
 M

at
er

ia
l  

|  
99 duties and responsibilities allocated to 

them. The Fund provides and arranges 
training for officers and members of the 
Pension Fund Committee to enable them 
to acquire and maintain an appropriate 
level of expertise, knowledge and skills.

Member and Officer Training
During 2019-20 knowledge was gained 
at various meetings with investment 
managers in addition to individual 
attendance at conferences and seminars. 
At each Pension Fund Committee Brunel 
Pension Partnership presented with a 
range of topics including:

•  Reasons for pooling;

•  Update on Governance arrangements;

•  Update on portfolio development;

•  Responsible Investment including 
their Climate Change Policy. 

The aim of the additional training and 
education is to reflect current issues 
at seminars and conferences held by 
industry recognised professionals and 
by the Funds existing advisers and 
fund managers. Special meetings are 
convened if considered necessary.

P
age 250



O
th

er
 M

at
er

ia
l  

|  
10

0Glossary of Terms
Actuarial Valuation 
An Actuarial Valuation is a three yearly 
valuation of the Fund. It is undertaken by 
the Actuary into the liability of the Fund 
to meet its liabilities. For the LGPS the 
Fund Actuary will assess the funding level 
of each participating employer and agree 
contribution rates.

Actuary
An independent consultant who advises 
the Fund and reviews the financial 
position of the Fund every three years. 
The Actuary produces a report, known 
as the actuarial report, which compares 
the Fund’s assets with the liabilities 
and prescribes the rates at which the 
employing bodies must contribute.

Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVCs)
AVCs are paid by a contributor who 
decides to supplement their pension 
by paying extra contributions to the 
Scheme’s AVC provider.

Admitted Bodies
These are employers who have been 
allowed into the Fund at the Council’s 
discretion.

Asset Allocation
The apportionment of the Fund’s assets 
between different types of investments 
(or asset classes). 

Assets
These are everything that the pension 
fund holds. They include investments, 
bank balances and debtors.

Benchmark
A measure against which pension fund 
management performance is judged. A 
series of appropriate indices is chosen 
which reflects the requirements of the 
trustees. Usually a target is set which 
requires an agreed percentage better 
performance from the fund than the 
benchmark. 

Bonds
Loans made to an issuer (often a 
government or a company) which 
undertakes to repay the loan at an agreed 
later date. The term refers generically to 
corporate bonds or government bonds 
(gilts).

Brunel Pension Partnership (BPP Ltd)
A partnership of ten LGPS funds to pool the 
management of their investment assets. 
The individual funds will retain responsibility 
for setting investment strategy; BPP Ltd, a 

company owned by the ten administering 
authorities will implement the strategies 
on behalf of the funds. The funds in the 
partnership are: Avon, Buckinghamshire, 
Cornwall, Devon, Dorset, Environment 
Agency, Gloucestershire, Oxfordshire, 
Somerset and Wiltshire.

Collateral
An asset (cash or securities) posted from 
one counterparty to another, and held 
as a guarantee against the value of a 
specified of trades or other transactions.

Consumer Price Index (CPI)
Measure of price inflation in the UK. 
It differs from the RPI in the range of 
goods and services included, and the 
way the index is constructed.

Corporate Governance
Issues relating to the way in which a 
company ensures that it is attaching 
maximum importance to the interest of 
its shareholders and how shareholders 
can influence management. 

Custody/Custodian
The safekeeping of securities by a 
financial institution. The Custodian keeps 
a register of holdings and will collect 
income and distribute monies according 
to client instruction.

P
age 251



O
th

er
 M

at
er

ia
l  

|  
10

1 Deferred Pensioners
A deferred member is one that has 
stopped paying into the scheme but is 
not yet receiving a pension. As a deferred 
member you will receive an Annual Benefit 
Statement which shows the benefits you 
have accrued, and any pension increase 
that has been applied and how much they 
will be worth on retirement.

Emerging Markets
Developing economies in Latin America, 
Africa, Asia and the Middle East as well 
as areas of Europe and the Far East. 
Investment returns within these markets 
tend to more volatile than those in more 
established markets.

Equities
Ordinary shares in UK and overseas 
companies traded on a stock exchange. 
Shareholders have an interest in the 
profits of the company and are entitled to 
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

Fund Administrator
The person who is responsible for 
managing the pension fund.

Fund of Funds
Funds whose principle activity is investing 
in other investment funds. Investors in 
funds of funds can increase their level of 
diversification and take advantage of the 
experience and research capability of the 
fund of funds manager.

Funding Level
The ratio of a fund’s assets to the 
estimated value of its past service 
liabilities. This is expressed as a 
percentage. If a fund has a funding level 
of 110% it owns 10% more assets than it 
currently requires to meet its liabilities.

Hedge
A means of protecting against financial 
loss, normally by taking an offsetting 
position in a related investment.

Infrastructure
The public facilities and services needed 
to support residential development, 
including highways, bridges, schools and 
sewer and water systems.

Investment Strategy
The Fund’s long-term distribution of 
assets amongst various asset classes, 
taking into consideration the aim of the 
Pension Fund Committee and the attitude 
to risk and timescale.

LGPS
The Local Government Pension Scheme, 
a public sector pension arrangement put 
in place via Government Regulations, for 
workers in local government.

Liabilities
Financial liabilities are debts owed to 
creditors for outstanding payments due 
to be paid. 

Pension liabilities are the pension 
benefits and payments that are due to be 
paid when someone retires.

Market Value
The price at which an asset might 
reasonably be expected to be sold in an 
open market.

Membership
Local authority employment during 
which time pension contributions were 
made or redeemed to have been made 
providing entitlement to benefits under 
the scheme.

Myner’s review
Review carried out by Paul Myners 
on behalf of the Chancellor of the UK 
government. The review published in March 
2001, investigated the challenges facing 
institutional investment decision making.

P
age 252



Passive Management
A style of investment management that 
seeks to attain performance equal to 
market or index returns.

Performance Measurement
Calculation of a Fund’s historic return on 
its investments.

Private Equity
Private equity is capital that is not noted 
on a public exchange. Private equity is 
composed of funds and investors that 
directly invest in private companies, or that 
engage in buyouts of public companies, 
resulting in the delisting of public equity.

Scheduled Body
A scheduled body is a statutorily defined 
body within the scheme’s regulations 
and has a statutory obligation to 
participate in the Scheme.

Stock Lending
Stock lending is the act of loaning a 
stock, derivative or other security to 
an investor or firm. Securities lending 
requires the borrower to put up collateral, 
whether cash, security or a letter of 
credit. When a security is loaned, the title 
and the ownership are also transferred to 
the borrower and voting rights are lost.

Transfer Payment
A payment made from one pension 
scheme to another in lieu of benefits 
which have accrued to the member 
or members concerned, to enable the 
receiving pension scheme to provide 
alternative benefits.

O
th

er
 M

at
er

ia
l  

|  
10

2

P
age 253



Appendices

P
age 254



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 1
- G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
Po

lic
y 

an
d 

Co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

St
at

em
en

t  
|  

10
4

Appendix 1
Governance Policy and 
Compliance Statement

1.   Background
1.1  All Local Government Pension 

Scheme (LGPS) Funds in England 
and Wales are required to publish 
a Statement by 1 April 2006, under 
the LGPS (Amendment) (No. 2) 
Regulations 2005 which came into 
force on 14 December 2005.

1.2  The statement reflects the current 
governance position for the Fund 
and as such has been prepared 
by the administering authority 
in consultation with appropriate 
interested persons.

2.     Requirement for the Governance 
Policy Statement

2.1  The regulations on governance policy 
statements require an administering 
authority, after consultation with such 
persons as they consider appropriate, 
to prepare, maintain and publish a 
written statement setting out;

 (a)  whether it delegates its functions 
in relation to maintaining a pension 
fund to a committee, sub-committee 
or officer of the authority;

 (b) and, if so, it must state:

•  the frequency of any committee/sub-
committee meetings;

•  the terms of reference, structure 
and operational procedures of the 
delegation;

•  whether the committee/sub 
committee includes representatives of:
 -  employing authorities (including 

non-scheme employers)
 - scheme members

•  and, if there are such 
representatives, whether they have 
voting rights.

2.2  Thus, the policy statement should 
include information about all of the 
administering authority’s pension 
fund governance arrangements. 
Information about the representation 
of employers should cover any 
arrangements for representing 
admitted body employers  
(non-scheme employers).

2.3  The requirement was updated in 
2008 by Regulation 31 of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
(Administration) Regulations with 
the additional requirement for 
administering authorities to state 
“the extent to which a delegation, or 
the absence of a delegation, complies 
with guidance given by the Secretary 
of State and, to the extent that it does 
not so comply, the reasons for not 
complying”.

2.4  The guidance was issued by the 
Department for Communities and 
Local Government (CLG) in final form 
in November 2008.  The Schedule to 
this statement describes the extent of 
compliance as required by, and in the 
format recommended in, the guidance.

2.5   The statement must be revised 
and published by the administering 
authority following a material change 
in policy on any of the matters set 
out above.

Appendices

P
age 255



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 1
- G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
Po

lic
y 

an
d 

Co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

St
at

em
en

t  
|  

10
5 2.6  In 2013 the Public Service Pensions 

Act required that each public sector 
scheme establish a Pension Board. 
The subsequent Local Government 
Pension Scheme Governance 
regulations 2015 specify the role of the 
Board for LGPS funds. The regulations 
require the creation of a Local Board 
to assist the scheme manager (in 
Dorset’s case, The Pension Fund 
Committee) in securing compliance 
with regulations, legislation relating 
to governance and administration of 
the Scheme, and any requirements 
imposed by the Pensions Regulator.

3.    Governance of the Dorset County 
Pension Fund

3.1  Under the cabinet structure in local 
government, management of the 
pension fund is a non-executive 
function and this is reflected in the 
governance structure that is set out 
below. Under this system the Council 
has delegated all aspects of the 
management of the Pension scheme 
to the Pension Fund Committee.  
The day to day administration of 
the Fund is delegated to the Fund 
Administrator working within the 
policy decisions made by the 
Committees and any relevant 
regulations set by the CLG.

Pension Fund Committee
3.2  The formal terms of reference of the 

Pension Fund Committee as set by 
the Council are:

•  To exercise all functions of the Council 
as administering authority under Local 
Government Superannuation Act and 
Regulations and deal with all matters 
relating thereto. 

3.3  In broader terms this means that the 
Committee has responsibility for:

•  Determining the overall investment 
strategy and strategic asset 
allocation of the Fund, and in doing 
so taking proper professional advice;

•  Overseeing the preparation of and 
regularly reviewing the Fund’s key 
policy documents including the 
Investment Strategy Statement 
(ISS), Funding Strategy Statement, 
Governance Policy and Compliance 
Statement, Business Plan and 
Communications Strategy;

•  Appointing and reviewing the 
performance of all Fund Managers 
and other professional service 
providers;

•  Reviewing all aspects of 
performance across the Pension 
Fund service;

•  Deciding upon requests for admission 
of qualifying organisations wishing to 
join the Fund;

•  Deciding upon key pension policy and 
discretions that are the responsibility 
of the Administering Authority;

•  Ensuring that at all times that these 
responsibilities are discharged in the 
best interests of the Fund;

•  Making appointments to the  
Pension Board of the Dorset County 
Pension Fund.

3.4  The Committee meets at least 
quarterly and at alternate meetings 
generally requires all main managers 
to be present. Other meetings are 
occasionally held to deal with other 
business which for example might 
require urgent discussion, more time 
for consideration than that normally 
available, or be inappropriate for 
the larger audience. Business of the 
Committee will not be transacted 
unless a quorum of three members 
is present.

P
age 256



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 1
- G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
Po

lic
y 

an
d 

Co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

St
at

em
en

t  
|  

10
6Fiduciary duty

3.5  In considering matters before each 
committee and in reaching their 
decisions, members are aware that the 
fiduciary duty to employers, taxpayers, 
and scheme beneficiaries must 
always be put before the interests of 
individuals, individual groups or sectors 
represented on the committees.

4. Representation
4.1  The current membership of the 

Pension Fund Committee is as set 
out below:

•  Five County Council members – 
appointed by the County Council (not 
more than two being members of the 
Council’s Cabinet);

•   Two Unitary Authority members – one 
appointed by Bournemouth Borough 
Council and one nominated by the 
Borough of Poole;

•  One District Council representative;

• One Scheme Member representative.

4.2  The nomination process for each 
Committee member is:

 i  The five County Council members 
are nominated by their political 
parties, maintaining the political 
balance of the Council. No more 

than one will be a member of the 
Council’s Cabinet;

 ii  The members from Bournemouth 
and Poole are nominated by their 
Council;

 iii  The member representing the 
District Councils is nominated 
by the Dorset Leaders and Chief 
Executives group;

 iv  The Scheme Member 
representative is nominated by 
the Unions, with Unison as lead 
union.

4.3   Formal statutory responsibility for 
the LGPS in Dorset remains with 
the administering authority (Dorset 
County Council) which is answerable 
for the effective and prudent 
management of the scheme. It was 
decided to invite other interested 
bodies to be represented on the 
Committee.

4.4   The representation set out above 
gives direct representation to about 
78% of the membership (contributors 
plus pensioners) and is considered 
to be the optimal mix of committee 
size with representation achieved. 
These arrangements were reviewed 
in September 2005 when the 
union representative was added to 

the Committee. Also at this time 
the practicalities of increasing 
representation by having more 
representatives was considered. 
The arrangements were also 
reviewed in September 2009, and 
on balance it was decided that a 
meaningful increase in proportional 
representation could not be achieved 
without at least doubling the size 
of the Committee and this was 
considered unworkable given the 
specialist role of the Committee. 
Officers review this on a regular 
basis and currently, the above  
still applies.

4.5  Committee papers are publicly 
available on the Council’s website 
and all employers have been 
informed of this. A hard copy is 
provided if requested. The Fund’s 
Communication Strategy explains 
in more detail engagement with all 
stakeholders. However, in the case 
of employers, annual meetings are 
held to facilitate an exchange of 
information and ideas which has 
helped to keep fund management 
issues transparent and has brought 
accountability to the fore. This helps 
support the formal governance set 
out above.

P
age 257



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 1
- G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
Po

lic
y 

an
d 

Co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

St
at

em
en

t  
|  

10
7 4.6  Under the Public Service Pensions 

Act 2013 and the LGPS Governance 
regulations the Pension Fund 
Committee is now referred to as the 
Scheme Manager. The Department for 
Communities and Local Government 
being the body that makes the 
regulations for the LGPS is referred 
to as the Responsible Authority. The 
Regulations also refer to the Scheme 
Advisory Board which assists the 
Responsible Authority. The Shadow 
Board has been operating at a national 
level since 2013. The regulations also 
refer to Local Pension Boards, and this 
is described below. 

5.  Local Pension Board
5.1  As referred to in paragraph 2.6 the 

Fund was required to establish a 
Local Pension Board. The regulations 
require that the Local Board will be 
responsible for assisting it:

 a) to secure compliance with-

  1)  the LGPS regulations;

  2)  any other legislation relating 
to the governance and 
administration of the Scheme 
and any connected scheme; 
and

  3)  any requirements imposed 
by the Pensions Regulator in 
relation to the Scheme and any 
connected scheme; and

 b)  to ensure the effective and efficient 
governance and administration of 
the Scheme and any connected 
scheme.

5.2  The regulations require that the Board 
is established by no later than 1 April 
2015, and that the board holds its 
first meeting within four months of 
this date. The regulations also specify 
that the Board’s membership should 
have equal numbers of employer and 
member representatives, and that in 
total should be no less than four.

5.3  The Dorset County Pension Fund 
established a Local Pension Board, 
with the County Council’s formal 
agreement of its terms of reference 
at their meeting on 12 February 2015.

5.4  The Board consists of three 
members representing Employers 
and three representing scheme 
members. The three Employers 
representatives are to be nominated 
by the Fund’s three largest 

employers; Dorset County Council, 
Bournemouth Borough Council, 
and the Borough of Poole. The 
Fund invited all scheme members 
to nominate themselves as 
representatives, and also asked 
Unison, as the largest union to 
nominate members. The unions are 
guaranteed at least one of the three 
scheme member positions.

5.5  The first meeting of the Board will be 
on 24 June 2015.

P
age 258



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 1
- G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
Po

lic
y 

an
d 

Co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

St
at

em
en

t  
|  

10
8Schedule of compliance with guidance 

issued by CLG

Principle A – Structure
(a)  The management of the administration 

of benefits and strategic management 
of fund assets clearly rest with the 
main committee established by the 
appointing Council.

(b)   That representatives of participating 
LGPS employers, admitted bodies 
and scheme members (including 
pensioner and deferred members) 
are members of either the main or 
secondary committee established 
to underpin the work of the main 
committee.

(c)   That where a secondary committee 
or panel has been established, 
the structure ensures effective 
communication across both levels.

(d)   That where a secondary committee 
or panel has been established, at 
least one seat on the main committee 
is allocated for a member from the 
secondary committee or panel.

Not Compliant  Fully Compliant Not applicable
(a) ü

(b) ü

(c) ü

(d) ü

Reason for non-compliance (Regulation 73A(1) (c) 1997 Regulations):
(c) and (d) We have only one Committee and therefore these are not applicable.

Comments on ratings given above:
(b)  The appointed trade union representative has been given the formal role of 

representing scheme members.

P
age 259



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 1
- G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
Po

lic
y 

an
d 

Co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

St
at

em
en

t  
|  

10
9 Principle B – Representation

(a)  That all key stakeholders are 
afforded the opportunity to be 
represented within the main or 
secondary committee structure. 
These include:

 i)   employing authorities (including 
non-scheme employers, eg 
admitted bodies);

 ii)  scheme members (including 
deferred and pensioner scheme 
members);

 iii)  independent professional 
observers; and

 iv)  expert advisers (on and ad-hoc 
basis).

(b)   That where lay members sit on 
a main or secondary committee, 
they are treated equally in terms 
of access to papers and meetings, 
training and are given full opportunity 
to contribute to the decision-making 
process, with or without voting 
rights.

Not Compliant  Fully Compliant Not applicable
(a) ü

(b) ü

Reason for non-compliance (Regulation 73A (1) (c) 1997 Regulations):

Comments on ratings given above:
The appointed trade union representative has been given the formal role of 
representing scheme members.

The Fund has appointed an independent investment adviser and an independent 
professional observer from Allenbridge EPIC Investment Advisers.

P
age 260



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 1
- G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
Po

lic
y 

an
d 

Co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

St
at

em
en

t  
|  

11
0Principle C - Selection and role of lay 

members
(a)  That committee or panel members 

are made fully aware of the status, 
role and function they are required 
to perform on either a main or 
secondary committee.

(b)  That at the start of any meeting, 
committee members are invited to 
declare any financial or pecuniary 
interest related to specific matters 
on the agenda.

Not Compliant  Fully Compliant Not applicable
(a) ü

(b) ü

Reason for non-compliance (Regulation 73A (1) (c) 1997 Regulations):

Comments on ratings given above:
(a)  The Committee’s responsibilities are formally documented as set out in Section 

3 of this Statement.
(b)  The agenda for each meeting has a standing item on “Code of Conduct” to 

receive declarations by members of (a) personal interests (including their 
nature) and (b) prejudicial interests under the Code of Conduct.  Members who 
have an interest to declare are asked to complete a Declaration of Interests 
form (a copy is attached to the agenda) and hand it to the Democratic Services 
Officer prior to the meeting.  Any member who has a query on a particular 
matter is asked to contact the officer named at the top of the agenda in 
advance of the meeting.

Principle D – Voting
(a)  The policy of individual administering 

authorities on voting rights is clear and 
transparent, including justification for 
not extending voting rights to each 
body or group represented on main 
LGPS committees.

Not Compliant  Fully Compliant Not applicable
(a) ü

Reason for non-compliance (Regulation 73A (1) (c) 1997 Regulations):

Comments on ratings given above:
The County Council’s constitution contains details of voting rights of committee 
members. This was formally reviewed in a report to the Committee in February 2006. 
All members of the Committee have voting rights.

P
age 261



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 1
- G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
Po

lic
y 

an
d 

Co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

St
at

em
en

t  
|  

11
1 Principle E - Training/Facility time/

Expenses
(a)   That in relation to the way in which 

statutory and related decisions are 
taken by the administering authority, 
there is a clear policy on training, facility 
time and reimbursement of expenses 
in respect of members involved in the 
decision-making process.

b)   That where such a policy exists, it 
applies equally to all members of 
committees, sub-committees, advisory 
panels or any other form  
of secondary forum.

(c)  That the administering authority 
considers the adoption of annual 
training plans for committee members 
and maintains a log of all such training 
undertaken.

Not Compliant  Fully Compliant Not applicable
(a) ü

(b) ü

(c) ü

Reason for non-compliance (Regulation 73A (1) (c) 1997 Regulations):

Comments on ratings given above:
Training, both internally and externally, is made available to members of the 
committees on a regular basis.

P
age 262



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 1
- G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
Po

lic
y 

an
d 

Co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

St
at

em
en

t  
|  

11
2Principle F - Meetings (frequency/quorum)

(a)   That an administering authority’s main 
committee or committees meet at 
least quarterly.

(b)  That an administering authority’s 
secondary committee or panel meet at 
least twice a year and is synchronised 
with the dates when the main 
committee sits.

(c)  That administering authorities who 
do not include lay members in their 
formal governance arrangements, 
provide a forum outside of those 
arrangements by which the interests of 
key stakeholders can be represented.

Not Compliant  Fully Compliant Not applicable
(a) ü

(b) ü

(c) ü

Reason for non-compliance (Regulation 73A (1) (c) 1997 Regulations):

Comments on ratings given above:
(c)  The Fund holds annual employers meetings, enabling employer bodies to hear 

from and question those running the scheme.
(c)  From 1 April 2015, Dorset County Council in its role of Administering Authority 

has established a Local Pension Board.  This will consist of 6 voting members 
(3 employer and 3 member representatives).  The purpose of this Board is to 
review and ensure the Dorset Pension Fund secures compliance with the Scheme 
regulations and all other relevant legislations.

Principle G – Access
(a)   That subject to any rules in the 

Council’s constitution, all members 
of main and secondary committees 
or panels have equal access to 
committee papers, documents and 
advice that fails to be considered at 
meetings of the main committee.

Not Compliant  Fully Compliant Not applicable
(a) ü

Reason for non-compliance (Regulation 73A (1) (c) 1997 Regulations):

Comments on ratings given above:  
Committee papers are publicly available on the website.

P
age 263



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 1
- G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
Po

lic
y 

an
d 

Co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

St
at

em
en

t  
|  

11
3 Principle H – Scope

(a)    That administering authorities have 
taken steps to bring wider scheme 
issues within the scope of their 
governance arrangements.

Not Compliant  Fully Compliant Not applicable
(a) ü

Reason for non-compliance (Regulation 73A (1) (c) 1997 Regulations):

Comments on ratings given above:
The change to the Committee structure in 2012 gives the Pension Fund Committee 
the wider role of exercising all functions of the Council as administering authority 
under Local Government Superannuation Act and Regulations and deal with all 
matters relating thereto. 

Principle I – Publicity
(a)   That administering authorities have 

published details of their governance 
arrangements in such a way that 
stakeholders with an interest in 
the way in which the scheme is 
governed, can express an interest 
in wanting to be part of those 
arrangements.

Not Compliant  Fully Compliant Not applicable
(a) ü

Reason for non-compliance (Regulation 73A (1) (c) 1997 Regulations):

Comments on ratings given above:
This document is published in the Annual Report and made available to all 
stakeholders of the scheme.

P
age 264



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 2
 - 

In
ve

st
m

en
t S

tra
te

gy
 S

ta
te

m
en

t |
  1

14Appendix 2
Investment Strategy Statement 
(ISS) March 2018
1.   Introduction 
 The Local Government Pension Scheme 
(Management and Investment of Funds) 
Regulations 2016 require administering 
authorities of LGPS funds to formulate and 
to publish a statement of its investment 
strategy, in accordance with guidance 
issued from time to time by the Secretary 
of State.  This statement must be reviewed 
by the administering authority at least every 
three years, or more frequently should any 
significant change occur. 
 
This statement replaces the previous 
version of the Investment Strategy 
Statement (ISS) first published March 
2017, and has been amended to reflect 
the results of the strategic allocation 
review agreed by the Pension Fund 
Committee 13 September 2017. 
 
2.     Investment strategy and the process 

for ensuring suitability of investments 
 All functions of Dorset County Council (“the 
Council”) as the administering authority 
for the Dorset County Pension Fund (“the 
Fund”) have been delegated to the Pension 
Fund Committee (“the Committee”).  This 
includes responsibility for determining the 

overall investment strategy and strategic 
asset allocation of the Fund, and in doing so 
taking proper professional advice. 
 
The primary investment objective of the 
Fund is to ensure that over the long term the 
Fund will have sufficient assets to meet all 
pension liabilities as they fall due.  To meet 
this objective a major review of the Fund’s 
strategic asset allocation is undertaken 
every three years shortly after the results of 
the triennial actuarial valuation are known.  
The Fund’s strategic asset allocation was 
last reviewed in this way in 2017, advised 
by Mercer, an investment consultancy firm, 
with considerable LGPS experience and 
expertise, and Alan Saunders, Allenbridge 
Epic Investment Advisers, the Fund’s 
independent adviser.  The Committee will 
also consider asset allocation at each of its 
quarterly meetings. 
 
The Fund allocates across a variety of 
different asset classes in order to prudently 
diversify sources of investment return and 
risk.  To be judged suitable for investment, 
asset classes must be consistent with the 
Fund’s risk and return objectives, improve 
diversification and be fully understood by 
officers and the Committee.  The Fund’s 
current target strategic asset allocation is 
set out in the table below, together with 
tolerances by which the actual allocation 

can vary without further agreement by the 
Committee:
 
Asset Class Allocation  Tolerance 
UK Equities 20.0% +/- 4.0% 
Global Equities 22.0% +/- 4.0% 
Emerging Markets 
Equities 

3.0% +/- 0.5% 

Bonds 6.0% +/- 1.5% 
Multi Asset Credit 
(MAC) 

5.0% +/- 1.0% 

Property 12.0% +/- 2.0% 
Diversified Growth 
Funds (DGF) 

8.0% +/- 1.0% 

Private Equity 5.0% +/- 1.0% 
Infrastructure 5.0% +/- 1.0% 
Total Return Seeking 
Assets 

86.0% - 

Liability Driven 
Investment (LDI) 

14.0% +/- 3.0% 

Total Assets 100.0% - 

The appointment of more than one 
manager, with differing investment 
approaches, in a number of the 
asset classes, adds a further level of 
diversification.  All managers are required 
to report on portfolio management on a 
quarterly basis, they must comply with all 
instructions given to them by the Fund (in 
accordance with the mandates agreed) 
and contracts can be terminated at one 
month’s notice. 
 

P
age 265



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 2
 - 

In
ve

st
m

en
t S

tra
te

gy
 S

ta
te

m
en

t  
|  

11
5 UK Equities (20.0%) 

Approximately two thirds of the allocation 
to UK Equities is managed internally 
by officers in the Chief Executive’s 
Department on a passive basis.  The 
target is to track the FTSE 350 index, with 
an annual deviation allowed of +/- 0.5%, 
and no derivatives or financial gearing 
are permitted.  The constituents of the 
FTSE 350 index are fully replicated by 
the in-house team.  Exposure to the 
remaining 3% of the FTSE All Share index 
not included in the FTSE 350 index is 
captured by an external active allocation 
to a pooled fund specialising in ‘small 
cap’ investments managed by Schroders 
(effective April 2006), with a target to 
outperform the FTSE Small Cap index by 
2.5% per annum.  The remaining allocation 
to UK Equities is managed on an active 
basis by AXA Framlington (effective April 
2006) in a pooled vehicle with a target of 
outperforming the FTSE All Share Index by 
3.5% per annum. 

Global Equities –  
Developed Markets (22.0%) 
Equities in developed markets are 
managed by three external investment 
managers; Allianz Global Investors, 
Investec Asset Management and 
Wellington Management. The 
management agreements were effective 

from December 2015, and each manager 
has a target to outperform the MSCI 
Global Index.  All three are managed on 
an active basis but each has a different 
investment approach, thus adding a 
further degree of diversification. 
 
Global Equities –  
Emerging Markets (3.0%) 
The Fund has exposure to Emerging 
Markets equities through JP Morgan 
Asset Management who have managed 
an active mandate since April 2012.  The 
investment is in a pooled fund, which has 
a diversified strategy, and the target is to 
outperform the MSCI Emerging Markets 
Index by 2% per annum. 
 
Bonds (6.0%) 
The Fund’s Bonds’ manager is Royal 
London Asset Management (rlam), 
appointed with effect from July 2007, 
with a target to outperform the iBoxx 
Non-Gilt Over 5 Year Index by 0.75%.  The 
allocation is invested in the RLPPC Core 
Bond Fund, which holds a diversified 
portfolio of mainly UK Bonds with an 
emphasis on the corporate sector. 

Multi Asset Credit (MAC) (5.0%) 
The Fund is invested in the CQS Credit 
Multi Asset Fund with effect from 
1 December 2017, with a target to 

outperform LIBOR by 4.0-5.0%, net of fees.  
The fund holds a diversified portfolio of 
corporate loans, bonds and asset backed 
securities in the US and Europe. 
 
Property (12.0%) 
CBRE Global Investors is the Fund’s 
property adviser and manager.  
Approximately 90% of the Fund’s 
investment is in directly owned 
commercial property in the UK, with a 
wide diversification both geographically 
and across sectors.  The remaining 
10% is invested in indirect property 
funds, the Lend Lease Retail Partnership 
(Jersey) Unit Trust, and the Standard Life 
Shopping Centre Trust Fund, which give 
exposure to the shopping centre sector 
not covered by the direct investments.  
The manager’s target is to achieve a 
return on assets at least equal to the 
average IPD Quarterly Universe Portfolio 
Return, the industry standard benchmark, 
over a rolling five year period.  Over time 
the mandate with CBRE will be amended 
to allow for a gradual transition to a 
portfolio more evenly split between core 
and high lease value (HLV) holdings. 
 

P
age 266



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 2
 - 

In
ve

st
m

en
t S

tra
te

gy
 S

ta
te

m
en

t  
|  

11
6Diversified Growth Funds  

(DGF) (8.0%) 
The Fund has invested with Baring Asset 
Management in their Dynamic Asset 
Allocation Fund since April 2012.  This 
pooled fund seeks to achieve equity like 
returns but with lower risk, by investing in 
a range of asset classes and focussing 
on asset allocation.  The target return is 
cash plus 4%, with 70% of equity risk.   
 
Private Equity (5.0%) 
Since April 2006 the Fund has invested 
in Private Equity ‘fund of funds’ products 
managed by HarbourVest and Standard 
Life.  HarbourVest specialise in the US, 
whereas Standard Life focus mainly 
on Europe, and both managers aim to 
outperform public equity markets by 
between 4-6% per annum over the life of 
the Fund (generally 10-15 years). 
 
Infrastructure (5.0%) 
Two Infrastructure managers, Hermes 
Investment Management and International 
Fund Management (IFM), were appointed 
in 2014.  Hermes focus mainly on UK 
opportunities, whereas IFM have a wider 
global reach.  Like Private Equity, it will take 
some time for all of the committed capital 
to be completely drawndown, but once 
invested these are intended to remain as 
long-term holdings. 

Liability Driven Investment  
(LDI) (14.0%) 
Insight Investments were appointed in 
April 2012 with the objective to reduce 
the Fund’s exposure to inflation risk by 
putting together a portfolio that moves 
in a similar way to the liabilities.  The 
Fund is invested in a bespoke Qualifying 
Investor Fund (QIF) set up by Insight 
which enables them to use a range of 
derivative instruments in addition to 
index linked or conventional gilts. 
 
3.  Risk measurement and management 
Achieving satisfactory investment returns 
will, to a considerable degree, reflect the 
risks taken, and therefore the Fund seeks 
to understand, measure and manage risk, 
not eliminate it.  

Investment risk can be measured and 
managed in a number of ways: 
 
The absolute risk of a reduction in the 
value of assets through negative returns:  
Whilst this cannot be avoided entirely, 
it can be mitigated by positioning the 
assets of the Fund across a number of 
different types of assets and markets. 
 
The risk of underperforming the 
benchmarks or relative risk: The Fund’s 
investment managers can, to a large 

extent, control relative risk by using 
statistical techniques to forecast how 
volatile their performance is likely to be 
relative to their benchmark or target.  
Each manager has a mandate specific 
benchmark and controls. 
 
Different asset classes have different 
risk and return characteristics: In setting 
the investment strategy, the Committee 
considers the expected risks and returns 
of the various asset classes and the 
correlation between those returns to 
target or expected return within an 
acceptable level of risk. 
 
Risks may also arise from a lack of 
suitable balance or diversification of 
the Fund’s assets. The adoption of an 
asset allocation strategy and the detailed 
monitoring of performance and risks 
relative to the targets set, constrains the 
investment managers from deviating too 
far from the intended outcome, whilst 
at the same time allowing adequate 
flexibility to manage the portfolios in 
such a way as to enhance returns. 
 
Other financially material risks arising 
from social, environmental and corporate 
governance issues are required to be 
considered and managed by the Fund’s 
investment managers in relation to all 

P
age 267



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 2
 - 

In
ve

st
m

en
t S

tra
te

gy
 S

ta
te

m
en

t  
|  

11
7 asset classes.  The Fund’s approach is 

set out in more detail in section 5 below. 

Consideration is also given to the 
on-going risks of a mismatch, over 
time, between the Fund’s assets and its 
liabilities.  The Fund’s Funding Strategy 
Statement considers these risks in 
greater detail, however, the major risks 
that can lead to this mismatch are the 
impact of interest and inflation yields 
on liabilities.  Following a strategic 
review of the Fund undertaken by JLT 
in June 2011, the Committee began a 
process to address this risk, leading to 
the current asset allocation of 14.0% to 
Liability Driven Investment (LDI), and the 
appointment of Insight Investments. 
 
4. Approach to asset pooling 
The Fund is working with nine other 
LGPS funds to pool investment assets 
through the Brunel Pension Partnership 
Ltd (Brunel Ltd).  This is currently work 
in progress with the intention of meeting 
the Government’s requirement for the 
pool to become operational and for the 
first assets to transition to the pool from 
April 2018. 
 
Following the establishment of Brunel 
Ltd, the Fund, through the Committee, 
will retain the responsibility for setting 

the detailed strategic asset allocation 
for the Fund and allocating investment 
assets to the portfolios provided by 
Brunel Ltd. 
 
Brunel Ltd is a new company wholly 
owned by the administering authorities.  
The company is seeking authorisation 
from the Financial Conduct Authority 
(FCA) to act as the operator of an 
unregulated Collective Investment 
Scheme (CIV).  It will be responsible for 
implementing the detailed strategic asset 
allocations of the participating funds by 
investing funds’ assets within defined 
outcome focused investment portfolios.  
In particular it will research and select 
the Manager Operated Funds (MOFs) 
needed to meet the requirements of 
the detailed strategic asset allocations.  
These MOFs will be operated by 
professional external investment 
managers.   
 
The Fund will be a client of Brunel Ltd 
and as a client will have the right to 
expect certain standards and quality of 
service.  A detailed service agreement 
will set out the duties and responsibilities 
of Brunel Ltd, and the rights of the Fund 
as a client, including a duty of care for 
Brunel Ltd to act in its clients’ interests. 
 

An Oversight Board has been established, 
comprised of representatives from each 
of the administering authorities, set up 
according to an agreed constitution 
and terms of reference.  Acting for the 
administering authorities, it will have 
ultimate responsibility for ensuring 
that Brunel Ltd delivers the services 
required to achieve investment pooling.  
It will therefore have a monitoring and 
oversight function and consider relevant 
matters on behalf of the administering 
authorities, but will not have delegated 
powers to take decisions requiring 
shareholder approval.  These will be 
remitted back to each administering 
authority individually. 
 
The Oversight Board will be supported by 
the Client Group, comprised primarily of 
pension investment officers drawn from 
each of the administering authorities 
but will also draw on administering 
authorities’ finance and legal officers 
from time to time.  It will have a primary 
role in reviewing the implementation of 
pooling by Brunel Ltd, and provide a forum 
for discussing technical and practical 
matters, confirming priorities, and resolving 
differences.  It will be responsible for 
providing practical support to enable the 
Oversight Board to fulfil its monitoring and 
oversight function. 

P
age 268



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 2
 - 

In
ve

st
m

en
t S

tra
te

gy
 S

ta
te

m
en

t  
|  

11
8The proposed arrangements for 

asset pooling for the Brunel Pension 
Partnership pool have been formulated 
to meet the requirements of the 
Local Government Pension Scheme 
(Management and Investment of Funds) 
Regulations 2016 and Government 
guidance.  Regular reports have been 
made to Government on progress 
towards the pooling of investment 
assets, and the Minister for Local 
Government has confirmed that the 
pool should proceed as set out in the 
proposals made. 
 
The Council has approved the full business 
case for the Brunel Pension Partnership.  It 
is anticipated that investment assets will 
be transitioned across from the Fund’s 
existing investment managers to the 
portfolios managed by Brunel Ltd between 
April 2018 and March 2020 in accordance 
with a timetable that will be agreed with 
Brunel Ltd.  Until such time as transitions 
take place, the Fund will continue to 
maintain the relationship with its current 
investment managers and oversee 
their investment performance, working 
in partnership with Brunel Ltd where 
appropriate. 
 
Following the completion of the 
transition plan outlined above, it 

is envisaged that all of the Fund’s 
assets will be invested through Brunel 
Ltd.  However, the Fund has certain 
commitments to long term illiquid 
investment funds which will take longer 
to transition across to the new portfolios 
to be set up by Brunel Ltd.  These assets 
will be managed in partnership with 
Brunel Ltd until such time as they are 
liquidated, and capital is returned. 

5.  Social, environmental and corporate 
governance policy 

The primary aim of the Committee is to 
maximise the value of investments made 
for the benefit of the many stakeholders, 
including council tax payers, employer 
bodies, the current employee 
contributors and pensioners.  The 
Committee does not place restrictions 
on investment managers in choosing 
individual investments in companies 
or sectors in either the UK or overseas 
markets.  It is noted that emerging 
markets investments, are made in a wide 
range of developing countries where 
conditions of employment and standards 
of environmental protection are not 
the same as they are in the developed 
countries. 
 
However the Committee expects that 
the boards of companies in which the 

Fund invests should pay due regard 
to social environmental matters and 
thereby further the long-term financial 
interests of the shareholders.  Social and 
environmental issues arise not only in 
board policy decisions but also in daily 
operations, and the Committee therefore 
looks to the directors of a company to 
manage that company’s affairs taking 
proper account of the shareholders’ long-
term interests. 
 
The Fund is a member of the Local 
Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF). 
The LAPFF exists to promote the 
investment interests of local authority 
pension funds, and to maximise 
their influence as shareholders while 
promoting corporate social responsibility 
and high standards of corporate 
governance among the companies in 
which they invest. 
 
Please follow the link below to view the 
Fund’s policies relating to responsible 
investment: 
www.dorsetpensionfund.org/dorset-
pension-fund/about-us/forms-and-
publications/
 

P
age 269



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 2
 - 

In
ve

st
m

en
t S

tra
te

gy
 S

ta
te

m
en

t  
|  

11
9 6.  Policy of the exercise of rights 

(including voting rights) attaching to 
investments 

The Fund has a voting issues policy for 
UK and overseas equity investments.  
Advice on such issues is taken from the 
National Association of Pension Funds 
(NAPF) and the Fund’s voting rights are 
used according to this advice and the 
agreed policy.  LAPFF also advise the 
Fund on any contentious areas where 
voting differently to the agreed policy 
may be considered. 
 
The Fund has outsourced proxy voting to 
Institutional Shareholder Services (ISS). 
ISS’s core business is the provision of 
proxy research, vote recommendations 
and related governance research services, 
including an end-to-end proxy voting 
platform and leading compliance and risk 
management solutions, to institutional 
investors worldwide.  ISS has close to 30 
years of experience and is a recognised 
industry leader in the field of corporate 
governance and proxy voting. 
 
The Pension Fund Committee receives 
an annual report on voting activity in the 
previous year.  Please follow the link 
below to view the most recent report: 
http://dorset.moderngov.
co.uk/ieListDocuments.
aspx?CId=135&MId=1106&Ver=4

P
age 270



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 3
 - 

Pe
ns

io
n 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
St

ra
te

gy
 R

ep
or

t  
|  

12
0Appendix 3

Pension Administration Strategy 
Report

Introduction
Dorset County Pension Fund (“the Fund”) 
is responsible for the administration of 
the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(“LGPS”) within the geographical area of 
Dorset. The Fund also administers the 
LGPS on behalf of a number of qualifying 
employers who are not situated within 
the Dorset area. The service is carried 
out by Dorset Council (“the administering 
authority”) on behalf of qualifying 
employers and ultimately the LGPS 
members.

This document is the Pensions 
Administration Strategy statement 
outlining the policies and performance 
standards towards providing a cost-
effective, inclusive and high quality 
pensions and administration service. 
Delivery of such an administration 
service is not the responsibility of one 
person or one organisation, but is rather 
the joint working of a number of different 
stakeholders, which between them are 
responsible for delivering the pensions 
administration service to meet the 
diverse needs of the membership. As the 

cost of this service is borne by the Fund, 
and effectively recharged pro-rata to 
each employer via the contribution rate, 
it is in everyone's interests to ensure an 
efficient cost-effective provision.

Compliance
Developed in consultation with 
employers within the Fund, this 
statement seeks to promote good 
working relationships, improve efficiency 
and ensure agreed standards of quality 
in delivery of the pension administration 
service amongst the employers and the 
Fund. A copy of this strategy is issued to 
each of the relevant employers.

The undertakings set out within this 
Pension Administration Strategy will 
be reviewed annually by the Fund. In 
no circumstances does this strategy 
override any provision or requirement 
of the Regulations set out below nor is 
it intended to replace the information 
provided in the Employers' Guide on the 
Dorset County Pension Fund website for 
day-to-day use; www.dcpfemployers.org

Review
The Fund will review this policy 
statement and make revisions as 
appropriate following a material change 
in its policies in relation to any of the 

matters contained in the strategy. 
Employers will be consulted and 
informed of the changes.

Regulatory Framework
Regulation 59 of the LGPS Regulations 
2013 enables an LGPS administering 
authority to prepare a document (“the 
pension administration strategy”) 
detailing administrative standards, 
performance measure, data flows and 
communication with employers.

In addition, Regulation 70 of the 
LGPS Regulations 2013 allows an 
administering authority to recover costs 
from an employing authority where 
costs have been incurred because 
of that employing authority's level of 
performance in carrying out its functions 
under these Regulations. See Poor 
Performance section.

This document has been presented, 
considered and approved by the Local 
Pensions Board on 3 December 2019 
and, as such, the contents of which apply 
to all existing and future employers of 
Dorset County Pension Fund and from 1 
January 2020.

P
age 271



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 3
 - 

Pe
ns

io
n 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
St

ra
te

gy
 R

ep
or

t  
|  

12
1 Liaison and Communication

The delivery of a high quality, cost 
effective administration service is not the 
responsibility of just the administering 
authority, but depends on the joint 
working of the administering authority 
with a number of individuals in different 
organisations to ensure Scheme 
members, and other interested parties, 
receive the appropriate level of service 
and ensure that statutory requirements 
are met.

Each Employing authority will designate 
a named individual to act as the main 
point of contact (Pension Liaison Officer 
(PLO)) with regard to any aspect of 
administering the LGPS.

Their key responsibilities will be:

•  to act as a conduit for 
communications to appropriate staff 
within the employer - for example, 
Human Resources, Payroll teams, 
Directors of Finance;

•  to ensure that standards and levels 
of service are maintained;

•  to ensure that details of all 
nominated representatives and 
authorised signatures are correct 
and to notify the Fund of any 
changes immediately;

•  to arrange distribution of 
communications literature as and 
when required;

•  to inform the Fund of any alternative 
service arrangements required;

•  to assure data quality and ensure 
the timely submission of data to the 
Fund;

•  to assist and liaise with the Fund on 
promotional activities; and to ensure 
payments due to the Fund are made 
in accordance with the Pensions 
Administration Strategy

Employer Training / Meetings
Employer workshops are arranged 3 
times per year but more will be provided 
if requested or deemed necessary by the 
Fund. The workshops cover employer 
responsibilities highlighting:

• Starter and leaver processes

• Final Pay

• LGPS Discretions

• End of Year requirements

• Communications

The Fund will hold Pension Liaison 
Officer Group (PLOG) meetings 3 times 
per year. Attendance by each employer's 
PLO is actively encouraged.

The Fund holds an annual employers' 
meeting where officers provide 
information on Fund Finances, 
Investment Performance and topical 
issues for the Fund; in recent times 
this has included updates on future 
changes to the LGPS. Attendance by 
each employer's main contact and Senior 
Management is actively encouraged.

Meetings with senior pension fund staff 
can be arranged on request.

Policy Discretions
Each employer is required to produce, 
publish and maintain a statement of 
policy regarding the exercise of certain 
discretionary functions available to them 
within the LGPS regulations. The policy 
statement must be kept under review and 
where revisions are made; the revised 
policy statement must be sent to the 
Fund and made readily available to all 
employees within the employing authority 
within one month of the effective date.

Notification of Employee’s Rights
Any decisions made by an employing 
authority affecting an employee's rights 
to membership or entitlement to benefits 
must be notified to the employee in 
writing.

P
age 272



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 3
 - 

Pe
ns

io
n 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
St

ra
te

gy
 R

ep
or

t  
|  

12
2Internal Disputes Resolution  

Procedures (IDRP)
Each employing authority is required to 
nominate and name the person to whom 
applications under Stage 1 of the Internal 
Disputes Resolution Procedures should 
be made. The name, job title and contact 
details of this nominated person must be 
kept current with the Fund.

Computer Links
The Fund will, to appropriate large 
employers, provide the software, 
hardware and communication facilities 
in order for employing authority staff 
to produce retirement estimates and 
enquire on their employee's record of 
membership.

The Fund will ensure that the Pensions 
Administration computer system is 
available for use during normal office 
hours with the exception of any necessary 
scheduled maintenance of the system.

Fund and Employer Responsibilities
The LGPS Regulations identifies a 
number of responsibilities for the Fund 
and Employers.

Performance Standards are held within the following tables:
New Appointments
Employers’ Responsibility Fund’s Responsibility
To ensure that pensions information is included as 
part of any induction process.

To provide to employers on request appropriate 
information/forms for inductions.

To provide each new employee with an LGPS 
booklet and application form, either with their 
contract or within two weeks of starting work.

To update pension information in accordance with 
regulatory changes and provide sufficient stock 
within five weeks of request by the employer.

New Starters
Employers' Responsibility Fund's Responsibility
To ensure that all employees subject to automatic 
admission are brought into the LGPS from the 
date of appointment, and provide the Pensions 
Team each month with details of their start date 
by electronic interface, monthly return or YourFund 
starter form.

To accurately record and update associated member 
records on the pension administration system.

To assist the Fund in ensuring that all new 
starters complete the Pension Membership 
Form containing information including National 
Insurance Number, Date of Birth and Home 
Address to the Fund within 1 calendar month of 
the employee's first pay date.

To write to member sending a Transfer Booklet 
within 10 days of receipt of Pension Membership 
Form if starter information has been provided by 
employer.

Where there is more than one contract of 
employment with the same employer, each 
membership shall be maintained separately and 
the Fund notified.

To accurately record these member records on the 
pension administration system.

To send the Fund notification in agreed electronic 
or paper format of any eligible employees subject to 
automatic entry, who do not wish to join, or elect to 
leave the scheme within three months of appointment.

To accurately record and update member records 
on the pension administration system within 30 
working days of receipt of the notification.

P
age 273



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 3
 - 

Pe
ns

io
n 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
St

ra
te

gy
 R

ep
or

t  
|  

12
3 Valuation and Annual Benefit Illustrations

Employers' Responsibility Fund's Responsibility
To ensure that the Fund is informed of any changes in the circumstances of 
employees on YourFund or by electronic interface within 1 calendar month of 
the change.

The changes include:
Status:
•  Change of Name
•  Marital Status
•  National Insurance Number
•  Address

Conditions of Service:
• Contractual Hours
•  Employee Number and/or Post Number
•  Date Joined Scheme (if adjusted)

Each employer must ensure that the relevant contributions are deducted, if required.
End of Year
End of Year
End of Year contribution return to be sent to the Fund by the 30th April.

Employer to respond to End of Year queries within 10 working days of request.

To provide forms for recording any key change in circumstances and/or to 
provide a template for the secure submission of data electronically.

To accurately record and update member records on the pension administration 
system within 30 working days of notification or any shorter period as requested 
by the employer with regard to specific requirements.

To issue Annual Benefit Illustrations by the 31 August of the year concerned  
for all members where the employer has sent end of year contribution return by 
30 April of that same year.

To calculate the LGPS member's Annual Allowance under HMRC Legislation and 
notify members, where appropriate by the 5 October of the year concerned or 
within 3 months of member's request.P

age 274



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 3
 - 

Pe
ns

io
n 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
St

ra
te

gy
 R

ep
or

t  
|  

12
4Retirement Estimates

Employers' Responsibility Fund's Responsibility
To submit a request using the estimate form on YourFund

(Only 1 estimate request per member per rolling year allowed, additional 
requests chargeable as per Charging Schedule - Appendix A)

For larger bulk estimates, requests can be made in alternative formats.

To issue the quotations within 15 working days of receiving the request or by 
separate agreed timescales for bulk requests.

To provide large employers with the appropriate software to produce 
retirement estimates without the resource of Fund staff.

Actual Retirement
Employers' Responsibility Fund's Responsibility
To submit the pre-retirement information via YourFund form to the Fund at 
least one month before retirement where possible.

To submit leaver form no later than 15 working days after retirement date.

Further information can be found in the Employers Guide:  
www.dcpfemployers.org.

To issue the member with a pre-retirement letter and information within 15 
working days of notification from employer.

To issue a final retirement letter and make payment of any lump sum within 
10 working days of receipt of all relevant forms and certificates subject to 
being after the date of retirement.

To pay any pension payment on the last working day of each month, 
following retirement.

Ill Health Retirements
Employers' Responsibility Fund's Responsibility
To determine based on medical opinion and advice of one of the 
Administering Authorities approved Independent Medical Registered 
Practitioners (Independent Medical Registered Practitioners (IMRP)) whether 
an ill health award is to be made and determine which tier 1, 2 or 3.

To submit the appropriate form to the Fund at least one month before retirement 
where possible but in all cases no later than 15 working days after retirement date.

To calculate and pay required benefits inline with actual retirement 
timescales.

To keep a record of all Tier 3 ill health retirements, particularly in regard to the 18 
month review of their gainful employment and any subsequent appointment with an 
(IMRP) approved by the Administration Authority for a further medical certificate.

To inform the Administering Authority if and when the pension should cease.

To calculate and recover any overpayment of pension benefits.

To review all Tier 3 ill health retirement cases prior to discontinuance at three 
years and notify member of cessation if applicable.

Further information on ill health retirements can be found in the Employers 
Guide; https://dcpfemployers.org/?s=ill+health 

Update the member records as becoming a “pensioner member with 
deferred benefits from the date of the suspension”.

P
age 275



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 3
 - 

Pe
ns

io
n 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
St

ra
te

gy
 R

ep
or

t  
|  

12
5 Members Leaving Employment Before Retirement

Employers' Responsibility Fund's Responsibility
To notify the Fund of the employee's date and reason for cessation of 
membership and all other relevant information via YourFund within one month 
of the event.

To supply member with a Leaver Election Form.

To accurately record and update member records on the pension administration 
system.

To inform members who leave the Scheme, who are not entitled to immediate 
payment of benefits, the options available and deferred benefit entitlement with 
40 days.

Former Members with Deferred Benefits
Employers' Responsibility Fund's Responsibility
To keep adequate records of the following for members who leave the 
Scheme with deferred benefits as early payment of benefits may be required:
• Name and Last known address
• National Insurance Number
• Payroll Number
• Date of Birth
• Last job including job description
• Salary details
• Date and reason for leaving

On application from the former employee to have their deferred benefits paid 
early, a determination as to whether or not they are eligible for early payment 
on ill health grounds after seeking a suitable medical opinion from an (IRMP) 
approved by the Administering Authority, to determine whether benefits 
should be released early on compassionate grounds and whether any early 
retirement reduction should be waived.

To record and update member records on pension administration system.

Issue deferred benefit notification within 2 months of notification by employer.

To provide former members, where possible, an annual benefit illustration of 
their deferred benefits updated by accrued annual pensions increase award.

To provide estimates of benefits that may be payable and any resulting 
employer costs within 15 working days of request.

Death In Service and Terminal Illness
Employers' Responsibility Fund's Responsibility
To inform the Fund immediately of the death of an employee or when a member is 
suffering from a potentially terminal illness and provide details of the next of kin.

Further information can be found in the Employers Guide;  
www.dcpfemployers.org

To assist employers, employees and their next of kin in ensuring the pension 
options are made available and that the payment of benefits are expedited in an 
appropriate caring manner.

P
age 276



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 3
 - 

Pe
ns

io
n 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
St

ra
te

gy
 R

ep
or

t  
|  

12
6

Financial Obligations

Employers' Responsibility Fund's Responsibility

To pay the Fund all contributions deducted from payroll (not including AVCs) 
of its employees and employer contributions, no later than the 19th day (for 
cheque payments) or 22nd (for electronic payments) of the month following 
the period of deductions.

To re-imburse the Fund for all pension payments made which are not to be 
borne by the Fund e.g. early retirement strain cost, compensatory added years, 
injury allowances under an agreed schedule.

To ensure that all payments made to the Fund are supported by a completed 
Monthly Financial Return form which is available at www.dcpfemployers.org/
monthly-financial-returns/ 

Further information can be found in the Employer Guide:  
www.dcpfemployers.org

To allocate the received contributions to each employers record.

To monitor employer contribution payover as detailed in the Fund's 
Payment of Employee and Employer Pension Contributions Policy.

Interest will be charged for late payment as detailed in Regulation 71(4) of 
the LGPS Regulations 2013.

To apply the correct employer and employee contribution rate.

To alter employee contribution rates at all other times in line with the 
employers' discretionary policy on adjusting employee contribution rates.

Inform each employer of any new contribution banding.

To pay all rechargeable items to the Fund within four weeks of the invoice. The Fund will inform employers of any recharge items as they become due.

To pay the appropriate AVC provider AVC contributions deducted from payroll 
of its employees no later than the 19th day of the month following the period 
of deductions.

To record and update member records on pension administration system 
to show membership of AVC scheme.

Additional Benefits (ARCS and ASBCS)

Employers' Responsibility Fund's Responsibility

To collect from the employee payroll, contributions and to arrange the prompt 
payment to the Fund no later than the 19th day (for cheque payments) or 
22nd (for electronic payments) of the month following deduction.

More information can be found in the Employers Guide,  
www.dcpfemployers.org

To provide information on Additional Regular Contributions (ARCs) and 
Additional Survivor Benefit Contributions (ASBC's) on request to the LGPS 
member and employers and issue quotations within 15 working days.

P
age 277



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 3
 - 

Pe
ns

io
n 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
St

ra
te

gy
 R

ep
or

t  
|  

12
7

Discretions Policy

Employers' Responsibility Fund's Responsibility

Formulate, publish and update (as necessary) an Employer Discretions Policy 
as required under the LGPS Regulations using the Discretions template and 
provide a copy of this to Administering Authority. More information can be 
found in the Employers Guide, www.dcpfemployers.org

See Appendix B for details of Discretions.

This must be done within 30 days of policy being agreed by the appropriate 
officers or committee of the Employer OR any changes being made.

AND

No later than 6 months after being informed by the Fund of any relevant 
change in the Regulations.

Formulate, publish and update (as necessary) an Administering Authority 
Discretions Policy as required under the LGPS Regulations. The Fund will 
keep the policies under review and will update within 6 months of any 
relevant change in the Regulations.

Where the Fund does not have an up to date discretions policy from an 
Employer, the Fund will not process anything which involves Employers 
discretions. This currently includes application of rule of 85 for members 
between 55 and 60, additional pension awards, flexible retirement and 
waiving of actuarial reductions on any of these.

Fund Administration 
Performance -  
Task Standards
In all cases the standard 
quoted applies only once 
all necessary information 
and documents have 
been received.

The annual figures for 
the Fund performance 
measures across all 
employers will be 
monitored by the Local 
Pensions Board and 
reported in the Annual 
Report.

Task Standard (working days)
Letters/emails acknowledged 10 Days
New Starters processed - electronic/paper 30 Days
Payment of transfer values 20 Days
Provision of inward transfer quotes 15 Days
Notification of deferred benefits 40 Days
Respond to members general postal/telephone enquiries 10 Days
Changes in details processed 30 Days
Estimates for divorce purposes processed 30 Days or 21 Days for Court Ordered requests
Refund payments 15 Days
Deferred benefits calculated 40 Days
APC Illustrations calculated 10 Days
Annuity quotations calculated 5 Days
New retirement letters sent detailing options 10 Days
New retirement benefits processed for payment following receipt of election 5 Days
Deferred benefits processed for payment following receipt of election 20 Days
Notification of death processed 5 Days
Processing of survivor pensions 10 Days
Processing of death grants 5 Days
Estimate requests processed 15 Days

P
age 278



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 3
 - 

Pe
ns

io
n 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
St

ra
te

gy
 R

ep
or

t  
|  

12
8Audit

The Fund is subject to an annual audit 
of its processes and internal controls. 
Employers are expected to fully comply 
with any requests for information 
from both internal and approved 
external auditors. Any subsequent 
recommendations will be considered 
and where appropriate implemented with 
Employing authority cooperation.

Benchmarking
The Fund will regularly monitor its costs 
and service performance by benchmarking 
with other administering authorities. 
Details of the costs of administration, 
quality measures and standards of 
performance will be monitored by the 
Pension Fund Committee and the Local 
Pensions Board. A summary will be 
published in the Annual Report.

Employer Performance Reporting
Poor Performance
The Local Pensions Board will monitor 
regularly the key performance measures. 
The Fund will seek, at the earliest 
opportunity, to work closely with employers 
in identifying areas of poor performance, 
provide the necessary training and 
development to put in place appropriate 
processes to improve the level of service 
into the future.

In the event of continued poor performance 
and a lack of any evidence of measures 
being taken to achieve improvement by an 
employing authority the Fund will seek to 
recover any additional costs arising.

The Fund may also charge for other 
services, details of all the charges that apply 
are provided in Appendix A.

Any third party costs or regulatory fines 
incurred by the Fund as a consequence of 
administrative failures or poor performance 
by the employing authority will be recovered 
from the employer. These may include fines 
imposed by the Courts or the Pensions 
Ombudsman and additional charges in 
respect of actuarial fees, legal fees, third 
party computer charges and additional 
printing and distribution costs.

In dealing with poor performance the  
Fund will:

•  Write to the employer setting out the 
area(s) of poor performance;

•  meet with the employing authority, to 
discuss area(s) of poor performance 
and how these can be addressed;

•  issue formal written notice, where no 
improvement is demonstrated by the 
employing authority or where there 
has been a failure to take agreed 
action by the employing authority;

•  make a claim for cost recovery, 
taking account of time and 
resources in resolving the specific 
area(s) of poor performance;

•  will report any claim for the cost 
of recovery to the Local Pensions 
Board at the next available 
meeting and may form part of the 
administration report in the Fund's 
published Annual Report;

Top 10 detail - cases completed on time Completed 
in period

Performance KPI 
(days)

Cases completed 
on time or early

Admissions (DR01 & DR01W) 4922 97.11% 30 4780

Transfers In Quote (DR02E, DR02R, DR03E & DR03R ) 930 99.25% 15 923
Transfers In Actual  (DR02A & DR03A, DR03G) 380 98.16% 20 373
Transfers Out (DR09E & DR10E) 534 96.82% 10 517
Transfers Out actual (DR09A & DR10A) 299 95.99% 10 287
Estimates Employee (DR08) 977 99.49% 15 972
Estimates Employer (DR22, DR22I, DR22R & DR22W) 335 99.10% 15 332
Retirements (DR14, DR14W & DR12 & DR12I & DR14I,  
DR14T, DR12A, DR14A, DR14F)

2829 97.84% 5 2768

Deferred Benefits (DR11 & DR11W) 3206 94.45% 40 3028
Refunds (DR16 & DR16W) 4246 93.33% 15 3963
Deaths (DR23) 330 99.70% 5 329
Correspondence (DR24 & DR24A) 2762 98.41% 30 2718
Total 21750 96.51% 20990

P
age 279



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 3
 - 

Pe
ns

io
n 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
St

ra
te

gy
 R

ep
or

t  
|  

12
9 •  Report the employer to the Pensions 

Regulator where deemed necessary.

Standards of Data
Overriding Legislation
In performing the role of administering the 
LGPS, The Fund and Employers will comply 
with the overriding legislation, including:

•  the General Data Protection 
Regulations;

•  the Occupational Pensions Schemes; 
(Disclosure of Information) 
Regulations 1986;

•  the Public Pensions Pensions Act;
•  any Transitional Regulations 

currently in place;
•  the Discretionary and Compensation 

Regulations 2006;
•  the Data Protection Act 2018;
•  the Freedom of Information Act 2000;
•  the Equality Act 2010;
•  the Finance Act 2004;
•  Health and Safety Legislation;
•  Employment Rights Act 1998;
•  HMRC Legislation and;
•  Current Government Actuaries 

Department Guidance; 
•  and any future amendments to the 

above legislation.

Associated Policy Statements
Communications Policy
The statement outlines the Fund's policy 
on:
•  Information to members, 

representatives and employers;
•  The format, frequency and method 

of distributing such information;
•  The promotion of the Scheme to 

prospective members and their 
employing authorities

The policy can be accessed on the 
Dorset County Pension Fund website: 
www.dorsetpensionfund.org/
media/5690/communications-policy.pdf 

Governance Policy
Dorset Council has delegated to the 
Pension Fund Committee various powers 
and duties in respect of the investment 
of the Fund.This statement sets out the 
scheme of delegation and the terms 
of reference, structure and operational 
procedures of the delegation.

The policy can be accessed on the 
Dorset County Pension Fund website: 
https://www.dorsetpensionfund.org/
dorset-pension-fund/about-us/forms-
and-publications/

Privacy Statement
The fund collects and processes personal 
data about scheme members. The Privacy 
Notice explains the information the Fund 
holds and how it is used.

The policy can be accessed on the Dorset 
County Pension Fund website:  
www.dorsetpensionfund.org/media/5691/
privacy-policy.pdf 

Data Retention Policy
This statement sets out the Fund's policy 
on the retention of personal data.

The policy can be found on the Dorset 
County Pension Fund website: 
www.dorsetpensionfund.org/media/5691/
privacy-policy.pdf 

Employer Discretions
The LGPS Regulations require every 
employing authority to:
•  issue a written policy statement 

on how it will exercise the various 
discretions provided by the LGPS;

•  keep it under review;
•  revise it as necessary.

A list of the Employer discretions can be 
found in the Employers Guide:
www.dcpfemployers.org

P
age 280



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 3
 - 

Pe
ns

io
n 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
St

ra
te

gy
 R

ep
or

t  
|  

13
0Administering Authority Discretions

The LGPS Regulations require every 
administering authority to:

•  issue a written policy statement 
on how it will exercise the various 
discretions provided by the LGPS;

•  keep it under review;

•  revise it as necessary.

A copy of the Dorset County Pension Fund 
Administering Authority Discretions can be 
found on the Dorset County Pension Fund 
website: www.dorsetpensionfund.org/
dorset-pension-fund/about-us/forms-and-
publications/ 

Local Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations 2013 excerpts related 
to Pensions Administration Strategy 
documents

Exchange of information - Regulation 80
(1). A Scheme employer must -
 a)  inform the appropriate 

administering authority of all 
decisions made by the employer 
under regulation 72 (first instance 
decisions) or by an adjudicator 
appointed by the Scheme employer 
under regulation 74 (applications 
for adjudication of disagreements) 
concerning members; and

 b)  give that authority such other 
information as it requires for 
discharging its Scheme functions.

(2). If -
 a)  an administering authority makes 

any decision under regulations 
72 (first instance decisions), 75 
(decisions of the adjudicator) or 
76 (reference of adjudications to 
administering authority) about 
a person for whom it is not the 
Scheme employer; and

 b)  information about that decision is 
required by the person's Scheme 
employer for discharging that 
employer's Scheme functions, 
that authority must give that 
employer that information if 
asked to supply it.

(3).   Within three months of the end 
of each Scheme year, each 
Scheme employer must give a 
statement to the appropriate 
administering authority giving 
the following details in respect 
of each employee who has been 
an active member during the 
Scheme year -

 a) the employee's name and gender;
 b)  the employee's date of birth and 

national insurance number;

 c)  a unique reference number 
relating to each employment in 
which the employee has been an 
active member; and

 d)  the information relating to the 
employee for the Scheme year in 
question for each employment 
which is specified in paragraph (4).

(4).  The information required by 
paragraph (3)(d) is -

 a) the dates of active membership;
 b)  the pensionable pay received and 

employee contributions deducted 
while regulation 9 (contributions) 
applied;

 c)  the pensionable pay received and 
employee contributions deducted 
while regulation 10 (temporary 
reduction in contributions) applied;

 d)  any contributions by the employer 
in relation to the employee's 
pensionable pay;

 e)  any contributions by employee 
or employer under regulation 
16 (additional pension 
contributions);

 f)  any contributions by employee 
or employer under regulation 
17 (additional voluntary 
contributions).

P
age 281



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 3
 - 

Pe
ns

io
n 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
St

ra
te

gy
 R

ep
or

t  
|  

13
1 Pension administration strategy - 

Regulation 59
(1).  An administering authority may 

prepare a written statement 
of the authority's policies in 
relation to such of the matters 
mentioned in paragraph (2) as it 
considers appropriate (“its pension 
administration strategy”) and, where 
it does so, paragraphs (3) to (7) apply.

(2). The matters are -
 a)  procedures for liaison and 

communication with employers 
in relation to which it is the 
administering authority (“its 
scheme employers”);

 b)  the establishment of levels 
of performance which the 
administering authority and its 
Scheme employers are expected 
to achieve in carrying out their 
Scheme functions by -

 i.  the setting of performance targets,
 ii.  the making of agreements 

about levels of performance and 
associated matters, or

 iii.  such other means as the 
administering authority considers 
appropriate;

 c)  procedures which aim to 
secure that the administering 
authority and its Scheme 

employers comply with statutory 
requirements in respect of those 
functions and with any agreement 
about levels of performance;

 d)  procedures for improving the 
communication by the administering 
authority and its Scheme employers 
to each other of information relating 
to those functions;

 e)  the circumstances in which the 
administering authority may 
consider giving written notice to 
any of its Scheme employers under 
regulation 70 (additional costs 
arising from Scheme employer's 
level of performance) on account 
of that employer's unsatisfactory 
performance in carrying out its 
Scheme functions when measured 
against levels of performance 
established under sub- paragraph 
(b);

 f)  the publication by the 
administering authority of annual 
reports dealing with -

 i.  the extent to which that authority 
and its Scheme employers 
have achieved the levels of 
performance established under 
sub-paragraph (b), and

 ii.  such other matters arising 
from its pension administration 
strategy as it considers 

appropriate; and
 g)  such other matters as appear to 

the administering authority after 
consulting its Scheme employers 
and such other persons as it 
considers appropriate, to be 
suitable for inclusion in that 
strategy.

(3). An administering authority must -
 a)  keep its pension administration 

strategy under review; and
 b)  make such revisions as are 

appropriate following a material 
change in its policies in relation 
to any of the matters contained in 
the strategy.

(4).  In preparing or reviewing and 
making revisions to its pensions 
administration strategy, an 
administering authority must 
consult its scheme employers and 
such other persons as it considers 
appropriate.

(5).  An administering authority must 
publish -

 a)  its pension administration 
strategy; and

 b)  where revisions are made to it, 
the strategy as revised.

P
age 282



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 3
 - 

Pe
ns

io
n 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
St

ra
te

gy
 R

ep
or

t  
|  

13
2(6).  When an administering authority 

publishes its pension administration 
strategy, or that strategy as revised, 
it must send a copy of it to each of 
its employers and to the Secretary 
of State as soon as is reasonably 
practicable.

(7).  An administering authority and 
its Scheme employers must have 
regard to the pension administration 
strategy when carrying out their 
functions under these Regulations.

(8).  In this regulation references to 
the functions of an administering 
authority include, where applicable, 
its functions as a Scheme employer.

Additional costs arising from Scheme 
employer's level of performance
- Regulation 70

(1).  This regulation applies where, in 
the opinion of an administering 
authority, it has incurred additional 
costs which should be recovered 
from a Scheme employer because 
of that employer's level of 
performance in carrying out its 
functions under these Regulations.

(2).  The administering authority may 
give written notice to the Scheme 
employer stating -

 a)  the administering authority's 
reasons for forming the opinion 
mentioned in paragraph (1);

 b)  the amount the authority has 
determined the Scheme employer 
should pay under regulation 
69(1)(d) (payments by Scheme 
employers to administering 
authorities) in respect of those 
costs and the basis on which the 
specified amount is calculated; and

 c)  where the administering 
authority has prepared a pension 
administration strategy under 
regulation 59, the provisions of the 
strategy which are relevant to the 
decision to give the notice and to the 
matters in sub-paragraphs (a) or (b).

Interest on late payments by Scheme 
employers - Regulation 71

(1).  An administering authority may 
require a Scheme employer or 
former Scheme employer from 
which any payment is due under 
regulations 67 to 70 (employer's 
contributions or payments) is 
overdue to pay interest on that 
amount.

(2).  The date on which any amount due 
under regulations 67 (employer's 
contributions), 68 (employer's 
further payments), 70 (additional 
costs arising from Scheme 
employer's level of performance) 
is overdue is one month from the 
date specified by the administering 
authority for payment.

(3).  The date on which any amount due 
under regulation 69 (payment by 
Scheme employers to administering 
authorities) (other than an extra 
charge payable under regulation 68 
and referred to in regulation 69(1)
(b)) is overdue is the day after the 
date when that payment is due.

(4).  Interest payable under this 
regulation must be calculated at one 
per cent above base rate on a day to 
day basis from the due date to the 
date of payment and compounded 
with three-monthly rests

Overriding legislation dictates minimum 
standards that Pension Schemes should 
meet in providing certain pieces of 
information to the various associated 
parties - not least of which the Scheme 
member.

P
age 283



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 3
 - 

Pe
ns

io
n 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
St

ra
te

gy
 R

ep
or

t  
|  

13
3 Appendix A - Charging Schedule

Charge
Failure to notify the Fund of new starters with full information within 1 month of their start date £50 per case
Failure to notify the Fund of changes in status within 1 month of the change £50 per case
Failure to notify the Fund of any member leaving the Scheme (termination of employment or opting-
out) within 1 month of the event

£50 per case

Failure to notify the Fund of any retirement within 15 days of retirement date £50 per case
Where as a result of the Employer's/Payroll Providers failure to notify the Fund of a retirement 
interest becomes payable on any lump sum or death grant paid, the Fund will recharge the total 
amount of interest to the Employer/Payroll Provider

Interest calculated in 
accordance with Regulation 71 
of the LGPS Regulations 2013

Failure to notify the Fund of the death in service of a member within 10 working days of the 
Employer receiving notification

£250 per case

Failure to pay over the monthly contributions to the Fund by the 22nd of the month following 
deduction of the contributions

Interest calculated on a daily 
basis equal to the Bank of 
England Base Rate plus 1%

Failure to provide the Fund with the End of Year return by 30th April £100 per working day from 
day after required date to date 
return is received

Failure to respond to requests for End of Year information to resolve queries within 10 working 
days of Fund request

£50 per query

Estimate requests in excess of 1 required in a rolling year £100 per estimate request plus 
VAT per additional request

Failure to pay invoices from the Fund within the prescribed payment period Interest calculated on a daily 
basis equal to the Bank of 
England Base Rate plus 1%

P
age 284



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 3
 - 

Pe
ns

io
n 

Ad
m

in
is

tra
tio

n 
St

ra
te

gy
 R

ep
or

t  
|  

13
4Contact details

Write to us at:
Dorset County Pension Fund
County Hall, Dorchester 
Dorset DT1 1XJ

Tel:  01305 224845
Fax:  01305 224049
Email:  
pensionshelpline@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
Web: www.dorsetpensionfund.org

Notes to Charging Schedule

•  Notifications of new starters, 
changes, absences, leavers, 
retirements and death in service 
must give full information as 
detailed in the Employer's Guide: 
www.dcpfemployers.org

•  Regulation 71 of the LGPS 
Regulations 2013 states that 
interest must be calculated at one 
per cent above base rate on a day to 
day basis from the due date to the 
date of payment and compounded 
with three-monthly rests. If late 
payment of a lump sum or death 
grant occurs as a result of a failure 
by the scheme member or scheme 
member's representative to provide 
the information to the Fund, the 
Fund will be liable for the payment 
of any interest due.

P
age 285



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 4
 - 

Fu
nd

in
g 

St
ra

te
gy

 S
ta

te
m

en
t  

|  
13

5 Appendix 4
Funding Strategy Statement -  
12 March 2020

Introduction
This is the Funding Strategy Statement 
for the Dorset County Pension Fund (the 
Fund).  It has been prepared in accordance 
with Regulation 58 of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 as 
amended (the Regulations) and describes 
Dorset Council’s funding strategy, in its 
capacity as administering authority, for the 
Dorset County Pension Fund.   
This statement has been prepared with the 
assistance of the Fund’s Actuary, Barnett 
Waddingham LLP and was approved for 
publication by the Dorset Council Pension 
Fund Committee on 12 March 2020. 

This statement should be read in 
conjunction with the Fund’s Investment 
Strategy Statement (ISS) and has been 
prepared with regard to the guidance 
(Preparing and Maintaining a funding 
strategy statement in the LGPS 2016 
edition) issued by the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). 

Purpose of the Funding Strategy 
Statement
The purpose of this Funding Strategy 
Statement (FSS) is to: 

•  Establish a clear and transparent 
fund-specific strategy that will 
identify how employers’ pension 
liabilities are best met going forward;

•  Support the desirability of 
maintaining as nearly constant a 
primary contribution rate as possible, 
as defined in Regulation 62(6) of the 
Regulations;

•  Ensure that the regulatory 
requirements to set contributions to 
meet the future liability to provide 
Scheme member benefits in a way 
that ensures the solvency and long-
term cost efficiency of the Fund are 
met; and

•  Take a prudent longer-term view of 
funding those liabilities.

These objectives are desirable individually 
but may be mutually conflicting.  This FSS 
seeks to set out how the administering 
authority has balanced the conflicting 
aims of affordability of contributions, 
transparency of processes, stability of 
employers’ contributions and prudence in 
the funding basis. 

Aims and purposes of the Fund
The aims of the Fund are to:

•  Manage employers’ liabilities 
effectively and ensure that sufficient 
resources are available to meet all 
liabilities as they fall due;

•  Enable primary contribution rates 
to be kept as nearly constant 
as possible and (subject to the 
administering authority not taking 
undue risks) at reasonable cost 
to all relevant parties (such as the 
taxpayers, scheduled, resolution and 
admitted bodies), while achieving 
and maintaining Fund solvency 
and long-term cost efficiency, 
which should be assessed in light 
of the risk profile of the Fund and 
employers, and the risk appetite 
of the administering authority and 
employers alike; and

•  Seek returns on investment within 
reasonable risk parameters.

The purpose of the Fund is to:

•  Pay pensions, lump sums and other 
benefits to Scheme members as 
provided for under the Regulations;

•  Meet the costs associated in 
administering the Fund; and

P
age 286



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 4
 - 

Fu
nd

in
g 

St
ra

te
gy

 S
ta

te
m

en
t  

|  
13

6•  Receive and invest contributions, 
transfer values and investment 
income.

Funding objectives
Contributions are paid to the Fund by 
Scheme members and the employing 
bodies to provide for the benefits 
which will become payable to Scheme 
members when they fall due. 

The funding objectives are to: 

•  Ensure that pension benefits can be 
met as and when they fall due over 
the lifetime of the Fund;

•  Ensure the solvency of the Fund;

•  Set levels of employer contribution 
rates to target a 100% funding level 
over an appropriate time period 
and using appropriate actuarial 
assumptions, while taking into 
account the different characteristics 
of participating employers;

•  Build up the required assets in such 
a way that employer contribution 
rates are kept as stable as possible, 
with consideration of the long-term 
cost efficiency objective; and

•  Adopt appropriate measures and 
approaches to reduce the risk, 
as far as possible, to the Fund, 

other employers and ultimately 
the taxpayer from an employer 
defaulting on its pension obligations.

In developing the funding strategy, the 
administering authority should also have 
regard to the likely outcomes of the 
review carried out under Section 13(4)(c) 
of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013.  
Section 13(4)(c) requires an independent 
review of the actuarial valuations of 
the LGPS funds; this involves reporting 
on whether the rate of employer 
contributions set as part of the actuarial 
valuations are set at an appropriate 
level to ensure the solvency of the Fund 
and the long-term cost efficiency of 
the Scheme so far as relating to the 
pension Fund.  The review also looks 
at compliance and consistency of the 
actuarial valuations. 

Key parties
The key parties involved in the funding 
process and their responsibilities are set 
out below. 

The administering authority
The administering authority for the 
Fund is Dorset Council.  The main 
responsibilities of the administering 
authority are to: 

•  Operate the Fund in accordance with 
the LGPS Regulations;

•  Collect employee and employer 
contributions, investment income 
and other amounts due to the Fund 
as stipulated in the Regulations;

•  Invest the Fund’s assets in 
accordance with the Fund’s 
Investment Strategy Statement;

•  Pay the benefits due to Scheme 
members as stipulated in the 
Regulations;

•  Ensure that cash is available to meet 
liabilities as and when they fall due;

•  Take measures as set out in the 
Regulations to safeguard the Fund 
against the consequences of 
employer default;

•  Manage the actuarial valuation 
process in conjunction with the Fund 
Actuary;

•  Prepare and maintain this FSS and 
also the ISS after consultation with 
other interested parties;

•  Monitor all aspects of the Fund’s 
performance;

•  Effectively manage any potential 
conflicts of interest arising from its 
dual role as both Fund administrator 
and Scheme employer; and

P
age 287



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 4
 - 

Fu
nd

in
g 

St
ra

te
gy

 S
ta

te
m

en
t  

|  
13

7 •  Enable the Local Pension Board to 
review the valuation process as they 
see fit.

Scheme employers 
In addition to the administering authority, 
a number of other Scheme employers 
participate in the Fund.   

The responsibilities of each employer 
that participates in the Fund, including the 
administering authority, are to:

•  Collect employee contributions 
and pay these together with their 
own employer contributions, as 
certified by the Fund Actuary, to the 
administering authority within the 
statutory timescales;

•  Notify the administering authority of 
any new Scheme members and any 
other membership changes promptly;

•  Develop a policy on certain 
discretions and exercise those 
discretions as permitted under the 
Regulations;

•  Meet the costs of any augmentations 
or other additional costs in 
accordance with agreed policies and 
procedures; and

•  Pay any exit payments due on 
ceasing participation in the Fund.

Scheme members
Active Scheme members are required to 
make contributions into the Fund as set 
by the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government (MHCLG). 

Fund Actuary
The Fund Actuary for the Fund is 
Barnett Waddingham LLP.  The main 
responsibilities of the Fund Actuary are to: 

•  Prepare valuations including the 
setting of employers’ contribution 
rates at a level to ensure Fund 
solvency and long-term cost efficiency 
after agreeing assumptions with the 
administering authority and having 
regard to the FSS and the Regulations;

•  Prepare advice and calculations in 
connection with bulk transfers and 
the funding aspects of individual 
benefit-related matters such as 
pension strain costs, ill-health 
retirement costs, compensatory 
added years costs, etc;

•  Provide advice and valuations on the 
exiting of employers from the Fund;

•  Provide advice and valuations 
relating to new employers, including 
recommending the level of bonds or 
other forms of security required to 
protect the Fund against the financial 
effect of employer default;

•  Assist the administering authority 
in assessing whether employer 
contributions need to be revised 
between valuations as permitted or 
required by the Regulations;

•  Ensure that the administering authority 
is aware of any professional guidance 
or other professional requirements 
which may be of relevance to their role 
in advising the Fund; and

•  Advise on other actuarial matters 
affecting the financial position of  
the Fund.

Funding strategy
The factors affecting the Fund’s 
finances are constantly changing, so it 
is necessary for its financial position 
and the contributions payable to be 
reviewed from time to time by means of 
an actuarial valuation to check that the 
funding objectives are being met. 

The most recent actuarial valuation of 
the Fund was carried out as at 31 March 
2019.  The results of the 2019 valuation 
are set out in the table below: 

2019 valuation results

Surplus (Deficit) (£255m)

Funding level 92%

P
age 288



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 4
 - 

Fu
nd

in
g 

St
ra

te
gy

 S
ta

te
m

en
t  

|  
13

8On a whole Fund level, the primary rate 
required to cover the employer cost 
of future benefit accrual was 17.7% of 
payroll p.a. 

The individual employer contribution 
rates are set out in the Rates and 
Adjustments Certificate which forms part 
of the Fund’s 2019 valuation report. 

The actuarial valuation involves a 
projection of future cashflows to and 
from the Fund.  The main purpose of 
the valuation is to determine the level of 
employers’ contributions that should be 
paid to ensure that the existing assets 
and future contributions will be sufficient 
to meet all future benefit payments from 
the Fund.  A summary of the methods 
and assumptions adopted is set out in 
the sections below.  

Funding method 
The key objective in determining 
employers’ contribution rates is to 
establish a funding target and then set 
levels of employer contribution rates to 
meet that target over an agreed period. 

The funding target is to have sufficient 
assets in the Fund to meet the accrued 
liabilities for each employer in the Fund.   

For all employers, the method adopted 
is to consider separately the benefits 
accrued before the valuation date (past 
service) and benefits expected to be 
accrued after the valuation date (future 
service). These are evaluated as follows: 

•  The past service funding level of the 
Fund.  This is the ratio of accumulated 
assets to liabilities in respect of past 
service.  It makes allowance for 
future increases to members’ pay and 
pensions.  A funding level in excess 
of 100% indicates a surplus of assets 
over liabilities; while a funding level of 
less than 100% indicates a deficit; and

•  The future service funding rate 
(also referred to as the primary 
rate as defined in Regulation 62(5) 
of the Regulations) is the level 
of contributions required from 
the individual employers which, 
in combination with employee 
contributions is expected to cover the 
cost of benefits accruing in future.

The adjustment required to the primary 
rate to calculate an employer’s total 
contribution rate is referred to as 
the secondary rate, as defined in 
Regulation 62(7).  Further details of 
how the secondary rate is calculated for 
employers is given below in the Deficit 

recovery/surplus amortisation periods 
section.  

The approach to the primary rate 
will depend on specific employer 
circumstances and in particular may 
depend on whether an employer is an 
“open” employer – one which allows new 
recruits access to the Fund, or a “closed” 
employer – one which no longer permits 
new staff access to the Fund.  The 
expected period of participation by an 
employer in the Fund may also affect the 
total contribution rate. 

For open employers, the actuarial funding 
method that is adopted is known as the 
Projected Unit Method.  The key feature 
of this method is that, in assessing the 
future service cost, the primary rate 
represents the cost of one year’s benefit 
accrual only. 

For closed employers, the actuarial 
funding method adopted is known as the 
Attained Age Method.  The key difference 
between this method and the Projected 
Unit Method is that the Attained Age 
Method assesses the average cost of the 
benefits that will accrue over a specific 
period, such as the length of a contract 
or the remaining expected working 
lifetime of active members. 

P
age 289



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 4
 - 

Fu
nd

in
g 

St
ra

te
gy

 S
ta

te
m

en
t  

|  
13

9 The approach by employer may vary 
to reflect an employer’s specific 
circumstance, however, in general 
the closed employers in the Fund are 
admission bodies who have joined the 
Fund as part of an outsourcing contract 
and therefore the Attained Age Method 
is used in setting their contributions. All 
other employers (for example councils, 
higher education bodies and academies) 
are generally open employers and 
therefore the Projected Unit Method is 
used. The administering authority holds 
details of the open or closed status of 
each employer. 

Valuation assumptions and funding 
model 
In completing the actuarial valuation it 
is necessary to formulate assumptions 
about the factors affecting the Fund's 
future finances such as price inflation, 
pay increases, investment returns, rates 
of mortality, early retirement and staff 
turnover etc. 

The assumptions adopted at the 
valuation can therefore be considered as: 

•  The demographic (or statistical) 
assumptions which are essentially 
estimates of the likelihood or timing 
of benefits and contributions being 
paid, and

•  The financial assumptions which will 
determine the estimates of the amount 
of benefits and contributions payable 
and their current (or present) value.

Future price inflation 
The base assumption in any valuation is 
the future level of price inflation over a 
period commensurate with the duration 
of the liabilities, as measured by the 
Retail Price Index (RPI).  This is derived 
using the 20 year point on the Bank of 
England implied Retail Price Index (RPI) 
inflation curve, with consideration of the 
market conditions over the six months 
straddling the valuation date.  The 20 
year point on the curve is taken as 20 
years is consistent with the average 
duration of an LGPS Fund. 

Future pension increases 
Pension increases are linked to changes 
in the level of the Consumer Price Index 
(CPI).  Inflation as measured by the CPI 
has historically been less than RPI due 
mainly to different calculation methods.  
A deduction of 1.0% p.a. is therefore 
made to the RPI assumption to derive the 
CPI assumption.   

Future pay increases 
As some of the benefits are linked to pay 
levels at retirement, it is necessary to make 

an assumption as to future levels of pay 
increases.  Historically, there has been a 
close link between price inflation and pay 
increases with pay increases exceeding 
price inflation in the longer term.  The long-
term pay increase assumption adopted as 
at 31 March 2019 was CPI plus 1.0% p.a. 
which includes allowance for promotional 
increases. 

Future investment returns/discount rate 
To determine the value of accrued 
liabilities and derive future contribution 
requirements it is necessary to discount 
future payments to and from the Fund to 
present day values. 

The discount rate that is applied to all 
projected liabilities reflects a prudent 
estimate of the rate of investment return 
that is expected to be earned from the 
Fund’s long-term investment strategy by 
considering average market yields in the 
six months straddling the valuation date.  
The discount rate so determined may be 
referred to as the “ongoing” discount rate.   

It may be appropriate for an alternative 
discount rate approach to be taken to 
reflect an individual employer’s situation.  
This may be, for example, to reflect an 
employer targeting a cessation event or 
to reflect the administering authority’s 

P
age 290



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 4
 - 

Fu
nd

in
g 

St
ra

te
gy

 S
ta

te
m

en
t  

|  
14

0views on the level of risk that an employer 
poses to the Fund.  The Fund Actuary 
will incorporate any such adjustments 
after consultation with the administering 
authority. 

A summary of the financial assumptions 
adopted for the 2019 valuation is set out in 
the table below: 

Financial assumptions as at 31 March 2019 

RPI inflation 3.6% p.a. 

CPI inflation 2.6% p.a. 

Pension/deferred pension 
increases and CARE revaluation

In line with  
CPI inflation

Pay increases CPI inflation  
+ 1.0% p.a.

Discount rate 5.0% p.a.

Asset valuation 
For the purpose of the valuation, the 
asset value used is the market value of 
the accumulated fund at the valuation 
date, adjusted to reflect average market 
conditions during the six months 
straddling the valuation date.  This is 
referred to as the smoothed asset value 
and is calculated as a consistent approach 
to the valuation of the liabilities.  

The Fund’s assets are notionally allocated 
to employers at an individual level by 

allowing for actual Fund returns achieved 
on the assets and cashflows paid into 
and out of the Fund in respect of each 
employer (e.g. contributions received and 
benefits paid). 

Demographic assumptions 
The demographic assumptions 
incorporated into the valuation are based 
on Fund-specific experience and national 
statistics, adjusted as appropriate to 
reflect the individual circumstances of 
the Fund and/or individual employers. 

Further details of the assumptions 
adopted are included in the Fund’s 2019 
valuation report.

McCloud/Sargeant judgements 
The McCloud/Sargeant judgements were 
in relation to two employment tribunal 
cases which were brought against 
the government in relation to possible 
age and gender discrimination in the 
implementation of transitional protection 
following the introduction of the reformed 
2015 public service pension schemes from 
1 April 2015.  These judgements were not 
directly in relation to the LGPS, however, do 
have implications for the LGPS. 

In December 2018, the Court of Appeal 
ruled that the transitional protection 

offered to some members as part of 
the reforms amounted to unlawful 
discrimination.  On 27 June 2019 the 
Supreme Court denied the government’s 
request for an appeal in the case.  A 
remedy is still to be either imposed by 
the Employment Tribunal or negotiated 
and applied to all public service schemes, 
so it is not yet clear how this judgement 
may affect LGPS members’ past or 
future service benefits.  It has, however, 
been noted by government in its 15 July 
2019 statement that it expects to have 
to amend all public service schemes, 
including the LGPS. 

Further details of this can be found 
below in the Regulatory risks section. 

At the time of drafting this FSS, it 
is still unclear how this will affect 
current and future LGPS benefits.  As 
part of the Fund’s 2019 valuation, in 
order to mitigate the risk of member 
benefits being uplifted and becoming 
more expensive, the potential impact 
of McCloud was covered by the 
prudence allowance in the discount rate 
assumption.  As the remedy is still to 
be agreed the cost cannot be calculated 
with certainty, however, the Fund Actuary 
expects it is likely to be less than 0.05% 
of the discount rate assumption. 

P
age 291



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 4
 - 

Fu
nd

in
g 

St
ra

te
gy

 S
ta

te
m

en
t  

|  
14

1 Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) 
indexation and equalisation 
As part of the restructuring of the state 
pension provision, the government 
needs to consider how public service 
pension payments should be increased 
in future for members who accrued a 
Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) 
from their public service pension scheme 
and expect to reach State Pension Age 
(SPA) post-December 2018.  In addition, 
a resulting potential inequality in the 
payment of public service pensions 
between men and women needs to be 
addressed.  Information on the current 
method of indexation and equalisation of 
public service pension schemes can be 
found here. 

On 22 January 2018, the government 
published the outcome to its Indexation 
and equalisation of GMP in public service 
pension schemes consultation, concluding 
that the requirement for public service 
pension schemes to fully price protect 
the GMP element of individuals’ public 
service pension would be extended to 
those individuals reaching SPA before 6 
April 2021.  HMT published a Ministerial 
Direction on 4 December 2018 to 
implement this outcome, with effect from 6 
April 2016.  Details of this outcome and the 
Ministerial Direction can be found here. 

The 2019 valuation assumption for GMP is 
that the Fund will pay limited increases for 
members that have reached SPA by 6 April 
2016, with the government providing the 
remainder of the inflationary increase. For 
members that reach SPA after this date, it 
is assumed that the Fund will be required to 
pay the entire inflationary increase.  

Deficit recovery/surplus amortisation 
periods 
Whilst one of the funding objectives is 
to build up sufficient assets to meet 
the cost of benefits as they accrue, it is 
recognised that at any particular point 
in time, the value of the accumulated 
assets will be different to the value of 
accrued liabilities, depending on how the 
actual experience of the Fund differs to 
the actuarial assumptions. This theory 
applies down to an individual employer 
level; each employer in the Fund has 
their own share of deficit or surplus 
attributable to their section of the Fund.   

Where the valuation for an employer 
discloses a deficit then the level of 
required employer contributions includes 
an adjustment to fund the deficit over 
a maximum period of 19 years. The 
adjustment may be set either as a 
percentage of payroll or as a fixed 
monetary amount.   

The deficit recovery periods adopted 
at the 2019 valuation varied amongst 
individual employers. Shorter recovery 
periods have been used where 
affordable. This will provide a buffer for 
future adverse experience and reduce 
the interest cost paid by employers.  The 
deficit recovery period or amortisation 
period that is adopted for any particular 
employer will depend on:  

•  The significance of the surplus or 
deficit relative to that employer’s 
liabilities;

•  The covenant of the individual 
employer (including any security 
in place) and any limited period of 
participation in the Fund;

•  The remaining contract length of an 
employer in the Fund (if applicable); 
and

•  The implications in terms of stability 
of future levels of employers’ 
contribution.

Where an employer's contribution has to 
increase significantly then, if appropriate, 
the increase may be phased in over a 
period not exceeding three years. 

P
age 292



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 4
 - 

Fu
nd

in
g 

St
ra

te
gy

 S
ta

te
m

en
t  

|  
14

2Pooling of individual employers 
The policy of the Fund is that each 
individual employer should be 
responsible for the costs of providing 
pensions for its own employees who 
participate in the Fund. Accordingly, 
contribution rates are set for individual 
employers to reflect their own particular 
circumstances.  

However, certain groups of individual 
employers are pooled for the purposes 
of determining contribution rates to 
recognise common characteristics or 
where the number of Scheme members 
is small.   

The funding pools adopted for the Fund 
at the 2019 valuation are summarised in 
the table opposite:

Pool Type of pooling Notes

Dorset Council

Past and future service 
pooling

All employers in the pool pay the 
same total contribution rate and have 
the same funding level 

Bournemouth, Christchurch 
and Poole Council

Academies

Small Scheduled Bodies

Small Admitted Bodies

SLM Poole

Weymouth College

The main purpose of pooling is 
to produce more stable employer 
contribution levels, although recognising 
that ultimately there will be some level of 
cross-subsidy of pension cost amongst 
pooled employers. 

Forming/disbanding a funding pool 
Where the Fund identifies a group of 
employers with similar characteristics 
and potential merits for pooling, it 
is possible to form a pool for these 
employers. Advice should be sought 
from the Fund Actuary to consider the 
appropriateness and practicalities of 
forming the funding pool.   

Conversely, the Fund may consider 
it no longer appropriate to pool a 

group of employers. This could be due 
to divergence of previously similar 
characteristics or an employer becoming 
a dominant party in the pool (such that 
the results of the pool are largely driven 
by that dominant employer). Where this 
scenario arises, advice should be sought 
from the Fund Actuary. 

Funding pools should be monitored on a 
regular basis, at least at each actuarial 
valuation, in order to ensure the pooling 
arrangement remains appropriate. 

Risk-sharing 
There are employers that participate in the 
Fund with a risk-sharing arrangement in 
place with another employer in the Fund.     

P
age 293



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 4
 - 

Fu
nd

in
g 

St
ra

te
gy

 S
ta

te
m

en
t  

|  
14

3 For example, there are employers 
participating in the Fund with pass-
through provisions: under this 
arrangement the pass-through employer 
does not take on the risk of underfunding 
as this risk remains with the letting 
authority or relevant guaranteeing 
employer.  When the pass-through 
employer ceases participation in the 
Fund, it is not responsible for making 
any exit payment, nor receiving any exit 
credit, as any deficit or surplus ultimately 
falls to the letting authority or relevant 
guaranteeing employer.   

At the 2019 valuation, risk-sharing 
arrangements were allowed for by 
allocating any deficit/liabilities covered 
by the risk-sharing arrangement to the 
relevant responsible employer.   

New employers joining the Fund 
When a new employer joins the Fund, 
the Fund Actuary is required to set 
the contribution rates payable by the 
new employer and allocate a share of 
Fund assets to the new employer as 
appropriate.  The most common types 
of new employers joining the Fund are 
admission bodies and new academies.  
These are considered in more detail 
below. 

Admission bodies 
New admission bodies in the Fund are 
commonly a result of a transfer of staff 
from an existing employer in the Fund 
to another body (for example as part of 
a transfer of services from a council or 
academy to an external provider under 
Schedule 2 Part 3 of the Regulations).  
Typically these transfers will be for a 
limited period (the contract length), over 
which the new admission body employer 
is required to pay contributions into 
the Fund in respect of the transferred 
members. 

Funding at start of contract 
Generally, when a new admission 
body joins the Fund, they will become 
responsible for all the pensions risk 
associated with the benefits accrued by 
transferring members and the benefits 
to be accrued over the contract length.  
This is known as a full risk transfer.  In 
these cases, it may be appropriate that 
the new admission body is allocated 
a share of Fund assets equal to the 
value of the benefits transferred, i.e. 
the new admission body starts off on 
a fully funded basis.  This is calculated 
on the relevant funding basis and the 
opening position may be different when 
calculated on an alternative basis (e.g. 
on an accounting basis). 

However, there may be special 
arrangements made as part of the 
contract such that a full risk transfer 
approach is not adopted.  In these cases, 
the initial assets allocated to the new 
admission body will reflect the level of 
risk transferred and may therefore not be 
on a fully funded basis or may not reflect 
the full value of the benefits attributable 
to the transferring members. 

Contribution rate 
The contribution rate may be set on an 
open or a closed basis.  Where the funding 
at the start of the contract is on a fully 
funded basis then the contribution rate 
will represent the primary rate only; where 
there is a deficit allocated to the new 
admission body then the contribution rate 
will also incorporate a secondary rate with 
the aim of recovering the deficit over an 
appropriate recovery period. 

Depending on the details of the 
arrangement, for example if any risk 
sharing arrangements are in place, then 
additional adjustments may be made to 
determine the contribution rate payable by 
the new admission body.  The approach 
in these cases will be bespoke to the 
individual arrangement. 

P
age 294



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 4
 - 

Fu
nd

in
g 

St
ra

te
gy

 S
ta

te
m

en
t  

|  
14

4Security 
To mitigate the risk to the Fund that a 
new admission body will not be able to 
meet its obligations to the Fund in the 
future, the new admission body may 
be required to put in place a bond in 
accordance with Schedule 2 Part 3 of 
the Regulations, if required by the letting 
authority and administering authority. 

If, for any reason, it is not desirable for 
a new admission body to enter into a 
bond, the new admission body may 
provide an alternative form of security 
which is satisfactory to the administering 
authority. 

Risk-sharing 
Although a full risk transfer (as set 
out above) is most common, subject 
to agreement with the administering 
authority where required, new admission 
bodies and the relevant letting authority 
may make a commercial agreement to 
deal with the pensions risk differently.  
For example, it may be agreed that all or 
part of the pensions risk remains with 
the letting authority. 

Although pensions risk may be shared, it 
is common for the new admission body 
to remain responsible for pensions costs 
that arise from:  

•  above average pay increases, 
including the effect on service 
accrued prior to contract 
commencement; and

•  redundancy and early retirement 
decisions.

The administering authority may consider 
risk-sharing arrangements as long as 
the approach is clearly documented in 
the admission agreement, the transfer 
agreement or any other side agreement.  
The arrangement also should not lead to 
any undue risk to the other employers in 
the Fund. 

Legal and actuarial advice in relation 
to risk-sharing arrangements should be 
sought where required. 

New academies 
When a school converts to academy 
status, the new academy (or the 
sponsoring multi-academy trust) becomes 
a Scheme employer in its own right. 

Funding at start 
On conversion to academy status, the 
new academy will become part of the 
academies funding pool and will be 
allocated assets based on the funding 
level of the pool at the conversion date.    

Contribution rate 
The contribution rate payable when a 
new academy joins the Fund will be in 
line with the contribution rate certified 
for the academies funding pool at the 
2019 valuation. 

Cessation valuations 
When a Scheme employer exits the Fund 
and becomes an exiting employer, as 
required under the Regulations the Fund 
Actuary will be asked to carry out an 
actuarial valuation in order to determine 
the liabilities in respect of the benefits 
held by the exiting employer’s current 
and former employees. The Fund Actuary 
is also required to determine the exit 
payment due from the exiting employer 
to the Fund or the exit credit payable 
from the Fund to the exiting employer.   

Any deficit in the Fund in respect of the 
exiting employer will be due to the Fund 
as a single lump sum payment, unless it 
is agreed by the administering authority 
and the other parties involved that an 
alternative approach is permissible. For 
example: 

•  It may be agreed with the 
administering authority that the exit 
payment can be spread over some 
agreed period;

P
age 295



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 4
 - 

Fu
nd

in
g 

St
ra

te
gy

 S
ta

te
m

en
t  

|  
14

5 •  The assets and liabilities relating to 
the employer may transfer within 
the Fund to another participating 
employer; or

•  The employer’s exit may be deferred 
subject to agreement with the 
administering authority, for example 
if it intends to offer Scheme 
membership to a new employee 
within the following three years.

Similarly, any surplus in the Fund in 
respect of the exiting employer may be 
treated differently to a payment of an 
exit credit, subject to the agreement 
between the relevant parties and any 
legal documentation. 

In assessing the value of the liabilities 
attributable to the exiting employer, 
the Fund Actuary may adopt differing 
approaches depending on the employer 
and the specific details surrounding the 
employer’s cessation scenario.    

Regulatory factors 
At the date of drafting this FSS, the 
government is currently consulting on 
potential changes to the Regulations, 
some which may affect the regulations 
surrounding an employer’s exit 
from the Fund. This is set out in the 

Local government pension scheme: 
changes to the local valuation cycle 
and the management of employer risk 
consultation document. 

Further details of this can be found in the 
Regulatory risks section below.

Bulk transfers 
Bulk transfers of staff into or out of the 
Fund can take place from other LGPS 
Funds or non-LGPS Funds.  In either 
case, the Fund Actuary for both Funds 
will be required to negotiate the terms 
for the bulk transfer – specifically the 
terms by which the value of assets to 
be paid from one Fund to the other is 
calculated. 

The agreement will be specific to the 
situation surrounding each bulk transfer 
but in general the Fund will look to 
receive the bulk transfer on no less than 
a fully funded transfer (i.e. the assets 
paid from the ceding Fund are sufficient 
to cover the value of the liabilities on 
the agreed basis) and will not pay bulk 
transfers more than the value of the 
past service liabilities of the transferring 
members, based on the latest funding 
basis updated for market conditions at 
the transfer date. 

A bulk transfer may be required by an 
issued Direction Order.  This is generally in 
relation to an employer merger, where all 
the assets and liabilities attributable to the 
transferring employer in its original Fund 
are transferred to the receiving Fund.   

Links with the Investment Strategy 
Statement (ISS) 
The main link between the Funding 
Strategy Statement (FSS) and the ISS 
relates to the discount rate that underlies 
the funding strategy as set out in the 
FSS, and the expected rate of investment 
return which is expected to be achieved 
by the long-term investment strategy as 
set out in the ISS. 

As explained above, the ongoing 
discount rate that is adopted in the 
actuarial valuation is derived by 
considering the expected return from 
the long-term investment strategy.  
This ensures consistency between 
the funding strategy and investment 
strategy. 

Risks and counter measures 
Whilst the funding strategy attempts to 
satisfy the funding objectives of ensuring 
sufficient assets to meet pension 
liabilities and stable levels of employer 
contributions, it is recognised that there 

P
age 296



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 4
 - 

Fu
nd

in
g 

St
ra

te
gy

 S
ta

te
m

en
t  

|  
14

6are risks that may impact on the funding 
strategy and hence the ability of the 
strategy to meet the funding objectives. 

The major risks to the funding strategy are 
financial, although there are other external 
factors including demographic risks, 
regulatory risks and governance risks. 

Financial risks 
The main financial risk is that the actual 
investment strategy fails to produce the 
expected rate of investment return (in real 
terms) that underlies the funding strategy.  
This could be due to a number of factors, 
including market returns being less than 
expected and/or the fund managers who 
are employed to implement the chosen 
investment strategy failing to achieve their 
performance targets.   

The valuation results are most sensitive 
to the real discount rate (i.e. the 
difference between the discount rate 
assumption and the price inflation 
assumption).  Broadly speaking an 
increase/decrease of 0.5% p.a. in the real 
discount rate will decrease/increase the 
valuation of the liabilities by 10%, and 
decrease/increase the required employer 
contribution by around 2.5% of payroll 
p.a. 

However, the Investment and Pension 
Fund Committee regularly monitors the 
investment returns achieved by the fund 
managers and receives advice from the 
independent advisers and officers on 
investment strategy.  

The Committee may also seek advice 
from the Fund Actuary on valuation related 
matters.  

In addition, the Fund Actuary provides 
funding updates between valuations 
to check whether the funding strategy 
continues to meet the funding objectives. 

Demographic risks 
Allowance is made in the funding strategy 
via the actuarial assumptions for a 
continuing improvement in life expectancy.  
However, the main demographic risk 
to the funding strategy is that it might 
underestimate the continuing improvement 
in longevity.  For example, an increase of 
one year to life expectancy of all members 
in the Fund will increase the liabilities by 
approximately 4%. 

The actual mortality of pensioners in 
the Fund is monitored by the Fund 
Actuary at each actuarial valuation and 
assumptions are kept under review.  For 
the past two funding valuations, the Fund 

has commissioned a bespoke longevity 
analysis by Barnett Waddingham’s 
specialist longevity team in order to 
assess the mortality experience of the 
Fund and help set an appropriate mortality 
assumption for funding purposes. 

The liabilities of the Fund can also 
increase by more than has been planned 
as a result of the additional financial 
costs of early retirements and ill-health 
retirements.  However, the administering 
authority monitors the incidence of early 
retirements; and procedures are in place 
that require individual employers to pay 
additional amounts into the Fund to meet 
any additional costs arising from early 
retirements. 

Maturity risk 
The maturity of a Fund (or of an 
employer in the Fund) is an assessment 
of how close on average the members 
are to retirement (or already retired).  
The more mature the Fund or employer, 
the greater proportion of its membership 
that is near or in retirement.  For a 
mature Fund or employer, the time 
available to generate investment returns 
is shorter and therefore the level of 
maturity needs to be considered as 
part of setting funding and investment 
strategies. 

P
age 297



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 4
 - 

Fu
nd

in
g 

St
ra

te
gy

 S
ta

te
m

en
t  

|  
14

7 The cashflow profile of the Fund needs 
to be considered alongside the level of 
maturity: as a Fund matures, the ratio of 
active to pensioner members falls, meaning 
the ratio of contributions being paid into 
the Fund to the benefits being paid out of 
the Fund also falls. This therefore increases 
the risk of the Fund having to sell assets in 
order to meets its benefit payments.   

The government has published a 
consultation (Local government pension 
scheme: changes to the local valuation 
cycle and management of employer risk) 
which may affect the Fund’s exposure 
to maturity risk.  More information on 
this can be found in the Regulatory risks 
section below. 

Regulatory risks 
The benefits provided by the Scheme 
and employee contribution levels are 
set out in Regulations determined by 
central government.  The tax status of 
the invested assets is also determined 
by the government.   

The funding strategy is therefore 
exposed to the risks of changes in the 
Regulations governing the Scheme and 
changes to the tax regime which may 
affect the cost to individual employers 
participating in the Scheme. 

However, the administering authority 
participates in any consultation process 
of any proposed changes in Regulations 
and seeks advice from the Fund Actuary 
on the financial implications of any 
proposed changes. 

There are a number of general risks to 
the Fund and the LGPS, including: 
•  If the LGPS was to be discontinued 

in its current form it is not known 
what would happen to members’ 
benefits.

•  The potential effects of GMP 
equalisation between males and 
females, if implemented, are not yet 
known.

•  More generally, as a statutory 
scheme the benefits provided by 
the LGPS or the structure of the 
scheme could be changed by the 
government.

•  The State Pension Age is due to be 
reviewed by the government in the 
next few years.

At the time of preparing this FSS, 
specific regulatory risks of particular 
interest to the LGPS are in relation to the 
McCloud/Sargeant judgements, the cost 
cap mechanism and the timing of future 
funding valuations consultation. These 
are discussed in the sections below.    

McCloud/Sargeant judgements and  
cost cap 
The 2016 national Scheme valuation 
was used to determine the results of 
HM Treasury’s (HMT) employer cost 
cap mechanism for the first time.  The 
HMT cost cap mechanism was brought 
in after Lord Hutton’s review of public 
service pensions with the aim of providing 
protection to taxpayers and employees 
against unexpected changes (expected 
to be increases) in pension costs.  The 
cost control mechanism only considers 
“member costs”. These are the costs 
relating to changes in assumptions 
made to carry out valuations relating to 
the profile of the Scheme members; e.g. 
costs relating to how long members are 
expected to live for and draw their pension. 

Therefore, assumptions such as future 
expected levels of investment returns and 
levels of inflation are not included in the 
calculation, so have no impact on the cost 
management outcome. 

The 2016 HMT cost cap valuation revealed 
a fall in these costs and therefore a 
requirement to enhance Scheme benefits 
from 1 April 2019.  However, as a funded 
Scheme, the LGPS also had a cost cap 
mechanism controlled by the Scheme 
Advisory Board (SAB) in place and HMT 

P
age 298



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 4
 - 

Fu
nd

in
g 

St
ra

te
gy

 S
ta

te
m

en
t  

|  
14

8allowed SAB to put together a package of 
proposed benefit changes in order for the 
LGPS to no longer breach the HMT cost 
cap.  These benefit changes were due to 
be consulted on with all stakeholders and 
implemented from 1 April 2019.  

However, on 20 December 2018 there 
was a judgement made by the Court of 
Appeal which resulted in the government 
announcing their decision to pause 
the cost cap process across all public 
service schemes.  This was in relation 
to two employment tribunal cases which 
were brought against the government in 
relation to possible discrimination in the 
implementation of transitional protection 
following the introduction of the reformed 
2015 public service pension schemes 
from 1 April 2015.  Transitional protection 
enabled some members to remain in their 
pre-2015 schemes after 1 April 2015 until 
retirement or the end of a pre-determined 
tapered protection period.  The claimants 
challenged the transitional protection 
arrangements on the grounds of direct 
age discrimination, equal pay and indirect 
gender and race discrimination. 

The first case (McCloud) relating to the 
Judicial Pension Scheme was ruled in 
favour of the claimants, while the second 
case (Sargeant) in relation to the Fire 

scheme was ruled against the claimants.  
Both rulings were appealed and as the 
two cases were closely linked, the Court of 
Appeal decided to combine the two cases. 
In December 2018, the Court of Appeal 
ruled that the transitional protection offered 
to some members as part of the reforms 
amounts to unlawful discrimination. On 27 
June 2019 the Supreme Court denied the 
government’s request for an appeal in the 
case. A remedy is still to be either imposed 
by the Employment Tribunal or negotiated 
and applied to all public service schemes, 
so it is not yet clear how this judgement 
may affect LGPS members’ past or future 
service benefits. It has, however, been 
noted by government in its 15 July 2019 
statement that it expects to have to amend 
all public service schemes, including the 
LGPS.   

At the time of drafting this FSS, it is not yet 
known what the effect on the current and 
future LGPS benefits will be.  

Consultation: Local government pension 
scheme: changes to the local valuation 
cycle and management of employer risk 
On 8 May 2019, the government published 
a consultation seeking views on policy 
proposals to amend the rules of the LGPS 
in England and Wales. The consultation 
covered: 

•  amendments to the local fund 
valuations from the current three 
year (triennial) to a four year 
(quadrennial) cycle;

•  a number of measures aimed at 
mitigating the risks of moving from a 
triennial to a quadrennial cycle;

•  proposals for flexibility on exit 
payments;

•  proposals for further policy changes 
to exit credits; and

•  proposals for changes to the 
employers required to offer LGPS 
membership.

The consultation is currently ongoing: the 
consultation was closed to responses 
on 31 July 2019 and an outcome is now 
awaited.  This FSS will be revisited once 
the outcome is known and reviewed 
where appropriate. 

Timing of future actuarial valuations 
LGPS valuations currently take place 
on a triennial basis which results in 
employer contributions being reviewed 
every three years.  In September 2018 it 
was announced by the Chief Secretary to 
HMT, Elizabeth Truss, that the national 
Scheme valuation would take place on a 
quadrennial basis (i.e. every four years) 

P
age 299



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 4
 - 

Fu
nd

in
g 

St
ra

te
gy

 S
ta

te
m

en
t  

|  
14

9 along with the other public sector pension 
schemes.  This results of the national 
Scheme valuation are used to test the 
cost control cap mechanism and HMT 
believed that all public sector scheme 
should have the cost cap test happen at 
the same time with the next quadrennial 
valuation in 2020 and then 2024.  

Managing employer exits from the Fund 
The consultation covers:

•  Proposals for flexibility on exit 
payments. This includes:

•  Formally introducing into the 
Regulations the ability for the 
administering authority to allow 
an exiting employer to spread the 
required exit payment over a fixed 
period.

•  Allowing employers with no active 
employers to defer payment of 
an exit payment in return for an 
ongoing commitment to meeting 
their existing liabilities (deferred 
employer status).

•  Proposals for further policy changes 
to exit credits.  The proposed change 
would require the exiting employer’s 
exposure to risk to be taken into 
account in calculating any exit credit 
due (for example a pass through 

employer who is not responsible for 
any pensions risk would likely not be 
due an exit credit if the amendments 
are made to the Regulations).

Changes to employers required to offer 
LGPS membership 
At the time of drafting this FSS, under 
the current Regulations further education 
corporations, sixth form college 
corporations and higher education 
corporations in England and Wales are 
required to offer membership of the 
LGPS to their non-teaching staff. 

With consideration of the nature of 
the LGPS and the changes in nature 
of the further education and higher 
education sectors, the government has 
proposed to remove the requirement 
for further education corporations, sixth 
form college corporations and higher 
education corporations in England to 
offer new employees access to the 
LGPS.  As these types of employer 
participate in the Fund, this could impact 
on the level of maturity of the Fund 
and the cashflow profile.  For example, 
increased risk of contribution income 
being insufficient to meet benefit outgo, 
if not in the short term then in the long 
term as the payroll in respect of these 
types of employers decreases with fewer 

and fewer active members participating 
in the Fund. 

This also brings an increased risk to 
the Fund in relation to these employers 
becoming exiting employers in the 
Fund.  Should they decide not to admit 
new members to the Fund, the active 
membership attributable to the employers 
will gradually reduce to zero, triggering an 
exit under the Regulations and a potential 
significant exit payment.  This has the 
associated risk of the employer not being 
able to meet the exit payment and thus the 
exit payment falling to the other employers 
in the Fund. 

Employer risks 
Many different employers participate in the 
Fund. Accordingly, it is recognised that a 
number of employer-specific events could 
impact on the funding strategy including: 

•  Structural changes in an individual 
employer’s membership;

•  An individual employer deciding  
to close the Scheme to new 
employees; and

•  An employer ceasing to exist without 
having fully funded their pension 
liabilities.

P
age 300



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 4
 - 

Fu
nd

in
g 

St
ra

te
gy

 S
ta

te
m

en
t  

|  
15

0However, the administering authority 
monitors the position of employers 
participating in the Fund, particularly 
those which may be susceptible to the 
events outlined, and takes advice from 
the Fund Actuary when required.   

In addition, the administering authority 
keeps in close touch with all individual 
employers participating in the Fund to 
ensure that, as administering authority, 
it has the most up to date information 
available on individual employer situations.  
It also keeps individual employers briefed 
on funding and related issues. 

Governance risks 
Accurate data is necessary to ensure that 
members ultimately receive their correct 
benefits. The administering authority is 
responsible for keeping data up to date and 
results of the actuarial valuation depend on 
accurate data.  If incorrect data is valued 
then there is a risk that the contributions 
paid are not adequate to cover the cost of 
the benefits accrued.  
Monitoring and review 
This FSS is reviewed formally, in 
consultation with the key parties, at 
least every three years to tie in with the 
triennial actuarial valuation process. 

The most recent valuation was carried 
out as at 31 March 2019, certifying 
the contribution rates payable by each 
employer in the Fund for the period from 
1 April 2020 to 31 March 2023.   

The timing of the next funding valuation 
is due to be confirmed as part of the 
government’s Local government pension 
scheme: changes to the local valuation 
cycle and management of employer 
risk consultation which closed on 31 
July 2019.  At the time of drafting 
this FSS, it is anticipated that the next 
funding valuation will be due as at 31 
March 2022 but the period for which 
contributions will be certified remains 
unconfirmed. 

The administering authority also 
monitors the financial position of the 
Fund between actuarial valuations and 
may review the FSS more frequently if 
necessary. 

P
age 301



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 5
 - 

Co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

Po
lic

y 
St

at
em

en
t  

|  
15

1 Appendix 5
Communication Policy Statement

Introduction
The Dorset County Pension Fund 
currently has 298 scheme employers 
and 24,415 active members as at 31 
March 2016. We are continuously looking 
at ways to improve communications 
with the various stakeholders in the 
Local Government Pension Scheme 
administered by Dorset County Council.

The Fund aims to use the most 
appropriate communication medium for 
the audiences receiving the information. 
This may involve using more than one 
method of communication.

This document explains our existing 
methods of communication and 
describes some of our future plans.

Minimum Standards
Under the Occupational and Personal 
Pension Schemes (Disclosure of 
Information Regulations) 2013, 
administrators of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme are required to:

Provide a copy of the scheme regulations 
and any overriding legislation, on request, 

within two months of the request - either 
through providing a personal copy, a copy 
for inspection or details of how to obtain a 
copy; members, prospective members, their 
spouses, beneficiaries and recognised trade 
unions are entitled to this information.

Automatically provide basic information 
about the scheme to every prospective 
member before starting, or, if this is not 
practical, within two months of joining. 
This information must also be provided on 
request (unless issued within the previous 
12 months) to current members, prospective 
members, spouses, beneficiaries and 
recognised trade unions within two months 
of receipt of a written request.

Notify any material changes to the 
LGPS to all members and beneficiaries 
(except excluded persons i.e. deferred 
pensioners whose present address is 
unknown) where possible before or as 
soon as possible after (and in any event 
within three months after) the change.

Compulsorily provide an annual benefit 
statement to all active, deferred and 
pension credit members.

This Communication Policy Statement 
will be reviewed annually and a revised 
version will be republished following any 
material change.

Key Objectives
To communicate Pensions Legislation 
and policies in a clear informative style 
to ensure that key stakeholders are well 
informed about current and future changes 
to the Local Government Pension Scheme.

Communication Objectives

•  To use the most appropriate ways of 
communicating with stakeholders, 
and to seek continuous improvement 
in the way we communicate

•  To keep all stakeholders informed 
about the management and 
administration of the pension fund

•  To inform stakeholders to enable 
them to make the decisions they 
need to make regarding pensions 
and the pension fund

•  To promote the pension scheme as 
an important tool in recruitment and 
as a benefit to scheme members

•  To consult, where possible, with key 
stakeholders about proposed changes 
in policies and procedures, in relation 
to the administration of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme

•  To aim to communicate technical 
pensions legislation in plain English

•  To engage where possible in face-to-
face communication.

P
age 302



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 5
 - 

Co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

Po
lic

y 
St

at
em

en
t  

|  
15

2•  To evaluate the effectiveness of our 
communication objectives: 
 -  Feedback questionnaires;
 -  Monitoring complaints and 

compliments;
 - Customer surveys.  

Methods of Communication
We communicate with our current 
and former scheme members, and 
their representatives, through various 
means and aim to provide a high quality 
service.

Active Scheme Members
Annual Benefit Statements 
These are issued to our members by  
31 August. Feedback from our members 
about our statements has helped us 
improve our procedures for this process.    

All active members are entitled to one 
further estimate of benefits per rolling 
year, in addition to the Annual Benefit 
Statement.  If the member requests a 
further estimate with a 12 month period 
there will be a charge of £50 + VAT levied.   

Employee Newsletters 
A newsletter is issued annually to keep 
members up to date with proposed 
changes to the scheme and any other 
relevant details.  Further newsletters are 

sent to members highlighting issues of 
importance, such as changes in scheme 
regulation or operation as any issues arise.   

Pension Fund Publications  
Information guides, leaflets and forms 
are available on request covering 
different aspects of the LGPS; these can 
also be found on our website.   

Our Key Audience Groups

Annual Report 
An Annual report containing information 
on the management, administration and 
performance of the pension fund and 
pension benefits is published annually.  
This report can be found online at our 
pensions website.   

P
age 303



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 5
 - 

Co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

Po
lic

y 
St

at
em

en
t  

|  
15

3 Pension Fund Website 
Our pension fund website can be found 
at www.yourfund.org.uk/Dorset and 
is available to view at all times.  It is 
regularly updated and revised.   

My Pension Online
Active members are able to check their 
pension account online, estimate future 
benefits and update their address and 
pension death grant nomination 
https://www.mypension.dorsetcc.gov.uk   

Pensions Helpline 
The pensions helpline is a dedicated 
telephone number and email address 
for queries.  Telephone lines are open 
8:40am to 5:20pm Monday to Thursday 
and 8:40am to 4:00pm Friday (except 
bank holidays).  We also receive and send 
communications by post and by fax.   
Tel: 01305 224845   
Email: 
pensionshelpline@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk   

Presentations and roadshows 
We are available for presentations 
throughout the county by arrangement 
with employers. Our aim is to explain 
existing, proposed and new legislation; 
the information may be presented in one 
of the following formats: 

•  LGPS presentations, including new 
scheme information

• face to face education sessions

• pre-retirement seminars 

Pensioner Members
Pensioner Newsletters 
An annual newsletter is sent to our 
pensioners.  This newsletter is used 
to inform pensioners of the annual 
pensions increase and also any other 
relevant information.  
 
Pensioner’s Payslips 
A payslip is sent annually to all pensioners.  
If the monthly amount alters by more than 
£5.00 a payslip will also be sent.   

Pension Fund Website 
Our pension fund website can be found at 
www.dorsetpensionfund.org  and is 
available to view at all times. It is 
regularly updated and revised.   

My Pension Online 
Active members are able to check 
their pension account online, update 
their address and pension death grant 
nomination 
https://www.mypension.dorsetcc.gov.uk

Deferred Scheme Members
Deferred Annual Benefit Illustration 
These are issued to our deferred 
members annually.   

Pension Fund Website 
Our pension fund website can be found 
at www.dorsetpensionfund.org 
and is available to view at all times.  It is 
regularly updated and revised.   

My Pension Online
Active members are able to check their 
pension account online, estimate future 
benefits and update their address and 
pension death grant nomination 
https://www.mypension.dorsetcc.gov.uk

Prospective Scheme Members
New Starter Pack
On commencement of employment a 
pensions pack is issued. This pack is sent 
to all new starters and includes a Scheme 
short guide, membership form, death grant 
expression of wish forms, transfer forms, 
nomination of cohabiting partner form and 
contact details for further information.   

Pension Fund Website
Our pension fund website can be found 
at www.dorsetpensionfund.org 
and is available to view at all times. It is 
regularly updated and revised.

P
age 304



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 5
 - 

Co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

Po
lic

y 
St

at
em

en
t  

|  
15

4Elected Members
All the provisions we have made for 
Scheme Members are also available for 
Elected Members, including information 
and forms specifically aimed at 
Councillor Members. The LGPS is now 
closed to Elected Members.

Scheme Employers
Employers Website
The Dorset Pension Fund maintains 
a section of their website dedicated 
to the scheme employers.  This 
forms our online Employer Guide and 
holds all relevant up to date forms 
and publications along with useful 
information on a variety of subjects.     

Employers Section:  
www.dcpfemployers.org
    
Email Contact List 
The Dorset County Pension Fund has set 
up an email contact list for the scheme 
employers. This enables us to circulate 
technical advice and guidance to our 
pensions liaison officers around the county.   

There is a dedicated email address 
(lgpsemployers@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk) 
for employers to use when contacting 
the Employer Relationship and 
Communications Team.   

Your Fund 
This is Dorset County Pension Fund’s 
secure internet portal which allows 
employers to upload files and submit 
pension forms on-line.   

Your Fund Home Page:  
https://dorset.yourfund.org.uk   

Employer’s Newsletters
A newsletter is sent to all employers, at 
least once a year, containing a variety of 
information of interest to LGPS employers.    

Pension Liaison Officer Group Meetings
These meetings are held a minimum of 
three times a year. All scheme employers 
are invited to attend.  During the meeting 
any changes to scheme regulations 
or our administrative procedures are 
discussed. There is also a presentation 
on a relevant topic.    

Individual Employer Meetings 
Meetings can be arranged on an individual 
basis for an employer to discuss individual 
requirements. These meetings are available 
at the employer’s request by contacting the 
Dorset County Pension Fund.    

Presentations 
Throughout the year the Dorset County 
Pension Fund offer a variety of presentations 
to employers in different locations. 
   
Employer Meeting
An employers meeting is held annually 
and there are a variety of presentations 
provided in the meeting.    

Annual Report  
The Dorset County Pension Fund Annual 
Report is published and distributed to all 
employers.  It is also made available to 
members of the public and all stakeholders 
and can be found on our website.

Fund Staff
Pensions Staff 
Individual training is provided, as required, 
to all members of staff. Staff are able to 
attend training events and conferences both 
internally and externally. Members of staff 
are encouraged to take, and helped with, 
qualifications in pension administration.   

Employer Relationship and 
Communications Team 
There is a team dedicated to employers and 
communications, this team consists of a 
manager and a officer. It is their responsibility 
to ensure relevant communications are sent 
to the correct audience.   

P
age 305



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 5
 - 

Co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

Po
lic

y 
St

at
em

en
t  

|  
15

5 Team Meetings
Meetings are held once a month to 
update all staff on any changes to 
regulations or practice.   

Senior Management Meetings 
The Pensions Manager is a member 
of the Financial Services Management 
Team and attends regular meetings 
convened by the Executive Director of 
Corporate Management. The Pensions 
Manager is able to bring any matters of 
concern / importance to the attention 
of the Executive Director of Corporate 
Management through this mechanism.

Other Parties
South West Area Pensions Officer  
Group (SWAPOG) 
The SWAPOG which meets regularly 
to discuss and share information on 
pensions administration.  Sub groups of 
the SWAPOG meet to discuss specific 
topics such as communications or 
pensions software.   

Brunel Pension Partnership 
Brunel Pension Partnership (Brunel) 
is one of eight national LGPS pools, 
bringing together circa £30 billion 
investments of 10 likeminded funds. 
Brunel helps manage the investments for 
the Dorset County Pension Fund.   

Pension and Lifetime Saving 
Association (PLSA) 
The Fund is a member of the PLSA, and 
officers regularly attend national and 
regional events to keep up to date with 
all pension related matters.    

Trade Unions 
We will work with the relevant Trade 
Unions to ensure the Scheme is 
understood by all interested parties.    

Others
We regularly exchange information with 
Government bodies such as HMRC, the 
Pensions Regulator, Secretary of State 
and MCHLG and will respond to Freedom 
of Information requests from external 
parties and members of the public.  

Pension Fund Committee
The Pension Fund Committee meets 
formally at least quarterly, and has the 
following terms of reference:   

To exercise all functions of the Council 
as Scheme Manager under Local 
Government Superannuation Act and 
Regulations and deal with all matters 
relating thereto.  

 
Members of the Committee receive 
regular training on a bespoke basis, as 

well as attending a number of national 
conferences and seminars to ensure that 
they are fully informed to fully undertake 
their responsibilities.   

The Pensions Manager is in regular 
contact with the Committee outside of 
the formal meetings, and ensures that 
the Committee are kept informed of 
issues that affect the Fund.   

The Committee set and regularly review 
a number of Pension Fund Policies and 
Strategies. These are published on the 
Fund’s website, and can be found at:    
www.dorsetpensionfund.org/dorset-
pension-fund/about-us/forms-and-
publications/ 

The current membership of the Pension 
Fund Committee is as set out below: 

•  Five County Council members  - 
appointed by the County Council (not 
more than one being a member of 
the Council’s Cabinet);

•  Two Unitary Authority members  - 
one appointed by Bournemouth 
Borough Council and one nominated 
by the Borough of Poole;

•  One District Council representative;

• One Scheme Member representative.

P
age 306



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 5
 - 

Co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

Po
lic

y 
St

at
em

en
t  

|  
15

6Pension Board
With effect from 1 April 2015 Dorset 
County Pension Fund (DCPF) has created 
a Local Pension Board.   

The function of the Local Pension Board 
as defined by sections 5 (1) and (2) of 
the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 is 
to:  

• assist the Scheme Manager;

•  to secure compliance with the LGPS 
regulations and any other legislation 
relating to the governance and 
administration of the LGPS; 

•  to secure compliance with 
requirements imposed in relation to 
the LGPS by the Pensions Regulator; 

•  in such other matters as the LGPS 
regulations may specify;

•  secure the effective and efficient 
governance and administration of 
the LGPS for the DCPF; and

•  provide the Scheme Manager with 
such information as it requires to 
ensure that any member of  the 
Local Pension Board or person to be 
appointed to the Local Pension Board 
does not have a conflict of interest.    

The Local Pension Board also help 
ensure that the DCPF is managed and 

administered effectively and efficiently 
and complies with the Public Service 
Pension Act 2013  on the governance 
and administration of public pension 
schemes and with due regard to 
guidance issued by government, The 
Pensions Regulator and the LGPS 
Scheme Advisory Board.   

The Local Pension Board of the Dorset 
County Pension Fund consists of 3 
member representatives and 3 employer 
representatives and meets at least 2 
times a year.

P
age 307



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 5
 - 

Co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

Po
lic

y 
St

at
em

en
t  

|  
15

7 Publications Matrix

Communication Material Paper- based Electronic Form Website When Published When Reviewed

Scheme Guide ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

New Starter Pack ü û ü Constantly available Annually

Councillors’ Guide ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Scheme Information Leaflets ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Scheme Member Newsletter ü ü ü Annually n/a

Pensioner Newsletter ü ü ü Annually n/a

Scheme Member’s Annual Benefit Statement ü û ü Annually Annually

Deferred Member’s Annual Benefit Statement ü û ü Annually Annually

Member Forms & Factsheets ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Pensioner Forms & Factsheets ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Opt Out Form ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Deferred Benefits Guide ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Funding Strategy Statement ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Communication Strategy Statement ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Administration Strategy ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Investment Strategy ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Annual Report and Accounts ü ü ü Annually Annually

Employer’s Guide ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Employer Forms & Factsheets ü ü ü Constantly available Annually

Employer Newsletters ü ü ü 3 per year n/a

Employer LGPS Updates ü ü ü As required  n/a

P
age 308



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 5
 - 

Co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

Po
lic

y 
St

at
em

en
t  

|  
15

8Improving Our Standards
We aim to achieve continuous 
improvement in our communications 
with all stakeholders and aim to deliver 
the following in the future to further 
improve our communications;   

•  improved general information on the 
pension scheme on our website;

•  feedback buttons added to all 
emails.  

We are continuously seeking ways for 
stakeholders to provide feedback on 
the service they have received from the 
Dorset County Pension Fund. We are 
now providing the following methods of 
feedback; 

• online feedback form;

•  paper based feedback form provided 
at presentations;

•  tear out form in all Annual Benefit 
Illustrations.

General Data Protection Regulations 
(GDPR)
Dorset Council as the administering 
authority of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme and the Dorset County 
Pension Fund values the privacy of 
those who provide personal data to it. 
We collect and process personal data 

in accordance with our Privacy Notice.  
A copy of the Privacy Notice can be 
accessed here.   
www.dorsetpensionfund.org/
media/5691/privacy-policy.pdf 

The Privacy Notice describes what 
information we collect and how we use 
it. For more information about how we 
process personal data, please contact 
the Dorset County Pension Fund using 
the contact details set out in the Privacy 
Notice.

Contact Details

Write to us at:    
Dorset County Pension Fund  
County Hall, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1XJ

Tel:  01305 224845

Fax:  01305 224049   

Email:  
pensionshelpline@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Web: 
www.dorsetpensionfund.org 

P
age 309



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 6
 - 

 U
K 

St
ew

ar
ds

hi
p 

Co
de

 P
rin

ci
pl

es
  |

  1
59 Appendix 6

UK Stewardship Code Principles - 
Statement of Compliance 

On 2 July 2010 the Financial Reporting 
Council (the FRC) published the UK 
Stewardship Code (the Code). The Code 
sets out good practice for institutional 
investors when engaging with the UK 
listed companies in which they invest.

The purpose of the Code is to improve 
the quality of corporate governance by 
promoting a better dialogue between 
shareholders and company boards, and 
more transparency in the way in which 
investors oversee the companies they own.

The FRC and the National Association 
of Pension Funds (NAPF) encourage all 
institutional investors to report on the 
extent to which they follow the Code, as 
a stronger corporate governance culture 
is conducive to protecting and enhancing 
the value of investments.

The Dorset County Pension Fund takes 
its responsibilities as a shareholder 
seriously. It seeks to adhere to the 
Stewardship Code, and also encourages 
its appointed asset managers to do so.

Principle 1: The fund should publicly 
disclose policy on how it will discharge 
stewardship responsibilities.
The Fund’s approach to Governance 
is stated in the published Investment 
Strategy Statement (ISS). The Fund’s 
policy is to apply the Code both through 
its arrangements with its asset managers 
and through membership of the Local 
Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF).
 
The Fund’s UK Equities are managed 
by a combination of asset managers 
and the internal manager. The Dorset 
Fund uses membership of the LAPFF 
to keep informed of potential issues of 
concern at individual companies and 
across the market, but delegates day 
to day responsibility for monitoring 
and intervening in companies to asset 
managers where applicable.

Principle 2: The fund should have a 
robust policy on managing conflicts of 
interest in relation to stewardship and 
this policy should be publicy disclosed.
The stewardship code assumes that 
conflicts of interest will arise from 
time to time. Dorset County Council’s 
Constitution sets out policies for personal 
and prejudicial Interests. Any conflict of 
interest would be dealt with in accordance 
with the Council’s Constitution.

Principle 3: The fund should monitor its 
investee companies.
Day to day responsibility for managing 
the Fund’s equity holdings is delegated 
to the appointed asset managers, and 
the Fund expects them to monitor 
companies, intervene where necessary, 
and report back on activity undertaken. 
Asset Managers report to the Pension 
Fund Committee and meet with officers 
regularly to discuss activity. The Dorset 
Fund uses membership of the LAPFF 
to keep informed of potential issues of 
concern at individual companies and 
across the market, and regular reports 
are received from the LAPFF. Officers 
attend meetings of the LAPFF at least 
annually to keep up to date with the 
forum’s activities. 

Principle 4: The fund should establish clear 
guidelines on when and how it will escalate 
activities as a method of protecting and 
enhancing shareholder value.
If a matter is considered to affect 
shareholder value, the concern will 
be referred to the LAPFF. In addition, 
where a governance matter dictates 
that a resolution merits a dissent vote in 
accordance with the Fund’s Voting Policy, 
the resolution will be voted against. 

P
age 310



Principle 5: The fund should be willing 
to act collectively with other investors 
where appropriate.
The Fund seeks to work collaboratively 
with other institutional shareholders in 
order to maximise the influence that 
it can have on individual companies. 
The Fund seeks to achieve this through 
membership of the LAPFF, which 
engages with other companies over 
environmental, social and governance 
issues on behalf of its members. 
The Dorset Fund’s principal means of 
collaborate engagement is through 
membership of the LAPFF. LAPFF 
coordinates collaborative engagement 
with companies, regulators and policies. 
LAPFF periodically issue voting alerts, 
which are analysed with regard to the 
Fund’s own engagement policy. The 
decision to participate in such collective 
decisions is made on a case by case 
basis. 

Principle 6: The fund should have a clear 
policy on voting and disclosure of voting 
activity.
The Dorset Fund exercises all votes 
attaching to its UK equity holdings, and 
seeks to vote where practical in overseas 
markets. Responsibility for the exercise 
of voting rights has been delegated to 
RREV (Research, Recommendations, 

Electronic Voting) in the UK, and to Fund 
Manager Pictet Asset Management 
in respect of overseas markets. This 
includes consideration of company 
explanations of compliance with the 
Corporate Governance Code. Votes are 
exercised in accordance with the Fund’s 
Voting Policy, however it is possible for 
Officers to override the vote of RREV to 
support the actions of the LAPFF. Real 
Time reports are available detailing how 
votes have been cast. 

Principle 7: The fund should report 
periodically on their stewardship and 
voting activities.
The Fund discloses voting data 
periodically, but intends to formally make 
statistics available to the Pension Fund 
Committee annually in future. In addition, 
the Fund intends to report annually on 
stewardship activity through a specific 
section on voting and engagement 
activity undertaken during the year in the 
report and accounts. This will include 
both fund specific information including 
engagement with companies, and details 
of activity undertaken through the Local 
Authority Pension Fund Forum. 

Ap
pe

nd
ix

 6
 - 

 U
K 

St
ew

ar
ds

hi
p 

Co
de

 P
rin

ci
pl

es
  |

  1
60

P
age 311



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 7
 - 

Br
un

el
 C

lim
at

e 
Ch

an
ge

 P
ol

ic
y 

 | 
 1

61 Appendix 7 
Brunel Climate Change Policy - A five-
point plan to build a financial system 
which is fit for a low carbon future
Brunel aims to deliver stronger investment 
returns over the long term, protecting our 
Clients’ interests through contributing to 
a more sustainable and resilient financial 
system which supports sustainable 
economic growth and a thriving society.

Brunel was formed in July 2017 and 
manages the investment of the pension 
assets (around £30bn/$40bn) of ten 
Local Government Pension Scheme 
funds in the UK. We use the name 
‘Brunel’ to refer to the FCA-authorised 
and regulated company.

Our Clients retain responsibility for their 
asset allocation and investment strategy, 
and ultimately their exposure to climate 
risk. We see our role as helping them 
to understand and manage these risks, 
while also helping to address the climate 
challenge.

There are three areas where we have a 
particular contribution to make:

(a)  significant direct influence over the 
investment managers we appoint,

(b)  broader influence in the investment 
industry and with policy makers, and

(c)  ability to influence company practice 
and performance, in particular in 
conjunction with our Client funds 
and others.

We would like to acknowledge the 
significant support and contribution 
of our Clients in the development of 
this policy. Our mutual commitment 
to building a financial system which is 
fit for a low carbon future is pivotal to 
driving change together. 

Approved by the Board of Brunel Pension 
Partnership Ltd. 20/01/2020

Climate change is an issue for us and 
for our Clients
Climate change presents an immediate 
systemic and material risk to the 
ecological, societal and financial stability 
of every economy and country on the 
planet. It has direct implications for 
our Clients and their beneficiaries. It is 
therefore a strategic investment priority 
for us.

Scientific evidence suggests that our 
climate is changing faster than at almost 
any point in history. The world is already 
at approximately 1°C of warming above 
pre-industrial levels. This is causing more 
frequent and more extreme weather 
events and significantly affecting rainfall 
and sea levels, among other changes. It 
is impacting agriculture and food supply, 
infrastructure, flooding and water supply, 
in turn leading to increased migration 
from climate-affected regions and 
greater conflict over natural resources 
such as water and agricultural land.

World governments have started to 
respond. The signatories to the 2015 
Paris Agreement committed to keeping 
global temperature rise this century  
to well below 2°C compared to  
pre-industrial levels and to aim to limit 
the increase to 1.5°C. The signatories 

P
age 312



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 7
 - 

Br
un

el
 C

lim
at

e 
Ch

an
ge

 P
ol

ic
y 

 | 
 1

62agreed to adopt and implement 
nationally determined contributions 
(NDCs) that set out the actions they 
would take to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions, and to strengthen these 
efforts in the years ahead. Despite 
progress, we are currently heading 
towards a world of 4°C of warming 
compared to pre-industrial levels. This 
has potentially catastrophic implications 
for society and the environment.

Governments and all sectors of society 
(individuals, companies and investors, 
among others), will need  
to do much more if the global 
temperature rise this century is to be 
kept to well below 2°C. The transition 
to the low carbon economy calls for 
significant change in the shape and 
structure of our economy and requires 
us to eliminate most or all fossil fuel use 
and achieve a net zero carbon economy 
by 2050.

What is the role of investors?
Investors are exposed to the risks and 
opportunities presented by climate 
change adaptation and mitigation. They 
have a critical role to play if we are to 
successfully transition to the low carbon 
economy and to ensure that we adapt 
effectively to the physical impacts of 

climate change. We are a key source of 
the capital required for mitigation and 
for adaptation. We can ensure that the 
companies we invest in are resilient to 
the regulatory and other changes that 
will result from climate change. We can 
support policy makers in taking action 
to enable the low carbon transition and 
effective adaptation.

Our role in driving change

The state of play in the  
financial system. 
The case for urgent action on climate 
change is clear. Global average 
temperatures are already 1°C above 
pre-industrial levels, the rate at which 
capital is being invested in low carbon 
infrastructure is approximately half of 
that required, and the pace at which 
regulators and policy makers are 
acting is far too slow. 

The nature of the investment system, 
and financial markets more generally 
contributes to the challenge of 
addressing climate change rather 
than supporting change. 

Some of the specific challenges we 
see are:

•  An emphasis on short-term rather 
than long-term performance which 
drives short-term thinking by 
investors and companies.

•  An unwillingness to invest in areas 
that support the transition to the 
low carbon economy, in particular 
where the areas depend on public 
policy support or where the 
technologies are perceived to be 
relatively unproven.

•   A general absence of investable 
investment products that make a 
substantive contribution to climate 
change mitigation or adaptation.

•  Instances of perverse incentives 
and conflicts of interest through 
the system, not least, the use of 
conventional market weighted 
benchmarks to measure 
performance, when climate risk is 
not priced by the market.

•  Backward looking investment risk 
models that are inherently flawed 
at taking account of climate risk.

The state of play in the finance sector 
means our focus must be on shaping 
and influencing the investment system. 

P
age 313



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 7
 - 

Br
un

el
 C

lim
at

e 
Ch

an
ge

 P
ol

ic
y 

 | 
 1

63 Brunel’s experience and expertise in 
managing climate change-related risks 
and opportunities, our scale, our 
influence and the strength and support 
of our Clients provides us with a unique 
position in the investment industry.

If we do not have a financial system that 
is fit for purpose, we will not be able to 
respond effectively to climate change. We 
can take some specific actions, mitigating 
risk at the margin, but the impact will be 
limited without wider change. However, 
given our position, the opportunity for us 
is to shape and influence the investment 
system and that should be the focus of our 
Climate Policy.

Our priority must be to catalyse change 
in the financial system at scale, not 
only through our own efforts but in 
partnership with others, and through 
enabling our Clients to be agents of 
change in their own right.

Working with investment managers
One area of focus will be on driving 
real and substantial change in how 
investment managers invest. We expect 
them to think deeply about all aspects 
of how they invest and how they engage 
with the companies and other entities 
in which they invest. We will challenge 

them to provide investment products 
that deliver on both our investment 
and climate change objectives. We 
will press them to think carefully and 
critically about the companies and other 
entities they invest in, and to justify their 
investments in companies with higher 
greenhouse gas emissions. We will not 
issue exclusion lists because we need 
to drive change in the way investment 
managers work. Simply stating 
exclusions or requiring divestment 
from specific stocks or sectors will not 
compel investment managers to develop 
their capacity on climate change or to 
drive change in the companies in which 
they are invested – climate becomes 
a technical operational matter not an 
investment priority.

However, while we will not instruct 
managers to exclude certain stocks, 
this does not mean we do not expect 
managers to have portfolios with materially 
reduced climate exposures and to be 
able to justify any climate controversial 
holding. If investment managers are not 
able to robustly and credibly explain their 
investment strategies and how they have 
integrated climate risk, we will look to 
replace them with investment managers 
that do. If we find that our investment 
managers’ engagement with companies is 

ineffective (i.e. these efforts do not deliver 
real change in corporate strategies on 
climate change so that these companies 
are on a trajectory to be aligned with the 
transition to a 2°C or below economy), we 
will consider whether we should remove 
certain investment managers and/ or 
introduce specific exclusion criteria to be 
applied to companies. 

Taking stock

Our Climate Change Policy will guide our 
work on climate change over the next 
three years. We will regularly monitor 
and report on its implementation and 
effectiveness and the policy itself will be 
reviewed annually.

In late 2022, we will conduct a full 
stocktake of this policy. This stocktake 
will provide us and our Clients with the 
opportunity to reflect on our progress 
and to ramp up our ambitions. It will also, 
ahead of our Clients’ triennial valuation 
and investment reviews, help us prepare 
for what we see as the tightening of 
regulation and escalation of government 
action on climate change.

 

P
age 314



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 7
 - 

Br
un

el
 C

lim
at

e 
Ch

an
ge

 P
ol

ic
y 

 | 
 1

64We will develop the framework for the 
stocktake with Clients during 2020. We 
expect that the stocktake will consider:

•  How have we performed against 
the objectives and targets we have 
set for ourselves?

•  What outcomes – in terms of 
mitigation and adaptation – have 
we delivered?

•   Have we been able to link carbon 
and financial performance, and if 
so, what does it tell us?

•  Is this policy still fit for purpose 
or does it need to be substantially 
revised?

•  How effective have the key 
elements of our strategy been? 
In particular, has our decision 
to engage with our investment 
managers been effective or do we 
need to change our investment 
managers and/or introduce 
selective divestment requirements 
for companies?

•  Are there companies or managers 
who have not responded 
effectively to robust stewardship 
and present climate-related 
financial risks?

Our climate change beliefs and our 
Investment Principles
We set out our core beliefs on climate 
change below. In Appendix 1, we 
describe how these align with our 
Investment Principles.

Our Investment Principles are designed 
to capture the ambitions of how the 
Partnership will operate on a day to day 
basis, clearly demonstrate compliance 
with relevant regulations and policies, 
support our investment strategy and be 
commensurate with the expectations 
of an organisation of our size. In turn, 
they enable each of our Clients to deliver 
on their fiduciary duty to act in the best 
long-term interests of their members. 
They also recognise that our Clients  
(as administering authorities) retain 
responsibility for strategic asset 
allocation and setting their investment 
strategies, and ultimately their exposure 
to climate risk.

We believe that:

•  Climate change presents a systemic 
and material risk to the ecological, 
societal and financial stability of 
every economy and country on the 
planet, and therefore will impact our 
Clients, their beneficiaries and 
all portfolios.

•  Investing to support the Paris 
goals that deliver a below 2oC 
temperature increase is entirely 
consistent with securing  
long-term financial returns and 
is aligned with the best long-term 
interests of our Clients.

•  For society to achieve a net zero 
carbon future by 2050 (or before) 
requires systemic change in 
the investment industry, and 
equipping and empowering our 
Clients (and other investors) is 
central to this change.

Given our strengths and our position in 
the market, we therefore believe that the 
key objective of our climate policy is to 
systematically change the investment 
industry so that it is fit for purpose for a 
world where temperature rise needs to 
be kept to well below 2°C compared to 
pre-industrial levels.

P
age 315



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 7
 - 

Br
un

el
 C

lim
at

e 
Ch

an
ge

 P
ol

ic
y 

 | 
 1

65 A five-point plan to build a financial 
system which is fit for a low carbon 
future
We have made significant progress on 
integrating climate change into our own 
practices and processes. However, the 
urgency of climate change means that 
we need to do much more. We believe 
that we need to focus on delivering 
change across the investment industry. 
We also believe that our circumstances: 
Clients with a strong commitment to 
action on climate change; our relative 
scale within the UK market; our track 
record of action; our own skills, 
capacities, resources and networks, 
mean that we are well positioned to take 
on this leadership role.

Our analysis of the investment market 
and of the investment system, and of our 
role within that market and that system, 
has led us to identify five areas where we 
believe there is a critical need for action 
and where we believe we can make a 
significant difference. These are:

• Policy

• Products

• Portfolios

• Positive Impact

• Persuasion

Policy
We want policy makers to establish 
comprehensive and robust climate change 
policy frameworks. These need to deliver 
significant reductions in greenhouse gas 
emissions, accelerate progress towards 
the low carbon economy, and enable 
effective adaptation to the unavoidable 
impacts of climate change.

Why: Our analysis
Public policy – regulation, economic 
incentives, disclosure expectations – 

establishes the rules of engagement for 
companies and for investors. We have 
seen significant progress in many areas 
over the past decade. Examples include 
emissions trading in the electricity 
sector, vehicle emission standards in  
the transport sector, efficiency standards 
for electrical equipment, and incentives 
for the deployment of renewable energy. 
Investors have been an important voice 
in encouraging governments to establish 
comprehensive climate change policy 
frameworks, in particular in relation 
to emissions mitigation and enabling 

P
age 316



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 7
 - 

Br
un

el
 C

lim
at

e 
Ch

an
ge

 P
ol

ic
y 

 | 
 1

66the low carbon transition. We need 
policies which have the ability to shift 
investments at scale. These include 
policies that change the economics 
of particular investments, and policies 
which draw out and make explicit the 
climate risks in such investments.

Our analysis of the policy landscape is 
that, despite progress, much more is 
needed before we can consider there 
to be a comprehensive climate change 
policy framework in place. In the short to 
medium term, we believe that there are 
three priority areas for action:

•  Establishing a meaningful price 
on carbon (and equivalents e.g. 
methane) across the global 
economy. This price needs to 
be sufficiently high – or reach a 
sufficiently high level over time – to 
deliver the emissions reductions we 
need if we are to meet the goals of 
the Paris Agreement.

•  Introducing mandatory climate 
change disclosure requirements 
for companies. Our ability to fully 
integrate climate change into our 
investment research and decision-
making and our engagement 
with companies is limited by the 
consistency, comparability and 

quality of the data they provide 
and by the lack of attention paid to 
climate change-related risks and 
opportunities in discussions around 
strategy and capital investment.

•  Addressing regulatory barriers to 
progress. These are barriers that 
emerge from elsewhere in the 
regulatory landscape. Examples 
include bank provisioning 
requirements which make it more 
expensive for renewable energy 
project developers to borrow 
money, barriers to renewable energy 
accessing the electricity grid and 
fossil fuel subsidies.

Across all of these areas, we need to 
ensure that policy interventions take 
account of the impacts on society, 
including the impacts on employment, on 
access to energy and on the affordability 
of energy, in particular for vulnerable 
groups. We are committed to supporting 
a Just Transition1.

We recognise that changing or 
influencing public policy requires us to 
work with our Clients and others. We 
therefore expect to deliver our objectives 
through direct communication with policy 
makers. This includes our continued 
commitment to directly participate in 

technical advisory and working groups. 
We will also encourage other investors 
to get involved where policy makers are 
actively seeking investor expertise. We 
will also take advantage of speaking 
and educational opportunities to raise 
awareness and demand for these issues 
to be addressed.

We will also actively participate and, 
where appropriate provide leadership, 
of investor collaborative initiatives, 
in particular the Transition Pathway 
Initiative (TPI), Institutional Investors 
Group on Climate Change (IIGCC), the 
Principles for Responsible Investment 
(PRI) and, in the UK, Green Finance 
Institute, the Sustainable Finance and 
Investment Forum (UKSIF) and the Local 
Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF).

Our Policy Advocacy objectives: 2020-2022
We will play an active and leading role in 
encouraging policy makers to establish 
comprehensive and robust climate 
change policy frameworks. Within this, 
we will focus particular attention on:

•  The adoption of a meaningful price 
on carbon, which is material (i.e. 
sufficient to drive change at the scale 
and rate required), progressive over 
time and widespread (i.e. applies to all 
major sectors of the economy).

P
age 317



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 7
 - 

Br
un

el
 C

lim
at

e 
Ch

an
ge

 P
ol

ic
y 

 | 
 1

67 •  The removal of fossil fuel subsidies.

•  The introduction of policy measures 
– for example, product standards, 
limitations on high carbon 
technologies, support for low carbon 
technologies – that accelerate 
the move away from high impact 
activities and sectors.

•  The removal or correction of 
regulatory barriers to progress and 
support financial policy makers and 
regulators in being ambitious and 
effective in implementation of plans 
to mitigate climate risk and under 
the Adaptation Reporting Power2.

•  The integration of climate change 
into the mandates and into the 
oversight and control processes 
of prudential regulators and other 
regulatory bodies.

•  Ensuring that climate change policy 
is socially sustainable and takes 
due account of workers’ rights and 
community interests (the ‘Just 
Transition’) when taking action to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions 
and adapt to a changing climate.

We will play an active leading role in 
encouraging policy makers to integrate 
climate change into multilateral and 
bilateral trading frameworks, with a 
particular focus on the UK post Brexit.

We will encourage policy makers to 
introduce mandatory climate change 
disclosure requirements for companies, 
with a focus on providing clear, decision 
useful information and encouraging 
a clear articulation of the risks that 
companies and their investors face.

We will support the development of 
skills, knowledge and professional 
standards of those intermediaries who 
are critical influencers in the action 
of investors and companies. These 
include, but are not limited to, investment 
consultants, actuaries, lawyers and 
auditors.

Products
We want to increase the number and 
range of products available to our 
Clients and the wider investment market 
that deliver substantial climate change 
benefits.

1  The Just Transition means managing both the positive and negative social and employment implications of climate action across the whole economy 
2    The Adaptation Reporting Power (ARP) is an important aspect of the Climate Change Act 2008. The ARP aims to ensure that organisations of a public nature 

with climate-sensitive responsibilities are taking appropriate action to adapt to the impacts of climate change.

Why: Our analysis
One of the key challenges we face is that 
there is a limited supply of investment 
products that meet our climate change 
objectives (e.g. low carbon, impactful, 
socially responsible) and our investment 
requirements (e.g. appropriate risk-
return characteristics). There is a clear 
need to encourage innovation in product 
development and build the supply of 
climate-oriented products.

We recognise that innovation does not 
happen automatically, it needs to be 
deliberately encouraged and stimulated. 
This is also true of supply; investment 
managers must see there is demand, 
or at least a potential market, in order 
to support product development. This 
requires us to be clear about what we 
want, and – subject to our fiduciary and 
other obligations – provide incentives 
and encouragement to investment 
managers to innovate and to supply the 
products we want to invest in.

P
age 318



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 7
 - 

Br
un

el
 C

lim
at

e 
Ch

an
ge

 P
ol

ic
y 

 | 
 1

68About the Transition Pathway 
Initiative (TPI)
In 2017, the TPI was established 
as a joint initiative between the 
Environment Agency Pension 
Fund and the Church of England 
National Investing Bodies (Church of 
England Pensions Board, the Church 
Commissioners and CBF Funds). 

TPI assesses companies’ 
preparedness for the transition to the 
low-carbon economy in two areas:

•  Management quality: TPI 
evaluates and tracks 
the quality of companies’ 
management of their greenhouse 
gas emissions and of risks and 
opportunities related to the low 
carbon transition.

•  Carbon performance: TPI 
evaluates how companies’ 
planned or expected future 
carbon performance compares to 
international targets and national 
pledges made as part of the Paris 
Agreement.

TPI uses information sourced and 
provided by FTSE Russell, and the 
results of TPI analysis are made 
available through a publicly-available 

tool hosted by its academic partner, 
the Grantham Research Institute on 
Climate Change and the Environment 
at the London School of Economics 
and Political Science (LSE).

TPI is rapidly becoming the ‘go-to’ 
corporate climate action benchmark. 
As at December 2019, over  
60 investors globally representing 
over $18 trillion combined assets 
under management and advice 
have pledged support for the TPI. 
These investors have committed to 
using the tool and its data in a range 
of ways, including informing their 
investment research, informing their 
engagement with companies and 
tracking managers’ holdings.

Our Product Governance objectives: 
2020-2022

We will ensure that climate risk is an 
integral part of our product governance 
and monitoring framework. We will:

•  Work with Clients to avoid launching 
products whose carbon footprint 
or negative climate impact is 
excessively high.

•  Seek to ensure our portfolios’ 
climate risk profiles are better than 
the benchmark as soon as practical 
and that our products are steadily 
improving.

•  Seek, in our listed equity portfolios, 
an improvement of at least 7% year 
on year. This will equate to over 
20% lower carbon intensity than 
the benchmark (which we are also 
seeking to improve) by 2022. This 
target will be reviewed as part of the 
stocktake and the results of the 2 
degrees transition study below.

•  Work with our Clients to establish 
their climate change objectives and 
outcomes, establish their climate 
change-related risk tolerances, and 
we will offer a range of products 
that meet these objectives and 
expectations.

We will report on the climate change 
performance – both mitigation and 
adaptation – of our portfolios and will 
explain how we manage the investment-
related risks and opportunities 
associated with these issues.

We will continue to ensure that climate 
change considerations are integrated 
into all the mandates that we award.

P
age 319



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 7
 - 

Br
un

el
 C

lim
at

e 
Ch

an
ge

 P
ol

ic
y 

 | 
 1

69 We will identify and develop new product 
opportunities which help further address 
climate change risks in all asset classes. 
We will do this through working with the 
industry on delivery, and with our Clients 
to ensure that these products meet their 
needs and that there is demand for these 
products. 

By 2022 we will have assessed the 
degree to which our main listed equity 
portfolios, and possibly other portfolios, 
are, at least, 2 °C aligned. If these 
portfolios are not aligned, we will identify 
the actions needed to bring them into 
alignment and engage with our Clients 
as to the adjustments to specifications 
that would be required. In making this 
commitment, we recognise that the 
assessment of whether funds  
and portfolios are aligned with the 
goals of the Paris Agreement or other 
reference targets (e.g. 1.5 °C, net zero) 
is an area where methodologies and 
frameworks are under development. 
We will therefore prioritise supporting 
– through the provision of financial 
support, through piloting methodologies 
– efforts that enable us to assess and 
report on our portfolio performance.

We will explore the role that investment 
benchmarks play in driving investment 

decisions and in constraining our 
ability to invest in areas that make a 
meaningful contribution to climate 
change mitigation and adaptation. We 
will press the industry to make the core 
benchmarks more compatible with a 2°C 
aligned world. In 2020, we will publish 
a paper discussing the issues with 
benchmarks and proposing alternative 
frameworks for to assess and manage 
our performance in a more holistic way.

Portfolios
We want our investment portfolios to 
be resilient under a range of climate 
change scenarios (both mitigation and 
adaptation). We want to adopt best 
practices on climate risk management 
and to work with our managers to 
further improve and develop our 
processes.

Why: Our analysis
We recognise that climate change is 
a dynamic issue from an investment 
perspective. Our understanding  
of the science, of the policy goals and of 
the financial implications is constantly 
changing. We need to ensure that we 
and our investment managers are aware 
of and are acting on these changes. This 
requires us to assertively, consistently 
and rigorously challenge our investment 

managers on all aspects of their 
investment processes and expect them 
to explain and justify the investment 
decisions that they are making. 

These efforts are not confined to our 
dialogue with our existing investment 
managers. We will explain our approach 
to the wider investment market so that 
potential new investment managers are 
aware of our position. We will share our 
expertise and experience so that our 
Clients and other investment system 
actors can also challenge their investment 
managers and other service providers on 
their approach to climate change.

We also, to the extent possible, need to 
future proof our portfolios so that they 
are reasonably resilient to the downside 
consequence of climate change, that they 
can benefit from the opportunities that 
arise and that, if we need to intervene, we 
are able to do so in a timely manner.

Our Portfolio Management objectives: 
2020-2022
We will rigorously, assertively and 
continuously challenge our investment 
managers on their analysis and 
assessment of change-related risks 
in their investment practices and 
processes. We will expect them to 

P
age 320



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 7
 - 

Br
un

el
 C

lim
at

e 
Ch

an
ge

 P
ol

ic
y 

 | 
 1

70continually improve these practices and 
processes, and will explicitly consider 
these improvements in our monitoring, 
management, selection, appointment 
and reappointment of our investment 
managers. 

We will work with our investment managers 
and with others in the investment industry 
to develop methodologies for climate 
risk stress-testing and risk management 
of our mandates, on both mitigation and 
adaptation. We will conduct our own 
stress tests of portfolios, using the best 
methodologies we have access to, from 
2020 onwards.

We will assess how our portfolios and 
mandates align with the goals of the 
Paris Agreement.

Positive Impact
We want to enable investments in 
activities that directly support the 
low carbon transition and that enable 
effective adaptation to the unavoidable 
impacts of climate change. 

Why: Our analysis
We recognise that we can directly 
support the low carbon transition and 
adaptation, through investing  

in opportunities in areas such as 
renewable energy, energy efficiency, 
adaptation and resilience. We also 
recognise that, through sharing our 
experiences and our successes, we 
can encourage others to increase their 
investments in these areas. 

Our investments supporting the low 
carbon transition are part of a wider 
commitment to invest for positive impact 
and support of the United Nations 
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). 
For example, investments that support 
female empowerment through access  
to finance, education and new markets 
can have positive impacts on climate 
change. Our investment strategies 
recognise that issues and opportunities  
are interconnective.

Whilst our direct operational impacts 
are not as material, we believe in leading 
by example and take steps to reduce 
our own climate impacts. We will do 
this through our procurement of goods 
and services, travel choices and use of 
technology. Where impacts cannot be 
mitigated, we will consider the use of 
offsets. We will report on our principal 
impacts and the steps we have taken 
to reduce them as part of our wider 
corporate disclosures.

Our Positive Impact objectives:  
2020-2022
We will continue to make significant 
investments in a diverse set of 
opportunities that directly contribute 
to the energy transition.

We will seek to establish what the 
level of our Clients’ contribution 
makes to the overall global 
investment needs for capital 
investment in the low carbon 
transition.

We will report on the investments that 
we have made, their contribution to 
climate mitigation and adaptation, 
their financial performance, and 
the wider social and environmental 
benefits of these investments. We 
will also report on the proportion of 
our portfolios invested in, or exposed 
to, the low carbon transition and to 
adaptation.

We will report on our principal 
impacts and the steps we have taken 
to reduce them as part of wider 
corporate disclosures.

P
age 321



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 7
 - 

Br
un

el
 C

lim
at

e 
Ch

an
ge

 P
ol

ic
y 

 | 
 1

71 Persuasion
We want the companies and other 
entities in which we invest and contract 
with to support the transition to the low 
carbon economy, and to ensure that 
they are resilient to the unavoidable 
impacts of climate change.

Our analysis
As a large investor, we – on behalf of our 
Clients – have the ability to encourage 
companies and other entities to take 
action on climate change, both to mitigate 
and adapt for climate resilience. Our 
climate stewardship extends to all our 
portfolios but will be adapted to ensure 
it is effective and meets the needs of the 
specific asset class and strategy.

Our questions
Through engagement we are seeking 
evidence that supports answers to each 
of these high-level questions:

•  How aligned is your business model, 
asset portfolio or investment approach 
with the goals of achieving a net-
zero carbon future and of supporting 
efforts to keep global temperature 
increase to well below 2°C?

•  How are you adapting your business 
model, asset portfolio or investment 

approach to align with the goals of 
achieving a net-zero carbon future 
and of keeping global temperature 
increase to well below 2°C?

•  How are you adapting your business 
model, asset portfolio or investment 
approach to ensure resilience to 
the impacts of climate change and 
different climate scenarios?

•  Are you fully transparent on your 
climate-related financial risks and 
opportunities? Will you report in line 
with Taskforce on Climate-related 
Financial Disclosure (TCFD)?

Some comments on asset class-specific 
engagement
Engagement with issuers on climate 
mitigation and resilience will be central 
to our approach in corporate bonds 
and we will explore the possibilities 
for engagement in other fixed income 
investments. 

Engagement impact can be even 
stronger in private markets, working with 
our general partners to support private 
companies, real estate, infrastructure 
projects and other entities in managing 
their impacts on climate change and the 
impacts of climate change on them.
In listed equities, engagement goes 

beyond the process of dialogue with 
companies to include the use of the 
formal rights granted to us as investors, 
specifically the right to vote on our 
shareholdings, file resolutions and even 
the right to call Extraordinary General 
Meetings). 

We also recognise the collective power 
of investors, and how an alignment of 
investor voices can send a strong, clear 
message to company management.

We prioritise engagement with those 
companies or other entities with the 
biggest climate change-related impacts 
or risks, where we have a significant 
exposure and where we have the ability 
to effect change. Working collaboratively 
with others increases our effectiveness 
and we will continue to support 
collaborative action though initiatives 
such as Climate Action 100+ (CA100+).

On climate mitigation we believe we 
should not only focus our efforts on 
how companies with the biggest impact 
on climate change – these include 
companies in sectors such as oil and 
gas, transport, mining and electricity – 
are adapting their business models for 
the low carbon economy but also those 
companies who provide other sources 

P
age 322



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 7
 - 

Br
un

el
 C

lim
at

e 
Ch

an
ge

 P
ol

ic
y 

 | 
 1

72of capital to these entities. We see 
influencing policies within the banking 
sector as being particularly important 
in changing behaviour. For example, 
lending policies to companies (not 
supporting new fossil fuel extraction) 
and wider society (provision of green 
mortgages and loans to support other 
innovations).

We have played a leading role in 
growing the Transition Pathway Initiative 
which assesses how some 400 high 
impact companies are managing their 
greenhouse emissions, and how their 
expected future carbon performance 
compares to international targets 
and national pledges made as part of 
the Paris Agreement. Collaborative 
initiatives such as CA100+ now use TPI 
to both identify engagement priorities 
and to track the effectiveness of this 
engagement.

Engaging on climate resilience is less 
developed and we will work with other 
investors to create an engagement 
framework that incentivises the right 
behaviours and supports our capacity to 
assess risks.

Our Persuasion objectives: 2020-2022
We will, using the Transition Pathway 
Initiative (TPI), strengthen our focus on 
climate change outcomes and impacts in 
our engagement with companies. We will:

•  Engage with our material holdings to 
persuade them to advance at least 
one level (up to 4*) per year on the 
TPI management quality framework. 
We will report on progress on an 
annual basis. We will extend this 
engagement to our corporate bond 
portfolios in 2021.

•  Align our voting with our engagement. 
We will escalate our voting activity 
from our current policy where we vote 
against the reappointment of the Chair 
to other board members where they 
have not met our climate disclosure 
expectations. These expectations will 
increase over time with the aspiration 
of all our material holdings being on 
TPI Level 4 by 2022 and having made 
meaningful progress to alignment 
with a 2 degree or below pathway. 
In some sectors, e.g. oil and gas, 
we will aim to stimulate more rapid 
change. We provide further detail in 
our Stewardship Policy, which itself is 
regularly updated.

•  Support Client engagement with 
companies e.g. through facilitating 

their attendance at AGMs, through 
facilitating their participation in 
collective engagement with us and 
with other institutional investors, 
through providing them with 
information about the climate 
performance of individual entities.

We recognise that addressing supply 
chain and product-related emissions 
requires investors and companies 
across a range of sectors to work 
together to develop and deploy solutions. 
We will facilitate and support cross-
sectoral efforts focused on defining 
and delivering substantial reductions 
in supply chain and product-related 
greenhouse gas emissions.

Working collaboratively with other 
investors we will:

•  Establish engagement objectives for 
the other asset classes in which we 
are invested. We expect that we will 
use Global Real Estate Sustainability 
Benchmark (GRESB) to frame our 
expectations of our real estate 
investment managers, and we will 
need to work with General Partners 
(GPs) and other industry players to 
develop appropriate metrics for our 
private equity investments.

P
age 323



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 7
 - 

Br
un

el
 C

lim
at

e 
Ch

an
ge

 P
ol

ic
y 

 | 
 1

73 •  Challenge companies on their 
approach to public policy lobbying, in 
particular lobbying that undermines 
the transition to the low carbon 
economy or that prevents effective 
adaptation to the unavoidable 
impacts of climate change.

•  Amplify our efforts through working 
with others (e.g. through formal 
collaborative engagement initiatives 
such as CA100+), through clearly 
communicating our voting intentions 
and through encouraging others to 
support us.

•  Work with other investors to create 
an engagement framework for 
climate resilience that incentivises 
the right behaviours and supports 
our capacity to assess risks during 
2020. We will then publish our 
progress against this framework.

Reporting on progress
We will report annually on our progress 
against the commitments set out in  
this policy.

We will use our website as the primary 
route for providing additional information 
and further insights into our approach.

Reporting is an area that is evolving 
rapidly. We are involved in a number 
of programmes – notably the IIGCC 
project on adaptation and the IIGCC 
project on Paris-aligned Portfolios – 
which will propose new metrics that 
allow asset owners and investment 
managers to explain, in a consistent 
and comparable manner, how their 
portfolios compare to the goals 
of a net zero carbon future and of 
keeping global temperature rise 
below 2 °C. Both of these projects are 
expected to be completed in 2020. 
We are committed to both piloting the 
recommendations and, once finalised, 
using the metrics in our  
future reporting.

Our expectation is that we will, in 
most cases, add these metrics to the 
data and indicators that we currently 
provide. These include (as relevant 
to the asset classes and companies/
entities in our specific portfolios):

•  Carbon footprints.

•  Fossil fuel exposures.

•  Green and brown share (i.e. 
the proportion of our portfolios 
invested in areas such as 
renewable energy).

•  Performance against the 
Transition Pathway Initiative 
management quality and carbon 
performance frameworks.

•  Our engagement and voting 
activities.

We will continue to report on the 
overall exposure of our portfolios to 
the risks and opportunities presented 
by climate mitigation and adaptation, 
and to align this reporting with the 
TCFD recommendations and other 
relevant disclosure frameworks.

Our governance of climate change
The Brunel Board approves and is 
collectively accountable for Brunel’s 
Climate Change Strategy and Policy. 
Operational accountability on a day 
to day basis is held by the Chief 
Responsible Investment Officer.

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible 
for ensuring effective implementation 
across the whole organisation, ensuring 
Brunel’s own operations meet or exceed 
best practice standards. 

The Chief Investment Officer is 
responsible for ensuring the integration 
of climate change into the portfolio 

P
age 324



construction, implementation and 
overall investment decision making. 
All members of the investment 
team have explicit responsibility for 
the implementation of responsible 
investment within their respective roles.

The climate change strategy and policy 
have been developed in conjunction with 
key stakeholders, including the Brunel 
Oversight Board, Brunel Client Group, and 
the Client Responsible Investment Working 
Group, membership of which includes 
representatives from the administering 
authorities it serves and Brunel staff.

This policy relates and interacts with 
other Brunel Policies, including but not 
limited to: Responsible Investment, 
Stewardship, Risk Management,  
Product Governance, Manager Selection 
and Manager Monitoring. 

Progress and compliance is monitored 
by all the groups outlined above. 
Climate change forms part of Brunel’s 
overall business risk and as such 
will be monitored by Audit, Risk and 
Compliance Committee. This policy 
was approved by the Board on the 
9th January 2020, after extensive 
consultation with Clients and other 
stakeholders. 

It is expected that the policy will 
develop over time, given the fast-
changing nature of the climate debate. 
Relatively minor changes to the policy, 
including clarifications and more 
specific targets or updates to reflect 
market developments, can be approved 
by the Brunel Executive Committee. 
More substantive changes will require 
approval by the whole Board, after Client 
consultation if appropriate.

Disclaimer 
This content is produced by the Brunel Pension 
Partnership Limited. It is for the exclusive 
use of the recipient and is neither directed to, 
nor intended for distribution or use by, any 
person or entity who is a citizen or resident 
of or located in any locality, state, country or 
jurisdiction where distribution, publication, 
availability or use of this document would be 
contrary to law or regulation. 

This content is provided for information 
purposes only and is Brunel’s current view, 
which may be subject to change. This 
document does not constitute an offer or a 
recommendation to buy or sell securities or 
financial instruments. It is designed for the use 
of professional investors and their advisors. 
It is also not intended to be a substitute for 
professional financial advice – specific advice 
should be taken when dealing with specific 
situations. Past performance is not a guide to 
future performance.

Authorised and regulated by the Financial 
Conduct Authority No. 790168

Appendix 1: Our Investment 
Principles and climate change
What this means in practice for our work 
on climate change

Principle 1: Long-term investors
We recognise that climate change may 
affect our portfolios, the sustainability and 
resilience of the financial system, and the 
sustainability and health of our economy, 
our society and the natural environment, 
over the short, medium and long-term. 

As such, climate change – mitigation 
and adaptation - is relevant to all our 
investments, in all asset classes and 
in all geographies. Climate change is a 
source of downside investment risk and 
of upside opportunity.

Principle 2: Responsible Investors
In the medium and long-term we will 
deliver sustainable investment returns 
by investing in companies and assets 
that effectively manage the risks and 
opportunities presented by climate change.

Principle 3: Best Practice Governance
We allocate clear responsibilities 
and accountabilities for the oversight 
and implementation of this climate 
change policy. We integrate climate 

Ap
pe

nd
ix

 7
 - 

Br
un

el
 C

lim
at

e 
Ch

an
ge

 P
ol

ic
y 

 | 
 1

74

P
age 325



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 7
 - 

Br
un

el
 C

lim
at

e 
Ch

an
ge

 P
ol

ic
y 

 | 
 1

75 change into our appraisal and 
remuneration processes, and through 
effective monitoring and review of the 
implementation of this policy.

Principle 4: Decisions informed through 
experts and knowledgeable officers and 
committees
We ensure that our Clients’ views on 
climate change are fully integrated into 
our practices, processes and decisions.

We support our Clients’ training and 
continuing professional development on 
climate related issues. 

We engage regularly with experts both 
within and outside the investment 
community to ensure that we are fully up 
to date with the science, the policy and 
the economics of climate change.

Principle 5: Evidence and research at 
heart of investments
We continually learn and reappraise 
our understanding of the science, the 
policy and the investment implications of 
climate change from academic research, 
investment professionals, and our peers.

Principle 6:  Leadership and innovation
We work and innovate with other funds, 
pools and the market to create cost 

effective solutions needed by the pool 
and its funds. 

We encourage those asset managers 
that work with us, and those that might 
aspire to work with us, to innovate 
and offer new investment solutions, to 
effectively manage the climate-related 
risks and opportunities in their portfolios, 
and to constructively engage with the 
companies and other entities in which 
they invest.

Principle 7: Right risk for right return
When evaluating climate change-related 
investment opportunities, we ensure that 
these investments meet the risk and 
return objectives of the fund, over the 
short, medium and long-term.

Principle 8: Full risk evaluation
We recognise that, as long-term 
investors, our investment success 
depends substantially on the sustainable 
growth of the economy. This, in turn, 
demands effective action on climate 
change.

Principle 9: Responsible stewardship
We require our asset managers to 
use their formal rights and informal 
influence to encourage the companies 
and other entities in which they invest to 

take a proactive approach to managing 
the business risks and opportunities 
presented by climate change, as a 
central part of how they generate 
sustainable financial returns over the 
long-term. 

We work as a collective responsible 
voice on climate change in the broader 
investment community, and always look 
to work collaboratively with others. For 
example, we are leading participants 
in initiatives such as the Transition 
Pathway Initiative, the Institutional 
Investors Group on Climate Change, the 
Principles for Responsible Investment 
and CDP.

Principle 10: Cost effective solutions
We seek the most cost-effective 
solutions to achieving our funds’ 
objectives and implementing these 
principles collectively. We recognise 
that scale is critical to reducing the 
costs we pay, and also to ensuring 
that investments that we make and 
the innovations we catalyse have real 
impact.

Principle 11: Be transparent and 
accountable
We report annually on the commitments 
set out in this policy. 

P
age 326



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 7
 - 

Br
un

el
 C

lim
at

e 
Ch

an
ge

 P
ol

ic
y 

 | 
 1

76We will formally review the 
implementation of this policy in 2022, 
including an assessment of how we 
have performed against each of our 
Investment Principles.

Principle 12: Collaborate
We collaborate with other funds, pools 
and the market to build the wider 
investment industry’s capacity and 
expertise on climate change.

We also work with others to ensure 
that public policy and the investment 
system are explicitly focused on enabling 
and financing both the low carbon 
transition and effective adaptation to the 
unavoidable impacts of climate change.

Getting in touch
If you have any questions or 
comments about this policy, please 
email Faith Ward, Chief Responsible 
Investment Officer, at  
RI.Brunel@brunelpp.org.

Fund managers with general enquiries, 
meeting requests and other materials 
(updates, newsletters, brochures 
and so on), should contact us at 
investments.brunel@brunelpp.org or 
pminvestments.brunel@brunelpp.org

P
age 327



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 8
 - 

Vo
tin

g 
Is

su
es

 P
ol

ic
y 

 | 
 1

77 Appendix 8 
Voting Issues Policy 

Dorset County Council has outsourced 
proxy voting to Institutional Shareholder 
Services (ISS).  ISS’s core business 
is the provision of proxy research, 
vote recommendations and related 
governance research services, including 
and end-to-end proxy voting platform 
and leading compliance and risk 
management solutions, to institutional 
investors worldwide.  ISS has close to 30 
years of experience and is a recognised 
industry leader in the field of corporate 
governance and proxy voting.

Summary of Voting for the year ended 
31 March 2020

1.1  The Dorset County Pension Fund’s 
voting policy is based on the National 
Association of Pension Fund’s (NAPF) 
policy and the Combined Code 
on Corporate Governance, which 
was reviewed and adopted on 24 
November 2011, and is included on 
page xx of this report.  To manage the 
voting process Proxy Voting services 
are provided by ISS for the UK equity 
portfolio and by Allianz (to July 2018), 
Investec (to November 2019) and 
Wellington, the Fund’s global equities 
managers.

1.2  The Fund is also a member of the 
Local Authority Pension Fund Forum 
(LAPFF) which researches into areas 
of corporate governance, and social 
responsibility. It is possible to override 
any decision made by ISS in light of 
information which may be received 
from the LAPFF. 

1.3  The Voting Policy of the Dorset Fund 
applies to those assets managed in 
segregated accounts by the Internal 
Manager (to July 2018), Allianz  
(to July 2018), Investec (to November 
2019) and Wellington. However, the 
equities managed by AXA Framlington 
(to November 2018) and Schroders in 
the UK, and JPMorgan (to December 
2020) in emerging markets, are held 
in Pooled Funds and are subject to 
the voting policies of each individual 
manager. Corporate Governance 
and Voting Policies for each pooled 
manager have been obtained. 
These seek to protect shareholder 
interest, setting out voting policy in 
a number of areas which include 
strategy, integrity, management, use 
of capital, remuneration, mergers and 
acquisitions and reporting. Each policy 
complies with the Combined Code on 
Corporate Governance.

1.4  Each pooled manager was asked 
for details of voting activity in the 
year 2019-20, examples of instances 
in which they had concerns about 
companies in which the fund held 
shares, and how these concerns were 
addressed. They were also asked 
whether they were collaborating with 
other investors in respect of these 
issues, and details of responses are 
included on page xx to this report.

P
age 328



Voting Issues Policy

Issue Action for non 
compliance

Leadership

1. The roles of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive should be 
separate to avoid undue concentration of power.

Vote against the 
re-appointments as 
appropriate. 

Effectiveness

2. All directors should be subject to re-election every three years. Vote against the 
acceptance of accounts.

3. Audit Committee should consist of at least three non-executive 
directors.

Vote against the 
acceptance of accounts.

Accountability 

4. If a proposed dividend is not covered by earnings and there is no clear 
justification for the long term benefit of the company.

Vote against the 
acceptance of accounts.

5. The company should comply with the UK Corporate Governance 
Code and stock exchange listing requirements.

Vote against the 
acceptance of accounts.

Remuneration

6. Remuneration committees should comprise only of non-executive 
directors.

Vote against director’s 
appointment.

7. Bonus and incentive schemes must have realistic performance 
targets.

Vote against director’s 
appointment.

8. Service contracts should be one year rolling unless the 
Remuneration Committee is able to justify longer periods.

Vote against director’s 
appointment.

Relations with Shareholders

9. Changes to the articles of association should not adversely affect 
existing shareholders rights.

Vote against the 
resolutions.

Other

10. Uncontroversial issues. Vote for the resolutions.

Ap
pe

nd
ix

 8
 - 

Vo
tin

g 
Is

su
es

 P
ol

ic
y 

 | 
 1

78

P
age 329



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 8
 - 

Vo
tin

g 
Is

su
es

 P
ol

ic
y 

 | 
 1

79 Summary of Engagement by Pooled 
Fund Managers

Schroders
Summary of Engagement
Schroders issue a quarterly Corporate 
Governance, Voting, and Stewardship 
Report summarising contact with 
companies. Schroders engage with 
companies concerning matters such as 
changes in management, performance, 
health and safety, and renumeration. 

Schroders say that their policy is to 
engage with companies ahead of our 
votes; in many cases, such dialogue 
results in changes before their vote, 
often paving a smoother path towards 
a company’s AGM. Where companies 
are not open to changes, Schroders may 
decide to vote against certain resolutions 
on the agenda. Debate in these areas 
looks set to continue, and they 
continuously consider new approaches 
to create long-term incentives for 
management that are fully aligned with 
long-term shareholder value. Please find 
below three examples of engagements 
from the past 12 months (1 April 2019 to 
31 March 2020).

Keller. We engaged with the chairman of 
the board following a sustained period of 
operational underperformance in various 
geographical regions of the group. Whilst 
we supported the publicly stated aims 
of pursuing excellence in technically 
challenging areas of geomechanical 
engineering, progress was slow and often 
mixed at best. The group was fortunate in 
finding a new finance director who we had 
known and respected at a previous publicly 
listed entity where he had shown great 
clarity of strategic purpose and tactical 
execution. Another profit warning came 
along and we supported the appointment of 
the CFO to the CEO role. The group has been 
on much firmer foundations ever since.
 
Sirius Real Estate. The chairman of 
Sirius also chairs two other plc boards 
and our policy is that a person should 
hold no more than two chairs. We voted 
against his reappointment at the group’s 
AGM and then we engaged constructively 
with him and the senior NED explaining 
our position. He observed that one of the 
companies was a REIT which took very 
little time. We pointed out if all three are 
in calm waters then perhaps we could 
find some sympathy with that position. 
With the advent of COVID-19, that 
position is rather less supportable. We 
continue to engage with the group. 

Ted Baker. To say that this 
organisation has been in the wars is an 
understatement but we have engaged 
constructively with the non-execs on 
the board to find a route out of its 
difficulties. The CEO and founder, Ray 
Kelvin, was obliged to leave the company 
following allegations of inappropriate 
hugging and soon afterwards the group 
was again knocked down to the canvas 
when an accounting misstatement was 
found in its inventory of c.£40m. This 
saw the summary departure of the long 
standing CFO who had been elevated 
to the CEO role. We helped to find a 
new CEO. We supported the group in 
its fund raising to stabilise the balance 
sheet once the new CEO had completed 
her strategic review and implemented a 
vigorous corrective plan. 

P
age 330



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 9
 - 

Ri
sk

 M
an

ag
em

en
t  

|  
18

0Appendix 9
Risk Management
Risk management is the process of 
identifying risks, evaluating their likelihood 
and potential impact and determining the 
most effective methods of controlling or 
responding to them. Risk management 
is an integral element of managing the 
Pension Fund.  The Pension Fund has a 
risk register which identifies the major risks 
associated with managing the Fund.  This 
is reviewed by the Pensions Committee 
annually, and new or changed risks are 
reported at each quarterly meeting. 

A Risk Register is compiled and reviewed 
annually in regard to the scheme 
administration and governance. Key risks 
identified and actions taken to mitigate 
those risks are;

•  Data Protection & Cyber Security 
(administration staff and systems) 
– Compulsory annual training, the 
department is covered by the policies in 
place to cover this by Dorset Council;

•  Data Quality (administration) – Data 
Quality and Improvement plan in place;

•  Local Pension Board – Knowledge and 
Skills – Training log and programme;

•  Administration staff – knowledge 
and skills – training programme and 
qualifications.

Pension Fund Risk Register

Financial Strategic 
Priorities and 
Opportunities

Health and  
Safety

Reputational Criticality of 
Service

High
i.e. a greater 
than 20% 
chance of:

Potential to 
cause significant 
damage or 
seriously 
weaken the 
survival of the 
Fund

Major impact 
(positive or 
negative on 
a strategic 
priority)

Fatality or 
major injury/
illness (long 
term incapacity 
/ disability)

Sustained/long 
term media 
attention

Unable to 
deliver critical 
services (levels 
one and two)

Medium
i.e. a greater 
than 20% 
chance of:

Reasonable 
impact in a 
single financial 
period or in 
the short-term 
but can be 
contained

Moderate 
impact (positive 
or negative 
on a strategic 
priority)

Moderate 
injury or illness 
(including 
other RIDDOR 
reportable 
incidents)

Short to 
medium term 
impact on 
public memory 
(affecting more 
than one ward)

Unable to 
deliver critical 
services (level 
three)

Low
i.e.

Negligible / 
minor impact

Minor/
negligible 
impact (positive 
or negative) 
on a strategic 
priority

Potential 
for minor 
injury/illness 
(requiring 
minimal 
intervention or 
treatment)

Short to medium 
term impact on 
public memory 
(affecting one 
ward) / minor 
complaints or 
rumours

Minor 
disruption to 
service delivery

In using this matrix, you should consider the extent of impact across each of the 5 impact headings.  
If there is a 20% chance or more of any of the impacts in the top row occurring based on the current 
controls identified, it should be recorded as “High”.  If less than 20% it would drop to medium (with the 
same principle applying to the middle row).

The following table highlights the key risks and how they are managed. The measures that 
it has in place to control key risks are summarised below under the following headings:

a) Financial Risks;

b) Workforce Risks; and

c) Other Risks.

P
age 331



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 9
 - 

Ri
sk

 M
an

ag
em

en
t  

|  
18

1 Risk Description Risk 
Status
Open 
or 
Closed

Risk Lead Date 
Identified

Current Controls
How do we currently 
manage this risk?

Current 
Risk
High / 
Medium / 
Low

Movement 
Since Last 
Review
Improving / 
Deteriorating 
/ No Change

Is the 
current 
level of risk 
acceptable?
i.e. Yes or 
No, based 
on the 
current 
controls

Any Issues to 
Highlight Since 
Last Review?

Further actions 
identified to 
achieve an 
acceptable level 
of risk

Target 
Date for 
further 
actions

COVID-19 Notes

A) Financial Risks
A01
Loss of funds 
through fraud or 
misappropriation 

Open Fund 
Administrator

Oct-11 Internal and External 
Audit; Assurance 
that current systems 
provide appropriate 
level of internal 
control; reporting and 
monitoring; reporting 
to Audit & Scrutiny 
Committee; policies and 
procedures 

Low No Change Yes The 
establishment 
of BPP will 
require revised 
protections 
against fraud or 
misappropriation 
of funds.

Continual review of 
potential exposures.

On-going N/A

A02
A company 
admitted to 
the Fund as an 
admission body 
may become 
financially 
unviable

Open Fund 
Administrator

Oct-11 An Admission Body 
will only be admitted 
to the Fund if they 
have a Bond in place, 
or have a financial 
guarantor, for example 
the outsourcing 
authority. This covers 
any potential costs and 
losses. The value of this 
bond is set at the start 
of the contract and is 
reviwed periodically.

Low No Change Yes See COVID-19 
notes

Admission bodies 
admitted to the 
Fund historically 
may not have the 
financial guarantees 
or Bonds in place. 
We are currently 
looking at how 
many employers 
this affects, though 
there may be little 
that can be done 
now to address this.

Bond review to 
take place summer 
2020.

On-going It is possible that some 
employers may go into 
administration as a result of 
COVID-19 measures, but as 
yet none have indicated that 
this is likely.

A03
An employer with 
a large surplus 
chooses to exit 
the fund

Open Fund 
Administrator

Oct-11 Not able to control Low N/A Yes N/A Discussions 
continue with our 
Actuaries in regard 
to this and any 
actions needed.

On-going N/A

P
age 332



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 9
 - 

Ri
sk

 M
an

ag
em

en
t  

|  
18

2Risk Description Risk 
Status
Open 
or 
Closed

Risk Lead Date 
Identified

Current Controls
How do we currently 
manage this risk?

Current 
Risk
High / 
Medium / 
Low

Movement 
Since Last 
Review
Improving / 
Deteriorating 
/ No Change

Is the 
current 
level of risk 
acceptable?
i.e. Yes or 
No, based 
on the 
current 
controls

Any Issues to 
Highlight Since 
Last Review?

Further actions 
identified to 
achieve an 
acceptable level 
of risk

Target 
Date for 
further 
actions

COVID-19 Notes

B) Workforce Risks
B01
Health and safety 
of staff

Open Fund 
Administrator

Oct-11 Work station 
assessments; PDR 
trigger interviews; 
absence management; 
DCC health & safety 
policies

Low No Change Yes DC have also 
invested in 
employee 
wellbeing with 
resources and 
information 
being made 
available on 
on the DC 
intranet, along 
with individual 
advice and 
guidance.

Ensure staff are 
made aware of 
all resources and 
support available.  
Managers to engage 
with team members 
- particularly where 
issues may be 
suspected.

Also see COVID-19 
notes.

Homeworking 
The wellbeing of staff 
(particularly those who 
live alone) is an issue.  DC 
provide resourses on these 
subjects via the DC intranet.  
Managers encouraged to 
engage with staff members.
Workspace assesments 
required.

Office working
Measures are being taken so 
that social distancing can be 
observed within the office.

B02
Failure to recruit, 
develop and retain 
suitably skilled 
staff. There is also 
a requirement 
to ensure that 
Committee 
members and 
Board members 
are appropriately 
trained to 
undertake their 
duties effectively.

Open Fund 
Administrator

Oct-11 Access to Management 
Development / Training; 
PDR; structure review

The establishment of 
BPP should ensure 
greater resilience 
against the loss of key 
staff re. investments.

Low No Change Yes Continued training / 
development, where 
appropriate and 
identified via PDRs; 
Work shadowing 
and ensure staff 
have ability to cover 
in the absence 
of key people; 
Ensure appropriate 
succession and 
resilience planning 
for key people risks

On-going Board training
As attendance at events 
is not currently possible, 
training has moved 'on-line'.  
Board and Committee 
members are encouaged to 
attend webinars that have 
been set up in place of 
conferences and seminars.

B03
Failure to maintain 
the balance 
between workload 
and staff capacity

Open Fund 
Administrator

Oct-11 Service planning and 
PDR process; continual 
review of workloads 
within teams; additional 
posts can be funded 
from pension fund 
where particular 
capacity demands 
are identified, at the 
approval of the Pension 
Fund Administrator

Low No Change Yes See COVID-19 
notes

Review potential 
for secondments 
etc. to meet 
particular areas 
where capacity is 
stretched.

On-going It is possible that once 
normal office working 
resumes, action may be 
required to address any 
backlogs caused by COVID-
19 working restrictions.

P
age 333



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 9
 - 

Ri
sk

 M
an

ag
em

en
t  

|  
18

3

Risk Description Risk 
Status
Open 
or 
Closed

Risk Lead Date 
Identified

Current Controls
How do we currently 
manage this risk?

Current 
Risk
High / 
Medium / 
Low

Movement 
Since Last 
Review
Improving / 
Deteriorating 
/ No Change

Is the 
current 
level of risk 
acceptable?
i.e. Yes or 
No, based 
on the 
current 
controls

Any Issues to 
Highlight Since 
Last Review?

Further actions 
identified to 
achieve an 
acceptable level 
of risk

Target 
Date for 
further 
actions

COVID-19 Notes

C) Other Risks
C01
Inability to provide 
service, due to a
loss of Council 
facilities (IT; 
building) or staff.

Open Fund 
Administrator

Oct-11 Business continuity 
plans maintained for 
critical services; Nat 
West Banking facilities 
can be accessed 
from home/ remotely; 
contact numbers held 
for the team. Disaster 
recovery in place for 
Altair

Low No Change Yes See COVID-19 
notes

Regular review of 
business continuity 
plans. Corporate 
business continuity 
plans.

To avoid the spread of the 
virus within pensions staff, 
home working has been set 
up for all staff members 
and access to the office is 
limited (based on a rota).  
Staff meetings take place via 
Skype and Microsoft Teams.
The focus is on priority work.  
Some backlogs may arise in 
less time critical matters.

C02
Poor services, or 
perception of poor 
service.

Open Fund 
Administrator

Oct-11 Service planning and 
PDR process; external 
audit; internal audit 
reviews; processes and 
procedures

Low No Change Yes None Home working for DCPF 
and employers has had an 
impact on certain areas of 
work. When dealing with 
cases, staff are encouraged 
to regularly update members 
should any delays occur.

C03
Secure 
management and 
handling of
confidential 
and/or personal 
information.

Open Fund 
Administrator

Oct-11 Data awareness 
guidance promoted 
corporately; secure 
email; secure payments 
portal to actuary

Medium No Change Yes See COVID-19 
notes

Ensure all 
appropriate team 
members undertake 
the GDPR training  
on an annual basis.

On-going Home working means that 
confidential files have to 
leave the office.  Staff 
briefed on importance of 
security in these instances.

C04
Unrestricted 
physical access 
to office and 
confidential and 
/ or personal 
information

Open Pensions 
Manager

Jun-18 The Pensions office 
is not now a general 
walkthrough. The 
meeting room within 
the office is only be 
bookable by pensions 
staff therefore 
mitigating risk of data 
breaches.

Medium No-Change Yes Members seeking 
advice from DCPF 
staff are required to 
arrange a meeting 
and can no longer 
just turn up in the 
office.

On-going N/A

P
age 334



P
age 335



P
age 336



November 2020

All leaflets can be made available in audio tape, large print and Braille, 
or alternative languages on request.

P
age 337



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Pensions Administration
	Pension Administration Appendix 1 DCPF KPIs August to October 2020
	Pensions Administration Appendix 2 Letter from Luke Hall MP re Exit Cap
	Pensions Administration Appendix 3 DCPF interim policy statement

	7 Independent Adviser's Report
	8 Pension Fund Administrator's Report
	Fund Adminstrator's Report Brunel Q3 2020 Dorset Performance Report
	Fund Adminstrator's Report App 2 RLPPC Over 5 Year Corporate Bond Fund Q3 20120
	Fund Administrator's Report App 3 CQS Q3 Dorset
	Fund Administrator's Report App 4 CBRE Dorset Summary Report Q3 2020
	08.05 Insight Investment Report Q3 2020

	9 Pension Fund Annual Report 2019-20
	Pension Fund Annual Report 19-20 Appendix


